## **PROSPECTUS**

# BLACKSTONE REAL ESTATE INCOME FUND II INSTITUTIONAL CLASS II COMMON SHARES OF BENEFICIAL INTEREST

*The Fund.* Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II (the "Fund") is a Delaware statutory trust registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), as a closed-end, non-diversified, management investment company. The Fund is a "feeder" fund in a "master-feeder" structure.

*Investment Objective*. The Fund's investment objective is to seek long-term total return, with an emphasis on current income, by primarily investing in a broad range of real estate-related debt investments. There can be no assurance the Fund will achieve its investment objective.

*Investment Strategies.* The Fund pursues its investment objective by investing substantially all of its assets in Blackstone Real Estate Income Master Fund (the "Master Fund"), a Delaware statutory trust registered under the 1940 Act as a closed-end management investment company with the same investment objective as the Fund. Under normal circumstances, at least 80% of the Master Fund's Managed Assets (as defined below) are invested in liquid investments in public and private real estate debt, including, but not limited to, commercial mortgage-backed securities, mortgages, loans, mezzanine and other forms of debt (including residential mortgage-backed securities and other residential credit and debt of real estate-related companies) and equity interests in collateralized debt obligation vehicles, collateralized loan obligation vehicles, real estate investment trusts ("REITs"), listed vehicles and other entities that invest in real estate debt as one of their core businesses. "Managed Assets" means net assets, plus the amount of leverage for investment purposes. The Master Fund may invest in securities of any credit quality.

# Investing in the Fund's Shares (as defined below) involves a high degree of risk. You could lose some or all of your investment. An investment in the Fund is illiquid and should be considered speculative. An investment in the Fund entails unique risks. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 48 of this Prospectus.

The Fund's common shares of beneficial interest, par value \$0.001, are offered in multiple classes. This Prospectus applies only to the offering of Institutional Class II Shares (the "Shares" or "Institutional Class II Shares"), in the Fund. Institutional Class II Shares are offered on a continuous basis at the then net asset value ("NAV") per share, as described in this Prospectus. The Fund has registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, \$ in Shares for sale under the registration statement to which this Prospectus relates. No person or shareholder of the Fund will have the right to require the Fund to redeem any Institutional Class II Shares and the Institutional Class II Shares will have very limited liquidity, as described in this Prospectus. The Shares are sold in minimum denominations solely to "qualified clients" within the meaning of Rule 205-3 under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended, and are restricted as to transfer. See "Subscription for Shares."

This Prospectus concisely provides information that you should know about the Fund before investing. You are advised to read this Prospectus carefully and to retain it for future reference.

	Price to Public	Proceeds to Fund
Per Institutional Class II Share (1)	At Current NAV	Amount Invested at Current NAV
Total	Up to \$312,000,000	Currenter

(1) The Institutional Class II Shares are offered on a continuous basis at the then NAV per share. The Institutional Class II Shares are not subject to a sales load. See "Subscription for Shares—The Offering" below.

<sup>(2)</sup> Total proceeds to the Fund assume the sale of all Shares registered under this registration statement.

Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P. (the "Distributor") acts as the distributor for the Institutional Class II Shares and serves in that capacity on a best efforts basis, subject to various conditions.

Beginning on January 1, 2021, as permitted by regulations adopted by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), paper copies of the Fund's shareholder reports will no longer be sent by mail, unless you specifically request paper copies of the reports from the Fund or from your financial intermediary, such as a broker-dealer or bank. Instead, the reports will be made available on the Fund's website and you will be notified by mail each time a report is posted and provided with a website link to access the report.

If you already elected to receive shareholder reports electronically, you will not be affected by this change and you need not take any action. Shareholders who hold accounts directly with the Distributor or the Fund may elect to receive shareholder reports and other communications from the Fund electronically by calling (888) 756-8443 to make such arrangements. For shareholders who hold accounts through an investment advisor, bank, or broker-dealer, please contact that financial intermediary directly for information on how to receive shareholder reports and other communications.

You may elect to receive all future reports in paper free of charge. If you hold accounts directly with the Distributor, you can inform the Fund that you wish to continue receiving paper copies of your shareholder reports by calling (888) 756-8443 to make such arrangements. For shareholders who hold accounts through an investment advisor, bank, or broker-dealer, please contact your financial intermediary directly to inform them that you wish to continue receiving paper copies of your shareholder reports. If your Shares are held through a financial intermediary, your election to receive reports in paper will apply to all funds held with that financial intermediary.

Derivatives. The Master Fund also uses derivatives and, subject to any applicable limitations under the 1940 Act, may invest up to 30% of its Managed Assets in derivatives. The Master Fund uses derivatives for investment and hedging purposes and as a form of Effective Leverage (as defined below). The Master Fund's principal investments in derivative instruments include investments in total return swaps, credit default swaps, credit default swap indices (including mortgage-backed securities indices), interest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts, but the Master Fund may also invest in futures transactions, options and options on futures, as well as other derivative instruments. For purposes of calculating the Master Fund's total return swap exposure towards its 30% of Managed Assets cap on derivatives, the Master Fund values total return swaps on a mark-to-market basis instead of on a notional basis. If the Master Fund valued total return swaps on a notional basis, its derivatives would have a greater impact on such cap. The Master Fund may sell protection on credit default swap indices in order to efficiently gain exposure to a diverse pool of commercial mortgage-backed securities credits. The Master Fund includes the market value of derivatives that provide exposure to liquid investments in public and private real estate-related debt in determining compliance with the Master Fund's investment policy of investing at least 80% of its Managed Assets in liquid investments in public and private real estate debt. The SEC has proposed a new rule under the 1940 Act that would further limit the Master Fund's ability to use reverse repurchase agreements even in cases where the Master Fund covers its obligations under such agreements. If such proposed rule is adopted, the Master Fund may be required to decrease its use of leverage or use alternative forms of leverage that may be less cost-effective than reverse repurchase agreements, either of which may have an adverse impact on the Fund's investment return. See "Investment Objective and Strategies-Portfolio-Portfolio Investments-Derivatives," "Risk Factors-Derivatives Risks" and "-Counterparty Risk."

*Leverage.* Subject to limitations imposed by the 1940 Act, the Fund and the Master Fund may incur leverage from time to time. The Master Fund may use leverage through borrowings (collectively, "Borrowings"), which may include loans from certain financial institutions, the issuance of debt securities, reverse repurchase agreements, securities lending arrangements, and derivatives, including, but not limited to, interest rate swaps, total return swaps, and credit default swaps (collectively, "Effective Leverage") in an aggregate amount of up to  $33 \frac{1}{3}\%$  of the Master Fund's total assets immediately after giving effect to such leverage. Only forms of Effective Leverage that are considered senior securities under the 1940 Act will be considered leverage for the Master Fund's leverage limits. The Master Fund incurs leverage, primarily through the use of reverse repurchase agreements, as part of its investment strategy; such form of leverage is considered a senior security under the 1940 Act to the extent not covered by segregated cash or liquid securities in accordance with applicable SEC

guidance. Although it has no current intention to do so, the Master Fund may use leverage through the issuance of preferred shares in an aggregate amount of up to 50% of the Master Fund's total assets immediately after such issuance. There can be no assurance that any leveraging strategy the Master Fund employs will be successful during any period in which it is employed.

*Non-Investment Grade Debt.* The Master Fund invests in instruments of varying credit quality and may invest in instruments of any credit quality. Debt securities of below investment grade quality are regarded as having predominantly speculative characteristics with respect to capacity to pay interest and to repay principal, and are commonly referred to as "high yield" securities. Securities rated Caa or below and CCC or below are considered vulnerable to nonpayment and their issuers to be dependent on favorable business, financial and economic conditions to meet their financial commitments. Securities rated below Caa/CCC may include obligations already in default. Debt securities in the lowest investment grade category will likely possess speculative characteristics.

*Investment Manager*. Blackstone Real Estate Income Advisors L.L.C. is the investment manager (the "Investment Manager") of the Fund and the Master Fund. The Investment Manager is an affiliate of The Blackstone Group Inc. (together with its affiliates, "Blackstone"), which is one of the world's leading investment firms with total assets under management of \$571 billion. Blackstone's asset management businesses include investment vehicles focused on real estate, private equity, public debt and equity, growth equity, opportunistic, non-investment grade credit, real assets and secondary funds, all on a global basis. The Investment Manager is part of the Blackstone Real Estate group, which as of December 31, 2019 had approximately \$163 billion of investor capital under management in real estate funds or vehicles (including approximately \$22 billion in real estate-related debt funds or vehicles).

If you purchase Shares in the Fund, you will become bound by the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated Agreement and Declaration of Trust of the Fund dated as of December 17, 2013, as may be amended or supplemented from time to time (the "Fund Declaration of Trust"), as well as any terms and conditions contained in any subscription documents that you enter into for the Shares.

Investments in the Fund may be made only by "Qualified Investors" as defined in this Prospectus. See "Subscription for Shares—Qualified Investors."

An investment in the Fund should be considered a speculative investment that entails substantial risks, including but not limited to:

- Loss of capital.
- The Shares are not listed on any securities exchange and it is not anticipated that a secondary market for the Shares will develop.
- The Shares are subject to substantial restrictions on transferability and resale and may not be transferred or resold except as permitted under the Fund Declaration of Trust.
- Although the Fund may offer to repurchase Shares (or a portion thereof) from time to time, no assurance can be given that repurchases will occur or that any Shares properly tendered will be repurchased by the Fund.
- Shares will not be redeemable at a shareholder's option. As a result, a shareholder may not be able to sell or otherwise liquidate his or her Shares. See "Risk Factors—Liquidity Risks."
- The Shares are appropriate only for shareholders who can tolerate a high degree of risk and do not require a liquid investment.
- Investment in the Shares is speculative and there is no guarantee that the Fund will achieve its investment objective.

This Prospectus sets forth concisely information that you should know about the Fund before investing. You are advised to read this Prospectus carefully and to retain it for future reference. Additional information about the Fund, including the Fund's statement of additional information ("SAI"), dated May 1, 2020, has been filed with

the SEC. You can request a copy of the SAI, and the Fund's annual and semi-annual reports, without charge by writing to or calling State Street Bank and Trust Company, the Fund's transfer agent (the "Transfer Agent"), at One Heritage Drive, North Quincy, MA 02171, Attention: Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II or 1-855-890-7725. The SAI is incorporated by reference into this Prospectus in its entirety. The table of contents of the SAI appears on page 128 of this Prospectus. The Fund sends annual and semi-annual reports, including financial statements, to all holders of its Common Shares. Additionally, the SAI, quarterly and monthly performance, semi-annual and annual reports and other information regarding the Fund may be found under "Closed-End Funds" on Blackstone's website (http://www.blackstone.com/businesses/aam/real-estate/ closed-end-funds). This reference to Blackstone's website is intended to allow public access to information regarding the Fund and does not, and is not intended to, incorporate Blackstone's website into this Prospectus. You can obtain the SAI, material incorporated by reference herein and other information about the Fund, on the SEC's website (http://www.sec.gov).

No broker-dealer, salesperson, or other person is authorized to give a shareholder any information or to represent anything not contained in this Prospectus. As a shareholder, you must not rely on any unauthorized information or representations that anyone provides to you, including information not contained in this Prospectus, the SAI or the accompanying exhibits. The information contained in this Prospectus is current only as of the date of this Prospectus.

The minimum initial investment in the Fund by a shareholder is \$25,000, and the minimum subsequent investment in the Fund by a shareholder is \$5,000. However, the Fund or the Investment Manager may waive these requirements from time to time for certain investors. There is no minimum number of Shares (by all shareholders in aggregate) required to be purchased in this offering, other than the foregoing minimum investment requirements applicable to individual shareholders. Amounts received from potential shareholders in the Fund will be held in a non-interest-bearing escrow account until the applicable closing for that monthly investment period.

The Shares are not deposits or obligations of, or guaranteed or endorsed by, any bank or other insured depository institution, and are not federally insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency.

Prospective shareholders should not construe the contents of this Prospectus as legal, tax, or financial advice. Each prospective shareholder should consult with his or her own professional advisers as to the legal, tax, financial, or other matters relevant to the suitability of an investment in the Fund.

Neither the SEC nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved these securities or passed upon the adequacy of this Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
Prospectus Summary	1
Summary of Fees and Expenses	23
Financial Highlights	26
Use of Proceeds	29
Investment Objective and Strategies	29
Leverage	44
Risk Factors	48
Conflicts of Interest	85
Management of the Fund	101
Subscription for Shares	108
Distributions	110
Determination of Net Asset Value and Managed Assets	111
Repurchases and Transfers of Shares	112
Description of Shares	117
Certain Provisions in the Fund Declaration of Trust	119
Portfolio Transactions	121
Tax Considerations	121
Certain ERISA Considerations	125
Securities Outstanding (as of April 6, 2020)	127
Legal Proceedings	127
Fiscal Year	127
Table of Contents of the SAI	128
Appendix A — Description of S&P Global Ratings, Moody's and Fitch Ratings	A-1
Appendix B — Privacy Policies	B-1

You should rely only on the information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Prospectus. The Fund has not authorized anyone to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. The Fund is not making an offer of these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer is not permitted.

#### **Prospectus Summary**

This is only a summary and does not contain all of the information that a prospective shareholder should consider before investing in the Institutional Class II Shares of Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II (the "Fund"). Before investing, a prospective shareholder in the Fund should carefully read the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus (the "Prospectus") and the Fund's statement of additional information (the "SAI"), each of which should be retained for future reference by any prospective shareholder.

The Fund	Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II is a Delaware statutory trust that is registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "1940 Act"), as a closed-end, non-diversified management investment company. The Fund is a "feeder" fund in a "master-feeder" structure. The Fund invests substantially all of its assets in Blackstone Real Estate Income Master Fund (the "Master Fund").
	The Fund is offering common shares of beneficial interest, par value \$0.001 (the "Shares"). The Fund operates pursuant to an exemptive order that has been granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") permitting it to offer multiple classes of shares with different terms and conditions. This Prospectus offers only Institutional Class II Shares. The fees and expenses of other classes of Shares may vary from those of the Institutional Class II Shares (which may affect performance) and will be offered under a different prospectus or prospectuses. The Shares have equal rights and privileges with each other. See "Shareholder Eligibility" and "Subscription for Shares."
The Master Fund	The Master Fund is a Delaware statutory trust that is registered under the 1940 Act as a closed-end, non-diversified management investment company. The Master Fund has the same investment objective as the Fund. The Master Fund may have shareholders in addition to the Fund from time to time (including Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund) that may (individually or in the aggregate) own a greater percentage of the Master Fund than is owned by the Fund.
Investment Objective	The Fund's investment objective is to seek long-term total return, with an emphasis on current income, by primarily investing in a broad range of real estate-related debt investments. There can be no assurance the Fund will achieve its investment objective.
Investment Strategies	The Fund pursues its investment objective by investing substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, which then invests in a broad range of real estate-related debt investments. Under normal circumstances, at least 80% of the Master Fund's Managed Assets (as defined below) are invested in liquid investments in public and private real estate debt, including, but not limited to, commercial mortgage-backed securities ("CMBS"), mortgages, loans, mezzanine and other forms of debt (including residential mortgage-backed securities ("RMBS") and other residential credit and debt of real estate-related companies) and equity interests in collateralized debt obligation vehicles ("CDOs"), collateralized loan obligation vehicles

("CLOs"), REITs, listed vehicles and other entities that invest in real estate debt as one of their core businesses. "Managed Assets" means net assets, plus the amount of leverage for investment purposes. The Master Fund considers a company to be "real estate-related" if its primary business is the ownership, management or development of real estate.

As part of its investment strategy, the Master Fund invests in CMBS. CMBS may include multi-issuer CMBS, single-issuer CMBS and "rake bonds," in each case, relating to real estate-related companies or assets. In a typical CMBS issuance, a number of single mortgage loans of varying size, asset type, and geography are pooled and transferred to a trust. For some CMBS, only loans of a single asset type, geography or borrower or a single loan may be transferred to the trust. The trust then issues a series of bonds that vary in duration, payment priority, and yield. Then rating agencies assign credit ratings to the various bond classes ranging from investment grade to below investment grade. The typical structure for the securitization of commercial real estate loans is a real estate mortgage investment conduit ("REMIC"). Generally speaking, a REMIC is a pass-through entity which is not subject to tax at the trust level. In selecting CMBS for investment, the Investment Manager considers the composition of the loans underlying the CMBS, including the asset types, geographies and other specific characteristics of the properties securing such loans, in determining whether the CMBS is attractive at the available price.

The Master Fund also invests directly and indirectly in RMBS and other residential credit. In a typical RMBS issuance, residential mortgages of varying size and geographic location are pooled and transferred to a trust. The trust then issues a series of bonds that vary in duration, payment priority, and yield. Then rating agencies (such as S&P's, Moody's, or Fitch) assign credit ratings to the various bond classes ranging from investment grade to below investment grade.

The Master Fund also invests in other single family- and commercialrelated credit investments such as loans, which may include commercial or residential mortgage loans, bank loans, mezzanine loans, real estate corporate debt and other interests relating to real estate. Commercial mortgage loans are typically secured by multifamily or commercial property and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure. Residential mortgage loans are typically secured by single family property. Real estate corporate debt securities consist of secured and unsecured obligations issued by REITs or other companies in the business of owning and/or operating real estate-related businesses. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower.

Mezzanine loans may take the form of bonds or subordinated loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the real property or an entity that owns (directly or indirectly) the interest in the entity owning the real property. These types of investments may involve a higher degree of risk than mortgage lending because the investment may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior lender.

The Master Fund also invests in loans, bonds and other debt obligations of varying maturities issued by real estate-related U.S. and foreign corporations and other business entities, which may include loans, corporate bonds, debentures, notes and other similar corporate debt instruments, including convertible securities. Bonds are fixed or variable rate debt obligations, including bills, notes, debentures, money market instruments and similar instruments and securities.

While the Master Fund invests primarily in "performing" real estaterelated debt investments, the Master Fund may nonetheless invest in instruments of any credit quality at various levels of an issuer's capital structure or retain investments that become "sub-performing" or "non-performing" following the Master Fund's acquisition thereof. The Master Fund considers issuers with declining cash flows, an inconsistent history of timely principal and/or interest payments, or otherwise a high risk of becoming non-performing in the future to be "sub-performing," and issuers who are delinquent or in foreclosure to be "non-performing." Debt securities of below investment grade quality are regarded as having predominantly speculative characteristics with respect to capacity to pay interest and to repay principal, and are commonly referred to as "high yield" securities. Securities rated Caa or below and CCC or below are considered vulnerable to nonpayment and their issuers to be dependent on favorable business, financial and economic conditions to meet their financial commitments. Securities rated below Caa/CCC may include obligations already in default. Debt securities in the lowest investment grade category will likely possess speculative characteristics.

The Master Fund also uses derivatives and, subject to any applicable limitations under the 1940 Act, may invest up to 30% of its Managed Assets in derivatives. The Master Fund uses derivatives for investment and hedging purposes and as a form of Effective Leverage (as defined below). The Master Fund's principal investments in derivative instruments include investments in total return swaps, credit default swaps, credit default swap indices (including mortgagebacked securities indices), interest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts, but the Master Fund may also invest in futures transactions, options and options on futures, as well as other derivative instruments. For purposes of calculating the Master Fund's total return swap exposure towards its 30% of Managed Assets cap on derivatives, the Master Fund values total return swaps on a mark-to-market basis instead of on a notional basis. If the Master Fund valued total return swaps on a notional basis, its derivatives would have a greater impact on such cap. The Master Fund may sell protection on credit default swap indices in order to efficiently gain exposure to a diverse pool of CMBS credits. The Master Fund includes the market value of derivatives that provide exposure to

liquid investments in public and private real estate-related debt in determining compliance with the Master Fund's investment policy of investing at least 80% of its Managed Assets in liquid investments in public and private real estate debt. The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") has proposed a new rule under the 1940 Act that would further limit the Master Fund's ability to use reverse repurchase agreements even in cases where the Master Fund covers its obligations under such agreements. If such proposed rule is adopted, the Master Fund may be required to decrease its use of leverage or use alternative forms of leverage that may be less costeffective than reverse repurchase agreements, either of which may have an adverse impact on the Fund's investment return. See "Investment Objective and Strategies—Portfolio Investments— Derivatives," "Risk Factors—Derivatives Risks" and "—Counterparty Risk."

The Master Fund may invest up to 20% of its Managed Assets in instruments that are illiquid (determined using the SEC standard applicable to registered investment companies, i.e., securities that cannot be disposed of within seven days in the ordinary course of business at approximately the value at which the Master Fund has valued the securities). The Master Fund also invests in securities that are unregistered and may invest in securities that are held by control persons of the issuer and subject to contractual restrictions on their resale ("restricted securities"). Restricted securities determined by the Investment Manager to be illiquid are subject to the limitation set forth above.

In addition, the Master Fund may invest in equity interests (or derivatives related thereto) in real estate or real estate-related companies that do not invest in real estate debt as one of their core businesses. The Master Fund may invest up to 20% of its Managed Assets in such equity interests (or derivatives related thereto).

Compliance with any policy or limitation of the Master Fund that is expressed as a percentage of assets is determined at the time of purchase of portfolio investments. The policy will not be violated if these limitations are exceeded because of changes in the market value or investment rating of the Master Fund's assets after purchase.

	The Master Fund may use leverage through borrowings (collectively, "Borrowings"), which may include loans from certain financial institutions, the issuance of debt securities, reverse repurchase agreements, securities lending arrangements, and derivatives, including, but not limited to, interest rate swaps, total return swaps, and credit default swaps (collectively, "Effective Leverage") in an aggregate amount of up to 33 1/3% of the Master Fund's total assets immediately after giving effect to such leverage. Only forms of Effective Leverage that are considered senior securities under the 1940 Act will be considered leverage for the Master Fund's leverage limits. The Master Fund incurs leverage, primarily through the use of reverse repurchase agreements, as part of its investment strategy; such form of leverage is considered a senior security under the 1940 Act to the extent not covered by segregated cash or liquid securities in accordance with currently applicable SEC guidance. The Master Fund's use of reverse repurchase agreements will also be subject to any future applicable limitations under the 1940 Act. The SEC has proposed a new rule under the 1940 Act that would further limit the Master Fund's ability to use reverse repurchase agreements even in cases where the Master Fund covers its obligations under such agreements. If such proposed rule is adopted, the Master Fund may be required to decrease its use of leverage or use alternative forms of leverage that may be less cost-effective than reverse repurchase agreements, either of which may have an adverse impact on the Fund's investment return. Although it has no current intention to do so, the Master Fund may use leverage through the issuance of preferred shares in an aggregate amount of up to 50% of the Master Fund's total assets immediately after such issuance. There can be no assurance that any leveraging strategy the Master Fund employs will be successful during any period in which it is employed.
Investment Manager	Blackstone Real Estate Income Advisors L.L.C. is the investment manager (the "Investment Manager") of the Fund and the Master Fund. The Investment Manager is an affiliate of The Blackstone Group Inc. (together with its affiliates, "Blackstone"), which is one of the world's leading investment firms with total assets under management of \$571 billion. Blackstone's asset management businesses include investment vehicles focused on real estate, private equity, public debt and equity, growth equity, opportunistic, non-investment grade credit, real assets and secondary funds, all on a global basis. The Investment Manager is part of the Blackstone Real Estate group, which as of December 31, 2019 had approximately \$163 billion of investor capital under management in real estate funds or vehicles (including approximately \$22 billion in real estate-related debt funds or vehicles).
Management Fee	On a quarterly basis, the Master Fund pays the Investment Manager a management fee (the "Management Fee") in arrears that accrues monthly at an annual rate of 1.50% of the Master Fund's Managed Assets at the end of such month before giving effect to the Management Fee payment being calculated or any purchases or repurchases of Master Fund shares or any distributions by the Master

	Fund. The Investment Manager has undertaken several temporary measures to waive its fees and/or reimburse certain expenses of the Fund and the Master Fund, including entering into an Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement and temporarily reducing its Management Fee to an annualized rate of 0.75% of the Fund's or the Master Fund's Managed Assets, as the case may be, effective from October 1, 2014 until December 31, 2020 (which may be extended, terminated or modified by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion).
	In light of the Investment Manager's arrangements with the Master Fund and the fact that the Fund seeks to achieve its investment objective by investing substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, the Investment Manager will not charge the Fund a management fee with respect to any period during which the only investment security held by the Fund is that of another registered investment company, including the Master Fund. As a result, as long as the Fund continues to invest in the Master Fund as part of a master- feeder arrangement, shareholders will incur a single fee for management services provided by the Investment Manager to the Fund and the Master Fund (without duplication).
Incentive Fee	The Master Fund pays the Investment Manager a performance-based incentive fee (the "Incentive Fee") promptly after the end of each fiscal year of the Master Fund pursuant to the Master Fund's investment management agreement (the "Master Fund Investment Management Agreement"). The Incentive Fee is determined as of the end of the fiscal year in an amount equal to 15% of the amount by which the Master Fund's Net Capital Appreciation for each Fiscal Period (as defined below) ending within or coterminous with the close of such fiscal year exceeds the balance of the loss carryforward account and any allocated Management Fee expense for such fiscal period, and without duplication for any Incentive Fees paid during such fiscal year. The Master Fund also pays the Investment Manager the Incentive Fee in the event a Fiscal Period is triggered in connection with a share repurchase offer by the Master Fund. For a detailed description of the calculation of the Incentive Fee and an example of its calculation, see "Management of the Fund— Investment Manager—Incentive Fee."
Shareholder Eligibility	The Shares are sold in minimum denominations solely to "qualified clients" ("Qualified Investors") within the meaning of Rule 205-3(d)(1) under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the "Advisers Act"), and are restricted as to transfer. An individual will generally be considered a Qualified Investor if immediately prior to their subscription they have (i) at least \$1 million under the management of the Investment Manager or (ii) at least \$2.1 million net worth.
	If they are Qualified Investors, tax-exempt entities, including investors subject to Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), or Section 4975 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") such as

	employee benefit plans, individual retirement accounts ("IRAs") and 401(k) and "Keogh" plans may purchase Shares. Because the Fund is registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act, the underlying assets of the Fund should not be considered to constitute "plan assets" of any such plan investors for purposes of the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction rules of Title I of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, as such rules may apply to the operation of the Fund. Thus, the Investment Manager should not be considered a fiduciary within the meaning of ERISA with respect to the assets of the Fund, solely as a result of such a plan's investment in the Fund. See "Certain ERISA Considerations." Prospective investors should consult with their own advisors as to the consequences of making an investment in the Fund.
Minimum Investment	The minimum initial investment in the Fund by a shareholder is \$25,000, and the minimum subsequent investment in the Fund by a shareholder is \$5,000. However, the Fund or the Investment Manager may waive these requirements from time to time for certain investors.
Subscription for Shares	Institutional Class II Shares are being offered on a continuous basis with monthly opportunities for Institutional Class II Share purchases at the then net asset value ("NAV") per Share, as described in this Prospectus. The Fund, under the supervision of the Fund's board of trustees (each, a "Trustee") (the "Board" or the "Board of Trustees"), may sell Shares to new shareholders and may allow existing shareholders to purchase additional Institutional Class II Shares, generally as of the first Business Day (a "Business Day" is any day on which the New York Stock Exchange is open for business, and any other day so designated by the Board in its sole discretion) of each month.
	The full subscription amount is payable in federal funds, which must be received by the Fund not later than three Business Days before the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase. However, in the Fund's discretion, subscription amounts received after this deadline (but before the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase) may be accepted. Institutional Class II Shares are issued at the NAV per Share as of the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase. Notice of each Institutional Class II Share transaction will be furnished to shareholders (or their financial representatives) as soon as practicable but not later than seven Business Days after the Fund's NAV is determined and credited to the shareholder's account, together with information relevant for personal and tax records. While a shareholder will not know the NAV applicable on the effective date of the Share purchase, the NAV applicable to a purchase of Institutional Class II Shares will be available generally within fifteen Business Days after the effective date of the Institutional Class II Shares based on that NAV and each shareholder's purchase will be determined and Shares are credited to the shareholder's account. For more information regarding subsequent closings, see "Subscription for Shares—The Offering."

	Each prospective shareholder must complete the subscription documents, in which the shareholder must certify, among other things, that he or she is a Qualified Investor and meets other requirements for investment. In order for a purchase to be accepted, the Transfer Agent generally must receive the executed subscription documents at least five Business Days before the date as of which Institutional Class II Shares are to be issued.
	However, in the Fund's discretion, subscription documents received after this deadline (but before the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase) may be accepted. For more information regarding minimum investments, see "Subscription for Shares—The Offering."
Distributor	Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P. (the "Distributor") acts as the distributor of the Shares on a best efforts basis, subject to various conditions. The Institutional Class II Shares are not subject to a sales load. Shares may be offered through other brokers or dealers (referred to as "selling agents") that have entered into selling agreements with the Distributor.
Distributions; Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan	The Fund expects to generally pay distributions on the Shares quarterly in amounts representing substantially all of its net investment income, if any. The Fund will pay substantially all taxable net capital gain realized on investments at least annually. Quarterly distributions may also include net realized capital gains. Distributions may fluctuate from time to time and are not guaranteed. Any distributions the Fund makes are at the discretion of the Board, considering factors such as the Fund's earnings, cash flow, capital needs and general financial condition and the requirements of Delaware law. See "Distributions."
	For distributions made with respect to quarters that do not correspond to the end of a fiscal year, net investment income excludes the effect of Incentive Fees payable to the Investment Manager with respect to realized and unrealized gains on the value of the Master Fund's investments, which are determined and paid as of the end of a fiscal year and fluctuate from period to period until such time.
	As described below, distributions and capital gain distributions paid by the Fund are reinvested in additional Shares unless a shareholder "opts out" (elects not to reinvest in Institutional Class II Shares). Shareholders may opt out by indicating that choice on the subscription documents. Shareholders may also change their election at any time by providing a written notice to the Administrator (as defined below). Shares purchased by reinvestment are issued at their NAV determined on the next valuation date following the ex-dividend date (generally, one of the last Business Days of a month). There is no sales load or other charge for reinvestment. The Fund reserves the right to suspend or limit at any time the ability of shareholders to reinvest distributions.

	Pursuant to the Fund's Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan (the "Plan"), unless a shareholder is ineligible or otherwise elects, all distributions (including capital gain dividends) are automatically reinvested by the Fund in additional Shares. Election not to participate in the Plan and to receive all distributions and capital gain distributions in cash may be made by indicating that choice on the subscription documents or by contacting the Administrator in accordance with the Plan.
Fund Expenses	The Fund bears its own expenses, including, but not limited to, all expenses of operating the Fund; fees and expenses paid to the Administrator and the custodian; fees and expenses for accounting, brokerage, custody, transfer, registration, insurance, interest and other expenses incurred in respect of Fund borrowings and guarantees; its Board of Trustees; legal services, audit services, tax preparation, investment banking, commissions, risk management, reporting, insurance, indemnification and litigation-related expenses, compliance-related matters and regulatory filings (including, without limitation, expenses relating to the preparation and filing of Form PF, Form ADV, reports to be filed with the U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission ("CFTC"), reports, disclosures, and/or other regulatory filings of the Investment Manager and its affiliates relating to their activities (including our pro rata share of the costs of the Investment Manager and its affiliates or clarges specifically attributable to the Fund's activities; other expenses associated with the acquisition, holding, monitoring, and disposition of investments; certain technology costs, including hardware and software; tax and other operational expenses, expenses of any litigation involving the Fund or entities in which it has an investment. The Fund also bears indirectly its pro rata share of the Master Fund's specified Expenses indurred in connection with the offering and sale of Shares and, indirectly, the other expenses of the Master Fund, including the Management Fee and the Incentive Fee. The Investment Manager if the Specified Expenses of the Fund's specified Expenses (as defined below and including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses (as defined below and including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses of the Fund is pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses is using a diver expense inmit is then in effect, such lower limit) within the three-year period after the Investme

	Expenses) in the month the repayment is being made to a level that exceeds the expense cap or any other expense limitation agreement then in effect at the time of the waiver or reimbursement with respect to the Specified Expenses. This arrangement cannot be terminated prior to December 31, 2020 without the Board's consent.
	"Specified Expenses" is defined to include all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund and the Fund's pro rata share of all expenses incurred in the business of the Master Fund, including organizational costs, with the exception of (i) the Management Fee, (ii) the Incentive Fee, (iii) brokerage costs, (iv) dividend/interest payments (including any dividend payments, interest expenses, commitment fees, or other expenses related to any leverage incurred by the Fund or Master Fund), (v) taxes, and (vi) extraordinary expenses (as determined in the sole discretion of the Investment Manager).
Master Fund Expenses	The Master Fund bears its own fees and expenses, including the Management Fee and the Incentive Fee. It also pays fees and expenses incidental to the purchase, holding and sale of interests in, and bears a pro rata share of the fees and expenses of, any portfolio holding and recurring investment expenses, including custodial costs, brokerage costs and interest charges with respect to investments and any other expenses which the Board of Trustees determines to be directly related to the investment of the Master Fund's assets. These expenses are borne on an indirect pro rata basis by the Fund and any other feeder funds to the Master Fund, and therefore also by shareholders on a pro rata basis.
Repurchases	The Fund is organized as a closed-end management investment company. Closed-end funds differ from open-end management investment companies (commonly known as mutual funds) in that shareholders in a closed-end fund do not have the right to redeem their Shares on a daily basis. In addition, subject to limited exceptions, the Fund's Shares are not transferable and liquidity is available only through limited tender offers described below. An investment in the Fund is suitable only for shareholders who can bear the risks associated with the limited liquidity of the Shares and should be viewed as a long-term investment. See "Risk Factors—Liquidity Risks."
	No shareholder will have the right to require the Fund to redeem Shares and you will not be able to redeem your Shares on a daily basis because the Fund is a closed-end fund. However, the Fund may from time to time offer to repurchase a portion of its outstanding Shares pursuant to written tenders by shareholders.
	Repurchases will be made at such times and on such terms as may be determined by the Board of Trustees, in its sole discretion. In determining whether the Fund should offer to repurchase Shares from shareholders, the Board of Trustees will consider the recommendations of the Investment Manager. The Investment Manager expects that generally it will recommend to the Board of Trustees that the Fund offer to repurchase a portion of the Shares

from shareholders four times each year, effective March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31. However, there is no guarantee that the Investment Manager will recommend or that the Board of Trustees will approve any repurchase offer. Any repurchase offers the Fund makes are at the discretion of the Board of Trustees, which will typically consider the following factors, among others, in making this determination: (i) whether any shareholders have requested that the Fund repurchase their Shares; (ii) the liquidity of the Master Fund's assets; (iii) the investment plans and working capital requirements of the Fund; (v) the relative economies of scale with respect to the size of the Fund; (v) the history of the Fund in repurchasing Shares; (vi) the condition of the securities markets; and (vii) the anticipated tax consequences of any proposed repurchases of Shares.

The Fund generally will not offer to repurchase Shares unless the Master Fund conducts a repurchase offer for the Master Fund's shares. It is anticipated that each repurchase offer of the Fund will extend only to a specified portion of the Fund's net assets (generally, 10-25% of the Fund's net assets, however, such amount may vary), based upon, among other things, the liquidity of the Master Fund's assets. The amount a shareholder is entitled to be paid for Shares tendered to the Fund with a tender valuation date within 12 months of the original issue date of such Shares will be reduced by 2% of the NAV of the Shares repurchased by the Fund; this reduction is referred to herein as an "Early Withdrawal Fee." If applicable, payment of the Early Withdrawal Fee will be made by reducing the repurchase proceeds. The Early Withdrawal Fee will be retained by the Fund for the benefit of remaining shareholders. Shares repurchased will be treated as having been repurchased on a "first-in/first-out" basis. Therefore, the portion of Shares repurchased will be deemed to have been taken from the earliest Shares repurchased by such shareholder. For illustrative purposes, a shareholder who acquired Shares on April 1 will not incur an Early Withdrawal Fee for participating in a repurchase offer that has a Tender Valuation Date (as defined below) of March 31 of the following year (or anytime thereafter). The Investment Manager may waive the Early Withdrawal Fee in its sole discretion under certain circumstances. If the aggregate Shares tendered by shareholders in response to the Fund's repurchase offer exceed the amount of the Fund's repurchase offer, tendering shareholders will generally participate on a pro rata basis. See "Repurchases and Transfers of Shares" below for additional information about Share repurchases.

The Fund may effect a compulsory repurchase of all or a portion of a shareholder's Shares if the Board deems it advisable to do so. See "Repurchases and Transfers of Shares—Forced Redemption" for additional information.

The timing, terms and conditions of any particular repurchase offer may vary at the sole discretion of the Board. Repurchase offers will generally commence approximately 95 days prior to the last day of March, June, September and December each year (each such last date is referred to as a "Tender Valuation Date") and remain open for

	approximately 30 calendar days. Only 95% of the unaudited NAV will be payable initially for repurchased Shares, with the remainder payable following the audit of the Fund's financial statements for that fiscal year, and subject to adjustment from such audit. For more information concerning repurchases, see "Risk Factors—Liquidity Risks" and "Repurchases and Transfers of Shares."
Transferability of Shares	There is no market for Shares and none is expected to develop. Shares are not assignable or transferable without the prior written consent of the Fund, which may be granted or withheld in its sole discretion. Transfers of Shares effected without compliance with the Fund Declaration of Trust will not be recognized by the Fund.
Valuations	The NAV of each of the Fund and the Master Fund will be equivalent to its assets less its liabilities, including accrued fees and expenses, as of any date of determination. Because the Fund invests substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, the value of the Fund's assets will depend on the value of its investment in the Master Fund and, thus, the value of the Master Fund's portfolio. The NAV of the Fund and the Master Fund and the NAV per share of the Fund and the Master Fund generally will be calculated by the Administrator as of the end of each calendar month in accordance with the valuation policies and procedures established by the Board.
	The Master Fund's investments for which market quotations are readily available are generally valued based on market value. Market values for domestic and foreign securities are normally determined on the basis of quotations provided from independent pricing sources ( <i>e.g.</i> , pricing vendors and broker-dealers). For further details on the Master Fund's valuation policies, please see "Determination of Net Asset Value and Managed Assets."
Allocation of Investment	
Opportunities	Certain other funds or vehicles advised by the Investment Manager or any of its affiliates that are managed as part of the Blackstone Real Estate Debt Strategies ("BREDS") program have investment objectives or guidelines that overlap with those of the Fund or the Master Fund, in whole or in part (and future funds or vehicles advised by the Investment Manager or any of its affiliates may also have overlapping investment objectives or guidelines). Investment opportunities that fall within such common objectives or guidelines will generally be allocated among the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles (as defined below) on a basis that the Investment Manager, and/or any such affiliates, determine to be fair and reasonable in its sole discretion, subject to (i) any applicable investment objectives, focus, parameters, guidelines, investor preferences, limitations and other contractual provisions and terms of the Master Fund and such other investment funds, vehicles and accounts sponsored, closed, managed and/or acquired by Blackstone or its affiliates on a global basis or that focus on specific types of investments (collectively, the "Other Blackstone Vehicles," a subset of which are Blackstone Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. ("BREIT"),

BREDS vehicles (the "BREDS Vehicles"), Blackstone Real Estate Partners vehicles (the "BREP Vehicles") and Blackstone Property Partners vehicles (the "BPP Vehicles", together with BREIT, the BREDS Vehicles, the BREP Vehicles and other Blackstone vehicles sub-advised by the Investment Manager, the "Other Real Estate Vehicles")), (ii) the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles having available capital with respect thereto, and (iii) legal, tax, accounting, regulatory and other considerations deemed relevant by the Investment Manager and/or its affiliates (including without limitation, Section 17 of the 1940 Act, the relative risk-return profile of the investment, the credit rating of the investment, the specific nature and terms of the investment, size and type of the investment, relative investment strategies and primary investment mandates of the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles, the different liquidity positions and requirements of each fund or vehicle, underwritten leverage levels of a loan, portfolio concentration considerations, when a pro rata allocation could result in de minimis or odd lot allocations, historical and anticipated redemption, withdrawal or repurchase requirement requests from a client, fund and/or vehicle and anticipated future contributions or subscriptions into an account, contractual obligations, other anticipated uses of capital, the source of the investment opportunity, credit ratings of a CMBS investment, the ability of a client, fund and/or vehicle to employ leverage, hedging, derivatives, syndication strategy or other similar strategies in connection with acquiring, holding or disposing of the particular investment opportunity, any requirements or other terms of any existing leverage facilities, geographic focus, size and length of unfunded deal-level commitments, applicable co-investment arrangements and other considerations deemed relevant in good faith by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion).

In addition, as a registered investment company under the 1940 Act, the Master Fund is subject to certain limitations relating to co-investments or joint transactions with affiliates, which has and likely will in the future in certain circumstances limit the Master Fund's ability to make investments or enter into other transactions alongside the other BREDS Vehicles. The Fund and the Master Fund have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits them, among other things, to co-invest with certain other persons, including certain affiliates of the Investment Manager and certain funds managed and controlled by the Investment Manager and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions. There can be no assurance that such regulatory restrictions or the conditions of such exemptive relief will not adversely affect the Master Fund's ability to capitalize on attractive investment opportunities.

Summary of Tax Matters .....

... The Fund has qualified to be treated as a regulated investment company (a "RIC") under Subchapter M of the Code, which generally relieves the Fund of any liability for federal income tax to the extent its earnings are distributed to shareholders. In order to continue to so qualify and be eligible for treatment as a RIC, the Fund must, among other things, satisfy diversification, 90% gross income and

	distribution requirements. (See "Tax Considerations" below). There can be no assurance that the Fund will so qualify and be eligible. The Master Fund intends to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes for as long as it has at least two shareholders. As a result, the Master Fund will itself generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. Rather, each of the Master Fund's shareholders, including the Fund, will be required to take into
	account, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, its allocable share of the Master Fund's items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit. See "Tax Considerations" below. Under the Plan, shareholders may elect to have their distributions reinvested in Shares. Shareholders subject to U.S. federal income tax
	generally are required to recognize the full amount of the distribution (including the portion payable in Shares) as ordinary dividend income (and, to the extent applicable, as a capital gain dividend) to the extent of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Reports	The Fund distributes a semi-annual report containing unaudited financial statements and an annual report containing audited financial statements within 60 days of the end of each semi-annual or annual period.
Exculpation, Indemnification, etc	Under each of the Fund Declaration of Trust and the Master Fund's Agreement and Declaration of Trust, as may be amended or supplemented from time to time (the "Master Fund Declaration of Trust"), each of the Fund and the Master Fund has agreed to indemnify each member of its Board of Trustees and its officers and the Investment Manager and its affiliates (including such persons who serve at the Fund's or the Master Fund's request as directors, officers, members, partners or trustees of another organization in which the Fund or the Master Fund, as applicable, has any interest as a shareholder, creditor or otherwise) (each such person hereinafter referred to as a "Fund Covered Person") against all liabilities and expenses, except with respect to any matter as to which such Fund Covered Person shall not have acted in good faith in the reasonable belief that such Fund Covered Person's action was in or not opposed to the best interests of the Fund and except that no Fund Covered Person shall be indemnified against any liability to the Fund or its shareholders to which such Fund Covered Person would otherwise be subject by reason of willful misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of such Fund Covered Person's position. Upon certain conditions, the Fund shall advance expenses incurred by any Fund Covered Person in advance of the final disposition of any such action, suit or proceeding.
	In addition, in the event of any request to hold harmless or indemnify any person as permitted under Sections 17(h) and 17(i) of the 1940 Act, including (i) where liability has not been adjudicated, (ii) where the matter has been settled, or (iii) in situations involving an advancement of attorney's fees or other expenses, the Fund will

	follow SEC policy regarding such matters, including such policy as set forth in Release No. 11330, so long as the interpretation of Sections 17(h) and 17(i) of the 1940 Act contained in that release remains in effect.
Administrator	Each of the Fund and the Master Fund has entered into a separate administration agreement (each, an "Administration Agreement") with State Street Bank and Trust Company (in such capacity, the "Administrator"). The Administrator and/or its affiliates are responsible for certain matters pertaining to the administration of the Fund and the Master Fund, including: (i) maintaining corporate and financial books and records of the Fund and the Master Fund, (ii) providing administration services and (iii) performing other accounting and clerical services necessary in connection with the administration of the Fund and the Master Fund. The services performed by the Administrator may be completed by one or more of its affiliated companies.
Distributor	The Distributor is the principal underwriter and distributor of the Institutional Class II Shares and serves in that capacity on a best efforts basis, subject to various conditions. Additional dealers or other financial intermediaries may be appointed by the Distributor.
	The Investment Manager and/or its affiliates may pay additional compensation, out of its own assets and not as an additional charge to the Fund or the Master Fund, to selling agents in connection with the sale and/or distribution of Shares or the retention and/or servicing of shareholder accounts.
Transfer Agent	State Street Bank and Trust Company.
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	Deloitte & Touche LLP.
Custodian	State Street Bank and Trust Company (in such capacity, the "Custodian") acts as custodian to the Fund and the Master Fund pursuant to an agreement between the Custodian and each of the Fund and the Master Fund. In furtherance of its duties to the Fund, the Custodian may appoint sub-custodians from time to time. Other entities may be appointed in the future to provide custodial services to the Fund.
Fiscal Year	The Fund's fiscal year is the 12-month period ending on December 31st.
Selected Risk Considerations	The Fund's and the Master Fund's investment program is speculative and entails substantial risks. The following is a summary of certain of these risks. It is not complete and you should read and consider carefully the more complete list of risks described below under "Risk Factors" before purchasing our Shares in this offering.

Principal risks associated with investing in the Fund include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Shareholders may lose capital and/or the Fund may fail to effectively achieve its investment objective.
- The Shares are not traded on any securities exchange or other market and are subject to restrictions on transfer.
- The Fund cannot guarantee that it will make distributions.
- The Master Fund is classified as a "non-diversified" investment company, which means that the percentage of its assets that may be invested in the securities of a single issuer is not limited by the 1940 Act. As a result, to the extent the Master Fund is invested in securities of a limited number of issuers, its investment portfolio may be subject to greater risk and volatility than if investments were made in the securities of a broad range of issuers.
- Expenses exist at the Fund level and, without duplication, at the Master Fund level. In addition, the Master Fund pays the Investment Manager an Incentive Fee.
- As described in this Prospectus, the Master Fund incurs leverage, which could magnify significantly the potential volatility of the Shares.
- The Fund's qualification as a RIC under the Code may in some cases prevent the Master Fund from taking advantage of attractive investment opportunities or may force it to liquidate investments at disadvantageous times or prices.
- The success of the Investment Manager depends, in large part, upon the skill and expertise of the management of certain key personnel.
- As a result of the Investment Manager's relationship with Blackstone, the Investment Manager may come into possession of material non-public information with respect to issuers in which Blackstone has, or may be considering making, an investment which may preclude the Master Fund from trading in the securities of those issuers.
- The ability of the Master Fund to capitalize on attractive investment opportunities and realize attractive risk-adjusted returns may be adversely affected by Blackstone's management of other real estate-related debt funds and vehicles with overlapping investment objectives.
- Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur that may adversely affect the Fund or the Master Fund.
- The Master Fund has formed a subsidiary organized in the Cayman Islands and may in the future form additional subsidiaries organized in a foreign jurisdiction, through which the Master Fund may invest in certain types of assets, including Regulation S securities. It is not anticipated that such

subsidiaries would be registered under the 1940 Act. As an investor in such subsidiaries, the Master Fund would not have all of the protections offered to investors by the 1940 Act. However, it is anticipated that such subsidiaries would be wholly-owned and controlled by the Master Fund, and managed by the Investment Manager. Therefore, the Master Fund's ownership and control of such subsidiaries would make it unlikely that such subsidiaries would take actions contrary to the interests of the Master Fund or its shareholders. References to the Master Fund in this Prospectus are deemed to include any subsidiary whollyowned by the Master Fund.

Because the Fund, through its investment in the Master Fund, invests in the real estate debt sector, shareholders are subject to additional risks including, but not limited to, the following:

- The real estate debt sector is a highly competitive market for investment opportunities.
- Any deterioration of the real estate industry may negatively impact the performance of the Master Fund.
- The Master Fund's investments are subject to general risks associated with real estate-related debt investments generally and prevailing economic conditions, as well as particular risks associated with debt investments.
- While the Master Fund invests primarily in "performing" real estate-related debt investments, investments acquired by the Master Fund may be at the time of their acquisition, or may become after acquisition, "sub-performing" or "non-performing" for a wide variety of reasons.
- Investments by the Master Fund in fixed-rate and floating-rate CMBS entail credit risk (*i.e.*, the risk of non-payment of interest and principal) and market risk (*i.e.*, the risk that interest rates, supply demand fundamentals and other factors could cause the value of the instrument to decline).
- Many of the Master Fund's investments and forms of leverage pay interest based on LIBOR, subjecting it to LIBOR risk. Abandonment of or modifications to LIBOR could lead to significant short-term and long-term uncertainty and market instability. In addition, the transition to a successor rate could potentially cause (i) increased volatility or illiquidity in markets for instruments that currently rely on LIBOR, (ii) a reduction in the value of certain instruments held by the Fund and the Master Fund, or (iii) reduced effectiveness of related Fund and Master Fund transactions, such as hedging.
- Default risk may be pronounced in the case of single-issuer CMBS or CMBS secured by, or evidencing an interest in, a relatively small or less diverse pool of underlying loans.
- To the extent the Master Fund invests in subordinated pools or tranches of CMBS, the Master Fund would potentially receive

payments or interest distributions after, and must bear the effects of losses or defaults on the underlying mortgage loans before, the holders of other more senior tranches of CMBS.

- To the extent underlying default rates increase with respect to the mortgage loans in which the Master Fund invests, the performance of the Master Fund investments in any such CMBS pools or similar structured products may be adversely affected.
- The Master Fund's corporate and other private debt investments may be subject to various risks, including prepayment and interest rate risks, as well as the risks associated with an issuer's unwillingness or inability to repay principal and interest in a timely manner and an issuer's inability to access capital markets, which may be magnified for debt securities of below investment grade quality.
- The Master Fund's residential credit investments (including RMBS) are subject to various risks, including credit, market, interest rate, structural and legal risks, which may be magnified by volatility in the economy and in real estate markets generally.
- The Master Fund utilizes a variety of derivative financial instruments for both investment and risk management purposes, the use of which is a highly specialized activity that may entail greater than ordinary investment risks including, among others, particular risks associated with counterparty failure, heightened risks associated with inherent leverage in certain derivative instruments, heightened volatility and asymmetric duration or term risk, as well as other legal and regulatory risks.
- To the extent the Master Fund invests in mezzanine loans, subordinated debt or other similar debt instruments that are junior in an issuer's capital structure, in the case of a borrower default, such investments would not be repaid until the senior indebtedness is satisfied and therefore expose the Master Fund to greater risk of loss. In such circumstances, the Master Fund's remedies with respect thereto, including the ability to foreclose on any collateral securing such investments, will be subject to the rights of any senior creditors and, to the extent applicable, contractual inter-creditor and/or participation agreement provisions.
- The Master Fund's use of short sales for investment and/or risk management purposes subjects it to risks associated with selling short. The Master Fund's loss on a short sale theoretically could be unlimited in a case where the Master Fund is unable, for whatever reason, to close out its short position.
- To the extent the Master Fund invests in commercial mortgage loans or other real estate debt investments secured by real property, such investment will be subject to risks of delinquency, default and foreclosure, which may adversely affect the Master Fund's return on such investment.
- The liquidity of the Master Fund's investments varies by type of security and due to market conditions, and at certain times the

Master Fund may encounter difficulty in disposing of such investments.

- Asset-backed investments tend to increase in value less than other debt securities when interest rates decline, but are subject to similar risk of decline in market value during periods of rising interest rates.
- The Master Fund has the ability to invest in securities that are publicly traded and are therefore subject to the risks inherent in investing in public securities.
- The debt securities in which the Master Fund invests may include secured or unsecured debt, which may be subordinated to substantial amounts of senior indebtedness, all or a significant portion of which may be secured.
- Fixed income securities are subject to the risk of the issuer's or a guarantor's inability to meet principal and interest payments on its obligations and are subject to price volatility due to factors such as interest rate sensitivity, market perception of the creditworthiness of the issuer and general market liquidity, which could increase risk of loss and/or adversely affect the value of investments held by the Master Fund.
- Any further changes to monetary policy and other related developments in the United States and elsewhere could affect interest rates generally, which would impact the value of the Master Fund's fixed income investments and make it relatively more difficult for borrowers to meet their financial obligations, which could increase underlying default risk relating to certain debt investments held by the Master Fund.
- A significant portion of the non-U.S. investments held by the Master Fund may be denominated in euros. Recent political and economic issues have created uncertainty concerning the future of the euro and the impact if one or more countries leave the eurozone. These or other events, including political and economic developments, could cause market disruptions and could adversely affect the value of investments held by the Master Fund.
- The Master Fund's investments in structured products are subject to a number of risks, including risks related to the fact that the structured products are leveraged.
- The Master Fund's investments are subject to additional risks, including risks relating to the securitization process and risks that service providers may take action that are adverse to the Master Fund's interests or otherwise fail to effectively perform their duties relating to such investment.

Accordingly, the Fund should be considered a speculative investment and entails substantial risks, and a prospective shareholder should invest in the Fund only if it can sustain a complete loss of its investment. See "Risk Factors" beginning on page 48 of this Prospectus.

Selected Conflicts of Interest	Blackstone has conflicts of interest, or conflicting loyalties, as a result of the numerous activities and relationships of Blackstone, the Investment Manager and the affiliates, directors and employees of the foregoing, some of which are described herein, and the participation of the Fund and the Master Fund as part of the BREDS program, which includes a number of funds, vehicles and/or accounts that have investment objectives that overlap, in whole or in part, with those of the Fund and the Master Fund. Not all potential, apparent and actual conflicts of interest are included herein, and additional conflicts of interest could arise as a result of new activities, transactions or relationships commenced in the future. The following is a summary of some of these conflicts of interest. It is not complete and you should read and consider carefully the more complete list of conflicts of interest described below under "Conflicts of Interest" before purchasing Shares in this offering.
	Some of the conflicts of interest associated with the Fund and the Master Fund include, but are not limited to, the following:
	• The Incentive Fee creates an incentive for the Investment Manager to make more speculative investments on behalf of the Master Fund than it would otherwise make in the absence of such performance-based compensation.
	• During periods when the Master Fund is using leverage, the fees paid to the Investment Manager will be higher than if the Master Fund did not use leverage because the fees paid will be calculated on the basis of the Master Fund's Managed Assets, which includes assets obtained through the use of leverage. As such, the Investment Manager may have a financial incentive to increase the Master Fund's use of leverage, which constitutes an inherent conflict of interest.
	• Blackstone may have relationships with, render services to or engage in transactions with, government agencies and/or issuers or owners of securities that are, or are eligible to be, investment opportunities for the Master Fund. As a result, employees of Blackstone may possess information relating to such issuers that is not known to the employees of the Investment Manager responsible for making investment decisions or for monitoring the Master Fund's investments.
	• Blackstone currently sponsors a variety of Other Blackstone Vehicles (and may in the future sponsor additional funds and vehicles) that compete with the Master Fund for investment opportunities, which may make it relatively more difficult for the Master Fund to effectively execute attractive investment opportunities.
	• The allocation methodology applied between the Master Fund and one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles may result in the Master Fund not participating (and/or not participating to the same extent) in certain investment opportunities in which the Master Fund would have otherwise participated had the related allocations been determined without regard to such guidelines

and/or based only on the circumstances of those particular investments.

• The Master Fund also co-invests with Other Blackstone Vehicles in investments that are suitable for both the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles. When structuring any co-investment by the Master Fund with Other Blackstone Vehicles, the Investment Manager and its affiliates will only negotiate price-related terms in accordance with Section 17 of the 1940 Act and related guidance and interpretations issued by the SEC, except as described below.

The Fund and the Master Fund have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits them, among other things, to co-invest with certain other persons, including certain affiliates of the Investment Manager and certain funds managed and controlled by the Investment Manager and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions.

- The Master Fund and/or the Other Blackstone Vehicles may make and/or hold investments at different levels of an issuer's capital structure, including the Master Fund making one or more investments directly or indirectly relating to portfolio entities of Other Blackstone Vehicles and vice versa. In addition, in connection with any such investments in which the Master Fund participates alongside any such Other Blackstone Vehicles, the Investment Manager will likely grant absolutely to, and/or share with, such Other Blackstone Vehicles certain rights relating to such investments for legal, tax, regulatory or other reasons, including certain control- and/or foreclosure-related rights with respect to such investments and/or otherwise agree to implement certain procedures to mitigate conflicts of interest which typically involve maintaining a non-controlling interest in any such investment and a forbearance of rights, including certain non-economic rights, relating to the Master Fund (including following the vote of other third party lenders generally (or otherwise recusing itself with respect to decisions, including with respect to defaults, foreclosures, workouts, restructurings and/or exit opportunities)), subject to certain limitations. See "Conflicts of Interest-Investments in Which Other Blackstone Vehicles Have a Different Principal Investment."
- Blackstone may structure an investment as a result of which one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles, including the BREDS Vehicles, or vehicles are offered the opportunity to participate in a separate debt tranche of an investment allocated to the Master Fund and may face a conflict of interest in respect of the advice it gives to, or the decisions made with regard to such Other Blackstone Vehicles and the Master Fund, or otherwise may result in different actions being taken with respect to such other funds, including in circumstances of shared investments, provided, however, that any such investment will be structured in accordance with Section 17(d) under the 1940 Act and

Rule 17d-1 thereunder and, as applicable, the Master Fund's exemptive order from the SEC.

- To the extent the Master Fund makes or has an investment in, or, through the purchase of debt investment becomes a lender to, a company in which another Blackstone fund or vehicle has a debt or equity investment, or if another Blackstone fund or vehicle participates in a separate tranche of a fundraising with respect to an investment, Blackstone may have conflicting loyalties between its duties to the Master Fund and to other affiliates. In that regard, actions may be taken for the Other Blackstone Vehicles that are adverse to the Master Fund and thus the Fund.
- Blackstone generally makes investment and disposition decisions on behalf of the Master Fund and the Other Blackstone Vehicles independently and without regard to the investment activities of such other funds and vehicles, and there can be no assurance that actions taken with respect to the Master Fund and/ or the Other Blackstone Vehicles may not result in the funds acquiring and exiting investments at different times and on different terms.
- Specified policies and procedures implemented by Blackstone to mitigate potential conflicts of interest and address certain regulatory requirements and contractual restrictions may reduce the synergies across Blackstone's various businesses that the Master Fund expects to draw on for purposes of pursuing attractive investment opportunities and may otherwise limit the investment flexibility of the Master Fund.

For a more detailed discussion of risk factors and potential conflicts of interest, see "Risk Factors" and "Conflicts of Interest."

#### **Summary of Fees and Expenses**

This table describes the combined fees and expenses of the Fund and the Master Fund that you will incur (directly or indirectly) if you buy and hold Institutional Class II Shares. This information is based on the Fund's fees and expenses for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019. Shareholders in the Fund will bear indirectly fees and expenses of the Master Fund, which is reflected in the following table and the examples below. The fees paid by the Fund and the Master Fund are described below in the section "Management of the Fund—Investment Manager—Management Agreement."

#### Shareholder Transaction Expenses:

Maximum Sales Load (as a percentage of the offering price) <sup>(1)</sup>	None
Maximum Early Withdrawal Fee <sup>(2)</sup>	2.00%
Annual Expenses (as a percentage of net assets of the Fund attributable to Institutional Class II Shares):	
Management Fee <sup>(3)</sup>	2.35%
Interest Expense on Repurchase Agreements <sup>(4)</sup>	1.55%
Interest Expense on Securities Sold Short	0.13%
Other Expenses <sup>(5)</sup>	0.50%
Incentive Fee <sup>(6)</sup>	1.95%
Total Annual Expenses	6.47%

(1) The Distributor acts as the distributor of the Shares on a best efforts basis, subject to various conditions. Shares are also offered through other brokers or dealers (selling agents) that have entered into selling agreements with the Distributor.

- (2) The amount a shareholder is entitled to be paid for Shares tendered to the Fund with a tender valuation date within 12 months of the original issue date of such Shares will be reduced by 2.00% of the NAV of the Shares repurchased by the Fund; this reduction is referred to herein as an "Early Withdrawal Fee." If applicable, payment of the Early Withdrawal Fee will be made by reducing the repurchase proceeds. The Early Withdrawal Fee will be retained by the Fund for the benefit of remaining shareholders. Shares repurchased will be treated as having been repurchased on a "first-in/first-out" basis. Therefore, the portion of Shares repurchased will be deemed to have been taken from the earliest Shares repurchased by such shareholder. The Investment Manager may waive the Early Withdrawal Fee in its sole discretion under certain circumstances. See "Repurchases and Transfers of Shares" below for additional information about Share repurchases.
- (3) The Fund's annual contractual investment management fee rate under its investment management agreement (the "Investment Management Agreement") with the Investment Manager is 1.50% of the Fund's Managed Assets and is payable quarterly; however, pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, no investment management fee is payable by the Fund with respect to any period during which the only investment security held by the Fund is that of another registered investment company. As a result, as long as the Fund continues to invest in the Master Fund as part of a master-feeder arrangement, shareholders will incur a single fee for investment management services provided by the Investment Manager to the Fund and the Master Fund. The Management Fee is payable by the Master Fund pursuant to the Master Fund Investment Agreement, which is borne indirectly by shareholders as a result of the Fund's investment in the Master Fund. The amount shown in the table represents the portion of the Management Fee paid by the Master Fund.

The Management Fee accrues monthly at an annual rate of 1.50% of the Master Fund's Managed Assets at the end of such month before giving effect to the Management Fee payment being calculated or any purchases or repurchases of Master Fund shares or any distributions by the Master Fund. The Investment Manager has temporarily reduced its management fee to an annualized rate of 0.75% of the Fund's or the

Master Fund's Managed Assets, effective from October 1, 2014 until December 31, 2020 (which may be extended, terminated or modified by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion). For purposes of this table, we have not applied the fee waiver and assumed that the Master Fund utilizes the average amount of leverage employed during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (i.e., approximately 36% of its total assets). If we applied the fee waiver but used the same leverage assumption, the Management Fee would be 1.17%. If the Master Fund were to use a higher level of leverage, the Fund's indirect Management Fee expense would increase.

- (4) The Fund bears indirectly its pro rata share of the Master Fund's expenses, including in connection with use of leverage. For purposes of this table, we have assumed that the Master Fund utilizes the average amount of leverage employed during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (i.e., approximately 36% of its total assets), at an annual interest rate of 2.80%, the weighted average interest rate of the Fund's borrowing during the year ended December 31, 2019. Certain portions of the Fund's leverage are excluded from the Fund's leverage calculations for purposes of determining compliance with the 1940 Act because they are not considered senior securities under the 1940 Act pursuant to applicable SEC staff guidance. The Master Fund may use various forms of leverage, which may result in different expenses than those estimated above. The actual amount of expense borne by the Master Fund will vary over time in accordance with the level of the Master Fund's use of leverage and variations in market conditions.
- (5) "Other Expenses" are based on Fund average net assets of \$215.8 million and expenses incurred during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. "Other Expenses" include professional fees and other expenses, including, without limitation, SEC filing fees, FINRA filing fees, printing fees, administration fees, investor servicing fees, custody fees, trustee fees, insurance costs, financing costs, fees and expenses related to subsidiaries, and other expenses that the Fund bears directly and indirectly through the Master Fund, taking into account the expense cap described below.

Through December 31, 2020, the Investment Manager has agreed to waive its fees and/or reimburse expenses of the Fund so that the Fund's Specified Expenses including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses will not exceed 0.35% of net assets (annualized). The Fund has agreed to repay these amounts, when and if requested by the Investment Manager, but only if and to the extent that Specified Expenses of the Fund (including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses) are less than 0.35% of net assets (annualized) (or, if a lower expense limit is then in effect, such lower limit) within the three-year period after the Investment Manager bears the expense; provided, however, that the Investment Manager may recapture a Specified Expense in the same year it is incurred. This arrangement cannot be terminated prior to December 31, 2020 without the Board's consent. The amount in the table does not include Specified Expenses of 0.14% of average net assets that were reimbursed by the Investment Manager in 2019. "Specified Expenses" is defined to include all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund and the Fund's pro rata share of all expenses incurred in the business of the Master Fund, including organizational costs, with the exception of (i) the Management Fee, (ii) the Incentive Fee, (iii) brokerage costs, (iv) dividend/interest payments (including any dividend payments, interest expenses, commitment fees, or other expenses related to any leverage incurred by the Fund or Master Fund), (v) taxes, and (vi) extraordinary expenses (as determined in the sole discretion of the Investment Manager). See "Management of the Fund-Expense Limitation Undertaking."

(6) The Master Fund pays the Investment Manager a performance-based Incentive Fee promptly after the end of each fiscal year of the Master Fund pursuant to the Master Fund Investment Management Agreement. The Incentive Fee is determined as of the end of the fiscal year in an amount equal to 15% of the amount by which the Master Fund's Net Capital Appreciation for each Fiscal Period ending within or coterminous with the close of such fiscal year exceeds the balance of the loss carryforward account and any allocated Management Fee expense for such fiscal period, without duplication for any Incentive Fees paid during such fiscal year.

The following example illustrates the hypothetical expenses that you would pay on a \$1,000 investment in the Shares, assuming (i) the maximum sales load, (ii) total annual expenses (excluding the incentive fee based on the Fund's performance for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2019) of 4.52% of net assets attributable to the Shares in years one through ten (which assumes the Fund's use of leverage through Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to the average level of leverage during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 of 36% of the Fund's total assets) and (iii) a 5% annual return and the incentive fee that would result from such a return. The

purpose of this table is to assist an investor in understanding the various costs and expenses that an investor in the Fund will bear directly or indirectly. The table assumes the reinvestment of all dividends and distributions at NAV. For a more complete description of the various fees and expenses of the Fund, see "Management of the Fund."

Example:

	1 year	3 years	5 years	10 years
You would pay the following expenses on a \$1,000 investment,				
assuming a 5% annual return	\$48	\$143	\$239	\$482

The "Example" is based on the expenses set forth in the table above, including the Incentive Fee, and should not be considered a representation of the Fund's future expenses. Actual expenses of the Fund may be higher or lower than those shown. Moreover, the annual return may be greater or less than the hypothetical 5% gross return in the table above; if the annual return were greater, the amount of fees and expenses would increase.

#### **Financial Highlights**

The information contained in the table below sets forth selected information derived from the financial statements contained in the Fund's annual report for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the "Annual Report"), which have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP ("Deloitte").

Deloitte's report, along with the Fund's financial statements, is included in the Annual Report. The information provided below should be read in conjunction with the Annual Report and the notes accompanying the report. The Annual Report has been filed with the SEC and is available on the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov, and is also available upon request by calling 1-855-890-7725. The Fund's financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 are incorporated by reference into the Fund's SAI, dated May 1, 2020, which is available upon request.

#### Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II Financial Highlights (For Shares Outstanding Throughout the Period)

	Institutional—Class II					
	Year Ended 12/31/2019	Year Ended 12/31/2018	Year Ended 12/31/2017	Year Ended 12/31/2016	Year Ended 12/31/2015	Year Ended 12/31/2014 <sup>(a)</sup>
Net Asset Value, Beginning of Period	\$ 973.73	\$1,006.29	\$ 966.22	\$1,016.01	\$1,004.19	\$1,000.00
Net investment income <sup>(b)</sup>	18.44 92.23	36.63 1.43	50.37 37.25	43.56 (25.98)	38.21 16.54	15.91 10.22
Net income from investment operations	110.67	38.06	87.62	17.58	54.75	26.13
Less Distributions to Shareholders: Distribution of net investment income to shareholders	(62.57)	(45.27)	(47.60)	(67.45)	(38.78)	(21.94)
From net realized capital gains	(14.12)	(25.36)			(4.20)	
Total Distributions	(76.69)	(70.63)	(47.60)	(67.45)	(42.98)	(21.94)
Early Withdrawal Fees	0.07	0.01	0.05	0.08	0.05	
Net Asset Value, End of Period	\$1,007.78	\$ 973.73	\$1,006.29	\$ 966.22	\$1,016.01	\$1,004.19
Total Return on Net Asset Value	11.51%	3.75%	9.18%	1.88%	5.46%	2.62%(c)
Ratios to Average Net Assets: Expenses for the Fund before reimbursement and waiver from Investment Manager and allocated Incentive						
Fees <sup>(b)</sup> Allocated Incentive Fees of the Fund <sup>(b)</sup>	4.53% 1.95%	4.27% 0.87%	3.93% 1.56%	4.09% 0.47%	4.11% 0.76%	4.31% <sup>(e)</sup> 0.48% <sup>(e)</sup>
Total expenses for the Fund before reimbursement from Investment Manager <sup>(b)</sup>	6.47%	5.14%	5.49%	4.56%	4.87%	4.79% <sup>(e)</sup>
Reimbursement and waiver from Investment Manager <sup>(c)</sup>	(1.32)%	(1.16)%	(1.09)%	(1.11)%	(1.34)%	(1.36)% <sup>(e)</sup>
Total expenses for the Fund after reimbursement and waiver from Investment Manager <sup>(b)</sup>	5.15%	3.98%	4.40%	3.39%	3.53%	3.43% <sup>(e)</sup>
Net investment income excluding Incentive Fees for the Fund	3.75%	4.44%	6.58%	4.92%	4.46%	2.59% <sup>(e)</sup>
Net investment income of the Fund	1.80%	3.57%	5.03%	4.45%	3.70%	2.11%(e)
Supplementary Data: Net assets, end of period (in thousands)	\$ 188,097	\$ 214,497	\$ 322,899	\$ 307,386	\$ 199,276	\$ 102,680
Portfolio turnover <sup>(d)</sup>	39%	81%	85%	26%	41%	31% <sup>(h)</sup>

(a) For the period April 1, 2014 (commencement of investment operations) through December 31, 2014.

<sup>(b)</sup> Calculated using average shares outstanding during the period.

<sup>(c)</sup> Total Return has not been annualized.

<sup>(d)</sup> Includes the Fund's share of the Master Fund's allocated expenses.

<sup>(e)</sup> Financial ratios have been annualized.

<sup>(f)</sup> The reimbursement and waiver includes expenses incurred by the Fund and the Master Fund.

(g) The Fund is invested solely in the Master Fund, therefore this ratio reflects the portfolio turnover for the Master Fund.

<sup>(h)</sup> Percentage represents the results for the period and is not annualized.

#### Blackstone Real Estate Income Master Fund Consolidated Financial Highlights

	Year Ended 12/31/2019	Year Ended 12/31/2018	Year Ended 12/31/2017	Year Ended 12/31/2016	Year Ended 12/31/2015	Year Ended 12/31/2014 <sup>(a)</sup>
Total Return on Net Asset Value	11.45%	3.78%	9.20%	1.24%	5.55%	2.43% <sup>(b)</sup>
Ratios to Average Net Assets: Expenses before waiver from Investment Manager and Incentive Fees	4.42% <sup>(a)</sup>	4.17% <sup>(a)</sup>	3.81% <sup>(a)</sup>	<b>3.96%</b> <sup>(a)</sup>	3.76% <sup>(a)</sup>	3.57% <sup>(d)</sup>
Incentive Fees	1.92%	0.73%	1.54%	0.44%	0.83%	0.52% <sup>(d)</sup>
Expenses before waiver from Investment Manager	6.34% <sup>(c)</sup>	4.90% <sup>(c)</sup>	5.35% <sup>(c)</sup>	4.40%(c)	4.59% <sup>(c)</sup>	4.09% <sup>(d)</sup>
Management Fees waiver from Investment Manager	(1.18)% <sup>(c)</sup>	(1.10)% <sup>(c)</sup>	(1.06)%(c)	(1.11)%(c)	(1.12)% <sup>(c)</sup>	(0.48)% <sup>(d)</sup>
Net expenses after waiver from Investment Manager	5.16%	3.80%	4.29%	3.29%	3.47%	3.61% <sup>(d)</sup>
Net investment income excluding Incentive Fees	3.77%	4.44%	6.53%	4.96%	4.50%	2.49% <sup>(d)</sup>
Net investment income	1.85%	3.71%	4.99%	4.52%	3.67%	1.97% <sup>(d)</sup>
Supplementary Data: Net assets, end of period (in thousands)	\$772,679	\$780,231	\$941,374	\$959,932	\$829,981	\$547,179
Portfolio turnover	39%	81%	85%	26%	41%	31%(e)

<sup>(a)</sup> For the period April 1, 2014 (commencement of investment operations) through December 31, 2014.

<sup>(b)</sup> Total Return has not been annualized.

<sup>(c)</sup> Includes interest expense on securities sold short and reverse repurchase agreements of 1.68%, 1.64%, 1.40%, 1.49% and 1.26% for the years ended December 31, 2019, December 31, 2018, December 31, 2017, December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, respectively.

<sup>(d)</sup> Financial ratios have been annualized.

(e) Percentage represents the results for the period and is not annualized.

#### **Reverse Repurchase Agreements**

The Master Fund enters into reverse repurchase agreements from time to time for the purpose of creating leverage. In a reverse repurchase agreement, the Master Fund sells a security in exchange for cash to a financial institution, the counterparty, with a simultaneous agreement to repurchase the same or substantially the same security at an agreed upon price (which includes embedded interests) and date, under the terms of a Master Repurchase Agreement ("MRA"). The Master Fund's repurchase obligation is secured by the security it has delivered to the counterparty. The Master Fund is entitled to receive principal and interest payments, if any, made on the security delivered to the counterparty during the term of the agreement. The repurchase obligation for securities delivered plus accrued interest payments to be made by the Master Fund to counterparties is reflected as a liability. Reverse repurchase agreements involve the risk that the market value of securities and/or other instruments purchased by the Master Fund with the proceeds received by the Master Fund in connection with such reverse repurchase agreements may decline below the price the Master Fund is obligated to pay to repurchase securities under such reverse repurchase agreements. They also involve the risk that the counterparty liquidates the securities delivered to it by the Master Fund under the reverse repurchase agreement following the occurrence of an event of default under the applicable MRA by the Master Fund. The Master Fund's use of reverse repurchase agreements also subjects the Master Fund to interest costs based on the difference between the sale and repurchase price of a security involved in such a transaction. Additionally, repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements entail similar risks as over-the-counter derivatives. These include the risk that the counterparty to the agreement may not be able to fulfill its obligations, including, for example, if the value of the securities subject to repurchase exceed the Master Fund's liability under the reverse repurchase agreement, that the parties may disagree as to the meaning or application of contractual terms, or that the instrument may not perform as expected. Due to the short term nature of the reverse repurchase agreements, face value approximates fair value. As of December 31, 2019, the face value of open reverse repurchase agreements was \$416,089,364.

The weighted average daily balance of reverse repurchase agreements outstanding during the year ended December 31, 2019 was approximately \$445,211,652 at a weighted average weekly interest rate of 2.80%.

An MRA contains provisions for, among other things, initiation, income payments, events of default and maintenance of securities for repurchase agreements. An MRA may also permit, upon the occurrence of an event of default by one party, the offsetting of obligations under the MRA against obligations under other agreements with the same counterparty to create one single net payment in the event of default or similar events, including the bankruptcy or insolvency of a counterparty. The following table (as of December 31, 2019) presents the Master Fund's outstanding reverse repurchase agreements, including accrued interest, which are subject to enforceable MRAs, as well as the collateral delivered related to those reverse repurchase agreements.

Counterparty	Reverse Repurchase Agreement	Collateral Pledged to Counterparty <sup>(1)</sup>	Net Amount
Citigroup Global Markets	\$ (18,012,574)	\$ 18,012,574	\$—
Deutsche Bank AG	(73,077,714)	73,077,714	_
Morgan Stanley Bank, N.A.	(55,158,773)	55,158,773	_
RBC (Barbados) Trading Bank Corporation	(125,542,806)	125,542,806	
Royal Bank of Canada (London)	(106,194,776)	106,194,776	_
Royal Bank of Canada (New York)	(10,061,716)	10,061,716	_
Societe Generale Americas	(29,897,726)	29,897,726	
Total	\$(417,946,085)	\$417,946,085	<u>\$</u>

<sup>(1)</sup> Excess of collateral pledged to the individual counterparty is not shown for financial reporting purposes. The total fair value of non-cash and cash collateral pledged at December 31, 2019 was \$542,708,187 and \$1,410,888, respectively.

#### **Use of Proceeds**

The proceeds will be invested in accordance with the Fund's investment objective and strategies. The Fund invests substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund. The Investment Manager expects that substantially all of the Master Fund's assets will be invested within approximately three months of receipt of any proceeds from any sales of Shares.

Although the Fund invests substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, it may withdraw funds from the Master Fund and may make investments directly under certain circumstances, including but not limited to circumstances in which shareholders other than the Fund acquire control of the Master Fund, in which case the Fund would be subject directly to the risks described in this Prospectus. See "Investment Objective and Strategies" and "Risk Factors."

Pending the investment of the proceeds pursuant to the Fund's and the Master Fund's investment objective and principal strategies, the Master Fund may invest a portion of the proceeds of the offering, which may be a substantial portion, in short-term, high quality debt securities, money market securities, cash or cash equivalents. In addition, the Fund and the Master Fund may maintain a portion of the proceeds in cash to meet operational needs. The Master Fund also uses derivatives, and makes direct investments to obtain market exposure during these and other periods. No assurance can be given that the Master Fund will do so or, if it does, that it will do so successfully. Each of the Fund and the Master Fund may be prevented from achieving its objective during any time in which the Master Fund's assets are not substantially invested in accordance with its principal investment strategies.

#### **Investment Objective and Strategies**

#### **Investment Objective**

The Fund's investment objective is to seek long-term total return, with an emphasis on current income, by primarily investing in a broad range of real estate-related debt investments. The Fund is a "feeder fund" in a "master-feeder" structure. The Fund's investment objective is not fundamental and can be changed by the Board of Trustees without shareholder approval.

#### **Investment Strategy**

The Fund pursues its investment objective by investing substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, which has the same investment objective as the Fund. Under normal circumstances, at least 80% of the Master Fund's Managed Assets are invested in liquid investments in public and private real estate debt, including, but not limited to, CMBS, mortgages, loans, mezzanine and other forms of debt (including RMBS and other residential credit and debt of real estate-related companies) and equity interests in CDOs, CLOs, REITs, listed vehicles and other entities that invest in real estate debt as one of their core businesses. "Managed Assets" means net assets, plus the amount of leverage for investment purposes. The Master Fund considers a company to be "real estate-related" if its primary business is the ownership, management or development of real estate. The Master Fund may invest in securities of any credit quality.

As part of its investment strategy, the Master Fund invests in CMBS. CMBS may include multi-issuer CMBS, single-issuer CMBS and "rake bonds," in each case, relating to real estate-related companies or assets. In a typical multi-issuer CMBS issuance, one or more mortgage loans of varying size, asset type (including, but not limited to, office, retail, multifamily, hospitality, industrial and single-family rental), and geography are pooled and transferred to a trust. For some CMBS, only loans of a single asset type, geography or borrower or a single loan may be transferred to the trust. The trust then issues a series of bonds that vary in duration, payment priority, and yield. Then rating agencies (such as Moody's, S&P, or Fitch) assign credit ratings to the various bond classes ranging from investment grade to below investment grade. In selecting CMBS for investment, the Investment Manager considers the composition of the loans underlying the CMBS, including the asset types, geographies and other specific characteristics of the properties securing such loans, in determining whether the CMBS is attractive at the available price.

The Master Fund also invests directly and indirectly in RMBS and other residential credit. In a typical RMBS issuance, residential mortgages of varying size and geographic location are pooled and transferred to a trust. The trust then issues a series of bonds that vary in duration, payment priority, and yield. Then rating agencies (such as S&P's, Moody's, or Fitch) assign credit ratings to the various bond classes ranging from investment grade to below investment grade.

The Master Fund also invests in other single family- and commercial-related investments such as loans, which may include commercial or residential mortgage loans, bank loans, mezzanine loans, real estate corporate debt and other interests relating to real estate. Commercial mortgage loans are typically secured by multifamily or commercial property and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure. Residential mortgage loans are typically secured by single family property. Real estate corporate debt securities consist of secured and unsecured obligations issued by REITs or other companies in the business of owning and/or operating real estate-related businesses. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower.

Mezzanine loans may take the form of subordinated loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the real property or an entity that owns (directly or indirectly) the interest in the entity owning the real property. These types of investments may involve a higher degree of risk than mortgage lending because the investment may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior lender.

The Master Fund also invests in loans, bonds and other debt obligations of varying maturities issued by real estate-related U.S. and foreign corporations and other business entities, which may include loans, corporate bonds, debentures, notes and other similar corporate debt instruments, including convertible securities. Bonds are fixed or variable rate debt obligations, including bills, notes, debentures, money market instruments and similar instruments and securities.

While the Master Fund invests primarily in "performing" real estate-related debt investments, the Master Fund may nonetheless invest in instruments of any credit quality at various levels of an issuer's capital structure or retain investments that become "sub-performing" or "non-performing" following the Master Fund's acquisition thereof. The Master Fund considers issuers with declining cash flows, an inconsistent history of timely principal and/or interest payments, or otherwise a high risk of becoming non-performing in the future to be "sub-performing," and issuers who are delinquent or in foreclosure to be "non-performing." Debt securities of below investment grade quality are regarded as having predominantly speculative characteristics with respect to capacity to pay interest and to repay principal, and are commonly referred to as "high yield" securities. Securities rated Caa or below and CCC or below are considered vulnerable to nonpayment and their issuers to be dependent on favorable business, financial and economic conditions to meet their financial commitments. Securities rated below Caa/CCC may include obligations already in default. Debt securities in the lowest investment grade category will likely possess speculative characteristics.

The Master Fund also uses derivatives and, subject to any applicable limitations under the 1940 Act, may invest up to 30% of its Managed Assets in derivatives. The Master Fund uses derivatives for investment and hedging purposes and as a form of Effective Leverage. The Master Fund's principal investments in derivative instruments include investments in total return swaps, credit default swaps, credit default swap indices (including mortgage-backed securities indices), interest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts, but the Master Fund may also invest in futures transactions, options and options on futures, as well as other derivative instruments. For purposes of calculating the Master Fund's total return swap exposure towards its 30% of Managed Assets cap on derivatives, the Master Fund values total return swaps on a mark-to-market basis instead of on a notional basis. If the Master Fund valued total return swaps on a notional basis, its derivatives would have a greater impact on such cap. The Master Fund may sell protection on credit default swap indices in order to efficiently gain exposure to a diverse pool of CMBS credits. The Master Fund includes the market value of derivatives that provide exposure to liquid investments in public and private real estate-related debt in determining compliance with the Master Fund's investment policy of investing at least 80% of its Managed Assets in liquid investments in public and private real estate debt. The SEC has proposed a new rule under the 1940 Act that would further

limit the Master Fund's ability to use reverse repurchase agreements even in cases where the Master Fund covers its obligations under such agreements. If such proposed rule is adopted, the Master Fund may be required to decrease its use of leverage or use alternative forms of leverage that may be less cost-effective than reverse repurchase agreements, either of which may have an adverse impact on the Fund's investment return. See "Investment Objective and Strategies—Portfolio Investments—Derivatives," "Risk Factors—Derivatives Risks" and "—Counterparty Risk."

The Master Fund may invest up to 20% of its Managed Assets in instruments that are illiquid (determined using the SEC's standard applicable to registered investment companies, i.e., securities that cannot be disposed of within seven days in the ordinary course of business at approximately the value at which the Master Fund has valued the securities). The Master Fund also invests in securities that are unregistered and may invest in securities that are held by control persons of the issuer and subject to contractual restrictions on their resale ("restricted securities"). Restricted securities determined by the Investment Manager to be illiquid are subject to the limitation set forth above.

In addition, the Master Fund may invest in equity interests (or derivatives related thereto) in real estate or real estate-related companies that do not invest in real estate debt as one of their core businesses. The Master Fund may invest up to 20% of its Managed Assets in such equity interests (or derivatives related thereto).

Compliance with any policy or limitation of the Master Fund that is expressed as a percentage of assets is determined at the time of purchase of portfolio investments. The policy will not be violated if these limitations are exceeded because of changes in the market value or investment rating of the Master Fund's assets after purchase.

#### **Portfolio Investments**

#### CMBS

As part of its investment strategy, the Master Fund invests in multi-issuer CMBS, single-issuer CMBS and "rake bonds," in each case, relating to real estate-related companies or assets. In a typical CMBS issuance, a number of single mortgage loans of varying size, asset type, and geography are pooled and transferred to a trust. For some CMBS, only loans of a single asset type, geography or borrower or a single loan may be transferred to the trust. The trust then issues a series of bonds that vary in duration, payment priority, and yield. Then rating agencies assign credit ratings to the various bond classes ranging from investment grade to below investment grade. The typical structure for the securitization of commercial real estate loans is a REMIC. Generally speaking, a REMIC is a pass-through entity which is not subject to tax at the trust level.

Once these CMBS are issued and rated, they are then sold to investors based on specified investment profiles (*e.g.*, credit risk, yield, rating, etc.). For the vast majority of these bonds, each month the interest received from the pooled loans is paid to the investors, through a trustee and master servicer who act as an intermediary between the underlying borrowers and the bond holders. The interest is paid first to the investors holding the highest rated bonds, until all accrued interest on those bonds is paid, then to the holders of the next highest rated bonds, and this continues until all the bond holders are paid in a sequential manner. Principal payments are usually handled the same way.

If there is a shortfall in an interest or principal payment or if the underlying real estate is liquidated and does not generate enough proceeds to meet the payments due to all bond classes, then the investors in the most subordinate bond class will incur a loss with further losses impacting more senior classes in reverse order of priority.

The administration of the pooled loans are handled by CMBS servicers (primary, master and special), all of whom are required to act in accordance with certain "servicing standards." While the servicing standard may vary, the standard generally requires the servicer to use the same, care, skill and diligence as it uses to service and administer comparable mortgage loans on behalf of third parties or on behalf of itself, whichever is the higher standard. The master and special servicer play the most active role in servicing the underlying loans.
The master servicer's responsibility is to service the loans in the pool through maturity unless the loan becomes specially serviced (*e.g.*, the borrower has defaulted). The master servicer manages the flow of payments and information and is responsible for the ongoing interaction with the borrowers. The master servicer is responsible for collecting the payments from the borrowers and routine loan administration functions (*e.g.*, escrow disbursements, analyzing underlying property performance, and consent requests). Subject to certain limitations, the master servicer is responsible for making certain monetary advances if a borrower fails to do so; for example, if a borrower has missed an interest payment or failed to pay property taxes, the master servicer is required to advance such payment so long as it deems such advance recoverable.

For as long as a loan has been designated "specially serviced," the administration is transferred to a special servicer who takes over all the master servicer's administrative responsibilities with respect to such loan (other than making advances) in order to maximize recovery on the mortgage on behalf of the bondholders. A loan is usually designated "specially serviced" upon an event of default or if there is a determination that an event of default is imminent. The special servicer has primary responsibility for working out the loan, and if necessary, liquidating or foreclosing on the underlying real estate. The special servicer is generally required to follow the direction of the controlling holder, who is often the holder of the most junior bond.

## Commercial Mortgage Loans

The Master Fund invests in whole commercial mortgage loans, including loans structured in a variety of ways that provide different types of risk, reward, and investment experience. The Master Fund may lend money directly to the borrower of such loans, or may acquire loans in secondary market transactions. See "Risk Factors—Commercial Mortgage Loans" for more information regarding the risks associated with the various types of loans that may be owned by the Master Fund.

*Generally.* Commercial mortgage loans are typically secured by single-family, multifamily or commercial property and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure. The ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property typically is dependent primarily upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower.

**B-Notes.** The Master Fund invests in B-notes. A B-note is a mortgage loan typically (i) secured by a first mortgage on a commercial property or group of related properties and (ii) subordinated to an A-note secured by the same first mortgage on the same collateral. As a result, if a borrower defaults, there may not be sufficient funds remaining to repay B-note holders after payment to the A-note holders. Since each transaction is privately negotiated, B-notes can vary in their structural characteristics and risks. For example, the rights of holders of B-notes to control the process following a borrower default may be limited in certain investments. In addition, a B-note may be in the form of a "rake bond."

*Mezzanine Loans.* The Master Fund invests in a variety of "mezzanine" loans, including those that take the form of a bond or subordinated loans secured by a pledge of the ownership interests of either the entity owning the real property or an entity that owns (directly or indirectly) the interest in the entity owning the real property. These types of investments may involve a higher degree of risk than mortgage lending because the investment may become unsecured as a result of foreclosure by the senior lender. In the event of a bankruptcy of the entity providing the pledge of its ownership interests as security, the Master Fund may not have full recourse to the assets of such entity, or the assets of the entity may not be sufficient to satisfy the Master Fund's mezzanine loan. If a borrower defaults on the Master Fund's mezzanine loan or debt senior to the Master Fund's loan, or in the event of a borrower bankruptcy, the Master Fund's mezzanine loan will be satisfied only after the senior debt. As a result, the Master Fund may not recover some or all of its investment. In addition, mezzanine loans may have higher loan-to-value ratios than conventional mortgage loans, resulting in less equity in the real property and increasing the risk of loss of principal.

# Residential Credit / RMBS

*Generally.* The Master Fund invests directly and indirectly in global residential credit investments. Such investments may include performing loans, nonperforming loans, residential mortgage loans and RMBS, which

represent interests in pools of residential mortgage loans secured by one to four family residential mortgage loans. Such loans may be prepaid at any time. Prepayments could reduce the yield received on the related issue of RMBS. RMBS are particularly susceptible to prepayment risks, as they generally do not contain prepayment penalties and a reduction in interest rates will increase the prepayments on the RMBS, resulting in a reduction in yield to maturity for holders of such securities.

**Residential Mortgage Loans.** Residential mortgage loans are obligations of the borrowers thereunder only and are not typically insured or guaranteed by any other person or entity, although such loans may be securitized by government agencies and the securities issued are guaranteed. The rate of defaults and losses on residential mortgage loans will be affected by a number of factors, including general economic conditions and those in the geographic area where the mortgaged property is located, the terms of the mortgage loans may be of sub-prime credit quality (i.e., do not meet the customary credit standards of Federal National Mortgage Association ("Franie Mae") and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation ("Freddie Mac")). Delinquencies and liquidation proceedings are more likely with sub-prime mortgage loans than with mortgage loans that satisfy customary credit standards. If a residential mortgage loan is in default, foreclosure of such residential mortgage loan may be a lengthy and difficult process, and may involve significant expenses. Furthermore, the market for defaulted residential mortgage loans or foreclosed properties may be very limited.

*RMBS.* At any one time, a portfolio of RMBS may be backed by residential mortgage loans with disproportionately large aggregate principal amounts secured by properties in only a few states or regions in the United States or in only a few foreign countries. As a result, the residential mortgage loans may be more susceptible to geographic risks relating to such areas, such as adverse economic conditions, adverse political changes, adverse events affecting industries located in such areas and natural hazards affecting such areas, than would be the case for a pool of mortgage loans having more diverse property locations.

Residential mortgage loans in an issue of RMBS may be subject to various U.S. federal and state laws, foreign laws, public policies and principles of equity that protect consumers which, among other things, may regulate interest rates and other fees, require certain disclosures, require licensing of originators, prohibit discriminatory lending practices, regulate the use of consumer credit information, and regulate debt collection practices. In addition, a number of legislative proposals have been introduced in the United States at both the federal, state, and municipal level that are designed to discourage predatory lending practices. Violation of such laws, public policies, and principles may limit the servicer's ability to collect all or part of the principal or interest on a residential mortgage loan, entitle the borrower to a refund of amounts previously paid by it, or subject the servicer to damages and administrative enforcement. Any such violation could also result in cash flow delays and losses on the related issue of RMBS. See "Investment Objective and Strategies—Portfolio Investments—Residential Credit / RMBS—Credit Risk Transfer Securities."

Distributions on RMBS will depend solely upon the amount and timing of payments and other collections on the related underlying mortgage loans.

*Government Mortgage Pass-Through Securities.* Mortgage pass-through securities representing participation interests in pools of residential mortgage loans purchased from individual lenders by an agency, instrumentality or sponsored corporation of the United States government ("Federal Agency") or originated by private lenders and guaranteed, to the extent provided in such securities, by a Federal Agency are ownership interests in the underlying mortgage loans. Such securities differ from conventional debt securities, which provide for periodic payment of interest in fixed amounts (usually semiannually) and principal payments (not necessarily in fixed amounts) that are a "pass-through" of the monthly interest and principal payments (including any prepayments) made by the individual borrowers on the pooled mortgage loans, net of any fees paid to the guarantor of such securities and the servicer of the underlying mortgage loans.

Government mortgage pass-through securities may include those issued or guaranteed by Government National Mortgage Association ("Ginnie Mae"), Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Ginnie Mae certificates are direct obligations of the U.S. Government and, as such, are backed by the "full faith and credit" of the United States.

Fannie Mae is a federally chartered, privately owned corporation and Freddie Mac is a corporate instrumentality of the United States. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac certificates are not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States but the issuing agency or instrumentality has the right to borrow, to meet its obligations, from an existing line of credit with the U.S. Treasury. The U.S. Treasury has no legal obligation to provide such line of credit and may choose not to do so.

Certificates for these types of mortgage-backed securities evidence an interest in a specific pool of mortgages. These certificates are, in most cases, "modified pass-through" instruments, wherein the issuing agency guarantees the payment of principal and interest on mortgages underlying the certificates, whether or not such amounts are collected by the issuer on the underlying mortgages.

Credit Risk Transfer Securities. Credit risk transfer securities ("CRT securities") are debt obligations issued by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. While the coupon payments are paid by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac on a periodic basis, the payment of principal is dependent on the performance of loans in a reference pool of RMBS securitized by Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. As principal on loans in the reference pool are paid, principal payments on the securities are made and the principal balances of the securities are reduced. Consequently, CRT securities mirror the payment and prepayment behavior of the mortgage loans in the reference pool. Unlike agency RMBS, full repayment of the original principal balance of the CRT securities is not secured by residential mortgages or guaranteed by a government sponsored enterprise ("GSE"); rather, "credit risk transfer" is achieved by the GSE issuing unsecured bonds that are entitled to payments based on a pool of residential mortgages. If the reference mortgages in the pool default in an amount in excess of a specified threshold, the principal amount of the CRT securities is written down, reducing the GSE's payment obligation. By reducing the amount that the GSE is obligated to repay to holders of CRT securities, it is able to offset potential credit losses on the related mortgage loans. CRT securities are used by Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae to transfer the credit risk of residential mortgage pools to the private market while streamlining the securitization process and maintaining control of the underlying residential mortgage pools. While not secured by residential mortgages, CRT securities have similar economic benefits of agency RMBS in that they are issued by a GSE and provide returns based on the performance of a pool of residential mortgages. As an investor in a CRT security, the Master Fund may incur a loss if certain defined credit events occur, including, for certain CRT securities, if the loans in the reference pool experience delinquencies exceeding specified thresholds. The Investment Manager assesses the credit risk associated with CRT securities by assessing the current and expected future performance of the associated reference pool.

### Reverse Repurchase Agreements

The Master Fund has entered into reverse repurchase agreements and may in the future enter into additional reverse repurchase agreements. Transactions under such agreements constitute leverage. Under a reverse repurchase agreement, the Master Fund sells a security in exchange for cash to a financial institution, the counterparty, with a simultaneous agreement to repurchase the same or substantially the same security at an agreed upon price (which includes embedded interests) and date. The Master Fund may enter into such agreements when the Investment Manager believes it is able to invest the cash acquired at a rate higher than the cost of the agreement, which would increase earned income.

When the Master Fund transacts under a reverse repurchase agreement, any fluctuations in the market value of either the securities transferred to another party or the securities in which the proceeds may be invested would affect the market value of the Master Fund's assets. As a result, the use of such leverage transactions may increase fluctuations in the market value of the Master Fund's assets than would occur without the use of such transactions. Because reverse repurchase agreements may be considered to be the practical equivalent of borrowing funds, they constitute a form of leverage. Transactions under such agreements will be treated as subject to investment restrictions regarding borrowings. If the Master Fund reinvests the proceeds of a reverse repurchase agreement at a rate lower than the cost of the agreement, transacting under such agreement will lower the Master Fund's yield. The use of reverse repurchase agreements also increases the Master Fund's Managed Assets, which in turn increases the management fee payable to the Investment Manager.

### CMBS Interest-Only Certificates

The Master Fund invests in CMBS interest-only certificates ("IOs"). CMBS IOs receive no payments of principal from the underlying mortgage assets. IO class payments are derived by the excess interest that exists due to a higher weighted average coupon on the underlying mortgages than the weighted average coupon on the corresponding CMBS bonds. The notional amount of the IO bonds will equal the certificate balance of all or a portion of the other CMBS classes of the same issuance. The yields to maturity on IOs are very sensitive to the rate of principal payments (including prepayments) and defaults on the related underlying mortgage assets. If the underlying mortgage assets experience greater than anticipated prepayments of principal or defaults, the Master Fund may not fully recoup its initial investment in such an IO.

# **REITs and Real Estate-Related Companies**

The Master Fund invests in REITs. REITs are typically publicly traded corporations or trusts that invest in residential or commercial real estate or real estate-related assets (*e.g.*, debt). REITs generally can be divided into the following three types: (i) equity REITs, which invest the majority of their assets directly in real property and derive their income primarily from rents and capital gains or real estate appreciation; (ii) mortgage REITs, which invest the majority of their assets in real estate loans and derive their income primarily from interest payments; and (iii) hybrid REITs, which combine the characteristics of equity REITs and mortgage REITs. The Master Fund invests in common stock, and may invest in preferred stock, debt securities and convertible securities, issued by REITs. The Master Fund may also invest in real estate corporate debt securities, which consist of secured and unsecured obligations issued by REITs or other companies in the business of owning and/or operating real estate-related businesses.

### Asset-Backed Securities

In addition to CMBS, the Master Fund invests in other types of asset-backed securities. Asset-backed securities are securities that directly or indirectly represent interests in, or are secured by and payable from, an underlying pool of assets such as (but not limited to) first lien mortgages, motor vehicle installment sale contracts, other installment sale contracts, home equity loans, leases of various types of real and personal property, and receivables from revolving credit (*i.e.*, credit card) agreements and trade receivables. Such assets are securitized through the use of trusts and special purpose corporations. Asset-backed securities may provide periodic payments that consist of interest and/or principal payments. Consequently, the life of an asset-backed security varies with the prepayment and loss experience of the underlying assets.

The Master Fund may also invest in residual interests in asset-backed securities. In the case of asset-backed securities issued in a pass-through structure, the cash flow generated by the underlying assets is applied to make required payments on the securities and to pay related administrative expenses. The residual in an asset-backed security pass-through structure represents the interest in any excess cash flow remaining after making the foregoing payments. The amount of residual cash flow resulting from a particular issue of asset-backed securities will depend on, among other things, the characteristics of the underlying assets, the coupon rates on the securities, prevailing interest rates, the amount of administrative expenses and the actual prepayment experience on the underlying assets. Asset-backed security residuals not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") may be subject to certain restrictions on transferability. In addition, there may be no liquid market for such securities.

### Collateralized Debt Obligations

The Master Fund invests in CDOs. CDOs include, among other things, collateralized bond obligations ("CBOs"), CLOs and other similarly structured securities. CBOs and CLOs are types of asset-backed securities. A CBO is a trust which is backed by a diversified pool of fixed income securities, including securities that may be rated below investment grade or equivalent unrated securities. A CLO is a trust typically collateralized by a pool of loans, which may include, among others, domestic and foreign senior secured loans, senior unsecured loans and subordinate corporate loans, including loans that may be rated below investment grade or equivalent unrated loans. CDOs may charge management fees and administrative expenses. For both CBOs and CLOs, the cash

flows from the trust are split into two or more portions, called tranches, varying in risk and yield. The riskiest portion is the "equity" tranche which bears the bulk of defaults from the bonds or loans in the trust and serves to protect the other, more senior tranches from default in all but the most severe circumstances. Since it is partially protected from defaults, a senior tranche from a CBO trust or CLO trust typically has higher ratings and lower yields than the underlying securities, and can be rated investment grade. Despite the protection from the equity tranche, CBO or CLO tranches can experience substantial losses due to actual defaults, increased sensitivity to defaults due to collateral default and disappearance of protecting tranches, market anticipation of defaults and aversion to CBO or CLO securities as a class. The risks of an investment in a CDO depend largely on the type of underlying collateral and the class of the CDO in which the Master Fund invests. Normally, CBOs, CLOs and other CDOs are privately offered and sold, and thus are not registered under the securities laws. As a result, investments in CDOs may be characterized by the Master Fund as illiquid securities; however, an active dealer market, or other relevant measures of liquidity, may exist for CDOs allowing a CDO potentially to be deemed liquid by the Investment Manager under liquidity policies approved by the Master Fund's Board. Moreover, in respect of a CLO, if the mortgage portfolios underlying such CLO have been overvalued by the respective originators, or if the values subsequently decline and, as a result, less collateral value is available to satisfy interest and principal payments and any other fees in connection with the trust or other conduit arrangement for such securities, we may incur significant losses. Also, with respect to the CLOs in which the Master Fund may invest, control over the related underlying loans will be exercised through a special servicer or collateral manager designated by a "directing certificate holder" or a "controlling class representative," or otherwise pursuant to the related securitization documents. The Master Fund may acquire classes of CLOs for which the Master Fund may not have the right to appoint the directing certificate holder or otherwise direct the special servicing or collateral management. With respect to the management and servicing of the underlying loans, the related special servicer or collateral manager may take actions that could adversely affect the Master Fund's interests. In addition to the risks associated with debt instruments (e.g., interest rate risk and credit risk), CDOs carry additional risks including, but not limited to: (i) the possibility that distributions from collateral securities will not be adequate to make interest or other payments; (ii) the quality of the collateral may decline in value or default; (iii) the possibility that the Master Fund may invest in CDOs that are subordinate to other classes; and (iv) the complex structure of the security may not be fully understood at the time of investment and may produce disputes with the issuer or unexpected investment results.

### Term Loans

The Master Fund invests in term loans to companies in the real estate business. Term loans are secured and may carry variable or fixed interest rates, and monthly or quarterly repayment schedules and include a set maturity date. Lenders of term loans may either hold a senior or subordinated position in payment or lien priority. Term loans may not be secured by real estate. Term loans are subject to risk of default, interest rate risk, prepayment risk, below investment grade risk and lender liability risk.

#### Derivatives and Other Investments

Generally, a derivative is a financial contract the value of which depends upon, or is derived from, the value of an underlying asset, reference rate, or index, and may relate to individual debt or equity instruments, interest rates, currencies or currency exchange rates, commodities, related indices and other assets. The Master Fund enters into such derivative contracts including, but not limited to, total return swaps, credit default swaps, credit default swap indices (including mortgage-backed securities indices), interest rate swaps and foreign currency exchange contracts. The Master Fund may also enter into derivative transactions for any purpose consistent with its investment objective and strategies, including, among others, for the purpose of attempting to obtain or preserve a particular return or spread at a lower cost than obtaining a return or spread through purchases and/or sales of instruments in other markets, as a duration management technique, to reduce risk arising from the ownership of a particular instrument, or to gain exposure to certain sectors or markets in the most economical way possible. Although the Master Fund uses derivative instruments to further its investment objective and strategies, no assurance can be given that the Master Fund will be successful. Derivatives may constitute a form of Effective Leverage of the Master Fund, provided, however, that only forms of Effective Leverage that are considered senior securities under the 1940 Act will be considered leverage for the Master Fund's leverage limits.

*Swap Transactions.* Swap agreements are two-party, "bilateral" contracts entered into primarily by institutional investors for a specified period of time. In a standard swap transaction, two parties agree to exchange the returns (or differentials in rates of return or value derived from the returns) earned or realized on a particular predetermined asset, reference rate or index. The gross returns to be exchanged or swapped between the parties are generally calculated with respect to a notional amount, *e.g.*, the return on or increase in value of a particular dollar amount invested at a particular interest rate or in a basket of securities representing a particular index. The notional amount of the swap agreement generally is only used as a basis upon which to calculate the obligations that the parties to the swap agreement have agreed to exchange. The Master Fund's current obligations under a net swap agreement will be accrued daily (offset against any amounts owed to the Master Fund) and any accrued but unpaid net amounts owed to a swap counterparty will be covered by assets determined to be liquid by the Investment Manager.

Some, but not all, swaps may be cleared or subject to mandatory clearing, in which case a central clearing counterparty stands between each buyer and seller and effectively guarantees performance of each contract, to the extent of its available resources for such purpose. As a result, the counterparty risk is now shifted from bilateral risk between the parties to the individual credit risk of the central clearing counterparty. Even in such case, there can be no assurance that a clearing house, or its members, will satisfy the clearing house's obligations to the Master Fund. Uncleared swaps have no such protection; each party bears the risk that its direct counterparty will default.

*Interest Rate Swaps, Caps, Collars and Floors.* The Master Fund uses interest rate swaps for hedging purposes only and not as a speculative investment and would typically use interest rate swaps to shorten the average interest rate reset time of the Master Fund's holdings. Interest rate swaps involve the exchange by the Master Fund with another party of their respective commitments to pay or receive interest (*e.g.*, an exchange of fixed-rate payments for floating-rate payments). The Master Fund will only enter into interest rate swaps on a net basis. If the other party to an interest rate swap defaults, the Master Fund's risk of loss consists of the net amount of payments that the Master Fund is contractually entitled to receive. The net amount of the excess, if any, of the Master Fund's obligations over its entitlements will be maintained in a segregated account by the Master Fund's custodian. The Master Fund will not enter into any interest rate swap unless the claims-paying ability of the other party to such a transaction, the Master Fund will have contractual remedies pursuant to the agreements related to the transaction. These instruments are traded in the over-the-counter market.

In December 2012, the CFTC issued a final rule requiring certain interest rate swaps to be centrally cleared, which is applicable to all swap counterparties not eligible for certain narrowly-defined exemption or exceptions. In December 2016, the CFTC further expanded the categories of interest rate swaps subject to mandatory clearing. Such clearing requirements may affect the Master Fund's ability to negotiate individualized terms and/ or may increase the costs of entering into such derivative transactions (for example, by increasing margin or capital requirements).

In addition, the Master Fund segregates liquid assets with a value equal (on a daily mark-to-market basis) to its obligations under these types of transactions, enters into offsetting transactions or otherwise covers such transactions. With respect to interest rate swaps, the Master Fund will segregate or otherwise cover the negative market value of the interest rate swap contract.

*Total Return Swaps.* The Master Fund uses total return swaps for investment purposes. In a total return swap, one party agrees to pay the other the "total return" of a defined underlying asset during a specified period, in return for periodic payments based on a fixed or variable interest rate. A total return swap may be applied to any underlying asset, but is commonly used with equity indices, single stocks, bonds and defined baskets of loans and mortgages. The total return swaps used by the Master Fund generally involve a set of underlying asset (such as term loans) selected by the Master Fund, but may also involve a single underlying asset or an underlying index, or other baskets of securities or other instruments in order to create exposure to a potentially widely-diversified range of securities in a single trade. An index total return swap can be used by the Investment Manager to assume risk, without the complications of buying the component securities from what may not always be the most liquid

of markets. Total return swaps may constitute a form of Effective Leverage of the Master Fund, provided, however, that only forms of Effective Leverage that are considered senior securities under the 1940 Act will be considered leverage for the Master Fund's leverage limits.

In addition, the Master Fund segregates liquid assets with a value equal (on a daily mark-to-market basis) to its obligations under these types of transactions, enters into offsetting transactions or otherwise covers such transactions. With respect to cash-settled total return swaps, the Master Fund will segregate assets or otherwise cover its obligations to the extent the negative market value of the total return swap exceeds the collateral posted.

*Credit Default Swaps*. A credit default swap is a bilateral contract that enables an investor to buy or sell protection against a defined-issuer credit event. The Master Fund enters into credit default swap agreements and may enter into such agreements either as a buyer or a seller. The Master Fund may buy protection to attempt to mitigate the risk of default or credit quality deterioration in an individual security or a segment of the fixed income securities market to which it has exposure, or to take a "short" position in individual bonds or market segments (including through credit default indices) which it does not own. The Master Fund may sell protection in an attempt to gain exposure to the credit quality characteristics of particular bonds or market segments without investing directly in those bonds or market segments (including through credit default segments (including through credit default segments).

As the buyer of protection in a credit default swap, the Master Fund would pay a premium (by means of an upfront payment or a periodic stream of payments over the term of the agreement) in return for the right to deliver a referenced bond or group of bonds to the protection seller and receive the full notional or par value (or other agreed-upon value) upon a default (or similar event) by the issuer(s) of the underlying referenced obligation(s). If no default occurs, the protection seller would keep the stream of payments and would have no further obligation to the Master Fund. Thus, the cost to the Master Fund would be the premium paid with respect to the agreement. If a credit event occurs, however, the Master Fund may elect to receive the full notional value of the swap in exchange for an equal face amount of deliverable obligations of the reference entity that may have little or no value. The Master Fund bears the risk that the protection seller may fail to satisfy its payment obligations.

If the Master Fund is a seller of protection in a credit default swap and no credit event occurs, the Master Fund would generally receive an up-front payment or a periodic stream of payments over the term of the swap. If a credit event occurs, however, generally the Master Fund would have to pay the buyer the full notional value of the swap in exchange for an equal face amount of deliverable obligations of the reference entity that may have little or no value. As the protection seller, the Master Fund effectively adds leverage to its portfolio because, in addition to being subject to investment exposure on its assets, the Master Fund is subject to investment exposure on the notional amount of the swap. Thus, the Master Fund bears the same risk as it would bear by buying the reference obligations directly, plus the additional risks related to obtaining investment exposure through a derivative instrument.

In December 2012, the CFTC issued a final rule requiring certain index-based credit default swaps to be centrally cleared, which is applicable to all swap counterparties not eligible for certain narrowly-defined exemption or exceptions. Such clearing requirement may affect the Master Fund's ability to negotiate individualized terms and/or may increase the costs of entering into such credit default swap transactions (for example, by increasing margin or capital requirements). Clearing mandates with respect to other types of credit default swaps have not yet been issued by the regulators, but could have additional impact on the Master Fund's ability to use credit default swap transactions as part of its investment strategy.

The Master Fund may invest in synthetic mortgage-backed securities ("MBS") in the form of credit default swaps on MBS. This includes swaps for which the reference obligation is an MBS or related index, such as the CMBX Index (a tradeable index referencing a basket of CMBS), the TRX Index (a tradeable index referencing total return swaps based on CMBS) or the ABX Index (a tradeable index referencing a basket of sub-prime MBS). The Master Fund may engage in other derivative transactions related to MBS, including purchasing and selling exchange-listed and over-the-counter put and call options, futures and forwards on mortgages and MBS. In addition, the Master Fund may invest in credit default swap indices (*e.g.*, CMBX or CDX). A credit default

swap index is a credit derivative used to hedge credit risk or to take a position on a basket of credit entities. In a credit default swap index, the buyer of protection is obligated to make ongoing payments to the seller of protection and in return the seller of protection is obligated to make a payment to the buyer of protection on the swap if a credit event occurs on one of the securities in the index. The size of the credit event payment is equal to what would have been paid on a single name credit default swap with respect to such security scaled down by that security's weighting in the credit default swap index. When the Master Fund invests in CMBX indices, the underlying CMBS in the index are selected by an index provider based on market interest. CMBX indices are not rebalanced, but rather continue until all underlying CMBS mature. The Master Fund may invest in newly developed mortgage related derivatives that may hereafter become available.

In addition, the Master Fund segregates liquid assets with a value equal (on a daily mark-to-market basis) to its obligations under these types of transactions, enters into offsetting transactions or otherwise covers such transactions. With respect to selling a credit default swap, the Master Fund will segregate assets or otherwise cover its obligations for the notional amount of such credit default swap.

*Short Sales.* The Master Fund has entered into short sales and may in the future enter into additional short sales. A short sale is a transaction in which the Master Fund sells a security it does not own in anticipation that the market price of that security will decline. When the Master Fund makes a short sale on a security, it must borrow the security sold short and deliver it to the broker-dealer through which it made the short sale as collateral for its obligation to deliver the security upon conclusion of the sale. The Master Fund will often have to pay a fee to borrow particular securities and is often obligated to pay over any accrued interest and dividends on such borrowed securities. If the price of the security sold short increases between the time of the short sale and the time the Master Fund will realize a capital gain. Any gain will be decreased, and any loss increased, by the transaction costs described above. The successful use of short selling may be adversely affected by imperfect correlation between movements in the price of the security sold short and the security being hedged. To the extent that the Master Fund engages in short sales, it will segregate collateral for the benefit of the broker-dealer.

A short sale is "against the box" to the extent that the Master Fund contemporaneously owns, or has the right to obtain at no added cost, securities identical to those sold short. So-called "naked" short sales are short sales that are not "against the box," in which case the short seller's losses could theoretically be unlimited when the short seller is unable for whatever reason to close out its short position.

*Futures and Options on Futures.* The Master Fund may buy or sell futures contracts that relate to (1) foreign currencies, (2) interest rates, (3) stock indices and other baskets of securities, and (4) individual securities. The Master Fund also may buy and sell, or "write," options on the futures contracts in which it may invest ("futures options") and may write straddles, which consist of a call and a put option on the same futures contract. A call option, upon payment of a premium, gives the purchaser of the option the right to buy, and the seller of the option exercise price. A put option gives the purchaser of the option, upon payment of a premium, the right to sell, and the writer of the option the obligation to buy, the underlying instrument at the option exercise price.

A futures contract is an agreement between two parties to buy and sell a security, index, interest rate, currency, commodity (each a "financial instrument") or other financial instrument for a set price on a future date. Certain futures contracts, such as futures contracts relating to individual securities, call for making or taking physical delivery of the underlying financial instrument. However, these contracts generally are closed out before delivery by entering into an offsetting purchase or sale of a matching futures contract, such as futures contracts on interest rates and indices, do not call for making or taking delivery of the underlying financial instrument, and delivery month). Other futures contracts, such as futures contracts on interest rates and indices, do not call for making or taking delivery of the underlying financial instrument, but rather are agreements pursuant to which two parties agree to take or make delivery of an amount of cash equal to the difference between the value of the financial instrument at the close of the last trading day of the contract and the price at which the contract was originally written. These contracts also may be settled by entering into offsetting futures contracts. The Master Fund may only enter into futures contracts and futures options which are standardized and traded on a U.S. or foreign exchange, board of trade or similar entity, or quoted on an automated quotation system.

*Forward Currency Contracts and other Foreign Currency Transactions.* A forward currency contract involves an obligation to purchase or sell a specific currency at a future date, which may be any fixed number of days from the date of the contract agreed upon by the parties, at a price set at the time of the contract. These contracts are traded directly between currency traders (usually large commercial banks) and their customers. Unlike futures contracts, which are standardized contracts, forward contracts can be specifically drawn to meet the needs of the parties that enter into them. The parties to a forward currency contract may agree to offset or terminate the contract before its maturity, or may hold the contract to maturity and complete the contemplated exchange. Because forward contracts are not traded on an exchange, the Master Fund is subject to the credit and performance risk of the counterparties to such contracts.

Certain currency derivatives are subject to regulation under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the "Dodd-Frank Act"). Potential rule-making with respect to such derivatives could affect the cost of such derivatives or otherwise restrict the Master Fund's ability to effectively use currency derivatives.

In addition, the Master Fund segregates liquid assets with a value equal (on a daily mark-to-market basis) to its obligations under these types of transactions, enters into offsetting transactions or otherwise covers such transactions. For foreign currency exchange contracts, the Master Fund follows the following segregation procedures:

- (1) If the forward is contractually required to cash settle, the Master Fund will segregate the negative market value of the contract less any posted collateral.
- (2) If the forward is not required to cash settle and
  - (a) is between a currency pair for which the Investment Manager believes there is a market liquid enough that the Master Fund could readily enter into an offsetting transaction to settle the trade, then the Master Fund will segregate the negative market value of the contract (less any posted collateral); or
  - (b) is between a currency pair for which the Investment Manager does not believe there is a market liquid enough that the Master Fund could readily enter into an offsetting transaction to settle the trade, then the Master Fund will segregate the notional amount (*i.e.*, segregate the full settlement amount of the settlement currency) less any posted collateral.

In addition, the Master Fund may also cover the forward with an offsetting forward or a matched trade.

*Forward Rate Contracts.* The Master Fund may also utilize forward rate contracts. Under forward rate contracts, the buyer locks in an interest rate at a future settlement date. If the interest rate on the settlement date exceeds the locked rate, the buyer pays the seller the difference between the two rates. If the locked rate exceeds the interest rate on the settlement date, the seller pays the buyer the difference between the two rates.

*Covered Calls.* The Master Fund may sell, or "write," covered calls. In the case of a call option on a common stock or other security, the option is "covered" if the Master Fund owns the security underlying the call or has an absolute and immediate right to acquire that security without additional cash consideration (or, if additional cash consideration is required, cash or other assets determined to be liquid by the Master Fund (in accordance with procedures established by the Master Fund's Board of Trustees) in such amount are segregated by the Master Fund's custodian) upon conversion or exchange of other security as the call written where the exercise price of the call held is (i) equal to or less than the exercise price of the call written, or (ii) greater than the exercise price of the call written, provided that the difference is maintained by the Master Fund in segregated assets determined to be liquid by the Investment Manager as described above.

At the time the call option is sold, the writer of a call option receives a premium (or call premium) from the buyer of such call option. If the Master Fund writes a call option on a security, the Master Fund will have the obligation upon exercise of such call option to deliver the underlying security upon payment of the exercise price. When the Master Fund writes a call option, an amount equal to the premium the Master Fund receives will

be recorded as a liability and will be subsequently adjusted to the current fair value of the option written. Premiums received from writing options that expire unexercised are treated by the Master Fund as realized gains from investments on the expiration date. If the Master Fund repurchases a written call option prior to its exercise, the difference between the premium received and the amount paid to repurchase the option is treated as a realized gain or realized loss. If a call option is exercised, the premium is added to the proceeds from the sale of the underlying security in determining whether the Master Fund has realized a gain or loss. As the writer of the option, the Master Fund bears the market risk of an unfavorable change in the price of the security underlying a written option.

*Corporate Bonds and Other Debt Securities.* The Master Fund also invests in corporate bonds, debentures and other debt securities of companies in other industries and sectors. Debt securities in which the Master Fund invests may pay fixed or variable rates of interest. Bonds and other debt securities generally are issued by corporations and other issuers to borrow money from investors. The issuer pays the investor a fixed or variable rate of interest and normally must repay the amount borrowed on or before maturity. Certain debt securities are "perpetual" in that they have no maturity date.

The Master Fund invests in corporate bonds including below investment grade quality (*e.g.*, rated below BBB- by S&P or below Baa3 by Moody's, or unrated securities that the Investment Manager considers to be their equivalent)("Non-Investment Grade Bonds"). Investments in Non-Investment Grade Bonds generally provide greater income and increased opportunity for capital appreciation than investments in higher quality securities, but they also typically entail greater price volatility and principal and income risk, including the possibility of issuer default and bankruptcy. Non-Investment Grade Bonds are regarded as predominantly speculative with respect to the issuer's continuing ability to meet principal and interest payments. Debt securities in the lowest investment grade category also may be considered to possess some speculative characteristics by certain nationally recognized statistical rating organizations or "NRSROs." In addition, analysis of the creditworthiness of issuers of Non-Investment Grade Bonds may be more complex than for issuers of higher quality securities.

Non-Investment Grade Bonds may be more susceptible to real or perceived adverse economic and competitive industry conditions than investment grade securities. A projection of an economic downturn or of a period of rising interest rates, for example, could cause a decline in Non-Investment Grade Bond prices because the advent of recession could lessen the ability of an issuer to make principal and interest payments on its debt obligations. If an issuer of Non-Investment Grade Bonds defaults, in addition to risking payment of all or a portion of interest and principal, the Master Fund may incur additional expenses to seek recovery. In the case of Non-Investment Grade Bonds structured as zero-coupon, step-up or payment-in-kind securities, their market prices will normally be affected to a greater extent by interest rate changes, and therefore tend to be more volatile than securities which pay interest currently and in cash. The Investment Manager seeks to reduce these risks through diversification, credit analysis and attention to current developments in both the economy and financial markets.

The secondary market on which Non-Investment Grade Bonds are traded may be less liquid than the market for investment grade securities. Less liquidity in the secondary trading market could adversely affect the NAV of the Shares. Adverse publicity and investor perceptions, whether or not based on fundamental analysis, may decrease the values and liquidity of Non-Investment Grade Bonds, especially in a thinly traded market. When secondary markets for Non-Investment Grade Bonds are less liquid than the market for investment grade securities, it may be more difficult to value the securities because such valuation may require more research, and elements of judgment may play a greater role in the valuation because there is no reliable, objective data available. During periods of thin trading in these markets, the spread between bid and asked prices is likely to increase significantly and the Master Fund may have greater difficulty selling these securities. The Master Fund will be more dependent on the Investment Manager's research and analysis when investing in Non-Investment Grade Bonds. The Investment Manager seeks to minimize the risks of investing in all securities through in-depth credit analysis and attention to current developments in interest rate and market conditions.

A general description of the ratings of securities by S&P, Moody's and Fitch is set forth in Appendix A to the Prospectus. Such ratings represent these rating organizations' opinions as to the quality of the securities they rate. It should be emphasized, however, that ratings are general and are not absolute standards of quality.

Consequently, debt obligations with the same maturity, coupon and yield may have different ratings. For these reasons, the use of credit ratings as the sole method of evaluating Non-Investment Grade Bonds can involve certain risks. For example, credit ratings evaluate the safety or principal and interest payments, not the market value risk of Non-Investment Grade Bonds. Also, credit rating agencies may fail to change credit ratings in a timely fashion to reflect events since the security was last rated. The Investment Manager does not rely solely on credit ratings when selecting securities for the Master Fund, and develops its own independent analysis of issuer credit quality.

In the event that a NRSRO or the Investment Manager downgrades its assessment of the credit characteristics of a particular issue, the Master Fund is not required to dispose of such security. In determining whether to retain or sell a downgraded security, the Investment Manager may consider such factors as its assessment of the credit quality of the issuer of such security, the price at which such security could be sold and the rating, if any, assigned to such security by other NRSROs. However, analysis of the creditworthiness of issuers of Non-Investment Grade Bonds may be more complex than for issuers of higher quality debt securities.

*Illiquid Securities.* The Master Fund invests in securities for which there is no readily available trading market or are otherwise illiquid. Illiquid securities may include securities legally restricted as to resale, such as commercial paper issued pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act and securities eligible for resale pursuant to Rule 144A thereunder. Such Rule 144A securities may be deemed illiquid, or liquid if so determined by the Investment Manager in accordance with procedures adopted by the Board. In addition, certain investments of the Fund may become illiquid over time. For instance, certain investments of the Master Fund may be become subject to a ratings downgrade by a NRSRO or cease to be rated, which may reduce the Master Fund's ability resell the security. To the extent NRSROs are restricted from rating certain CMBS, this could adversely impact liquidity in the CMBS market.

It may be difficult to sell such securities at a price representing their fair value until such time as such securities may be sold publicly. Where registration is required, a considerable period may elapse between a decision to sell the securities and the time when it would be permitted to sell. Thus, the Master Fund may not be able to obtain as favorable a price as that prevailing at the time of the decision to sell. The Master Fund may also acquire securities through private placements under which it may agree to contractual restrictions on the resale of such securities. Such restrictions might prevent their sale at a time when such sale would otherwise be desirable.

**Below Investment Grade Securities.** The Master Fund's investments may be rated or determined by the Investment Manager to be "below investment grade" quality. The credit quality of most below investment grade securities reflects a greater than average possibility that adverse changes in the real estate markets, or in general economic conditions, or both, may impair the ability of the borrowers to make payments of interest and principal on the loans backing the CMBS. The inability (or perceived inability) of borrowers to make timely payment of interest and principal would likely make the values of below investment grade securities held by the Master Fund more volatile and could limit the Master Fund's ability to sell such bonds at favorable prices. In the absence of a liquid trading market for its below investment grade securities, the Master Fund may have difficulties determining the fair market value of such investments.

*Fixed-Income Securities.* The Master Fund may also invest in other fixed-income securities, including U.S. and foreign government securities and affiliated and unaffiliated money market securities.

*Convertible Securities.* The Master Fund may invest in convertible securities. Convertible securities are hybrid securities that combine the investment characteristics of bonds and common stocks. Convertible securities typically consist of debt securities or preferred securities that may be converted within a specified period of time (typically for the entire life of the security) into a certain amount of common stock or other equity security of the same or a different issuer at a predetermined price. They also include debt securities with warrants or common stock attached and derivatives combining features of debt securities and equity securities. Convertible securities entitle the holder to receive interest paid or accrued on debt securities, or dividends paid or accrued on preferred to securities, until the securities mature or are redeemed, converted or exchanged.

*Other Investment Companies.* The Master Fund invests a portion of its assets in securities of other open- or closed-end investment companies (including exchange-traded funds or "ETFs"). As a shareholder in an investment company, the Master Fund bears its ratable share of that investment company's expenses, and remains subject to payment of the Master Fund's Management Fee with respect to assets so invested. Common shareholders, such as the Fund, are therefore subject to duplicative expenses to the extent the Master Fund invests in other investment companies. The Investment Manager takes expenses into account when evaluating the merits of an investment in an investment company relative to available security investments.

**Portfolio Turnover.** The Master Fund engages in short-term trading. This means that the Master Fund buys a security and sells that security a short period of time after its purchase to realize gains if the portfolio manager believes that the sale is in the best interest of the Master Fund (for example, if the portfolio manager believes an alternative investment has greater growth potential). This activity increases the Master Fund's portfolio turnover rate and generates higher transaction costs due to commissions or dealer markups and other expenses that reduce the Master Fund's investment performance. In addition, a high level of short-term trading may increase the amount of gains that would reduce the after-tax returns of the Master Fund, and in particular may generate short-term capital gains that when distributed to Fund shareholders are taxed at ordinary income tax rates.

*Temporary Investments.* During unusual market circumstances, the Master Fund may invest temporarily in cash, money market securities, money market mutual funds or cash equivalents, which may be inconsistent with the Master Fund's investment objective. Cash equivalents are highly liquid, short-term securities such as commercial paper, time deposits, certificates of deposit, short-term notes and short-term U.S. Government obligations.

*Cayman Islands or Other Foreign Subsidiary.* The Master Fund has formed a subsidiary organized in the Cayman Islands and may in the future form additional subsidiaries organized in a foreign jurisdiction through which the Master Fund may invest in certain types of assets, including Regulation S securities. It is not anticipated that such subsidiaries would be registered under the 1940 Act. As an investor in such subsidiaries, the Master Fund would not have all of the protections offered to investors by the 1940 Act. However, it is anticipated that such subsidiaries would be wholly-owned and controlled by the Master Fund, and managed by the Investment Manager. Therefore, the Master Fund's ownership and control of such subsidiaries would make it unlikely that such subsidiaries would take actions contrary to the interests of the Master Fund or its shareholders.

#### Leverage

Subject to limitations imposed by the 1940 Act, the Fund and the Master Fund may incur leverage from time to time. The Master Fund may use leverage through borrowings (collectively, "Borrowings"), which may include loans from certain financial institutions, the issuance of debt securities, reverse repurchase agreements, securities lending arrangements, and derivatives, including, but not limited to, interest rate swaps, total return swaps, and credit default swaps in an aggregate amount of up to 33 1/3% of the Master Fund's total assets immediately after giving effect to such leverage. Only forms of Effective Leverage that are considered senior securities under the 1940 Act will be considered leverage for the Master Fund's leverage limits. The Master Fund incurs leverage, primarily through the use of reverse repurchase agreements, as part of its investment strategy; such form of leverage is considered a senior security under the 1940 Act to the extent not covered by segregated cash or liquid securities in accordance with currently applicable SEC guidance. The Master Fund's use of reverse repurchase agreements will also be subject to any future applicable limitations under the 1940 Act. The SEC has proposed a new rule under the 1940 Act that would further limit the Master Fund's ability to use reverse repurchase agreements even in cases where the Master Fund covers its obligations under such agreements. If such proposed rule is adopted, the Master Fund may be required to decrease its use of leverage or use alternative forms of leverage that may be less cost-effective than reverse repurchase agreements, either of which may have an adverse impact on the Fund's investment return. Although it has no current intention to do so, the Master Fund may use leverage through the issuance of preferred shares ("Preferred Shares") in an aggregate amount of up to 50% of the Master Fund's total assets immediately after such issuance. During periods when the Master Fund is using leverage, the fees paid to the Investment Manager will be higher than if the Master Fund did not use leverage because the fees paid will be calculated on the basis of the Master Fund's Managed Assets, which includes assets obtained through the use of leverage. As such, the Investment Manager may have a financial incentive to increase the Master Fund's use of leverage, which constitutes an inherent conflict of interest. There can be no assurance that any leveraging strategy the Master Fund employs will be successful during any period in which it is employed.

Any leverage incurred by the Master Fund generally has complete priority upon the distribution of assets over the Master Fund's common shares. The timing of any leverage and the terms of the leverage is determined by the Investment Manager.

The Master Fund has entered into reverse repurchase agreements and may in the future enter into additional reverse repurchase agreements. Transactions under such agreements constitute leverage. When the Master Fund enters into a reverse repurchase agreement, any fluctuations in the market value of either the securities transferred to another party or the securities in which the proceeds may be invested would affect the market value of the Master Fund's assets. As a result, the use of such leverage transactions may increase fluctuations in the market value of the Master Fund's assets compared to what would occur without the use of such transactions. Because reverse repurchase agreements may be considered to be the practical equivalent of borrowing funds, they constitute a form of leverage. Transactions under such agreements will be treated as subject to investment restrictions regarding borrowings. If the Master Fund reinvests the proceeds of a reverse repurchase agreement at a rate lower than the cost of the agreement, transacting under such agreement will lower the Master Fund's yield.

The rights of lenders to receive interest on and repayment of principal of any Borrowings will be senior to those of the common shareholders, and the terms of any such borrowings may contain provisions which limit certain activities of the Master Fund, including the payment of distributions in certain circumstances. Further, the 1940 Act does (in certain circumstances) grant to the lenders certain voting rights in the event of default in the payment of interest on or repayment of principal. In the event that such provisions would impair the Fund's status as a RIC under the Code, the Master Fund intends to repay the Borrowings.

Certain types of Borrowings result in the Master Fund being subject to covenants in credit, master repurchase and other financing agreements relating to asset coverage and portfolio composition requirements. Generally, covenants to which the Master Fund may be subject include affirmative covenants, negative covenants, financial covenants, and investment covenants. An example of an affirmative covenant would be one that requires the Master Fund to send its annual audited financial report to the lender. An example of a negative covenant would

be one that prohibits the Master Fund from making any amendments to its fundamental policies. An example of a financial covenant is one that would require the Master Fund to maintain a 3:1 asset coverage ratio. An example of an investment covenant is one that would require the Master Fund to limit its investment in a particular asset class. The Master Fund may be subject to certain restrictions on investments imposed by guidelines of one or more rating agencies, which may issue ratings for any short-term debt securities or preferred shares issued by the Master Fund. These guidelines may impose asset coverage or portfolio composition requirements that are more stringent than those imposed by the 1940 Act. It is not anticipated that these covenants or guidelines will impede the Investment Manager from managing the Master Fund's portfolio in accordance with the Master Fund's investment objective and policies.

The Master Fund has entered into total return swap arrangements. In these arrangements, the Master Fund receives the interest rate and capital gains returns on specified assets, typically fixed income instruments, and in exchange would make payments to the counterparty of the London Inter-Bank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") (or subsequent LIBOR substitute) plus an agreed-upon spread and would also bear the risk of losses on any of the assets. LIBOR is used extensively in the United States and globally as a "benchmark" or "reference rate" for various commercial and financial contracts, including corporate and municipal bonds and loans, floating-rate mortgages, asset-backed securities, consumer loans, and interest rate swaps and other derivatives. The Master Fund would also post margin collateral with the counterparty to the swap. Because the Master Fund receives the return on the assets without having to purchase the assets, this serves as a form of leverage.

In a securities lending program, the Master Fund would lend debt securities or other marginable securities to a bank or other financial institution as counterparty, in exchange for cash collateral and fees. The Master Fund would then reinvest the cash collateral received from the counterparty in accordance with the Master Fund's investment objective, resulting in a form of leverage.

If Preferred Shares are issued, they would likely pay adjustable rate distributions based on shorter-term interest rates. The adjustment period for Preferred Share distributions could be as short as one day or as long as a year or more. So long as the Master Fund's portfolio is invested in securities that provide a higher rate of return than the interest rate or dividend rate of the leverage, after taking expenses into consideration, the leverage will cause common shareholders to receive a higher rate of return than if the Master Fund were not leveraged. The Master Fund's leveraging strategy may not be successful.

The Master Fund Declaration of Trust authorizes the Master Fund, without prior approval of the common shareholders, to borrow money. In this connection, the Master Fund may issue notes or other evidence of indebtedness (including bank borrowings or commercial paper) and may secure any such borrowings by mortgaging, pledging or otherwise subjecting as security the Master Fund's assets. In connection with such borrowing, the Master Fund may be required to maintain minimum average balances with the lender or to pay a commitment or other fee to maintain a line of credit. Any such requirements will increase the cost of borrowing over the stated interest rate. Under the requirements of the 1940 Act, the Master Fund, immediately after any such Borrowings, must have "asset coverage" of at least 300%. With respect to such borrowing, asset coverage means the ratio which the value of the total assets of the Master Fund, less all liabilities and indebtedness not represented by senior securities (as defined in the 1940 Act), bears to the aggregate amount of such borrowing represented by senior securities issued by the Master Fund. In addition, the Master Fund is not permitted to declare any cash dividend or other distribution on its common shares unless, at the time of such declaration, the Master Fund's asset coverage is at least 300%. The Master Fund intends to manage its short positions in securities and certain of its derivative positions by maintaining an amount of cash or liquid securities in a segregated account equal to the face value of those positions. The Master Fund may also offset derivative positions against one another or against other assets to manage the effective market exposure resulting from derivatives in its portfolio. To the extent that the Master Fund does not segregate liquid assets or otherwise cover its obligations under such transactions under current SEC guidance, such transactions will be treated as senior securities representing indebtedness for purposes of the requirement under the 1940 Act that the Master Fund may not enter into any such transactions if the Master Fund's Borrowings would thereby exceed 33 1/3% of its total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness of the Master Fund not represented by senior securities.

Leverage creates risk for the common shareholders, including the likelihood of greater volatility of NAV and market price of the Shares, and the risk that fluctuations in interest rates on borrowings and debt or in the dividend rates on any Preferred Shares may affect the return to the common shareholders or will result in fluctuations in the distributions paid on the Shares. To the extent total return exceeds the cost of leverage, the Master Fund's return will be greater than if leverage had not been used. Conversely, if the total return derived from securities purchased with funds received from the use of leverage is less than the cost of leverage, the Master Fund's return will be less than if leverage had not been used, and therefore the amount available for distribution to common shareholders as distributions and other distributions will be reduced. In the latter case, the Investment Manager in its best judgment nevertheless may determine to maintain the Master Fund's leveraged position if it expects that the benefits to the common shareholders of maintaining the leveraged position will outweigh the current reduced return. Under normal market conditions, the Master Fund anticipates that it will be able to invest the proceeds from leverage at a higher rate of return than the costs of leverage, which would enhance returns to common shareholders. The use of leverage creates risks and involves special considerations.

Section 18(a) of the 1940 Act requires certain actions by the Master Fund if its asset coverage falls below certain levels. Under the 1940 Act, the Master Fund is not permitted to issue Preferred Shares unless immediately after such issuance the value of the Master Fund's total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness of the Master Fund not represented by senior securities is at least 200% of the liquidation value of the outstanding Preferred Shares plus the amount of newer securities representing indebtedness (*i.e.*, the liquidation value may not exceed 50% of the Master Fund's total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness of the Master Fund not represented by senior securities). In addition, the Master Fund is not permitted to declare any cash dividend or other distribution on its common shares unless, at the time of such declaration, the Master Fund's asset coverage is at least 300%. If Preferred Shares are issued, the Master Fund intends, to the extent possible, to purchase or redeem Preferred Shares from time to time to the extent necessary in order to maintain asset coverage of any Preferred Shares of at least 200%. In addition, as a condition to obtaining ratings on any Preferred Shares, the terms of any Preferred Shares issued are expected to include more stringent asset coverage maintenance provisions which will require the redemption of any such Preferred Shares in the event of non-compliance by the Master Fund, and may also prohibit distributions on the Shares in such circumstances. In order to meet redemption requirements, the Master Fund may have to liquidate portfolio securities. Such liquidations and redemptions would cause the Master Fund to incur related transaction costs and could result in capital losses to the Master Fund. Prohibitions on distributions on the Shares could impair the Fund's ability to qualify as a RIC under the Code. If the Master Fund has any Preferred Shares outstanding, two of the Master Fund's Trustees will be elected by the holders of any such Preferred Shares as a class. The remaining Trustees of the Master Fund will be elected by common shareholders and any holders of Preferred Shares voting together as a single class. In the event the Master Fund failed to pay distributions on any Preferred Shares for two years, holders of any such Preferred Shares would be entitled to elect a majority of the Trustees of the Master Fund.

The Master Fund may also borrow money as a temporary measure for extraordinary or emergency purposes, including the payment of distributions, the settlement of securities transactions which otherwise might require detrimental dispositions of Master Fund securities and funding repurchase offers.

# **Effects of Leverage**

The following table illustrates the effect of leverage on the Master Fund's common shares, assuming investment portfolio total returns (comprised of income and changes in the value of securities held in the Master Fund's portfolio) of -10%, -5%, 0%, 5% and 10%. These assumed investment portfolio returns are hypothetical figures and are not necessarily indicative of the investment portfolio returns experienced or expected to be experienced by the Master Fund. See "Risk Factors—Leverage Risk."

For purposes of the table below, we have assumed that the Master Fund utilizes the average amount of leverage employed during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 (i.e., 36% of its total assets), at an annual interest rate of 2.80%, the weighted average interest rate of the Fund's borrowing during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Assumed Portfolio Total Return (Net of Expenses)	(10)%	(5)%	0%	5%	10%
Master Fund Common Share Total Return	(17.20)%	(9.39)%	(1.57)%	6.24%	14.05%

Master Fund Common Share Total Return is composed of two elements: Master Fund common share distributions paid by the Master Fund (the amount of which is largely determined by the net investment income of the Master Fund after paying interest on its leverage) and gains or losses on the value of the securities the Master Fund owns. As required by SEC rules, the table above assumes that the Master Fund is more likely to suffer capital losses than to enjoy capital appreciation. For example, to assume a total return of 0% the Master Fund must assume that the distributions it receives from its investments are entirely offset by losses in the value of those investments.

### **Risk Factors**

An investment in the Fund entails a high degree of risk and is suitable only for sophisticated investors for whom an investment in the Fund does not represent a complete investment program, and who fully understand and are capable of bearing the risk of an investment in the Fund. Prospective investors should carefully consider the following risk factors, among others, in determining whether an investment in the Fund is a suitable investment, and should consult their own legal, tax and financial advisers as to all these risks and an investment in the Fund generally. Prospective shareholders should only invest in the Fund as part of an overall investment strategy. The following list of risk factors is not a complete summary or explanation of the various risks involved in an investment in the Fund. There can be no assurance that the Fund will be able to achieve its investment objective, and investment results may vary substantially depending on when a shareholder purchased his or her Shares.

*Investment and Market Risk.* All securities investing and trading activities (including real estate-related debt investing) risk the loss of capital. No assurance can be given that the Fund's and the Master Fund's investment objective will be achieved, that the performance of the Fund and the Master Fund will be positive over any period of time, or that shareholders will not suffer losses. Your investment in the Shares represents an indirect investment in the assets owned by the Master Fund. The value of the Master Fund's portfolio securities and other assets may move up or down, sometimes rapidly and unpredictably, and in certain circumstances investment techniques utilized by the Master Fund may increase the impact of such adverse market movements. At any point in time, your Shares may be worth less than your original investment.

*Temporary Expense Limitation and Reimbursement.* The Investment Manager has undertaken several temporary measures to waive its fees and/or reimburse certain expenses of the Fund and the Master Fund, including entering into an Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement and temporarily reducing its Management Fee to an annualized rate of 0.75% of the Fund's or the Master Fund's Managed Assets, as the case may be, effective from October 1, 2014 until December 31, 2020 (which may be extended, terminated or modified by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion). The Investment Manager may also enter into arrangements in the future to waive or cap certain fees or expenses. To the extent that the Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement, the voluntary waiver of a portion of the Management Fee or other future waivers are not renewed, continued or entered into, the expenses of the Fund and the Master Fund may increase and subsequently reduce the investment return of the Fund and the Master Fund. See "Management of the Fund—Expense Limitation Undertaking."

**Deployment Risk.** The Investment Manager expects that substantially all of any proceeds from any sales of shares will be invested within approximately three months of receipt thereof. The Master Fund's ability to successfully invest its capital during any deployment period will depend on prevailing market conditions and a variety of other factors which are difficult to predict and there can be no assurance that such deployment of the Master Fund's assets will not take longer than anticipated.

*Past Performance; No Assurance of Investment Return.* Although the key personnel in the BREDS Group, including Jonathan Pollack, Michael Nash and Michael Wiebolt, have extensive investment experience investing in the real estate debt markets (including through the BREDS Vehicles), the past performance results of the BREDS Vehicles are not indicative of the future performance of the Fund or Master Fund. There can be no assurance that the Master Fund will be able to (i) successfully identify, make and realize upon any particular investment or (ii) generate returns for its shareholders (or that such returns will be commensurate with the risks associated with an investment in the Fund).

*Liquidity Risks.* The Shares are not listed for trading on any securities exchange. There is no public market for the Shares and none is expected to develop. The Shares therefore are not readily marketable and shareholders must be prepared to hold Shares for an indefinite period of time. Because the Fund is a closed-end management investment company, the Shares may not be redeemed at the option of the shareholder and may not currently be exchanged for shares of any other fund.

Although the Fund may offer to repurchase Shares from shareholders, no assurance can be given that these repurchases will occur as scheduled or at all. In light of market conditions resulting from the outbreak of the

novel coronavirus ("COVID-19"), the Fund did not make a repurchase offer in the first quarter of 2020. The Fund will conduct repurchase offers on a schedule and in amounts that will depend on the Master Fund's repurchase offers. The Master Fund may need to suspend or postpone repurchase offers if it is not able to dispose of portfolio securities or loans in a timely manner. Consequently, the Fund and the Master Fund may be a highly illiquid investment.

Even if the Fund makes a tender offer, there is no guarantee that shareholders will be able to sell all of the Shares that they desire to sell in any particular tender offer. If a tender offer is oversubscribed by shareholders, the Fund will generally repurchase only a pro rata portion of the Shares tendered by each shareholder. A large shareholder in the Fund seeking repurchase may cause a greater likelihood of all shareholders seeking repurchase having their requests reduced pro rata. The potential for pro ration may cause some shareholders to tender more Shares for repurchase than they otherwise would wish to have repurchased, which may adversely affect others wishing to participate in the tender offer. In addition, in extreme cases, a Fund may not be able to complete repurchases if the Master Fund is unable or unwilling to repurchase a portion of that Fund's interest in the Master Fund due to the Master Fund's inability to liquidate a portion of its portfolio.

*Distributions Risk.* The Fund has not established a minimum distribution payment level, and the Fund's ability to make distributions to its shareholders may be adversely affected by a number of factors, including the risk factors described elsewhere in this Prospectus. The Fund may not generate sufficient income or have sufficient liquidity to make distributions to the Fund's shareholders. The Board (or a committee of the Board) will make determinations regarding distributions based upon, among other factors, the Fund's financial performance, debt service obligations and other cash needs.

As a result, the Fund may not be able to make distributions to the Fund's shareholders from time to time, and the level of any distributions the Fund does make to the Fund's shareholders may decrease over time, any of which could materially and adversely affect the value of your investment. In light of market conditions resulting from the outbreak of COVID-19, the Fund did not declare a dividend in the first quarter of 2020 and may do so again in the future.

*Non-Diversified Risk.* As non-diversified investment companies under the 1940 Act, and the rules and regulations thereunder, the Fund and the Master Fund may invest a greater portion of their respective assets in a more limited number of issuers than a diversified fund. The Master Fund's investment portfolio has significant investments in the real estate debt sector. While the Fund and the Master Fund intend to comply with the diversification requirements of the Code applicable to RICs, the Master Fund's investment program may nonetheless present a greater risk to an investor than an investment in a diversified company due to the impact changes in financial conditions or real estate market activity may have on the value of the Shares.

*Geographic Concentration Risk.* The Master Fund makes real estate-related debt investments primarily in the United States, but may also invest on a global basis. Adverse changes to the economies and commercial real estate markets of any country in which the Master Fund invests will have a pronounced impact on the activities of the Master Fund in such country and could impede the Master Fund's ability to effectively achieve its investment objective. See "Risk Factors—Non-U.S. Investments; Non-OECD Investments." Because the Master Fund invests primarily in the United States, the performance of the Master Fund's investments are especially susceptible to adverse changes in the commercial real estate market of the United States.

*Euro Risk.* A significant portion of the non-U.S. investments held by the Master Fund may be denominated in euros. Recent political and economic issues have created uncertainty concerning the future of the euro and the impact if one or more countries leave the eurozone. These or other events, including political and economic developments, could cause market disruptions and could adversely affect the value of investments held by the Master Fund.

*Concentration Risk.* The Master Fund's portfolio is concentrated in investments in the real estate finance industry, including CMBS, RMBS, REITs, other real estate-related securities, loans and other instruments that are secured by or otherwise have exposure to, real estate. As a consequence, our aggregate return may be

substantially affected by the unfavorable performance of real estate-related investments and the Master Fund's portfolio may become more susceptible to fluctuations in value resulting from adverse economic or business conditions affecting that industry. Additionally, within our investments in CMBS and our other real estate-related investments, a concentration in a single investment or in underlying mortgage loans or other investments secured by properties located in a particular geography or of a particular asset class can cause our aggregate return to be disproportionately affected by unfavorable market conditions related to such investment, geography or asset class. Investors have no assurance as to the degree of diversification in the underlying properties securing the Master Fund's real estate-related investments. See "—Concentrated CMBS Investments."

*Incentive Fee Risk.* The Incentive Fee creates an incentive for the Investment Manager to cause the Master Fund to make investments that are riskier or more speculative than those that might have been made in the absence of the Incentive Fee. In addition, the Investment Manager may time investments in order to maximize income under the Incentive Fee. While the Board does not monitor specific investment decisions by the Investment Manager and the particular timing of individual investment decisions as they relate to the Incentive Fee, the Board, as part of its fiduciary duties and responsibilities under the 1940 Act (relating to future determinations as to whether to renew the investment advisory agreement with the Investment Manager), considers whether the Incentive Fee is fair and reasonable. In addition, although the Incentive Fee payable by the Master Fund to the Investment Manager is similar to those of private investment funds, most registered investment companies do not pay an incentive fee to their investment advisor.

Leverage Risk. The Master Fund uses leverage, which magnifies investment, market and certain other risks. The Master Fund uses leverage directly at the Master Fund level which will create exposure to such leverage indirectly at the Fund level. While such implicit leverage does not constitute actual borrowing of the Fund for purposes of the 1940 Act, in an effort to mitigate the overall risk of leverage, the Fund does not intend to incur additional direct long-term leverage at the Fund level, but may use leverage for short-term purposes. Since the Fund generally may not withdraw from the Master Fund, the Fund's level of implicit leverage from its indirect investment in the Master Fund cannot be controlled. This may constrain the Fund's ability to utilize additional direct leverage at the Fund level. Leverage involves risks and special considerations for holders of the Shares, including that when the Master Fund uses leverage, the Management Fee payable by the Master Fund to the Investment Manager will be higher than if the Master Fund did not use leverage (as such, the Investment Manager may have a financial incentive to increase the Master Fund's use of leverage, which constitutes an inherent conflict of interest); the likelihood of greater volatility of NAV of the common shares of the Master Fund than a comparable portfolio without leverage; the risk that fluctuations in interest rates on borrowings and short-term debt or in the dividend rates on any preferred shares that the Master Fund may pay will reduce the return to shareholders or will result in fluctuations in the distributions paid on the common shares; and the effect of leverage in a declining market, which is likely to cause a greater decline in the NAV of the common shares than if the Master Fund were not leveraged.

As a closed-end investment company registered with the SEC, the Master Fund is subject to the federal securities laws, including the 1940 Act, the rules thereunder, and various SEC and SEC staff interpretive positions. In accordance with these laws, rules and positions, the Master Fund may "set aside" liquid assets (often referred to as "asset segregation"), or engage in other measures to "cover" open positions under current SEC guidance with respect to certain portfolio management techniques, such as engaging in reverse repurchase agreements, dollar rolls, entering into credit default swaps or futures contracts, or purchasing securities on a when-issued or delayed delivery basis, that may be considered senior securities under the 1940 Act. The Master Fund intends to cover its derivative positions by maintaining an amount of cash or liquid securities in a segregated account equal to the face value of those positions and by offsetting derivative positions against one another or against other assets to manage the effective market exposure resulting from derivatives in its portfolio. To the extent that the Master Fund does not segregate liquid assets or otherwise cover its obligations under such transactions under current SEC guidance, such transactions will be treated as senior securities representing indebtedness for purposes of the requirement under the 1940 Act that the Master Fund may not enter into any such transactions if the Master Fund's borrowings would thereby exceed  $33 \frac{1}{3}\%$  of its total assets, less all liabilities and indebtedness of the Master Fund not represented by senior securities. However, these transactions, even if covered and not treated as leverage for the 1940 Act, may represent a form of economic leverage and will create risks. In addition, these

segregation and coverage requirements could result in the Master Fund maintaining securities positions that it would otherwise liquidate, segregating assets at a time when it might be disadvantageous to do so or otherwise restricting portfolio management. Such segregation and cover requirements will not limit or offset losses on related positions. See "Investment Objective and Strategies—Portfolio Investments—Reverse Repurchase Agreements," "Leverage" and "Derivatives Risk."

Reliance on the Investment Manager and Key Blackstone Personnel. The success of the Fund and the Master Fund depends, in large part, upon the skill and expertise of the Investment Manager and key Blackstone personnel, including Jonathan Pollack, Michael Nash and Michael Wiebolt, to develop and implement investment strategies that achieve the Master Fund's investment objective. The Investment Manager is responsible for the Master Fund's investment activities, and shareholders must rely on the Investment Manager and such key Blackstone personnel, including Jonathan Pollack, Michael Nash and Michael Wiebolt, to conduct and manage the Master Fund's activities. In the event of the death, disability or departure of one or more such persons, or to the extent any such persons do not fulfill their time commitment to the Master Fund, the business and the performance of the Fund and the Master Fund may be adversely affected. In addition, such Blackstone personnel may have other responsibilities, including serving on committees, throughout Blackstone and/or its portfolio companies and, therefore, conflicts may arise in the allocation of personnel, management time, services or functions. The ability of the Investment Manager and such personnel to access other professionals and resources within other groups at Blackstone for the benefit of the Fund and the Master Fund may be limited under certain circumstances. See "Conflicts of Interest-Blackstone Policies and Procedures." Moreover, the portfolio management decisions of the Master Fund are generally made independently and without regard to the activities or positions of a variety of the Other Blackstone Vehicles, which may create circumstances where different actions or investment decisions are made or taken with respect to the Master Fund relative to such Other Blackstone Vehicles or Other Real Estate Vehicles. For example, there may be circumstances where one or more such Other Blackstone Vehicles or Other Real Estate Vehicles determines to dispose of an investment that is also held by the Master Fund but where the Master Fund continues to hold such investment or where one or more such Other Blackstone Vehicles or Other Real Estate Vehicles elects to purchase investments with respect to which the Master Fund does not participate (or vice versa) or where such funds may participate in the same investment at different times and/or on different terms. See "Conflicts of Interest."

*No Limitation on Strategies.* In accordance with the Master Fund's investment objective, the Investment Manager implements such strategies or discretionary approaches it believes from time to time may be best suited to prevailing market conditions, subject to the limitations set forth in the Master Fund Declaration of Trust. There can be no assurance that the Investment Manager will be successful in implementing any particular investment strategy or discretionary approach or that it will be able to effectively achieve the Master Fund's trading or investment activities.

*Nature of Real Estate-Related Debt Securities.* The debt securities and other interests in which the Master Fund invests may include secured or unsecured debt at various levels of an issuer's capital structure. The debt securities in which the Master Fund invests may not be protected by financial covenants or limitations upon additional indebtedness, may have limited liquidity, and may not be rated by a credit rating agency. Debt securities are also subject to other creditor risks, including (i) the possible invalidation of an investment transaction as a "fraudulent conveyance" under relevant creditors' rights laws, (ii) so-called lender liability claims by the issuer of the obligations, and (iii) environmental liabilities that may arise with respect to collateral securing the obligations. The Master Fund's investments may be subject to early redemption features, refinancing options, pre-payment options, or similar provisions which, in each case, could result in the issuer repaying the principal on an obligation held by the Master Fund earlier than expected, resulting in a lower return to the Master Fund than anticipated or underwritten on such obligation or reinvesting in a new obligation at a lower return to the Master Fund.

**Debt-Oriented Real Estate Investment Risks Generally.** The Master Fund invests primarily in liquid real estaterelated debt investments. Any deterioration of real estate fundamentals generally, and in the United States and Europe in particular, could negatively impact the performance of the Master Fund by making it more difficult for issuers to satisfy their debt payment obligations, increasing the default risk applicable to issuers, and/or making it

more difficult for the Master Fund to generate attractive risk-adjusted returns. Changes in general economic conditions will affect the creditworthiness of issuers and/or real estate collateral relating to the Master Fund's investments and may include economic and/or market fluctuations, changes in environmental and zoning laws, casualty or condemnation losses, regulatory limitations on rents, decreases in property values, changes in the appeal of properties to tenants, changes in supply and demand, fluctuations in real estate fundamentals, the financial resources of issuers/borrowers, changes in building, environmental and other laws, energy and supply shortages, various uninsured or uninsurable risks, natural disasters, political events, trade barriers, currency exchange controls, changes in government regulations (such as rent control), changes in real property tax rates and/or tax credits, changes in operating expenses, changes in interest rates, changes in foreign exchange rates, changes in the availability of debt financing and/or mortgage funds which may render the sale or refinancing of properties difficult or impracticable, increased mortgage defaults, increases in borrowing rates, outbreaks of an infectious disease, epidemics/pandemics or other serious public health concerns, negative developments in the economy or political climate that depress travel activity (including restrictions on travel or quarantines imposed), environmental liabilities, contingent liabilities on disposition of assets, acts of God, terrorist attacks, war, demand and/or real estate values generally and other factors that are beyond the control of the Investment Manager. Such changes may develop rapidly and it may be difficult to determine the comprehensive impact of such changes on the Master Fund's investments, particularly for investments that may have inherently limited liquidity. These changes may also create significant volatility in the markets for the Master Fund's investments, which could cause rapid and large fluctuations in the values of such investments. There can be no assurance that there will be a ready market for the resale of the Master Fund's debt investments because such investments may not be liquid. Illiquidity may result from the absence of an established market for the investments, the occurrence of events mentioned above, as well as legal or contractual restrictions on their resale by the Master Fund. The value of securities of companies which service the real estate business sector may also be affected by such risks.

The Investment Manager cannot predict whether economic conditions generally, and the conditions for real estate debt investing in particular, will deteriorate in the future. Declines in the performance of the U.S. and global economies or in the real estate debt markets could have a material adverse effect on the Master Fund's business, financial condition and results from operations. Market conditions relating to real estate debt investments have evolved since the financial crisis, which has resulted in a modification to certain loan structures and/or market terms. For example, it has become increasingly difficult for real estate debt investors in certain circumstances to receive full transparency with respect to underlying investments because transactions are often effectuated on an indirect basis through pools or conduit vehicles rather than directly with the borrower. These and other similar changes in loan structures and market terms may make it relatively more difficult for the Master Fund to monitor and evaluate investments.

*Enhanced Scrutiny and Regulation of the Financial Services Industry.* The laws and regulations governing the Master Fund's, the Investment Manager's or their affiliates' operations, as well as their interpretation, may change from time to time, and new laws and regulations may be enacted. Accordingly, any change in these laws or regulations, changes in their interpretation, or newly enacted laws or regulations and any failure by such entities to comply with these laws or regulations, could require changes to certain of their business practices, negatively impact their operations, cash flow or financial condition, impose additional costs on them or otherwise adversely affect their business.

There have been significant developments regarding enhanced governmental scrutiny and/or increased regulation of the financial services industries. On July 21, 2010, former President Obama signed into law the Dodd-Frank Act. The Dodd-Frank Act, among other things, imposes significant new regulations on nearly every aspect of the U.S. financial services industry, including oversight and regulation of systemic market risk (including the power to liquidate certain institutions); authorizing the Federal Reserve to regulate U.S. nonbank financial companies that are determined to be systemically important; generally prohibiting insured depository institutions (subject to certain exceptions), holding companies of such insured depository institutions and their subsidiaries and affiliates from conducting proprietary trading and investing in or sponsoring private equity funds and hedge funds; imposing new registration, recordkeeping and reporting requirements on private fund investment advisers; and reform of the asset-based securitization market (including the mortgage-backed securities market) by requiring the retention of a portion of the credit risk inherent in the pool of securitized assets and by imposing additional

registration and disclosure requirements. The imposition of any additional legal or regulatory requirements as a result of the Dodd-Frank Act or other financial reform legislation could make compliance more difficult and expensive, affect the manner in which the Fund and the Master Fund conduct their business and adversely affect their profitability.

The Dodd-Frank Act established a ten-member Financial Stability Oversight Council ("FSOC"), an interagency body chaired by the Secretary of the Treasury, to identify and manage systemic risk in the financial system and improve interagency cooperation. Under the Dodd-Frank Act, FSOC has the authority to subject a U.S. nonbank financial company to supervision and regulation by the Federal Reserve, including regulation imposing certain capital, leverage and liquidity requirements on the nonbank financial company, if the FSOC determines that such a company is "systemically important," meaning, among other things, that the distress of the financial firm would threaten the stability of the U.S. economy. The Dodd-Frank Act defines a "nonbank financial company" as a company that is predominantly engaged in activities that are financial in nature. To date, neither the Fund or the Master Fund have been determined by FSOC to be a "systemically important" nonbank financial company, it would result in increased regulation of the Fund's and the Master Fund's business, including higher standards on capital, leverage, liquidity, risk management, credit exposure reporting and concentration limits, restrictions on acquisitions and annual stress tests by the Federal Reserve.

Included in the Dodd-Frank Act is the so-called "Volcker Rule," which takes the form of new Section 13 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956. Among other things, the Volcker Rule prohibits any "banking entity" (generally defined as any insured depository institution, subject to certain exceptions including for depository institutions that do not have, and are not controlled by a company that has, more than \$10 billion in total consolidated assets and significant trading assets and liabilities, any company that controls such an institution, a non-U.S. bank that is treated as a bank holding company for purposes of U.S. banking law, and any affiliate or subsidiary of the foregoing entities) from sponsoring or acquiring or retaining an ownership interest in a private equity fund or hedge fund that is not subject to the provisions of the Investment Company Act in reliance upon either Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act. The Volcker Rule also authorizes the imposition of additional capital requirements and certain other quantitative limits on such activities engaged in by certain nonbank financial companies that have been determined to be systemically important by the FSOC and subject to supervision by the Federal Reserve (as discussed above), although such entities are not expressly prohibited from engaging sponsoring or investing in such funds. Prospective investors in the Fund and Master Fund that are banking entities should consult their bank regulatory counsel prior to making an investment.

The Dodd-Frank Act also seeks to reform the asset-backed securitization market (including the mortgage-backed securities market) by requiring the retention of a portion of the credit risk inherent in the pool of securitized assets and by imposing additional registration and disclosure requirements. In October 2014, five federal banking and housing agencies and the SEC issued final credit risk retention rules, which generally require sponsors of asset-backed securities to retain at least 5% of the credit risk relating to the assets that underlie such asset-backed securities. These rules became effective in December 2016 with respect to new securitization transactions backed by mortgage loans other than residential mortgage loans. These rules could restrict credit availability and could negatively affect the terms and availability of credit to fund the Master Fund's investments.

The current regulatory environment in the United States may be impacted by future legislative and regulatory developments, such as amendments to key provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act. For example, on May 24, 2018, the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act (the "Reform Act") was signed into law. Among other regulatory changes, the Reform Act amends various sections of the Dodd-Frank Act, including by modifying the Volcker Rule to exempt depository institutions that do not have, and are not controlled by a company that has, more than \$10 billion in total consolidated assets and significant trading assets and liabilities. In July 2019, U.S. federal regulatory agencies adopted amendments to the Volcker Rule regulations to implement the Volcker Rule amendments included in the Reform Act, and also in 2019 such U.S. federal regulatory agencies to the Volcker Rule regulations to simplify and tailor certain compliance requirements relating to the Volcker Rule. The ultimate consequences of the Reform Act and such

regulatory developments on the Fund and its activities remain uncertain. Prospective investors should note that any significant changes in, among other things, banking and financial services regulation, including the regulation of the asset management industry, could have a material adverse impact on the Master Fund and its activities.

*LIBOR Risk.* Many of the Master Fund's investments and forms of leverage pay interest based on LIBOR. Derivative instruments utilized by the Master Fund and/or issuers of instruments in which the Master Fund may invest may also reference LIBOR. On July 27, 2017, the United Kingdom's (the "UK") Financial Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to phase out LIBOR by the end of 2021. It is expected that a number of private-sector banks currently reporting information used to set LIBOR will stop doing so after 2021 when their current reporting commitment ends, which could either cause LIBOR to stop publication immediately or cause LIBOR's regulator to determine that its quality has degraded to the degree that it is no longer representative of its underlying market. The U.S. Federal Reserve, in conjunction with the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions, is considering replacing U.S. dollar LIBOR with a new index calculated by short-term repurchase agreements, backed by U.S. Treasury securities. Abandonment of or modifications to LIBOR could have adverse impacts and represent a significant risk on newly issued financial instruments and existing financial instruments which reference LIBOR. While some instruments may contemplate a scenario where LIBOR is no longer available by providing for an alternative rate setting methodology, not all instruments may have such provisions and there are significant uncertainty regarding the effectiveness of any such alternative methodologies.

Abandonment of or modifications to LIBOR could lead to significant short-term and long-term uncertainty and market instability and the extent to which that may impact the Fund and the Master Fund may vary depending on various factors, which include, but are not limited to: (i) existing fallback or termination provisions in individual contracts and (ii) whether, how, and when industry participants develop and adopt new successor reference rates and/or fallbacks for both legacy and new instruments. In addition, the transition to a successor rate could potentially cause (i) increased volatility or illiquidity in markets for instruments that currently rely on LIBOR, (ii) a reduction in the value of certain instruments held by the Fund and the Master Fund, or (iii) reduced effectiveness of related Fund and Master Fund transactions, such as hedging. As of December 31, 2019, 46.7% of the Master Fund's investments by total loan exposure earned a floating rate of interest, with 64.82% of floating rate investments by loan exposure indexed to USD LIBOR, and 53.3% earned a fixed rate of interest. In addition, 11.2% of the Master Fund's investments earned interest based on floors that are above the applicable index as of December 31, 2019.

Risks Associated with CMBS. The Master Fund invests a significant portion of its assets in pools or tranches of CMBS. The collateral underlying CMBS generally consists of commercial mortgages on real property that has a single-family, multifamily or commercial use, such as retail space, office buildings, warehouse property and hotels, and may include assets or properties owned directly or indirectly by one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles. CMBS have been issued in a variety of issuances, with varying structures including senior and subordinated classes. The commercial mortgages underlying CMBS generally have shorter maturities than residential mortgages, allow all or a substantial portion of the loan balance to be paid at maturity, commonly known as a "balloon payment," and are usually non-recourse against the commercial borrower. Investments in CMBS are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including credit, market, interest rate, structural and legal risks. These risks may be magnified by volatility in the credit and commercial real estate markets. The investment characteristics of CMBS differ from traditional debt securities in a number of respects, and are similar to the characteristics of structured credit products in which investors participate through a trust or other similar conduit arrangement. As described more fully below, commercial mortgage loans are obligations of the borrowers thereunder and are not typically insured or guaranteed by any other person or entity. While the Investment Manager analyzes and underwrites its CMBS investments from a fundamental real estate perspective, there can be no assurance that underwriting practices will yield their desired results and there can be no assurance that the Master Fund will be able to effectively achieve its investment objective or that projected returns will be achieved.

*Concentrated CMBS Investments.* Default risks with respect to CMBS investments may be further pronounced to the extent that the Master Fund invests heavily with a particular sponsor of CMBS, single-issuer CMBS,

CMBS secured by a small or less diverse collateral pool or CMBS secured by a particular asset class. For instance, at any one time, a portfolio of CMBS may be backed by commercial mortgage loans disproportionately secured by properties in only a few states, regions or foreign countries. As a result, such investments may be more susceptible to geographic risks relating to such areas, including adverse economic conditions, declining home values, adverse events affecting industries located in such areas and other factors beyond the control of the Investment Manager relative to investments in multi-issuer CMBS or a pool of mortgage loans having more diverse property locations. Additionally, at any one time, the Master Fund's portfolio of CMBS may be backed by commercial mortgage loans disproportionately secured by properties of a specific asset class, such as hospitality, multi-family, retail, industrial, office or other properties. CMBS backed by these asset classes may underperform during any period of time, including for long periods. If the Master Fund's portfolio is concentrated in any investments secured by such underperforming asset class, the Master Fund's portfolio, from time to time, is available on our website at http://www.blackstone.com/businesses/aam/real-estate/closed-end-funds.

*CMBS Credit Quality and Selection.* CMBS are also affected by the quality of the credit extended. As a result, the quality of the CMBS is dependent upon the selection of the commercial mortgages for each issuance and the cash flow generated by the commercial real estate assets, as well as the relative diversification of the collateral pool underlying such CMBS and other factors such as adverse selection within a particular tranche or issuance.

Risks Associated with Residential Credit, Including RMBS. The Master Fund invests a portion of its assets in residential credit, including pools or tranches of RMBS. The collateral underlying residential credits generally consists of mortgages on residential properties. Residential credits have been issued in a variety of issuances, with varying structures including senior and subordinated classes. Investments in residential credit (including RMBS) are subject to various risks and uncertainties, including credit, market, interest rate, structural and legal risk. These risks may be magnified by volatility in the economy and in real estate markets generally. Residential credits are also subject to the risk of prepayment by borrowers. Residential credits are not traded on an exchange and there may be a limited market for the securities, especially when there is a perceived weakness in the mortgage and real estate market sectors. Without an active trading market, mortgage-related securities held in the Master Fund's portfolio may be particularly difficult to value because of the complexities involved in assessing the value of the underlying mortgage loans. Residential mortgage loans are generally obligations of the borrowers thereunder and are not typically insured or guaranteed by any other person or entity. While the Investment Manager analyzes and underwrites its residential credit investments from a fundamental real estate perspective, there can be no assurance that underwriting practices will yield their desired results and there can be no assurance that the Master Fund will be able to effectively achieve its investment objective or that projected returns will be achieved.

Government mortgage pass-through securities may include those issued or guaranteed by Ginnie Mae, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Ginnie Mae certificates are direct obligations of the U.S. Government and, as such, are backed by the "full faith and credit" of the United States. Fannie Mae is a federally chartered, privately owned corporation and Freddie Mac is a corporate instrumentality of the United States. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac certificates are not backed by the full faith and credit of the United States but the issuing agency or instrumentality has the right to borrow, to meet its obligations, from an existing line of credit with the U.S. Treasury. The U.S. Treasury has no legal obligation to provide such line of credit and may choose not to do so.

*Operating and Financial Risks of Issuers; Underlying Default Risk across Capital Structures.* The Master Fund's investments may involve credit or default risk, which is the risk that an issuer or borrower will be unable to make principal and interest payments on its outstanding debt when due. The risk of default and losses on real estate-related debt instruments will be affected by a number of factors, including global, regional and local economic conditions, interest rates, the commercial real estate market in general, an issuer's equity and the financial circumstances of the issuer, as well as general economic conditions. Such default risk will be heightened to the extent the Master Fund makes relatively junior investments in an issuer's capital structure since such investments are structurally subordinate to more senior tranches in such issuer's capital structure, and the Master Fund's overall returns would be adversely affected to the extent one or more issuers is unable to meet its debt payment obligations when due. To the extent the Master Fund holds an equity or "mezzanine" interest in

any issuer that is unable to meet its debt payment obligations, such equity or mezzanine interest could become subordinated to the rights of such issuer's creditors in a bankruptcy. See "—Subordination" below. Furthermore, the financial performance of one or more issuers could deteriorate as a result of, among other things, adverse developments in their businesses, changes in the competitive environment, suspension of operations, changes in market or economic conditions, natural disasters, outbreaks of an infectious disease, epidemic/pandemic or any other serious public health concern, negative developments in the economy or political climate that may impact such issuers. As a result, underlying properties or issuers that the Master Fund expected to be stable may operate, or expect to operate, at a loss or have significant fluctuations in ongoing operating results, may otherwise have a weak financial condition or be experiencing financial distress and subject the Master Fund's investments to addition risk of loss and default.

*Commercial Mortgage Loans.* The Master Fund invests in commercial mortgage loans, including mezzanine loans and B-notes, which are secured by multifamily, commercial or other properties and are subject to risks of delinquency and foreclosure and risks of loss. Commercial real estate loans are generally not fully amortizing, which means that they may have a significant principal balance or balloon payment due on maturity. Full satisfaction of the balloon payment by a commercial borrower is heavily dependent on the availability of subsequent financing or a functioning sales market, as well as other factors such as the value of the property, the level of prevailing mortgage rates, the borrower's equity in the property and the financial condition and operating history of the property and the borrower. In certain situations, and during periods of credit distress, the unavailability of real estate financing may lead to default by a commercial borrower. In addition, in the absence of any such takeout financing, the ability of a borrower to repay a loan secured by an income-producing property will depend upon the successful operation of such property rather than upon the existence of independent income or assets of the borrower. If the net operating income of the property is reduced, the borrower's ability to repay the loan may be impaired. Furthermore, the Master Fund may not have the same access to information in connection with investments in commercial mortgage loans, either when investigating a potential investment or after making an investment, as compared to publicly traded securities.

Commercial mortgage loans are usually non-recourse in nature. Therefore, if a commercial borrower defaults on the commercial loan, then the options for financial recovery are limited in nature. To the extent the underlying default rates with respect to the pool or tranche of commercial real estate loans in which the Master Fund directly or indirectly invests increase, the performance of the Master Fund investments related thereto may be adversely affected. Default rates and losses on commercial loans will be affected by a number of factors, including global, regional and local economic conditions in the area where the properties are located, the borrower's equity in the underlying property and/or assets and the financial circumstances of the borrower. A decline in specific real estate or credit markets may result in higher delinquencies and defaults. See "—Foreclosure Risk" below. In the event of default, the lender will have no right to assets beyond collateral attached to the commercial loan are the only options before an ultimate foreclosure on the commercial property. A foreclosure is costly and often protracted by litigation and bankruptcy restrictions. The ultimate disposition of a foreclosed property may also yield a price insufficient to cover the cost of the foreclosure process and the balance attached to the defaulted commercial loan.

In the event of any default under a mortgage or real estate loan held directly by the Master Fund, it will bear a risk of loss of principal to the extent of any deficiency between the value of the collateral and the principal and accrued interest of the mortgage or real estate loan, which could have a material adverse effect on the profitability of the Master Fund. In the event of the bankruptcy of a mortgage or real estate loan borrower, the mortgage or real estate loan to such borrower will be deemed to be secured only to the extent of the value of the underlying collateral at the time of bankruptcy (as determined by the bankruptcy court), and the lien securing the mortgage or real estate loan will be subject to the avoidance powers of the bankruptcy trustee or debtor-in-possession to the extent the lien is unenforceable under state law. Additionally, in the event of a default under any senior debt, the junior or subordinate lender generally forecloses on the equity, purchases the senior debt or negotiates a forbearance or restructuring arrangement with the senior lender in order to preserve its collateral.

*Collateralized Debt Obligations*. The Master Fund invests in CDOs. CDOs include, among other things, CBOs, CLOs and other similarly structured securities. CBOs and CLOs are types of asset-backed securities. A CBO is a trust which is backed by a diversified pool of fixed income securities, including securities that may be rated below investment grade or equivalent unrated securities. A CLO is a trust typically collateralized by a pool of loans, which may include, among others, domestic and foreign senior secured loans, senior unsecured loans and subordinate corporate loans, including loans that may be rated below investment grade or equivalent unrated loans. CDOs may charge management fees and administrative expenses. For both CBOs and CLOs, the cash flows from the trust are split into two or more portions, called tranches, varying in risk and yield. The riskiest portion is the "equity" tranche which bears the bulk of defaults from the bonds or loans in the trust and serves to protect the other, more senior tranches from default in all but the most severe circumstances. Since it is partially protected from defaults, a senior tranche from a CBO trust or CLO trust typically has higher ratings and lower yields than the underlying securities, and can be rated investment grade. Despite the protection from the equity tranche, CBO or CLO tranches can experience substantial losses due to actual defaults, increased sensitivity to defaults due to collateral default and disappearance of protecting tranches, market anticipation of defaults and aversion to CBO or CLO securities as a class. The risks of an investment in a CDO depend largely on the type of the collateral securities and the class of the CDO in which the Master Fund invests. Normally, CBOs, CLOs and other CDOs are privately offered and sold, and thus are not registered under the securities laws. As a result, investments in CDOs may be characterized by the Master Fund as illiquid securities; however, an active dealer market, or other relevant measures of liquidity, may exist for CDOs allowing a CDO potentially to be deemed liquid by the Investment Manager under liquidity policies approved by the Master Fund's Board. Moreover, in respect of a CLO, if the mortgage portfolios underlying such CLO have been overvalued by the respective originators, or if the values subsequently decline and, as a result, less collateral value is available to satisfy interest and principal payments and any other fees in connection with the trust or other conduit arrangement for such securities, we may incur significant losses. Also, with respect to the CLOs in which the Master Fund may invest, control over the related underlying loans will be exercised through a special servicer or collateral manager designated by a "directing certificate holder" or a "controlling class representative," or otherwise pursuant to the related securitization documents. The Master Fund may acquire classes of CLOs for which the Master Fund may not have the right to appoint the directing certificate holder or otherwise direct the special servicing or collateral management. With respect to the management and servicing of the underlying loans, the related special servicer or collateral manager may take actions that could adversely affect the Master Fund's interests. In addition to the risks associated with debt instruments (e.g., interest rate risk and credit risk), CDOs carry additional risks including, but not limited to: (i) the possibility that distributions from collateral securities will not be adequate to make interest or other payments; (ii) the quality of the collateral may decline in value or default; (iii) the possibility that the Master Fund may invest in CDOs that are subordinate to other classes; and (iv) the complex structure of the security may not be fully understood at the time of investment and may produce disputes with the issuer or unexpected investment results.

Highly Competitive Market for Investment Opportunities. The Master Fund makes real estate-related debt investments primarily in the United States, but also invests on a global basis. Purchasers of the Shares will be dependent upon the judgment and ability of the Investment Manager in sourcing transactions and investing and managing the capital of the Master Fund. No assurance can be given that the Master Fund and the Investment Manager will be successful in identifying or capitalizing on suitable investments, or that if such investments are made, that such investments will be realized upon at favorable valuations or that the objectives of the Master Fund and the Fund will be achieved. The activity of identifying, completing and realizing attractive debt-oriented real estate investments is highly competitive and involves a high degree of uncertainty and risk. The availability of CMBS and other investment opportunities generally will be subject to market conditions. In particular, in light of changes in such conditions, including changes in long-term interest rates, certain types of investments may not be available to the Master Fund on terms that are as attractive as the terms on which opportunities were available to Other Blackstone Vehicles. The Master Fund competes for investments with other real estate investment vehicles, as well as individuals and companies, REITs, open-end funds, closed-end funds, financial institutions (such as mortgage banks and pension funds), hedge funds and investment funds affiliated with Blackstone and/or other financial sponsors or institutional investors, private equity and debt investors, and credit vehicles, hedge funds and other institutional investors. Further, over the past several years, many real estate investment funds, REITs and other vehicles have been formed (and many have grown in size) for the purpose of investing in debtoriented real estate investments. There can be no assurance that the Master Fund will be able to locate, complete and exit investments successfully.

*Lack of Control Over Investments.* The Master Fund generally does not have a right to vote or to make decisions with respect to the administration of the CMBS and other investments, or servicing of the commercial real estate loans that underlie the Master Fund's CMBS and other investments. Investment decisions pertaining to issuers of underlying loans (including those serving as collateral for pools or tranches of CMBS) will generally be made by the owners/developers of such properties, in the case of underlying loans generally, or one of the master servicer, special servicer, trustee or a controlling party, in the case of pools or tranches of CMBS. Any decision made by one of those parties may not be in the best interest of the Master Fund and, even if that decision is determined to be in the Master Fund's best interests by that party, may be contrary to the decision that the Master Fund would have made and may negatively affect the Master Fund's interests.

*Due Diligence Risks.* Before making any investments, the Investment Manager will assess the factors that it believes will determine the success of that investment. This process is particularly important and subjective because there may be little information publicly available about CMBS and other real estate debt investments, other than what is available in the prospectuses, offering memoranda or similar disclosure documentation associated with the CMBS and other investments. The Master Fund cannot provide any assurances that these due diligence processes will uncover all relevant facts of the underlying commercial real estate loans or that any investment will be successful.

Risks of Acquiring Sub-Performing Real Estate Loans and Participations. While the Master Fund invests primarily in "performing" real estate-related debt investments, the Master Fund may nonetheless invest in instruments of any credit quality at various levels of an issuer's capital structure, including sub-performing real estate loans. Such sub-performing real estate loans may require a substantial amount of workout negotiations and/or restructuring, which may entail, among other things, an extension of the term, a substantial reduction in the interest rate, or refinancing a substantial write-down of the principal of such loan and other concessions which could adversely affect the returns realized by the Master Fund with respect thereto. However, even if a restructuring were successfully accomplished, a risk exists that, upon maturity of such real estate loan, replacement "takeout" financing will not be available. Purchases of participations in real estate loans raise many of the same risks as investments in real estate loans and also carry risks of illiquidity and lack of control. It is possible that the Investment Manager may find it necessary or desirable to foreclose on collateral securing one or more real estate loans purchased by the Master Fund. The foreclosure process varies jurisdiction by jurisdiction and can be lengthy and expensive. Borrowers often resist foreclosure actions, which often prolongs and complicates an already difficult and time consuming process. In some states or other jurisdictions, foreclosure actions can take up to several years or more to conclude. During the foreclosure proceedings, a borrower may have the ability to file for bankruptcy or its equivalent, potentially staying the foreclosure action and further delaying the foreclosure process. Foreclosure litigation tends to create a negative public image of the collateral property and may result in disrupting ongoing leasing and management of the property and/or impeding operations or development of the property. In the event the Master Fund does foreclose on an investment, the Master Fund will be subject to the risks associated with owning and/or operating real estate.

*Risks Associated with the Insolvency of Obligations Backing MBS and Other Investments.* The real estate loans backing the MBS and other investments may be subject to various laws enacted in the jurisdiction or state of the borrower for the protection of creditors. If an unpaid creditor files a lawsuit seeking payment, the court may invalidate all or part of the borrower's debt as a fraudulent conveyance, subordinate such indebtedness to existing or future creditors of the borrower or recover amounts previously paid by the borrower in satisfaction of such indebtedness, based on certain tests for borrower insolvency and other facts and circumstances, which may vary by jurisdiction. There can be no assurance as to what standard a court would apply in order to determine whether the borrower was "insolvent" after giving effect to the incurrence of the indebtedness constituting the mortgage backing the MBS and other investments, or that regardless of the method of valuation, a court would not determine that the borrower was "insolvent" after giving effect to such incurrence. In addition, in the event of the insolvency of a borrower, payments made on such mortgage loans could be subject to avoidance as a "preference" if made within a certain period of time (which may be as long as one year and one day) before insolvency.

Distressed Securities or Other Interests; Workouts and Bankruptcy; Administration. While the Master Fund's investment strategy focuses primarily on investments in "performing" real estate-related debt investments, the Master Fund's investment program may include making distressed investments from time to time (e.g., investments in defaulted, out-of-favor or distressed bank loans and debt securities) or may involve investments that become "sub-performing" or "non-performing" following the Master Fund's acquisition thereof. Certain of the Master Fund's investments will, therefore, include specific securities of companies that typically are highly leveraged, with significant burdens on cash flow and, therefore, involve a high degree of financial risk. During an economic downturn or recession, loans to or securities of financially or operationally troubled borrowers or issuers are more likely to go into default than loans or securities of other borrowers or issuers. Loans or securities of financially or operationally troubled issuers are less liquid and more volatile than loans to or securities of companies not experiencing such difficulties. The market prices of such securities are subject to erratic and abrupt market movements and the spread between bid and asked prices may be greater than normally expected. Investment in loans to or the securities of financially or operationally troubled borrowers or issuers involves a high degree of credit and market risk. There is no assurance that the Investment Manager will correctly evaluate the value of the assets collateralizing the Master Fund's loans or the prospects for a successful reorganization or similar action.

As noted above, in certain limited cases (e.g., in connection with a workout, restructuring and/or foreclosing proceedings involving one or more debt investments by the Master Fund), the success of the Master Fund's investment strategy with respect thereto will depend, in part, on the ability of the Master Fund to effectuate loan modifications and/or restructure and improve the operations of issuers. The activity of identifying and implementing any such restructuring programs and operating improvements entails a high degree of uncertainty. There can be no assurance that the Master Fund will be able to successfully identify and implement such restructuring programs and improvements.

These financial difficulties may never be overcome and may cause issuers to become subject to bankruptcy or other similar administrative proceedings. There is a possibility that the Master Fund may incur substantial or total losses on its investments and in certain circumstances, subject the Master Fund to certain additional potential liabilities that may exceed the value of the Master Fund's original investment therein. For example, under certain circumstances, a lender who has inappropriately exercised control over the management and policies of a debtor may have its claims subordinated or disallowed or may be found liable for damages suffered by parties as a result of such actions. In any reorganization or liquidation proceeding relating to the Master Fund's investments, the Master Fund may lose its entire investment, may be required to accept cash or securities with a value less than the Master Fund's original investment and/or may be required to accept different terms, including payment over an extended period of time. In addition, under certain circumstances payments to the Master Fund and distributions by the Master Fund to the Fund may be reclaimed if any such payment or distribution is later determined to have been a fraudulent conveyance, preferential payment, or similar transactions under applicable bankruptcy and insolvency laws. Furthermore, bankruptcy laws and similar laws applicable to administrative proceedings may delay the ability of the Master Fund to realize on collateral for loan positions held by it or may adversely affect the economic terms and priority of such loans through doctrines such as equitable subordination or may result in a restructure of the debt through principles such as the "cramdown" provisions of the bankruptcy laws.

*Risks Associated with Interest Shortfalls.* The Master Fund's MBS investments may be subject to interest shortfalls due to interest collected from the underlying loans not being sufficient to pay accrued interest to all of the MBS. Interest shortfalls to the trust will occur when the servicer does not advance full interest payments on defaulted loans. The servicer in a MBS trust is required to advance monthly principal and interest payments due on a delinquent loan. Once a loan is delinquent for a period of time (generally 60 days), the servicer is required to obtain a new appraisal to determine the value of the property securing the loan. The servicer is only required to advance interest based on the lesser of the loan amount or 90%, generally, of the appraised value. Interest shortfalls occur when 90%, generally, of the appraised value is less than the loan amount and the servicer does not advance interest on the full loan amount. The resulting interest shortfalls impact interest payments on the most junior class in the trust first. As interest shortfalls increase, more senior classes may be impacted. Over time, senior classes may be reimbursed for accumulated shortfalls if the delinquent loans are resolved, but there

is no guarantee that shortfalls will be collected. Interest shortfalls to the MBS trust may also occur as a result of accumulated advances and expenses on defaulted loans. When a defaulted loan or foreclosed property is liquidated, the servicer will be reimbursed for accumulated advances and expenses prior to payments to MBS bond holders. If proceeds are insufficient to reimburse the servicer or if a defaulted loan is modified and not foreclosed, the servicer is able to make a claim on interest payments that is senior to the bond holders to cover accumulated advances and expenses. If the claim is greater than interest collected on the loans, interest shortfalls could impact one or more bond classes in a MBS trust until the servicer's claim is satisfied. Interest shortfalls will be more likely during times of economic stress or other significant market events, which will result in greater risk of loss on the Master Fund's investments.

**Prepayment Risk; Interest Rate Fluctuations.** During periods of declining or low interest rates, the issuer of a security or under a loan may exercise its option to prepay principal earlier than scheduled, forcing the Master Fund to reinvest the proceeds from such prepayment in lower yielding securities, which may result in a decline in the Master Fund's return. Debt investments frequently have call features that allow the issuer to redeem the security at dates prior to its stated maturity at a specified price (typically greater than par) only if certain prescribed conditions are met. An issuer may choose to redeem a debt security if, for example, the issuer can refinance the debt at a lower cost due to declining interest rates or an improvement in the credit standing of the issuer. In addition, the market price of the Master Fund's investments will change in response to changes in interest rates and other factors. During periods of rising interest rates, the market price of such investments generally declines. The magnitude of these fluctuations in the market price of debt investments is generally greater for securities with longer maturities. While interest rates are currently expected to remain at favorable rates in the near term, if the U.S. Federal Reserve continues to increase benchmark interest rates during the life of the Master Fund, the price of debt securities and the value of the Master Fund's investments could be negatively impacted.

*Risks Associated with Extensions.* The Master Fund's CMBS and other investments may be subject to extension, resulting in the term of the securities being longer than expected. Extensions are affected by a number of factors, including the general availability of financing in the market, the value of the related mortgaged property, the borrower's equity in the mortgaged property, the financial circumstances of the borrower, fluctuations in the business operated by the borrower on the mortgaged property, competition, general economic conditions and other factors. Such extensions may also be made without the Investment Manager's consent.

*Reinvestment Risk.* Reinvestment risk is the risk that income from the Master Fund's portfolio will decline if the Master Fund invests the proceeds from matured, traded or called securities at market interest rates that are below the Master Fund portfolio's current earnings rate. A decline in income could affect the Shares' market price, their overall returns or distributions.

*Risks Associated with the Servicers.* The failure of servicers to effectively service the loans and/or pools thereof in which the Master Fund has an investment would materially and adversely affect the Master Fund. Most loans and securitizations thereof require a servicer to manage collections on each of the underlying loans. Both default frequency and default severity of loans may depend upon the quality of the servicer. The Servicer quality is of significant importance in the management of mortgage loans (or pools thereof) and default issues related thereto. In the case of pools of securitized loans, servicers may be required to advance interest on delinquent loans to the extent the servicer deems those advances recoverable. In the event the servicer does not advance, interest payments may be interrupted even on more senior securities. Servicers may also advance more than is in fact recoverable once a defaulted loan is disposed, and the loss to the trust may be greater than the outstanding principal balance of that loan.

*Risks Related to Securities Ratings.* To the extent the Master Fund invests in debt securities that have been rated by nationally recognized rating organizations, such debt securities are subject to risks related to these organizations. In general, the ratings of these organizations represent the opinions of such agencies as to the quality of investments that they rate. Such ratings are relative and subjective and are not statements of fact; they are not absolute standards of quality and do not evaluate the market value risk of the securities that are rated.

Therefore, there can be no assurance that any such rating will accurately quantify risk. Such agencies may change their method of valuation of, and the ratings of, securities held by the Master Fund at any time. The sale price of mortgage-backed securities is highly correlated with the rating such mortgage-backed securities receives from the rating agencies. If existing securities of the Master Fund are downgraded, the value of such securities may be adversely affected. To the extent the Master Fund concentrates its investments in securities with similar ratings, such as below investment grade or unrated debt securities, the Master Fund's portfolio may be more susceptible to ratings downgrades of such securities.

*Expedited Transactions Risk.* In light of the debt-oriented focus of the Master Fund's investment program, investment analyses and decisions by the Investment Manager may frequently be required to be undertaken on an expedited basis to take advantage of investment opportunities. In such cases, the information available to the Investment Manager at the time of making an investment decision may be limited, and they may not have access to detailed information regarding the investment. Therefore, no assurance can be given that the Investment Manager will have knowledge of all circumstances that may adversely affect an investment. In addition, the Investment Manager expect to often rely upon independent consultants in connection with its evaluation and/or diligence of certain proposed investments. No assurance can be given as to the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by such independent consultants and the Master Fund may incur liability as a result of such consultants' actions.

Structured Products Risk. The Master Fund invests from time to time in structured products. These investments may include debt securities issued by a private investment fund that invests, on a leveraged basis, in bank loans, high yield debt or other asset groups, certificates issued by a structured investment vehicle that holds pools of commercial mortgage loans, as well as MBS credit default swaps (e.g., CMBX). The Master Fund's investments in structured products will be subject to a number of risks, including risks related to the fact that the structured products will be leveraged, and other structural and legal risk related thereto. See "-Leverage Risk" above. Many structured products contain covenants designed to protect the providers of debt financing to such structured products. A failure to satisfy those covenants could result in the untimely liquidation of the structured product and a complete loss of the Master Fund's investment therein. In addition, if the particular structured product is invested in a security in which the Master Fund is also invested, this would tend to increase the Master Fund's overall exposure to the credit of the issuer of such securities, at least on an absolute, if not on a relative basis. The value of an investment in a structured product will depend on the investment performance of the assets in which the structured product invests and will, therefore, be subject to all of the risks associated with an investment in those assets. These risks include the possibility of a default by, or bankruptcy of, the issuers of such assets or a claim that the pledging of collateral to secure any such asset constituted a fraudulent conveyance or preferential transfer that can be subordinated to the rights of other creditors of the issuer of such asset or nullified under applicable law.

"Spread Widening" Risk. For reasons not necessarily attributable to any of the risks set forth herein (for example, supply/demand imbalances or other market forces), the market spreads of the securities in which the Master Fund invests may increase substantially causing the securities prices to fall. It may not be possible to predict, or to hedge against, such "spread widening" risk. In addition, mark-to-market accounting of the Master Fund's investments will have an interim effect on the reported value prior to realization of an investment.

Adverse Changes in Credit Markets. Any adverse changes in the global credit markets could make it more difficult for the Master Fund to obtain favorable financing. The Master Fund's ability to generate attractive investment returns for its shareholders will be adversely affected to the extent the Master Fund is unable to obtain favorable financing terms. If the Master Fund is unable to obtain favorable financing terms, it may not be able to efficiently leverage its portfolio, may face increased financing expenses or may face increased restrictions on its investment activities, any of which would negatively impact the Master Fund's performance.

*Risks Associated with Hedging.* The Master Fund utilizes a wide variety of derivative and other hedging instruments for risk management purposes. The successful utilization of hedging and risk management transactions requires skills that are separate from the skills used in selecting and monitoring investments, and such transactions may entail greater than ordinary investment risks. Additionally, costs related to derivatives and

other hedging arrangements (including legal expenses and other third party expenses) will be borne by the Master Fund. There can be no assurance that any derivatives or other hedging transactions will be effective in mitigating risk in all market conditions or against all types of risk (including unidentified or unanticipated risks or where the Investment Manager does not regard the probability of the risk occurring to be sufficiently high to justify the cost), thereby resulting in losses to the Master Fund. Engaging in derivatives and other hedging transactions may result in a poorer overall performance for the Master Fund than if it had not engaged in any such transaction, and the Investment Manager may not be able to effectively hedge against, or accurately anticipate, certain risks that may adversely affect the Master Fund's investment portfolio. In addition, the Master Fund's investment portfolio will always be exposed to certain risks that cannot be fully or effectively hedged, such as credit risk relating both to particular securities and counterparties as well as interest rate and foreign exchange risks. The Master Fund will utilize derivatives and other hedging transactions only for those positions determined appropriate by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion. See "Derivatives Risks," "Counterparty Risk" and "Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk" below.

*Subordination.* The Master Fund invests in debt instruments, including junior tranches of MBS, rake bonds and "mezzanine" or junior mortgage loans (*e.g.*, B-Notes), that are subordinated in an issuer's capital structure. To the extent the Master Fund invests in subordinated debt of an issuer's capital structure or subordinated MBS bonds, such investments and the Master Fund's remedies with respect thereto, including the ability to foreclose on any collateral securing such investments, will be subject to the rights of any senior creditors and, to the extent applicable, contractual inter-creditor and/or participation agreement provisions.

Investments in subordinated debt involve greater credit risk of default than the senior classes of the issue or series. Subordinated tranches of MBS or other investments absorb losses from default before other more senior tranches of MBS to which it is subordinate are put at risk. As a result, to the extent the Master Fund invests in subordinate debt instruments (including MBS), the Master Fund would potentially receive payments or interest distributions after, and must bear the effects of losses or defaults on the senior debt (including underlying mortgage loans, senior mezzanine debt or senior MBS bonds) before, the holders of other more senior tranches of debt instruments with respect to such issuer.

*Mezzanine Loans.* Although not secured by the underlying real estate, mezzanine loans are also subject to risk of subordination and share certain characteristics of subordinate loan interests described above. As with commercial mortgage loans, repayment of a mezzanine loan is dependent on the successful operation of the underlying commercial properties and, therefore, is subject to similar considerations and risks, including certain of the considerations and risks described herein. Mezzanine loans may also be affected by the successful operation of other properties, the interests in which are not pledged to secure the mezzanine loan. Mezzanine loans are not secured by interests in the underlying commercial properties. In addition, a mezzanine lender typically has additional rights vis-à-vis the more senior lenders, including the right to cure defaults under the mortgage loan and any senior mezzanine loan and purchase the mortgage loan.

*B-Notes and A/B Structures.* The Master Fund invests in B-notes, which investments are subordinate to the A-note portion of the same loan (which the Master Fund would not expect to hold). In addition to the risks described above in "Subordination," certain additional risks apply to B-note investments, including those described herein. The B-note portion of a loan is typically small relative to the overall loan, and is in the first loss position. As a means to protect against the holder of the A-note from taking certain actions or, receiving certain benefits to the detriment of the holder of the B-note, the holder of the B-note often (but not always) has the right to purchase the A-note from its holder. If available, this right may not be meaningful to the Master Fund. For example, the Master Fund may not have the capital available to protect its B-note interest or purchasing the A-note may alter the Master Fund's overall portfolio and risk/return profile to the detriment of shareholders. In addition, a B-note may be in the form of a "rake bond." A "rake bond" is a CMBS backed solely by a single promissory note secured by a mortgaged property, which promissory note is subordinate in right of payment to one or more separate promissory notes secured by the same mortgaged property.

**Below Investment Grade Securities Risk.** The Master Fund's investments rated below investment grade or unrated are commonly referred to as "high yield" bonds and involve substantial risk of loss. High yield bonds are

predominantly speculative in nature, with the issuer's capacity to pay interest and repay principal when due uncertain, and therefore involve a greater risk of default. High yield bonds often display increased price sensitivity to changing interest rates and to a deteriorating economic environment, and the market values for high yield bonds tends to be more volatile and less liquid than investment grade debt securities.

*Preferred Equity.* While the Master Fund invests primarily in real estate-related debt investments, it also may invest, from time to time, in preferred equity investments. Preferred equity investments are subordinate to any indebtedness, but senior to the owners' common equity. Preferred equity investments typically pay a dividend, rather than interest payments and often have the right for such dividends to accrue if there is insufficient cash flow to pay currently. These interests are not secured by the underlying real estate, but upon the occurrence of a default, the preferred equity provider typically has the right to effectuate a change of control with respect to the ownership of the property. See "Non-Controlling Equity Investments; Investments and Joint Ventures with Third Parties."

*Corporate Debt Securities.* Loans, bonds and other debt obligations of varying maturities issued by U.S. and foreign corporations and other business entities may include loans, corporate bonds, debentures, notes and other similar corporate debt instruments, including convertible securities. Bonds are fixed or variable rate debt obligations, including bills, notes, debentures, money market instruments and similar instruments and securities. Corporate debt is generally used by corporations and other issuers to borrow money from investors. The issuer pays the investor a rate of interest and normally must repay the amount borrowed on or before maturity. The rate of interest on a corporate debt security may be fixed, floating or variable, and may vary inversely with respect to a reference rate. The rate of return or return of principal on some debt obligations may be linked or indexed to the level of exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and a foreign currency or currencies. Debt securities may be acquired with warrants attached. Certain bonds are "perpetual" in that they have no maturity date.

The Master Fund's investments in real estate-related corporate debt securities are subject to a number of risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk, high yield risk, issuer risk, foreign (non-U.S.) investment risk, inflation/ deflation risk, liquidity risk, smaller company risk and management risk.

*Term Loans.* The Master Fund invests in term loans to companies in the real estate business. Term loans are secured and may carry variable or fixed interest rates, and monthly or quarterly repayment schedules and include a set maturity date. Lenders of term loans may either hold a senior or subordinated position in payment or lien priority. Term loans may not be secured by real estate. Term loans are subject to risk of default, interest rate risk, prepayment risk, below investment grade risk and lender liability risk. See "Investment Objectives and Techniques—Bank Loans, Assignments and Participations" in the SAI.

U.S. Government Securities. U.S. Government securities are obligations of and, in certain cases, guaranteed by, the U.S. Government, its agencies or instrumentalities. Some U.S. Government securities, such as Treasury bills, notes, and bonds and mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Ginnie Mae, are supported by the full faith and credit of the United States; others are supported by the right of the issuer to borrow from the U.S. Treasury; others are supported by the discretionary authority of the U.S. Government to purchase the agency's obligations; still others are supported only by the credit of the issuing agency, instrumentality, or enterprise. Although U.S. GSEs, such as the Federal Home Loan Banks, Freddie Mac, Fannie Mae and the Student Loan Marketing Association may be chartered or sponsored by Congress, they are not funded by Congressional appropriations, and their securities are not issued by the U.S. Treasury or supported by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government and involve increased credit risks. Although legislation has been enacted to support certain GSEs, including the Federal Home Loan Banks, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, there is no assurance that GSE obligations will be satisfied in full, or that such obligations will not decrease in value or default. It is difficult, if not impossible, to predict the future political, regulatory or economic changes that could impact the GSEs and the values of their related securities or obligations. In addition, certain governmental entities have been subject to regulatory scrutiny regarding their accounting policies and practices and other concerns that may result in legislation, changes in regulatory oversight and/or other consequences that could adversely affect the credit quality, availability or investment character of securities issued or guaranteed by these entities.

U.S. Government securities include securities that have no coupons, or have been stripped of their unmatured interest coupons, individual interest coupons from such securities that trade separately, and evidences of receipt of such securities. Such securities may pay no cash income, and are purchased at a deep discount from their value at maturity. Custodial receipts issued in connection with so-called trademark zero-coupon securities, such as Certificates of Accrual on Treasury Securities, are not issued by the U.S. Treasury, and are therefore not U.S. Government securities, although the underlying bond represented by such receipt is a debt obligation of the U.S. Treasury.

While some U.S. Government securities are guaranteed as to principal and interest, their market value is not guaranteed. U.S. Government securities are subject to the same interest rate and credit risks as are other debt securities. The U.S. Government does not guarantee the NAV or market value of the Master Fund's common shares. The U.S. Government's ability to borrow money or otherwise finance its obligations, including as a result of legislatively-imposed limits on the amount of money it may borrow, could cause the values of U.S. Government securities, including those of the U.S. Government's agencies and instrumentalities and other government-sponsored enterprises, to decline.

*Investments in Publicly Traded Securities.* To the extent the Master Fund invests in securities that are publicly traded, such investments are subject to the risks inherent in investing in public securities. Investments in public securities do not typically entail financial covenants or other contractual rights, including management rights, which may otherwise be available in privately negotiated investments. Moreover, the Master Fund may not have the same access to information in connection with investments in public securities, either when investigating a potential investment or after making an investment, as compared to privately negotiated investments.

**REIT-Related Risk.** As part of its investments in real estate-related debt investments, the Master Fund also invests in REITs from time to time. REITs possess certain risks which differ from an investment in companies that are not REITs. REITs are financial vehicles that pool investors' capital to acquire, develop and/or finance real estate and provide services to their tenants and that have elected to be taxed as REITs under the Code. REITs may concentrate their investments in specific geographic areas or in specific property types; *e.g.*, regional malls, shopping centers, office buildings, apartment buildings and industrial warehouses. REITs may also invest in real estate-related debt (*i.e.*, mortgage REITs and hybrid REITs).

REITs (including mortgage REITs) may be subject to management fees and other expenses, and so when the Master Fund invests in REITs it will bear its proportionate share of the costs of the REITs' operations. Investing in REITs involves certain unique risks in addition to those risks associated with investing in the real estate industry in general. The market value of REIT shares and the ability of the REIT to distribute income may be adversely affected by several factors, including rising interest rates, changes in the national, state and local economic climate and real estate conditions, perceptions of prospective tenants of the safety, convenience and attractiveness of the properties, the ability of the owners to provide adequate management, maintenance and insurance, the cost of complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act, increased competition from new properties, the impact of present or future environmental legislation and compliance with environmental laws, failing to maintain their exemptions from registration under the 1940 Act, changes in real estate taxes and other operating expenses, adverse changes in governmental rules and fiscal policies, adverse changes in zoning laws and other factors beyond the control of the issuers. In addition, distributions received by the Master Fund from REITs may consist of dividends, capital gains and/or return of capital. Generally, dividends received by the Master Fund from REIT shares and distributed to the Master Fund's shareholders will not constitute "qualified dividend income" eligible for the reduced tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income; therefore, the tax rate applicable to that portion of the dividend income attributable to REIT shares held by the Master Fund that shareholders of the Master Fund receive will be taxed at a higher rate than dividends eligible for the reduced tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income.

REITs (especially mortgage REITs) are also subject to interest rate risk. Rising interest rates may cause REIT investors to demand a higher annual yield, which may, in turn, cause a decline in the market price of the equity securities issued by a REIT. Rising interest rates also generally increase the costs of obtaining financing, which could cause the value of the Master Fund's REIT investments to decline. During periods when interest rates are

declining, mortgages are often refinanced. Refinancing may reduce the yield on investments in mortgage REITs. In addition, since REITs depend on payment under their mortgage loans and leases to generate cash to make distributions to their shareholders, investments in REITs may be adversely affected by defaults on such mortgage loans or leases. The Master Fund's investments in mortgage REITs are also subject to credit risk. See "Credit Risk" below.

To the extent the Master Fund invests in REITs with small market capitalizations, such REITs may have limited financial resources and their securities may trade less frequently and in limited volume and may be subject to more abrupt or erratic price movements than larger company securities. Historically, small capitalization stocks have been more volatile in price than the larger capitalization stocks such as those included in the S&P 500 Index. The management of a REIT may be subject to conflicts of interest with respect to the operation of the business of the REIT and may be involved in real estate activities competitive with the REIT. REITs may own properties through joint ventures or in other circumstances in which the REIT may not have control over its investments. REITs may incur significant amounts of leverage.

Non-U.S. Investments; Non-OECD Investments. Although the Master Fund seeks to make real estate-related debt investments on a global basis, it invests primarily in the United States. Non-U.S. and non-Organization for Economic Co-Operation and Development ("OECD") member state real estate-related investments involve certain factors not typically associated with investing in real estate-related investments in the United States, including risks relating to (i) currency exchange matters, including fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and the various non-U.S. currencies in which the Master Fund's non-U.S. investments are denominated, and costs associated with conversion of investment principal and income from one currency into another; (ii) differences in conventions relating to documentation, settlement, corporate actions, stakeholder rights and other matters; (iii) differences between U.S. and non-U.S. securities and real estate markets, including potential price volatility in and relative illiquidity of some non-U.S. securities markets; (iv) the absence of uniform accounting, auditing and financial reporting standards, practices and disclosure requirements and differences in government supervision and regulation; (v) certain economic, social and political risks, including potential exchange-control regulations, potential restrictions on non-U.S. investment and repatriation of capital, the risks associated with political, economic or social instability, including the risk of sovereign defaults, regulatory change, and the possibility of expropriation or confiscatory taxation or the imposition of withholding or other taxes on dividends, interest, capital gains, other income or gross sale or disposition proceeds and adverse economic and political developments; (vi) the possible imposition of non-U.S. taxes on income and gains and gross sales or other proceeds recognized with respect to such investments; (vii) differing and potentially less well-developed or well-tested corporate laws regarding stakeholder rights, creditors' rights, (including the rights of secured parties), duties and the protection of investors; (viii) differences in the legal and regulatory environment or enhanced legal and regulatory compliance; (ix) political hostility to investments by foreign or private equity investors; and (x) less publicly available information.

In addition, the Master Fund invests from time to time in investments located in member states of the European Union ("EU"), including investments made in Spain (EU). In light of the continued and ongoing uncertainty in European debt markets as a result of past sovereign debt crises affecting some of the members of the EU and the unique political risks associated therewith, such investments may be subject to heightened risks or risks not associated with the foregoing. A number of countries in the EU have experienced, and may continue to experience, severe economic and financial difficulties. Additional EU member countries may also fall subject to such difficulties. These events could negatively affect the value and liquidity of the Master Fund's investments in euro-denominated securities and derivatives contracts and securities of issuers located in the EU or with significant exposure to EU issuers or countries.

Furthermore, issuers located in non-U.S. jurisdictions may be involved in restructurings, bankruptcy proceedings and/or reorganizations that are not subject to laws and regulations that are similar to the U.S. Bankruptcy Code and the rights of creditors afforded in U.S. jurisdictions. To the extent such non-U.S. laws and regulations do not provide the Master Fund with equivalent rights and privileges necessary to promote and protect its interest in any such proceeding, the Master Fund's investments in any such issuer may be adversely affected. Additionally, certain countries in which the Master Fund may invest (such as emerging market countries) have in the past, and

may in the future, experience political and social instability that could adversely affect the Master Fund's investments in such countries. Such instability could result from, among other things, popular unrest associated with demands for improved political, economic and social conditions and popular unrest in opposition to government policies that facilitate direct foreign investment. Governments of certain of these countries have exercised and continue to exercise substantial influence over many aspects of the private sector. The Master Fund generally does not intend to obtain political risk insurance. While the Investment Manager, where deemed appropriate, manages the Master Fund in a manner that minimizes exposure to the foregoing risks (although the Master Fund does not in the ordinary course expect to hedge currency risks), there can be no assurance that adverse developments with respect to such risks will not adversely affect the value or realization of the Master Fund's non-U.S. investments.

The effectiveness of the judicial systems in countries in which the Master Fund invests varies; consequently, the Master Fund may find it difficult to effectively protect its interests or pursue claims in the courts of countries with less developed legal systems or commercial markets, as compared to the United States or other developed countries. The lack of sophistication and consistency with respect to foreclosure, bankruptcy, corporate reorganization or creditors' rights in certain countries in which the Master Fund invests, as compared with the United States, may adversely impact the Master Fund's ability to achieve its investment objectives.

*UK Exit from the European Union.* The UK formally left the European Union ("EU") on January 31, 2020 (commonly known as "Brexit"). The UK -EU trade relationship is currently subject to a transition period, which will expire on December 31, 2020. During this period, the UK will remain in the EU customs union and single market, and EU law will continue to apply to the UK, as the future UK -EU trade relationship is negotiated. If the two governments fail to approve a new trade agreement by the end of the transition period, the trading relationship between the UK and the EU will be based on World Trade Organization rules (a "hard Brexit") effective January 1, 2021.

Since the June 2016 referendum in the UK, global financial markets have experienced significant volatility due to the uncertainty around Brexit. There will likely continue to be considerable uncertainty as to the UK's post-withdrawal and post-transition framework, in particular as to the arrangements which will apply to its relationships with the EU and with other countries. This process and/or the uncertainty associated with it may adversely affect the return on investments economically tied to the UK (and consequently the Master Fund). This may be due to, among other things: (i) increased uncertainty and volatility in UK, EU and other financial markets; (ii) fluctuations in asset values; (iii) fluctuations in exchange rates; (iv) increased illiquidity of investments located, listed or traded within the UK, the EU or elsewhere; (v) changes in the willingness or ability of financial and other counterparties to enter into transactions, or the price at which and terms on which they are prepared to transact; and/or (vi) changes in legal and regulatory regimes to which the Master Fund's investments are or become subject.

*Active Trading.* The trading activities conducted by the Investment Manager on behalf of the Master Fund involve certain short-term market considerations. Accordingly, the turnover rates of certain portions of the Master Fund's portfolio may be substantial and involve correspondingly high transactional costs.

Access to Non-Public Information Risk. As a result of the Investment Manager's relationship with Blackstone, the Investment Manager may come into possession of material non-public information with respect to issuers in which Blackstone has, or may be considering making, an investment. As a result, the Investment Manager may be precluded from trading in the securities of those issuers, including those securities held by the Master Fund. This may result in the Master Fund retaining securities that the Investment Manager would otherwise sell on its behalf. It is also possible that the Master Fund will be restricted from trading in certain securities even when the Investment Manager has not received material non-public information. The Investment Manager and Blackstone have established "information wall" policies and procedures designed to limit the sharing of such information and, where the information is shared, to avoid any transactions while in possession of that information except to the extent consistent with applicable law. However, there can be no assurance that a violation of such policies and procedures will not occur and, in the event any unlawful trading was to occur, the Master Fund, the Fund, the Investment Manager, and their affiliates could be exposed to liability under the U.S. federal securities laws and

the securities laws of other jurisdictions. The funds within the Blackstone real estate group and the Investment Manager are considered to be on the same side of the information wall; therefore, if such funds are restricted from trading securities of an issuer, the Master Fund may be similarly restricted.

Non-Controlling Equity Investments; Investments and Joint Ventures with Third Parties. With respect to the Master Fund's non-controlling equity investments, the Master Fund may have a limited ability to protect its position in such investments. Subject to certain limitations, including those imposed by the 1940 Act, the Master Fund may also co-invest with third parties (or affiliated managers of other persons) with respect to specific investments or categories of investments through partnerships, joint ventures or other entities, thereby acquiring jointly-controlled or non-controlling interests in certain investments in conjunction with participation by one or more third parties in such investment ("JV Arrangements"). Although the Master Fund may not have full control over these investments and may therefore have a limited ability to protect its position therein, the Investment Manager expects that appropriate rights will be negotiated to protect the Master Fund's interests. Nevertheless, such JV Arrangements may involve risks not present in investments where a third party is not involved, including the possibility that a third-party partner or co-venturer may have financial difficulties, resulting in a negative impact on such investment, may have economic or business interests or goals which are inconsistent with those of the Master Fund, or may be in a position to take (or block) action in a manner contrary to the Master Fund's investment objective or the increased possibility of default by, diminished liquidity or insolvency of, the third party, due to a sustained or general economic downturn. Furthermore, such third party partners or co-ventures to JV Arrangements may provide services (such as asset management oversight services) similar to, and overlapping with, services provided by the Investment Manager, Other Blackstone Vehicles or their respective portfolio companies/entities, and, notwithstanding the foregoing, fees attributable to such services will not offset Management Fees.

*Illiquid Portfolio Risk.* In addition to the general lack of liquidity of the shares of the Master Fund, the liquidity of the Master Fund's investments will generally fluctuate with, among other things, general market conditions, domestic and international political events, and developments or trends in a particular industry. The credit markets, including the CMBS market, have periodically experienced decreased liquidity on the primary and secondary markets during periods of market volatility. Such market conditions could re-occur and would impact the valuations of the Master Fund's investments and impair the Investment Manager's ability to sell securities. In addition, certain of the types of debt instruments in which the Master Fund invests in (*e.g.*, mortgages, B-notes, mezzanine and other loans) are often illiquid and involve greater difficulty of recovery in the event of a default by the borrower. Moreover, certain of the Master Fund's investments, including non-public investments such as those purchased pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act, may become more illiquid after the initial acquisition for a variety of reasons, including general market conditions. In addition, in some cases the Master Fund is not able to sell its securities publicly unless their sale is registered under applicable securities laws (or unless an exemption from such registration requirements is available) and in other cases the Master Fund may be prohibited by contract or legal or regulatory reasons or Blackstone policies or procedures from selling certain securities for a period of time.

**Refinancing Risk.** To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Master Fund may from time to time seek to participate in investments relating to refinancings of securities held by Other Blackstone Vehicles. While it is expected that the participation of the Master Fund in connection with such transactions will be at arms' length and on market/contract terms, such transactions may involve the partial or complete payoff of such securities (with the related proceeds being received by the applicable Other Blackstone Vehicles) and/or otherwise result in restructuring of terms and pricing relating to such existing securities with the borrowers thereof in respect of which such Other Blackstone Vehicle may receive refinancing proceeds and/or a retained interest in such securities in accordance with such restructuring arrangements, which will generally give rise to potential or actual conflicts of interest, which could adversely impact the Master Fund. See "Conflicts of Interest" below.

*Uncertainty of Financial Projections; Projected Results.* The Investment Manager may determine the suitability of investments based in part on the basis of financial projections for issuers underlying the Master Fund's investments. Projections, forecasts and estimates are forward-looking statements and are based upon certain assumptions. In all cases, projections are only estimates of future results that are based upon assumptions made at
the time that the projections are developed. There can be no assurance that the projected results will be obtained, and actual results may vary significantly from the projections. General economic conditions, which are not predictable, can have a material adverse impact on the reliability of such projections.

**Bridge Financing Risk.** The Master Fund may invest in bridge loans as part of its investment strategy. The Master Fund bears the risk of any changes in financing markets, which may adversely affect the ability of a borrower to refinance any bridge financings. If the borrower were unable to complete a refinancing, then the Master Fund could be left holding an unexpected long-term investment in a junior security or that junior security might be converted to equity. The Master Fund may make an investment with the intent of financing or otherwise reducing the Master Fund's investment shortly after the closing of such investment. There can be no assurance that other transactions designed to reduce or leverage the Master Fund's investment, or that terms of such financings will be attractive when closed. If the Master Fund is unable to complete such an anticipated transaction, its investments will be less diversified than intended. In addition, bridge financings may be secured by properties that are in transition or under "lease up." There is a risk that completion of such transition or "lease up" of such properties will not occur. In that event, the Master Fund may be required to take possession of the property.

*Credit Risk.* The Master Fund could lose money if the borrower, issuer, or guarantor of a loan underlying a CMBS, loan or other investment, or the counterparty to a derivatives contract, repurchase agreement or a loan of portfolio securities, is unable or unwilling to make timely principal and/or interest payments, or to otherwise honor its obligations. Securities are subject to varying degrees of credit risk, which are often reflected in credit ratings. These risks are heightened with respect to issuers of high yield bonds.

Foreclosure Risk. The Investment Manager may find it necessary or desirable to foreclose on certain of the loans or CMBS the Master Fund acquires, and the foreclosure process may be lengthy and expensive. The protection of the terms of the applicable loan, including the validity or enforceability of the loan and the maintenance of the anticipated priority and perfection of the applicable security interests may not be adequate. Furthermore, claims may be asserted by lenders or borrowers that might interfere with enforcement of the Master Fund's rights. Borrowers may resist foreclosure actions by asserting numerous claims, counterclaims and defenses against us, including, without limitation, lender liability claims and defenses, even when the assertions may have no basis in fact, in an effort to prolong the foreclosure action and seek to force the lender into a modification of the loan or a favorable buy-out of the borrower's position in the loan. In some states, foreclosure actions can take several years or more to litigate. At any time prior to or during the foreclosure proceedings, the borrower may file for bankruptcy or its equivalent, which would have the effect of staying the foreclosure actions and further delaying the foreclosure process and potentially result in a reduction or discharge of a borrower's debt. Foreclosure may create a negative public perception of the related property, resulting in a diminution of its value, and in the event of any such foreclosure or other similar real estate owned-proceeding, the Master Fund would also become the subject to the various risks associated with direct ownership of real estate, including environmental liabilities. Even if the Master Fund is successful in foreclosing on a loan, the liquidation proceeds upon sale of the underlying real estate may not be sufficient to recover our cost basis in the loan, resulting in a loss to us. Furthermore, any costs or delays involved in the foreclosure of the loan or a liquidation of the underlying property will further reduce the net proceeds and, thus, increase the loss.

*Interest Rate Fluctuation Risk.* The Master Fund's investments include loans with both floating interest rates and fixed interest rates. Floating-rate investments earn interest at rates that adjust from time to time (typically monthly) based upon an index (typically one-month LIBOR). These floating-rate loans are insulated from changes in value specifically due to changes in interest rates; however, the coupons they earn fluctuate based upon interest rates (again, typically one-month LIBOR) and, in a declining and/or low interest rate environment, these loans will earn lower rates of interest and this will impact our operating performance. Fixed interest rate investments, however, do not have adjusting interest rates rates and the relative value of the fixed cash flows from these investments will decrease as prevailing interest rates rise or increase as prevailing interest rates fall, causing potentially significant changes in value. The Investment Manager employs various hedging strategies to limit the effects of changes in interest rate (and in some cases credit spreads), including engaging in interest rate swaps, caps, floors and other interest rate derivative products. The Investment Manager believes that no strategy can

completely insulate the Master Fund from the risks associated with interest rate changes and there is a risk that they may provide no protection at all and potentially compound the impact of changes in interest rates. See "—Risks Associated with Hedging" above.

*Lender Liability Risk.* In recent years, a number of judicial decisions have upheld the right of borrowers to sue lending institutions on the basis of various evolving legal theories, collectively termed "lender liability." Generally, lender liability is founded on the premise that a lender has either violated a duty, whether implied or contractual, of good faith and fair dealing owed to the borrower or has assumed a degree of control over the borrower resulting in the creation of a fiduciary duty owed to the borrower or its other creditors or stockholders. The Investment Manager cannot assure prospective shareholders that such claims will not arise or that the Master Fund will not be subject to significant liability if a claim of this type did arise.

*Pricing Risk; Real Estate Valuation Risk.* Price quotations of the Master Fund's securities are generally provided by third-party pricing services and/or broker-dealers. When reliable price quotations for securities are available from multiple sources, the Investment Manager will use commercially reasonable efforts to use two or more quotations and will value such securities based on the average of the quotations obtained. The Investment Manager is ultimately responsible for the valuation of securities. There can be no assurance that the Investment Manager will be able to obtain such price quotations or sell the securities at the same price as the valuations. If third-party pricing services or broker-dealers do not provide quotations on an investment or, in limited circumstances, if the Investment Manager determines in good faith that such quotations are not reliable, the Master Fund may value these investments using more subjective methods, such as fair value pricing. In such cases, the valuation of real estate generally, and of the collateral underlying the loans in which the Master Funds invests in particular, is inherently subjective due to, among other things, the individual nature of each property, its location, the expected future cash flows from that particular property and the valuation methodology adopted. There can be no assurance that any such valuations obtained will accurately reflect the value of such underlying collateral.

In addition, secondary markets may be subject to irregular trading activity, wide bid/ask spreads and extended trade settlement periods, which may prevent the Master Fund from being able to realize full value and thus sell a security for its full valuation. This could cause a material decline in the Master Fund's NAV.

*Excise Tax Risk.* A RIC that fails to distribute, by the close of each calendar year, an amount at least equal to the sum of 98% of its ordinary income for such calendar year and 98.2% of its capital gain net income for the one-year period ending on October 31 of such calendar year, plus any shortfalls from any prior year's required distribution, is liable for a 4% excise tax on the portion of the undistributed amounts of such income that are less than the required distributions. There can be no assurance of the Fund's excise tax liability. See "Tax Considerations" in this Prospectus and "Taxes" in the accompanying SAI.

*Derivatives Risks.* The Master Fund enters into derivatives transactions which may include, without limitation, total return swaps, credit default swaps, credit default swap indices (including mortgage-backed securities indices), interest rate swaps and other swap agreements, foreign currency exchange contracts, options contracts, futures contracts, options on futures contracts and forward contracts for investment, hedging or leverage purposes. The credit default swap indices in which the Master Fund may invest include the CMBX Index (a tradeable index referencing a basket of CMBS), the TRX Index (a tradeable index referencing total return swaps based on CMBS) or the ABX Index (a tradeable index referencing a basket of protection is obligated to make ongoing payments to the seller of protection and in return the seller of protection is obligated to make a payment to the buyer of protection on a swap if a credit event occurs on one of the securities in the index. The size of the credit event payment is equal to what would have been paid on a single name credit default swap with respect to such security scaled down by that security's weighting in the credit default swap index. The Master Fund's use of derivative instruments may be speculative and involves investment risks and transaction costs to which the Master Fund would not be subject absent the use of these instruments, and the use of derivatives generally involves leverage in the sense that the investment exposure created by the derivatives may be significantly greater than the Master Fund's initial investment in the

derivatives. Thus, the use of derivatives may result in losses in excess of principal or greater than if they had not been used. The ability to successfully use derivative instruments depends on the ability of the Investment Manager. The skills needed to employ derivatives strategies are different from those needed to select portfolio security and, in connection with such strategies, the Investment Manager must make predictions with respect to market conditions, liquidity, currency movements, market values, interest rates and other applicable factors, which may be inaccurate. The use of derivative instruments may require the Master Fund to sell or purchase portfolio securities at inopportune times or for prices below or above the current market values, may limit the amount of appreciation the Master Fund can realize on an investment or may cause the Master Fund to hold a security that it might otherwise want to sell. The Master Fund may also have to defer closing out certain derivative positions to avoid adverse tax consequences and there may be situations in which derivative instruments are not elected that result in losses greater than if such instruments had been used. Amounts paid by the Master Fund as premiums and cash or other assets held in margin accounts with respect to the Master Fund's derivative instruments would not be available to the Master Fund for other investment purposes, which may result in lost opportunities for gain. Changes to the derivatives markets as a result of the Dodd-Frank Act and other government regulation may also have an adverse effect on the Master Fund's ability to make use of derivative transactions. On November 25, 2019, the SEC re-proposed a rule that would regulate the use of derivatives by registered investment companies. The new derivatives rule, if adopted, may impact the manner in which the Master Fund uses derivatives. In addition, the use of derivatives is subject to other risks, each of which may create additional risk of loss, including liquidity risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and management risk as well as the following risks:

- Correlation Risk. Imperfect correlation between the value of derivative instruments and the underlying assets of the Master Fund creates the possibility that the loss on such instruments may be greater than the gain in the value of the underlying assets in the Master Fund's portfolio.
- Duration Mismatch Risk. The duration of a derivative instrument may be significantly different than the duration of the related liability or asset.
- Valuation Risk. The use of derivative instruments, including swaps, futures, forwards and options, may subject us to significant losses. The value of such derivatives also depends upon the price of the underlying asset, reference rate or index, which may also be subject to volatility. In addition, actual or implied daily limits on price fluctuations and speculative position limits on the exchanges or over-the-counter markets in which we may conduct our transactions in derivative instruments may prevent prompt liquidation of positions, subjecting us to the potential of greater losses. In addition, significant disparities may exist between "bid" and "ask" prices for derivative instruments that are traded over-the-counter and not on an exchange.
- Liquidity Risk. Derivative instruments, especially when purchased in large amounts, may not be liquid in all circumstances, so that in volatile markets we may not be able to close out a position without incurring a loss.
- Counterparty Risk. Derivative instruments also involve exposure to counterparty risk, since contract performance depends in part on the financial condition of the counterparty. See "Counterparty Risk" below.

In addition, the Investment Manager may cause the Master Fund to invest in derivative instruments that are neither presently contemplated nor currently available, but which may be developed in the future, to the extent such opportunities are both consistent with the Master Fund's investment objective and legally permissible. Any such investments may expose the Master Fund to unique and presently indeterminate risks, the impact of which may not be capable of determination until such instruments are developed and/or the Investment Manager determines to make such an investment on behalf of the Master Fund.

*Repurchase Agreements Risk.* Repurchase agreements typically involve the acquisition by the Master Fund of debt securities from a selling financial institution such as a bank, savings and loan association or broker-dealer. The agreement provides that the Master Fund will sell the securities back to the institution at a fixed time in the future. The Master Fund does not bear the risk of a decline in the value of the underlying security unless the seller defaults under its repurchase obligation. In the event of the bankruptcy or other default of a seller of a

repurchase agreement, the Master Fund could experience both delays in liquidating the underlying securities and losses, including: (i) possible decline in the value of the underlying security during the period in which the Master Fund seeks to enforce its rights thereto; (ii) possible lack of access to income on the underlying security during this period; and (iii) expenses of enforcing its rights. In addition, the value of the collateral underlying the repurchase agreement will be at least equal to the repurchase price, including any accrued interest earned on the repurchase agreement. In the event of a default or bankruptcy by a selling financial institution, the Master Fund generally will seek to liquidate such collateral. However, the exercise of the Master Fund's right to liquidate such collateral could involve certain costs or delays and, to the extent that proceeds from any sale upon a default of the obligation to repurchase were less than the repurchase price, the Master Fund could suffer a loss.

**Reverse Repurchase Agreements Risk.** The Master Fund uses reverse repurchase agreements as a form of leverage, as the proceeds from reverse repurchase agreements generally will be invested in additional securities. There is a risk that the market value of the securities acquired from the proceeds received in connection with a reverse repurchase agreement may decline below the price of the securities underlying the reverse repurchase agreement that the Master Fund has sold but remains obligated to repurchase. Reverse repurchase agreements also involve the risk that the counterparty liquidates the securities delivered to it by the Master Fund under the reverse repurchase agreements following the occurrence of an event of default under the applicable MRA by the Master Fund. The buyer or lender of securities under a reverse repurchase agreement has broad discretion in determining the value of the repurchased securities. In addition, the market value of the securities subject to the repurchase agreement will decline from time to time. If the buyer of securities under a reverse repurchase agreement were to file for bankruptcy or experiences insolvency, the Master Fund may be adversely affected. Furthermore, the Master Fund's counterparties will, from time to time and based on the value determined by the lender, require the Master Fund to pledge additional collateral in the form of cash, securities or other forms of collateral under the terms of the MRA. The Master Fund does get margin called, and gets margin called more frequently during periods of market volatility, such as the events resulting from the outbreak of COVID-19. If the Master Fund is unable to provide such margin, the counterparties may sell the securities the Master Fund delivered as such sales may be at inopportune times or otherwise result in loss to the Master Fund. See "Contingent Liabilities Risk" below. Also, in entering into reverse repurchase agreements, the Master Fund would bear the risk of loss to the extent that the proceeds of the reverse repurchase agreement are less than the value of the underlying securities. In addition, due to the interest costs associated with reverse repurchase agreements transactions, the Master Fund's NAV may decline, and, in some cases, the Master Fund may be worse off than if it had not used such instruments. The use of reverse repurchase agreements also increases the Master Fund's Managed Assets, which in turn increases the management fee payable to the Investment Manager.

Segregation and Coverage Risk. Certain portfolio management techniques, such as, among other things, entering into swap agreements, using reverse repurchase agreements, futures contracts or other derivative transactions, may be considered senior securities under the 1940 Act unless steps are taken to segregate the Master Fund's assets or otherwise cover its obligations. To avoid having these instruments considered senior securities under current SEC guidance, in some cases the Master Fund segregates liquid assets with a value equal (on a daily mark-to-market basis) to its obligations under these types of transactions, enter into offsetting transactions or otherwise cover such transactions. In cases where the Master Fund's use of such transactions will be required to comply with the restrictions on senior securities under the 1940 Act. The Master Fund may be unable to use segregated assets for certain other purposes, which could result in the Master Fund earning a lower return on its portfolio than it might otherwise earn if it did not have to segregate those assets in respect of or otherwise cover such portfolio positions. To the extent the Master Fund's assets are segregated or committed as cover, it could limit the Master Fund's investment flexibility. Segregating assets and covering positions will not limit or offset losses on related positions.

*Counterparty Risk.* The Master Fund is subject to credit risk with respect to the counterparties to its derivatives contracts (whether a clearing corporation in the case of exchange-traded instruments or our hedge counterparty in the case of over-the-counter ("OTC") instruments) purchased by the Master Fund. Counterparty risk is the risk that the other party in a derivative transaction will not fulfill its contractual obligation. Changes in the credit quality of the companies that serve as the Master Fund's counterparties with respect to their derivative

transactions will affect the value of those instruments. By entering into derivatives, the Master Fund assumes the risks that theses counterparties could experience financial or other hardships that could call into question their continued ability to perform their obligations. In the case of a default by the counterparty, the Master Fund could become subject to adverse market movements while replacement transactions are executed. The ability of the Master Fund to transact business with any one or number of counterparties, the possible lack of a meaningful and independent evaluation of such counterparties' financial capabilities, and the absence of a regulated market to facilitate settlement may increase the potential for losses by the Master Fund. Furthermore, concentration of derivatives in any particular counterparty would subject the Master Fund to an additional degree of risk with respect to defaults by such counterparty.

The Investment Manager evaluates and monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties in order to ensure that such counterparties can perform their obligations under the relevant agreements. If a counterparty becomes bankrupt or otherwise fails to perform its obligations under a derivative contract due to financial or other difficulties, the Master Fund may experience significant delays in obtaining any recovery under the derivative contract in a dissolution, assignment for the benefit of creditors, liquidation, winding-up, bankruptcy or other analogous proceedings. In addition, in the event of the insolvency of a counterparty to a derivative transaction, the derivative contract would typically be terminated at its fair market value. If the Master Fund is owed this fair market value upon the termination of the derivative contract and its claim is unsecured, the Master Fund will be treated as a general creditor of such counterparty, and will not have any claim with respect to the underlying assets. The Master Fund may obtain only a limited recovery or may obtain no recovery at all in such circumstances. In addition, regulations that were adopted by prudential regulators in 2019 require certain bankregulated counterparties and certain of their affiliates to include in certain financial contracts, including many derivatives contracts, terms that delay or restrict the rights of counterparties, such as the Master Fund, to terminate such contracts, foreclose upon collateral, exercise other default rights or restrict transfers of credit support in the event that such counterparty and/or its affiliates are subject to certain types of resolution or insolvency proceedings.

Certain categories of interest rate and credit default swaps are subject to mandatory clearing, and more categories may be subject to mandatory clearing in the future. The counterparty risk for cleared derivatives is generally lower than for uncleared OTC derivative transactions because generally a clearing organization becomes substituted for each counterparty to a cleared derivative contract and, in effect, guarantees the parties' performance under the contract as each party to a trade looks only to the clearing house for performance of financial obligations. However, there can be no assurance that a clearing house, or its members, will satisfy the clearing house's obligations (including, but not limited to, financial obligations and legal obligations to segregate margins collected by the clearing house) to the Master Fund. Counterparty risk with respect to certain exchange-traded and over-the-counter derivatives may be further complicated by recently enacted U.S. financial reform legislation. See "Derivatives Legislation and Regulatory Risk" below.

The Master Fund may, but need not, seek to mitigate certain credit risks with respect to the counterparties to its derivatives contracts by entering into a master agreement and a credit support annex with each counterparty in the form published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (each such agreement, an "ISDA Master Agreement"), including through netting provisions contained in the ISDA Master Agreements and by contractually requiring counterparties to post collateral under the ISDA Master Agreements, when practicable.

*Derivatives Legislation and Regulatory Risk.* The enforceability of agreements governing hedging transactions may depend on compliance with applicable statutory and other regulatory requirements and, depending on the identity of the counterparty, applicable international requirements. New or amended regulations may be imposed by the CFTC, the SEC, the Federal Reserve, the EU or other financial regulators, other governmental or intergovernmental regulatory authorities or self-regulatory organizations that supervise the financial markets, and could adversely affect the Master Fund. In particular, these agencies are empowered to promulgate a variety of new rules pursuant to recently enacted financial reform legislation in the United States. The Master Fund also may be adversely affected by changes in the enforcement or interpretation of statues and rules by these regulatory authorities or self-regulatory.

In addition, the securities and futures markets are subject to comprehensive statutes and regulations. For instance, the Dodd-Frank Act could have an adverse effect on the Master Fund's ability to use derivative instruments. The Dodd-Frank Act is designed to impose stringent regulation on the over-the-counter derivatives market in an attempt to increase transparency and accountability and provides for, among other things, new clearing, execution, margin, reporting, recordkeeping, business conduct, documentation, disclosure, position limit, minimum net capital and registration requirements. Although the CFTC has released final rules relating to clearing, margin, execution, reporting, risk management, compliance, position limit, anti-fraud, consumer protection, portfolio reconciliation, documentation, recordkeeping, business conduct, margin requirements and registration requirements under the Dodd-Frank Act, many of the provisions are subject to further final rulemaking, and thus the Dodd-Frank Act's ultimate impact remains unclear.

New regulations could, among other things, restrict the Master Fund's ability to engage in derivatives transactions (for example, by making certain types of derivatives transactions no longer available to the Master Fund), increase the costs of using these instruments (for example, by imposing or increasing margin, capital or reporting requirements) and/or make them less effective. In particular, new margin requirements and capital charges, even when not directly applicable to the Master Fund, may increase the pricing of derivatives transacted by the Master Fund. New exchange trading and trade reporting requirements and position limits may lead to changes in the liquidity of derivative transactions, or higher pricing or reduced liquidity in the derivatives markets, or the reduction of arbitrage opportunities for the Master Fund. Limits or restrictions applicable to the Master Fund's engages in derivative transactions could also limit the ability of the Master Fund from using these instruments, affect the pricing or other factors relating to these instruments or may change the availability of certain investments. As a result, these changes could make it difficult for the Master Fund to execute its investment strategy.

It is unclear how the regulatory changes will affect counterparty risk. For instance, in December 2012, the CFTC issued a final rule requiring certain credit default swaps and interest rate swaps denominated in certain currencies to be centrally cleared, which is applicable to all swap counterparties not eligible for certain narrowly-defined exemption or exceptions. In September 2016, the CFTC further expanded the categories of interest rate swaps subject to mandatory clearing. Where the Master Fund enters into certain swaps subject to mandatory clearing, it may be required to execute such swaps on a registered designated contract market or swap execution facility ("SEF"). Such clearing requirements may affect the Master Fund's ability to negotiate individualized terms and/ or may increase the costs of entering into such derivative transactions (for example, by increasing margin or capital requirements). Clearing mandates with respect to other types of derivative instruments have not yet been issued by the applicable regulators, but could have additional impact on the Master Fund's ability to use such instruments as part of its investment strategy. In addition, certain foreign jurisdictions may also impose clearing requirements that could apply to the Master Fund's transactions with non-U.S. entities. For entities designated by the CFTC or the SEC as "swap dealers," "security-based swaps dealers," "major swap participants" or "major security-based swap participants," the Dodd-Frank Act imposes new regulatory, reporting and compliance requirements. On May 23, 2012, a joint final rulemaking by the CFTC and the SEC defining these key terms was published in the Federal Register. Based on those definitions, the Master Fund would not be a swap dealer, security-based swap dealer, major swap participant or security-based major swap participant at this time. If the Master Fund must register as a swap dealer, security-based swap dealer, major swap participant or major security-based swap participant as a result of future rulemaking, its business will be subject to increased regulatory requirements, including registration requirements, additional recordkeeping and reporting obligations, external and internal business conduct standards, position limits monitoring and capital and margin thresholds, which will in turn increase the Master Fund's compliance cost.

The SEC has also indicated that it may adopt new policies on the use of derivatives by registered investment companies. Such policies could affect the nature and extent of derivatives use by the Master Fund. On August 31, 2011, the SEC issued a concept release to seek public comment on a wide range of issues raised by the use of derivatives by investment companies. Then, on December 11, 2015, the SEC proposed new rules to govern the use of derivatives by registered investment companies and business development companies ("registered funds"). Under the proposed new rules, (i) a registered fund's exposure under derivatives transactions and other "financial commitment transactions" (including reverse repurchase agreements, short sale borrowings and firm and standby

commitment transactions and similar agreements) would be limited to (x) 150% of the registered fund's net assets (the "exposure-based portfolio limit") or (y) 300% of the registered fund's net assets, but only if its derivatives transactions, in the aggregate, reduce the total "value at risk" of the fund's portfolio (the "risk-based portfolio limit"); (ii) a registered fund would need to segregate certain qualifying assets equal to the sum of (a) the amount the fund would need to pay to close out its derivatives at the given time of the determination (a "mark-to-market coverage amount") and (b) a reasonable estimate of the potential amount the fund would pay if the fund exited the derivatives under stressed conditions (a "risk-based coverage amount"); (iii) a registered fund that engages in financial commitment transactions (such as unfunded commitments) would need to segregate assets equal to 100% of its payment or delivery obligations under these transactions, whether conditional or unconditional; (iv) a registered fund whose derivatives use is not limited under a portfolio limitation to an aggregate exposure of 50% or less of the value of its net assets or that uses complex derivatives must enact a formalized derivatives risk-management program that contains specified components, and the program would need to be approved by the fund's board and be administered by a board-approved derivatives risk manager; and (v) and a registered fund would have to file with the SEC two reporting forms, Forms N-PORT and N-CEN, which as amended by the proposed rule, would require registered funds to provide information about their derivatives risk management program, additional risk metrics related to derivatives use, and disclosure about which of the portfolio limitations under the proposed rule (as described in (i)) the fund is relying upon. The SEC sought public comments on numerous aspects of the proposed rule and as a result the nature of any final regulations is uncertain at this time. It is possible that such regulations, if adopted, could increase the cost of and limit the implementation of the Master Fund's use of derivatives, which could have an adverse impact on the Master Fund. The Investment Manager intends to monitor developments and seek to manage the Master Fund's portfolio in a manner consistent with achieving the Master Fund's investment objective, but there can be no assurance that the Investment Manager will be successful in doing so.

Furthermore, on December 15, 2015, the CFTC approved a final rule, which was implemented on March 1, 2017 (subject to a time-limited no action relief until September 1, 2017), governing margin requirements for uncleared swaps entered into by registered swap dealers and major swap participants who are not supervised by the prudential regulators, referred to as "covered swap entities." The final rule generally requires covered swap entities, subject to certain thresholds and exemptions, to collect and post margin in respect of uncleared swap transactions with other covered swap entities and financial end-users. In particular, the final rule requires covered swap entities and financial end-users having "material swaps exposure," defined as an average aggregate daily notional amount of uncleared swaps exceeding \$8 billion as calculated from June, July and August of the previous calendar year, to collect and/or post (as applicable) a minimum amount of "initial margin" in respect of each uncleared swap, subject to a phase-in schedule until September 1, 2020. In addition, the final rule requires covered swap entities entering into uncleared swaps with other covered swap entities or financial-end-users, regardless of swaps exposure, to post and/or collect (as applicable) "variation margin" in reflection of changes in the mark-to-market value of an uncleared swap since the swap was executed or the last time such margin was exchanged. The CFTC final rule is broadly consistent with a similar rule mandating the exchange of initial and variation margin adopted by the prudential regulators in October 2015. It is possible that such regulations could increase the cost of and limit the implementation of the Master Fund's use of derivatives, which could have an adverse impact on the Master Fund.

On November 30, 2018, the CFTC published a proposed rule restructuring the regulatory framework applicable to SEFs and requiring more types of cleared swap contracts to be traded on SEFs. If implemented, the proposed rule may increase the cost of entering into certain swap contracts or reduce liquidity in those products. The proposed rule will require SEF registration of many non-U.S. swap facilities, which may have a disproportionate impact on certain cross-border swap contracts.

In addition to U.S. laws and regulations relating to derivatives, certain non-U.S. regulatory authorities, such as those in the EU, Australia, Japan and Hong Kong, have passed or proposed, or may propose in the future, legislation similar to that imposed by the Dodd-Frank Act. For example, on November 25, 2019, the SEC re-proposed a rule that would regulate the use of derivatives by registered investment companies. The new derivatives rule, if adopted, may impact the manner in which the Master Fund uses derivatives. Furthermore, the EU regulations on derivatives will impose position limits on commodity transactions, and the European Market

Infrastructure Regulation ("EMIR") already requires reporting of derivatives and various risk mitigation techniques to be applied to derivatives entered into by parties that are subject to the jurisdiction of EMIR. In the near future, certain entities, including private funds may be required to clear certain derivatives and may become subject to initial and variation margin requirements with respect to their non-cleared derivatives, under the regulations implementing EMIR. These regulatory changes in the EU may impact the Master Fund and a broad range of counterparties, both outside and within the EU, and are expected to potentially increase the cost of transacting derivatives for the Master Fund (particularly with banks and other dealers directly subject to such regulations).

Currency Risk. The Master Fund invests in securities that trade in, and receive revenues in, foreign (non-U.S.) currencies, or in derivatives that provide exposure to foreign (non-U.S.) currencies, and is therefore subject to the risk that those currencies will decline in value relative to the U.S. dollar, or, in the case of hedging positions intended to protect the Fund from decline in the value of foreign (non-U.S.) currencies, that the U.S. dollar will decline in value relative to the currency being hedged. Currency rates in foreign countries may fluctuate significantly over short periods of time for a number of reasons, including changes in interest rates, intervention (or the failure to intervene) by U.S. or foreign governments, central banks or supranational entities such as the International Monetary Fund, or by the imposition of currency controls or other political developments in the United States or abroad. As a result, the Master Fund's investments in foreign currency denominated securities may reduce the returns of the Fund. The Master Fund will compute, and expects to distribute, its income in U.S. dollars, and the computation of income is made on the date that the income is earned by the Master Fund at the foreign exchange rate in effect on that date. If the value of the foreign currencies in which the Master Fund receives its income falls relative to the U.S. dollar between the earning of the income and the time at which the Master Fund converts the foreign currencies to U.S. dollars, the Master Fund may be required to liquidate securities in order to make distributions if the Fund has insufficient cash in U.S. dollars to meet distribution requirements. The value of an investment may fall substantially as a result of fluctuations in the currency of the country in which the investment is made as against the value of the U.S. dollar. The Investment Manager may (but is not obliged to) endeavor to manage currency exposures into U.S. dollars using appropriate hedging techniques where available and appropriate. The Master Fund is expected to incur costs related to currency hedging arrangements. There can be no assurance that adequate hedging arrangements will be available on an economically viable basis.

Many European countries have adopted a single European currency, the euro. Upon the adoption of the euro, the exchange rates of participating European countries were irrevocably fixed between the member countries. The euro has presented unique uncertainties for participating nations, including the fluctuation of the euro relative to non-euro currencies; whether the interest rate, tax and labor regimes of European countries participating in the euro will converge over time; and whether the conversion of the currencies of other countries that now are or may in the future become members of the European Union, may have an impact on the euro. Also, it is possible that the euro could be abandoned in the future by some or all the countries that have already adopted its use. Recent political and economic issues have created uncertainty concerning the future of the euro and the impact if one or more countries leave the eurozone. These or other events, including political and economic developments, could cause market disruptions and could adversely affect the value of investments held by the Master Fund. Because of the number of countries using this single currency, a significant portion of the non-U.S. investments held by the Master Fund may be denominated in euros.

Since it may invest in securities denominated in foreign currencies, changes in foreign currency exchange rates will affect the value of securities in the Master Fund's portfolio and the unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments. In addition to changes in the value of the Master Fund's portfolio investments resulting from currency fluctuations, the Master Fund may incur costs in connection with conversions between various currencies. Foreign exchange dealers realize a profit based on the difference between the prices at which they are buying and selling various currencies. Thus, a dealer normally will offer to sell a foreign currency to the Fund at one rate, while offering a lesser rate of exchange should the Master Fund desire immediately to resell that currency to the dealer. The Master Fund will conduct its foreign currency exchange transactions either on a spot (i.e., cash) basis at the spot rate prevailing in the foreign currency exchange market or in the derivatives markets, including through entering into forward, futures or options contracts to purchase or sell foreign currencies.

Commodities Regulation. CFTC Rule 4.5 permits investment advisers to registered investment companies to claim an exclusion from the definition of "commodity pool operator" under the Commodity Exchange Act ("CEA") with respect to a fund, provided certain requirements are met. In order to permit the Investment Manager to claim this exclusion with respect to the Master Fund, the Master Fund limits its transactions in certain futures, options on futures and swaps deemed "commodity interests" under CFTC rules (excluding transactions entered into for "bona fide hedging purposes," as defined under CFTC regulations) such that either: (i) the aggregate initial margin and premiums required to establish such futures, options on futures and swaps do not exceed 5% of the liquidation value of the Master Fund's portfolio, after taking into account unrealized profits and losses on such positions; or (ii) the aggregate net notional value of such futures, options on futures and swaps does not exceed 100% of the liquidation value of the Master Fund's portfolio, after taking into account unrealized profits and losses on such positions. In addition to meeting one of the foregoing trading limitations, the Fund and the Master Fund may not market itself as a commodity pool or otherwise as a vehicle for trading in the futures, options or swaps markets. Accordingly, the Master Fund is not subject to regulation under the CEA or otherwise regulated by the CFTC. If the Investment Manager was unable to claim the exclusion with respect to the Master Fund, the Investment Manager would become subject to registration and regulation as a commodity pool operator, which would subject the Investment Manager and the Master Fund to additional registration and regulatory requirements and increased operating expenses.

*Short Sales Risk.* The Master Fund's use of short sales for investment and/or risk management purposes subjects it to risks associated with selling short. The Master Fund may engage in short sales where it does not own or have the right to acquire the security sold short. The Master Fund's loss on a short sale theoretically could be unlimited in a case where the Master Fund is unable, for whatever reason, to close out its short position.

The Master Fund's short selling strategies may limit its ability to benefit from increases in the markets. In connection with short sales, the Master Fund segregates liquid assets, enters into offsetting transactions or owns positions covering its obligations; however, such segregation and cover requirements will not limit or offset losses on related positions. Short selling also involves a form of financial leverage that may exaggerate any losses realized by the Master Fund. Also, there is the risk that the counterparty to a short sale may fail to honor its contractual terms, causing a loss to the Master Fund. Finally, SEC, FINRA, or other regulations relating to short selling may restrict the Master Fund's ability to engage in short selling.

**Contingent Liabilities Risk.** Entering into derivative contracts in order to pursue the Master Fund's various hedging strategies could require the Master Fund to fund cash payments in the future pursuant to such contracts under certain circumstances, including an event of default or other early termination event, or the decision by a counterparty to request margin in the form of cash, securities or other forms of collateral under the terms of the derivative contract or under applicable margin rules. The Master Fund's ability to fund these payment or collateral obligations will depend on the liquidity of the Master Fund's assets and access to capital at the time, and the need to fund these obligations could adversely impact the Master Fund's ability to maintain its investment levels and its financial condition.

*General Legal, Tax and Regulatory Risks.* The Master Fund's investment program is subject to a variety of legal, tax and regulatory risks. For example, from time to time the market for real estate debt transactions has been adversely affected by a decrease in the availability of senior and subordinated financing for transactions, in part in response to regulatory pressures on providers of financing to reduce or eliminate their exposure to such transactions, which may adversely affect the ability of the Investment Manager to effectively achieve the Master Fund's investment objectives. In addition, government counterparties or agencies may have the discretion to change or increase laws or regulations applicable to issuers or to implement laws or regulations affecting an issuer's operations, separate from any contractual rights it may have. An issuer could also be adversely affected as a result of statutory or regulatory changes or judicial or administrative interpretations of existing laws and regulations that impose more comprehensive or stringent requirements on such issuer. Governments have considerable discretion in implementing regulations, including, for example, the possible imposition or increase of taxes on income earned by a portfolio issuer's business as well as the Master Fund's return on its investment in such portfolio issuer, that could impact a portfolio issuer's business as well as the Master Fund's return on its investment with respect thereto.

The Investment Manager believes that significant changes in the regulatory environment and institutional risk tolerance have reduced many lenders' lending capacity and appetite for commercial real estate debt investments. Among the factors that the Investment Manager expects will continue to limit lending and increase debt costs for traditional financing sources are the Dodd-Frank Act and Basel III with provisions for higher bank capital charges on certain types of real estate loans, and enhanced risk-retention requirements for CMBS that may increase securitization costs and reduce competition from CMBS lenders.

In addition, as a registered investment company under the 1940 Act, the Master Fund is subject to certain limitations relating to co-investments or joint transactions with affiliates, which has and likely will in the future in certain circumstances limit the Master Fund's ability to make investments alongside the other BREDS Vehicles. There can be no assurance that such regulatory restrictions will not adversely affect the Master Fund's ability to capitalize on attractive real estate-related debt instruments.

Furthermore, prospective shareholders should note that the outcomes of the recent U.S. presidential and other elections and referenda create uncertainty with respect to legal, tax and regulatory regimes. Any significant changes in, among other things, economic policy (including with respect to interest rates and foreign trade), the regulation of the asset management industry, tax law, immigration policy and/or government entitlement programs could have a material adverse impact on the Master Fund and its investments.

*Operational Risk.* The Master Fund depends on the Investment Manager and other service providers (including, but not limited to, Fund and Master Fund accountants, custodians, transfer agents and administrators) to develop the appropriate systems and procedures to control operational risk. Operational risks arising from mistakes made in the confirmation or settlement of transactions, from transactions not being properly booked, evaluated or accounted for or other similar disruption in the Master Fund's operations may cause the Master Fund to suffer financial losses, the disruption of its business, liability to third parties, regulatory intervention or damage to its reputation. The Master Fund depends on the Investment Manager and other service providers to develop the appropriate systems and procedures to control operational risk. The Master Fund's business is highly dependent on its ability to process, on a daily basis, transactions across various markets. Consequently, the Master Fund relies heavily on its financial, accounting and other data processing systems. The ability of its systems to accommodate an increasing volume of transactions could also constrain the Master Fund's ability to properly manage the portfolio. Generally, the Investment Manager and other service providers will not be liable to the Master Fund for losses incurred due to the occurrence of any such errors.

The Master Fund is subject to the risk that its trading orders may not be executed in a timely and efficient manner due to various circumstances, including, without limitation, systems failure or human error. As a result, the Master Fund could be unable to achieve the market position selected by the Investment Manager or might incur a loss in liquidating its positions. Since some of the markets in which the Master Fund may effect transactions are over-the-counter or interdealer markets, the participants in such markets are typically not subject to credit evaluation or regulatory oversight comparable to that which members of exchange based markets are subject. The Master Fund is also exposed to the risk that a counterparty will not settle a transaction in accordance with its terms and conditions, thereby causing the Master Fund to suffer a loss.

*Intellectual Property Risk.* Neither the Fund, the Master Fund nor the Investment Manager own the Blackstone name, but each may use it as part of its corporate name pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement and the Master Fund Investment Management Agreement. Use of the name by other parties or the termination of the Investment Management Agreement or the Master Fund Investment Management Agreement and Investment Management Agreement or the Master Fund Investment Management Agreement may materially impact the Investment Manager, the Master Fund or the Fund.

*Cyber-Security Risk and Identity Theft Risks.* Cyber security incidents and cyber-attacks have been occurring globally at a more frequent and severe level and are expected to continue to increase in frequency in the future. The Investment Manager and its affiliates are highly dependent on Blackstone's information systems and technology. The Investment Manager and its affiliates and their portfolio entities and service providers (including, but not limited to, Fund accountants, custodians, transfer agents and administrators), and/or the issuers of securities in which the Master Fund invests may be vulnerable to damage or interruption from cyber

security breaches, computer viruses and other malicious code, diverted or otherwise stolen funds, network failures, computer and telecommunication failures, infiltration by unauthorized persons and other security breaches, usage errors or malfeasance by their respective professionals or service providers, power, communications or other service outages and catastrophic events such as fires, tornadoes, floods, hurricanes and earthquakes.

Cyberattacks and other security threats could originate from a wide variety of external sources, including cyber criminals, nation state hackers, hacktivists and other outside parties. Cyberattacks and other security threats could also originate from the malicious or accidental acts of insiders, such as employees or third-party agents and consultants of Blackstone, the Investment Manager or the Fund, Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund ("BREIF", and together with the Fund and the Master Fund, the "BREIF Funds") or the Master Fund. There has been an increase in the frequency and sophistication of the cyber and security threats the Investment Manager faces, with attacks ranging from those common to businesses generally to those that are more advanced and persistent, which may target the Investment Manager because, as an alternative asset management firm, the Investment Manager holds a significant amount of confidential and sensitive information about its investors, its portfolio companies and potential investments. As a result, the Investment Manager may face a heightened risk of a security breach or disruption with respect to this information. There can be no assurance that measures the Investment Manager takes to ensure the integrity of its systems will provide protection, especially because cyberattack techniques used change frequently or are not recognized until successful. If unauthorized parties gain access to such information and technology systems, or if personnel abuse or misuse their access privileges, they may be able to steal, publish, delete or modify private and sensitive information, including nonpublic personal information and material nonpublic information.

Although the Investment Manager has implemented, and portfolio entities and service providers may implement, various measures to manage risks relating to these types of events, such measures could be inadequate and, if compromised, information and technology systems could become inoperable for extended periods of time, cease to function properly or fail to adequately secure private information. The Investment Manager does not control the cyber security plans and systems put in place by third-party service providers, and such third-party service providers may have limited indemnification obligations to the Investment Manager, the Master Fund and/or a portfolio entity, each of whom could be negatively impacted as a result. Even with sophisticated prevention and detection systems, breaches such as those involving covertly introduced malware, impersonation of authorized users and industrial or other espionage may not be identified, potentially resulting in further harm and preventing appropriate remediation. The failure of these systems and/or of disaster recovery plans for any reason could cause significant interruptions in the Investment Manager's, its affiliates', the Master Fund's and/or a portfolio entities' operations and result in a failure to maintain the security, confidentiality or privacy of sensitive data, including personal information relating to shareholders, material nonpublic information and the intellectual property and trade secrets and other sensitive information in the possession of the Investment Manager and/or portfolio entities. The Investment Manager's, the Master Fund's and/or a portfolio company/entity could be required to make a significant investment to remedy the effects of any such failures, harm to their reputations, legal claims that they and their respective affiliates may be subjected to, regulatory action or enforcement arising out of applicable privacy and other laws, adverse publicity and other events that may affect their business and financial performance. When such issues are present with regard to the issuer of securities in which the Master Fund invests, the Master Fund's investment in those securities may lose value.

The costs related to cyber or other security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. In addition, the Master Fund could also suffer losses in connection with updates to, or the failure to timely update, Blackstone's and the Investment Manager's information systems and technology. The Investment Manager and Blackstone have become increasingly reliant on third party service providers for certain aspects of their businesses, including for the administration of certain funds, as well as for certain information systems and technology, including cloud-based services. These third party service providers could also face ongoing cyber security threats and compromises of their systems and as a result, unauthorized individuals could gain access to certain confidential data.

Cybersecurity has become a top priority for regulators around the world. Many jurisdictions in which the Investment Manager operates have laws and regulations relating to data privacy, cybersecurity and protection of

personal information, including, as examples, the General Data Protection Regulation in the EU that went into effect in May 2018 and the California Consumer Privacy Act that went into effect in January 2020. Some jurisdictions have also enacted laws requiring companies to notify individuals and government agencies of data security breaches involving certain types of personal data. Breaches in security, whether malicious in nature or through inadvertent transmittal or other loss of data, could potentially jeopardize the Investment Manager, its employees' or the Master Fund's investors' or counterparties' confidential, proprietary and other information processed and stored in, and transmitted through, the Investment Manager's computer systems and networks, or otherwise cause interruptions or malfunctions in its, its employees', the Master Fund's investors', the Master Fund's investors and operations, which could result in significant financial losses, increased costs, disruption of the Investment Manager's business, liability to the Master Fund's investors and other counterparties, regulatory intervention or reputational damage. Furthermore, if the Investment Manager fails to comply with the relevant laws and regulations or fail to provide the appropriate regulatory or other notifications of breach in a timely matter, it could result in regulatory investigations and penalties, which could lead to negative publicity and reputational harm, and may cause the Master Fund's investors and clients to lose confidence in the effectiveness of its security measures.

The Master Fund's portfolio companies also rely on data processing systems and the secure processing, storage and transmission of information, including payment and health information. A disruption or compromise of these systems could have a material adverse effect on the value of these businesses.

Finally, Blackstone's, the Investment Manager's and the BREIF Funds' (as applicable) technology, data and intellectual property and the technology, data and intellectual property of their respective portfolio companies are also subject to a heightened risk of theft or compromise to the extent Blackstone and the Investment Manager and their respective portfolio companies engage in operations outside the United States, in particular in those jurisdictions that do not have comparable levels of protection of proprietary information and assets such as intellectual property, trademarks, trade secrets, know-how and customer information and records. In addition, Blackstone and the Investment Manager and their respective portfolio companies may be required to compromise protections or forego rights to technology, data and intellectual property in order to operate in or access markets in a foreign jurisdiction. Any such direct or indirect compromise of these assets could have a material adverse impact on Blackstone, the Investment Manager and their respective portfolio companies.

*Terrorist Activities.* The continued threat of global terrorism and the impact of military and other action will likely continue to cause volatility in prices of commodities and could affect the Master Fund's financial results. The Master Fund's investments may involve significant strategic assets having a national or regional profile. The nature of these assets could expose them to a greater risk of being the subject of a terrorist attack than other assets or businesses. Any terrorist attacks that occur at or near such assets would likely cause significant harm to employees, property and, potentially, the surrounding community, and may result in losses far in excess of available insurance coverage. As a result of global events and continued terrorism concerns, insurers significantly reduced the amount of insurance coverage available for liability to persons other than employees for claims resulting from acts of terrorism, war or similar events. As a result of a terrorist attack or terrorist activities in general, the Master Fund may not be able to obtain insurance coverage and other endorsements at commercially reasonable prices or at all.

*General Market and Economic Conditions Risk.* The real estate industry generally and the success of the Master Fund's investment activities in particular will both be affected by global and national economic and market conditions generally. These factors may affect the level and volatility of real estate prices and real estate-related debt investment prices, which could impair the Master Fund's profitability or result in losses. In addition, general fluctuations in the market prices of securities and interest rates may affect the Master Fund's investment opportunities and the value of its investments. The Master Fund's financial condition may be adversely affected by a significant economic downturn and it may be subject to legal, regulatory, reputational and other unforeseen risks that could have a material adverse effect on the Master Fund's businesses and operations (including the Investment Manager).

A depression, recession or slowdown in the U.S. real estate market or one or more regional real estate markets, and to a lesser extent, the global economy (or any particular segment thereof) would have a pronounced impact

on the Fund, the value of the Master Fund's assets and its profitability, impede the ability of the Master Fund's assets to perform under or refinance their existing obligations, and impair the Master Fund's ability to effectively deploy its capital or realize upon investments on favorable terms. The Fund would also be affected by any overall weakening of, or disruptions in, the financial markets. Any of the foregoing events could result in substantial losses to its business, which losses will likely be exacerbated by the presence of leverage in the Fund's capital structure or its investments' capital structures.

*Force Majeure Risk.* The Master Fund may be affected by force majeure events (*e.g.*, acts of God, fire, flood, earthquakes, outbreaks of an infectious disease, epidemic/pandemic or any other serious public health concern, war, terrorism, nationalization of industry and labor strikes). Force majeure events could adversely affect the ability of the Master Fund or a counterparty to perform its obligations. The liability and cost arising out of a failure to perform obligations as a result of a force majeure event could be considerable and could be borne by the Master Fund. Certain force majeure events, such as war or an outbreak of an infectious disease, could have a broader negative impact on the global or local economy, thereby affecting the Master Fund. Additionally, a major governmental intervention into industry, including the nationalization of an industry or the assertion of control, could result in a loss to the Master Fund if an investment is affected, and any compensation provided by the relevant government may not be adequate.

*Epidemic and Pandemic Risk.* Certain countries have been susceptible to epidemics/pandemics, most recently COVID-19, which has been designated as a pandemic by world health authorities. The outbreak of such epidemics/pandemics, together with any resulting restrictions on travel or quarantines imposed, have a negative impact on the economy and business activity globally (including in the countries in which the Master Fund invests), and thereby will adversely affect the performance of the Master Fund's investments. Furthermore, the rapid development of epidemics/pandemics could preclude prediction as to their ultimate adverse impact on economic and market conditions, and, as a result, present material uncertainty and risk with respect to the Master Fund and the performance of its investments.

*COVID-19 Risk.* During the first quarter of 2020, there was a global outbreak of COVID-19, which has spread to over 200 countries and territories, including the United States, and has spread to every state in the United States. The World Health Organization has designated COVID-19 as a pandemic, and numerous countries, including the United States, have declared national emergencies with respect to COVID-19. The global impact of the outbreak has been rapidly evolving, and as cases of COVID-19 have continued to be identified in additional countries, many countries have reacted by instituting quarantines and restrictions on travel, closing financial markets and/or restricting trading, and limiting operations of non-essential businesses. Such actions are creating disruption in global supply chains, increasing rates of unemployment and adversely impacting many industries. The outbreak could have a continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions and trigger a period of global economic slowdown.

The outbreak of COVID-19 may have a material adverse impact on the Master Fund's financial condition, results of operations and NAV, and the Fund's liquidity, among other things. The Fund expects that these impacts are likely to continue to some extent as the outbreak persists and potentially even longer. Although many or all facets of the Fund and the Master Fund's business have been or could be impacted by COVID-19, the Investment Manager currently believes the following impacts to be among the most material:

• COVID-19 could have a significant long-term impact on the broader economy and the commercial real estate market generally, which would negatively impact the value of the assets collateralizing the Master Fund's investments. The fair value of the Master Fund's investments has significantly decreased since the outbreak of COVID-19 and may continue to decrease, in turn decreasing the Fund's NAV per share and contributing to the Fund's recent negative performance. These investments are valued on a mark-to-market basis and have faced market pressure caused by general economic uncertainty and market dislocation. Additionally, certain of the Master Fund's investments are collateralized by hospitality and retail assets, and these sectors have been particularly negatively impacted by the pandemic due to quarantines and travel/use restrictions leading to significantly reduced hotel stays and, in some cases, suspension of operations. While the Investment Manager believes the principal amount of the Master Fund's real estate debt investments are generally adequately protected by underlying value, there can be no assurance that the Master Fund will realize

the entire principal value of certain investments. Furthermore, the interest payments generated by such investments are supported by the hotel operating revenues or rental payments received/generated by the borrower on underlying properties. While, subject to certain limitations, the master servicer of a securitization trust is responsible for making certain monetary advances if the borrower defaults on its payment obligations, it is expected that such payments will be missed for some underlying properties and there is no guarantee that the master servicer will be willing or able to make such advances, which would result in lost income on the Master Fund's real estate debt investments. The special servicer of a securitization trust may also exercise, or be required to exercise, its appraisal rights over the value of the property securing the loan and dispose of such property.

- The Master Fund has reverse repurchase agreements with numerous lenders and has been obligated to pledge additional collateral pursuant to such agreements. If the Master Fund does not have the funds available to make required payments, it would likely result in defaults and potential loss of assets to the lenders unless the Master Fund is able to raise the funds from alternative sources, including by selling or financing assets or raising capital ("liquidity sources"), each of which the Master Fund may be required to do under adverse market conditions or at an inopportune time or on unfavorable terms, or may be unable to do at all. COVID-19 has made it very difficult for businesses generally, including the Master Fund, to obtain new financing and to the extent the Master Fund is able to find financing, the terms of such financing are not expected to be as attractive as what the Master Fund would have been able to obtain prior to this pandemic. Pledging additional collateral or otherwise paying down facilities to satisfy the Fund and the Master Fund's lenders and avoid potential margin calls would reduce the Fund and the Master Fund's cash available to meet subsequent margin calls as well as make other, higher-yielding investments, thereby decreasing the Fund's liquidity, investment return, available cash, net income and ability to implement the Fund's investment strategy. If the Master Fund cannot meet lender requirements related to margin calls, the counterparty could accelerate the Master Fund's indebtedness, which would materially and adversely affect the Fund and the Master Fund's financial condition and ability to implement their investment strategy.
- COVID-19 will reduce the availability of liquidity sources, but the Fund's requirements for liquidity, including margin calls, likely will not be commensurately reduced. The lack of liquidity has resulted in the Board, upon the recommendation of the Investment Manager and for the first time in each case, not declaring a distribution for the first quarter of 2020 and recommending that the Fund does not conduct a tender offer to repurchase the Fund's shares for the second quarter of 2020. Additionally, the Fund has experienced and may continue to experience a decrease in new subscriptions for its shares. These developments could result in the Fund having insufficient liquid assets to cover its obligations and be required to treat such obligations as borrowings under the 1940 Act. These factors may adversely impact the Fund's future liquidity, which will make it more difficult for the Fund to fund new investments, fund distributions to its shareholders, make tender offers and meet the Fund's other obligations. See "Risk Factors—Liquidity Risks, —Illiquid Portfolio Risk, —Operating and Financial Risks of Issuers; Underlying Default Risk across Capital Structures, —Risks Associated with Interest Shortfalls and —Reverse Repurchase Agreements Risk."
- Interest rates and credit spreads have been significantly impacted since the outbreak of COVID-19. This can result in volatile changes to the fair value of the Master Fund's real estate debt investments and liabilities as well as to the interest obligations on the Master Fund's floating-rate debt and fair value of the Master Fund's fixed rate liabilities, which could result in an increase to the Fund's interest expense.

The immediately preceding outcomes are those the Investment Manager considers to be the most material as a result of the pandemic. The Master Fund has also experienced and may experience other negative impacts to its business as a result of the pandemic that could exacerbate other risks described in this Prospectus, including:

- the Master Fund's investments may require restructuring or reorganizations that involve additional capital from the Master Fund and/or that result in greater risks and losses to the Master Fund;
- risks associated with the Master Fund's investments in CMBS, CLOs, and other similar structured finance investments;

- operational impacts on the Investment Manager and other third-party advisors, service providers, vendors and counterparties, including master and special servicers of CMBS trusts, pricing sources, the administrator, lenders and other providers of financing, brokers and other counterparties that the Master Fund purchases and sells assets to and from, and derivative counterparties;
- limitations on the Fund and the Master Fund's ability to ensure business continuity in the event the Investment Manager, or other third-party advisors' and service providers', continuity of operations plan is not effective or improperly implemented or deployed during a disruption;
- the availability of key personnel of the Investment Manager and other service providers as they face changed circumstances and potential illness during the pandemic;
- difficulty in valuing the Master Fund's assets. See also "Risk Factors— Pricing Risk; Real Estate Valuation Risk";
- limitations on the Master Fund's ability to raise new capital in its ongoing offerings;
- limitations on the Fund's ability to make distributions to shareholders and/or to comply with the requirements to maintain the Fund's status as a RIC due to material adverse impacts on its cash flows from operations or liquidity; and
- limitations on the Fund's ability to conduct tender offers, including if increased demand for repurchases exceeds the limits of any tender offer, the Fund lacks readily available funds to make or meet tender offers or the Fund needs to maintain liquidity for its operations.

The rapid development and fluidity of this situation precludes any prediction as to the ultimate adverse impact of COVID-19 on economic and market conditions, and, as a result, present material uncertainty and risk with respect to the Fund and the Master Fund and the performance of their investments. The full extent of the impact and effects of COVID-19 will depend on future developments, including, among other factors, the duration and spread of the outbreak, along with related travel advisories, quarantines and restrictions, the recovery time of the disrupted supply chains and industries, the impact of labor market interruptions, the impact of government interventions, and uncertainty with respect to the duration of the global economic slowdown. COVID-19 and the current financial, economic and capital markets environment, and future developments in these and other areas present uncertainty and risk with respect to the Fund and the Master Fund's performance, financial condition, results of operations and the Fund's ability to pay distributions and make share repurchases.

Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Risks. Economic sanction laws in the United States and other jurisdictions prohibit Blackstone, Blackstone's professionals and the Master Fund from transacting with or in certain countries and with certain individuals and companies. In the United States, the U.S. Department of the Treasury's Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") administers and enforces laws, Executive Orders and regulations establishing U.S. economic and trade sanctions. Such sanctions prohibit, among other things, transactions with, and the provision of services to, certain foreign countries, territories, entities and individuals. These entities and individuals include specially designated nationals, specially designated narcotics traffickers and other parties subject to OFAC sanctions and embargo programs. The lists of OFAC prohibited countries, territories, persons and entities, including the List of Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons, as such list may be amended from time to time, can be found on the OFAC website at http://www.treas.gov/ofac. In addition, certain programs administered by OFAC prohibit dealing with individuals or entities in certain countries regardless of whether such individuals or entities appear on the lists maintained by OFAC. These types of sanctions may significantly restrict the Master Fund's investment activities in certain emerging market countries and certain parties.

In some countries, there is a greater acceptance than in the United States of government involvement in commercial activities, and of corruption. Blackstone, the Blackstone professionals and the Master Fund and Fund are committed to complying with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act ("FCPA"), the U.K. Bribery Act of 2010 ("U.K. Bribery Act") and other anti-corruption laws, anti-bribery laws and regulations, as well as anti-boycott regulations, to which they are subject. As a result, the Master Fund may be adversely affected because of its unwillingness to participate in transactions that violate such laws or regulations. Such laws and regulations may make it difficult in certain circumstances for the Master Fund to act successfully on investment opportunities and for investments to obtain or retain business.

In recent years, the U.S. Department of Justice and the SEC have devoted greater resources to enforcement of the FCPA. In addition, the UK has recently significantly expanded the reach of its anti-bribery laws with the U.K. Bribery Act, which in some ways is broader than the FCPA and applies to private and public sector corruption and holds companies liable for failure to prevent bribery unless they have adequate procedures in place to prevent bribery. While Blackstone (or any third party Blackstone contracts with to provide services related to FCPA and U.K. Bribery Act compliance) has developed and implemented a compliance program designed to ensure compliance by Blackstone and its personnel with the FCPA and the U.K. Bribery Act, even reasonable compliance programs may not prevent all instances of corruption. In addition, in spite of Blackstone's or any such third party's policies and procedures, affiliates of portfolio companies, particularly in cases where the Master Fund or another Blackstone sponsored fund or vehicle does not control such portfolio company, may engage in activities that could result in FCPA or U.K. Bribery Act violations. Any determination that Blackstone has violated the FCPA, U.K. Bribery Act or other applicable anti-corruption laws or anti-bribery laws could subject Blackstone to, among other things, civil and criminal penalties, material fines, profit disgorgement, injunctions on future conduct, securities litigation and a general loss of investor confidence, any one of which could materially and adversely affect Blackstone's business prospects and/or financial position, as well as the Master Fund and Fund's ability to achieve their investment objectives and/or conduct their operations.

Model and Technology Risk. The Investment Manager uses investment programs that are fundamentally dependent on proprietary or licensed technology through the Investment Manager's use of, among other things, certain hardware, software, model-based strategies, data gathering systems, order execution, and trade allocation systems, and/or risk management systems. These strategies and systems may not be successful on an ongoing basis, could contain errors, omissions, imperfections, or malfunctions, or could be degraded, corrupted, or compromised. In addition, the Investment Manager's strategies and systems may operate effectively in isolation, but may generate unintended consequences when interfacing with trading, risk, or other investment tools, models, systems, or databases. Any errors, omissions, imperfections, malfunctions, degradations, corruptions, or compromises in strategies or systems may result in, among other things, execution and allocation failures and failures to properly gather, organize, and analyze large amounts of data from third parties and other external sources. More specifically, as it is not possible or practicable for the Investment Manager to factor all relevant, available data into quantitative model forecasts and/or trading decisions, the Investment Manager (and/or affiliated licensors of such data) will use their discretion to determine what data to gather with respect to an investment strategy and what subset of that data the models will take into account to produce forecasts that may have an impact on ultimate investment and trading decisions. Shareholders should be aware that there is no guarantee that the Investment Manager's quantitative techniques will use any specific data or type of data in generating forecasts or making trading decisions on behalf of the Master Fund, nor is there any guarantee that the data actually utilized in generating forecasts or making trading decisions on behalf of the Master Fund will be (i) the most accurate data available; (ii) free from errors, corruptions, or interruptions; or (iii) delivered or accessible in a timely manner. In addition, the use by the Investment Manager of predictive or algorithmic models often have inherent risks because the construction of the model is dependent on historical data supplied by third parties and the success of such models depends heavily on the accuracy and reliability of the supplied historical data. All of the aforementioned risks may have a negative effect on the Master Fund. The profitability of many quantitative model-based strategies utilized by the Investment Manager are expected to decrease as the assets of the Master Fund and/or the assets of the other clients of the Investment Manager (or its affiliates or competitors) increase.

*Indemnification; Absence of Recourse.* The Fund will be required to indemnify the Board of Trustees, the Investment Manager, their affiliates, and each of their respective members, officers, directors, employees, shareholders, partners, and certain other persons who serve at the request of the Board of Trustees or the Investment Manager on behalf of the Fund for liabilities incurred in connection with the affairs of the Fund. Such liabilities may be material and have an adverse effect on the returns to the shareholders. The indemnification obligation of the Fund would be payable from the assets of the Fund. It should be noted that the Board of Trustees may cause the Fund to purchase insurance for the Fund, the Board of Trustees, the Fund and its officers.

*Service Provider Risk.* The Fund and the Master Fund are dependent on third-party service providers in connection with their respective operations. To the extent such service providers fail effectively to satisfy their obligations to the Fund or Master Fund, respectively, there may be a material adverse impact on the Fund's or Master Fund's operations. In addition, the Fund and the Master Fund may be required to indemnify such service

providers for liabilities incurred in connection with the affairs of the Fund or Master Fund. Such liabilities may be material and have an adverse effect on the returns to the shareholders. The indemnification obligation of the Fund or the Master Fund would be payable from the assets of the Fund or Master Fund, respectively.

*Tax Risks of Investing in the Fund.* The Fund has qualified to be treated as a RIC under the Code, which generally relieves the Fund of any liability for federal income tax to the extent its earnings are distributed to shareholders. In order to continue to so qualify and be eligible for treatment as a RIC, the Fund must, among other things, satisfy diversification, gross income and distribution requirements. (See "Tax Considerations" below.)

There can be no assurance that the Fund generally will be able to maintain its qualification and eligibility for treatment as a RIC. If the Fund were to fail to qualify for treatment as a RIC in any taxable year, the Fund would be taxed as an ordinary corporation on its taxable income even if such income were distributed to its shareholders, and all distributions out of earnings and profits (including any distributions of net capital gain) would be taxed to shareholders as ordinary dividend income. In addition, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay taxes and make distributions (which could be subject to interest charges) before requalifying for taxation as a RIC. Disqualification as a RIC by the Fund could have a material adverse effect on the value of the Fund's Shares and the amount of the Fund's distributions. See "Tax Considerations."

The Fund's intention to continue to qualify and be eligible for treatment as a RIC can limit its ability to acquire or continue to hold positions that would otherwise be consistent with its investment strategy or can require it to engage in transactions in which it would otherwise not engage, resulting in additional transaction costs and reducing the Fund's return to shareholders.

*Multiple Shareholders of the Master Fund Risk.* The Fund's assets consist primarily of its investment in the Master Fund. Therefore, in order to fund the repurchase of Shares pursuant to tender offers, the Fund may find it necessary to liquidate all or a portion of its investment in the Master Fund. The Fund typically may withdraw all or a portion of its investment in the Master Fund only pursuant to repurchase offers by the Master Fund. The Fund ordinarily will not offer to repurchase Shares unless the Master Fund conducts a repurchase offer for the Master Fund's shares. However, the Master Fund has other investors, in the form of feeder funds, other than the Fund, and may have additional investors in the future (which may include Other Blackstone Vehicles) and, if a repurchase offer by the Master Fund is oversubscribed, the Fund would have access to only a pro rata portion of the offer by the Master Fund based on the size of its investment in the Master Fund relative to the size of the investments in the Master Fund by other investors.

*Subsidiary Risk.* The Master Fund has formed a subsidiary organized in the Cayman Islands and may in the future form additional subsidiaries organized domestically or in a foreign jurisdiction through which the Master Fund may invest in certain types of assets, including Regulation S securities. It is not anticipated that such subsidiaries would be registered under the 1940 Act. As an investor in such subsidiaries, the Master Fund would not have all of the protections offered to investors by the 1940 Act. However, it is anticipated that such subsidiaries would be wholly-owned and controlled by the Master Fund, and managed by the Investment Manager. Therefore, the Master Fund's ownership and control of such subsidiaries would make it unlikely that such subsidiaries would take actions contrary to the interests of the Master Fund or its shareholders.

*Technological innovations Risk.* Current trends in the real estate market and the sectors in which the Master Fund invests generally have been toward disrupting the industry with technological innovation, and multiple young companies have been successful in capitalizing on this trend toward disruption. In this period of rapid technological and commercial innovation, new businesses and approaches may be created that could affect the Master Fund, tenants of properties securing the Master Fund's real estate-related securities or the Master Fund's investments or alter the market practices that help frame its strategy. For example, the value of real estate-related securities secured by retail properties is affected by the increased prominence of online shopping that competes with brick and mortar retail, the value of real estate-related securities secured by hospitality properties is affected by competition from the non-traditional hospitality sector (such as short-term rental services), and the value of real estate-related securities could damage the Master Fund's investments and significantly disrupt the market in which it operates, which could materially and adversely affect the Master Fund's business, financial condition and results of investments.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

The Fund and the Master Fund may be subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest.

*Incentive Fee.* The existence of the Investment Manager's performance-based incentive fee creates an incentive for the Investment Manager to make more speculative investments on behalf of the Master Fund than it would otherwise make in the absence of such performance-based compensation.

*Allocation of Personnel.* The Investment Manager and its affiliates will devote such time as they determine to be necessary to conduct the business affairs of the Master Fund in an appropriate manner. However, Blackstone personnel, including certain members of the portfolio management team, will work on other projects, serve on other committees and source potential investments for and otherwise assist the investment programs of Other Blackstone Vehicles and their portfolio entities, including other investment programs to be developed in the future, and, therefore, conflicts are expected to arise in the allocation of personnel and such personnel's time. This may include other BREDS Vehicles and/or Other Real Estate Vehicles (including, for example, the BREP Vehicles, BPP Vehicles, Blackstone Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. and/or Blackstone Mortgage Trust Inc. ("BXMT")), whether now in existence or subsequently established. Time spent on these other initiatives diverts attention from the Fund and the Master Fund's activities, which could negatively impact the Fund and the Master Fund. Furthermore, Blackstone and Blackstone personnel derive financial benefit for these other activities, including fees and performance-based compensation. The Investment Manager's personnel share in the fees and performance-based compensation of time by such personnel.

Blackstone Policies and Procedures. Blackstone has multiple business lines, including a capital markets group (the "Blackstone Capital Markets Group"), which Blackstone, Other Blackstone Vehicles and their portfolio entities and third parties may engage for debt and equity financings and to provide other investment banking, brokerage, investment advisory or other services. As a result of these activities, Blackstone is subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest, greater regulatory oversight and more legal and contractual restrictions than if it had one line of business. For example, Blackstone may come into possession of information that limits the Master Fund's ability to engage in potential transactions. Similarly, other Blackstone businesses and their personnel may be prohibited by law or contract from sharing information with the Investment Manager or its affiliates that would be relevant to monitoring the Master Fund's investments and other activities. Additionally, Blackstone or Other Blackstone Vehicles can be expected to enter into covenants that restrict or otherwise limit the Master Fund's ability to make investments in, or otherwise engage in, certain businesses or activities. For example, Other Blackstone Vehicles could have granted exclusivity to a joint venture partner that limits the Master Fund and Other Blackstone Vehicles from owning assets within a certain distance of any of the joint venture's assets, or Blackstone or an Other Blackstone Vehicle could have entered into a non-compete in connection with a sale or other transaction. These types of restrictions may negatively impact the Master Fund's ability to implement its investment program. Finally, certain personnel who are members of the investment team or investment committee may be excluded from participating in certain investment decisions due to conflicts involving other businesses or for other reasons, in which case the Master Fund will not benefit from their experience. Shareholders will not receive a benefit from any fees earned by Blackstone or its personnel from these other businesses.

Blackstone has implemented policies and procedures to address conflicts that arise as a result of its various activities, as well as regulatory and other legal considerations. Some of these policies and procedures, such as Blackstone's information wall policy, also have the effect of reducing firm-wide synergies and collaboration that the Investment Manager could otherwise expect to utilize for purposes of identifying and managing attractive investments. Blackstone personnel may be unable, for example, to assist with the Master Fund's activities of as a result of these walls. There can be no assurance that additional restrictions will not be imposed that would further limit the ability of Blackstone to share information internally.

Blackstone is under no obligation to decline any engagements or investments in order to make an investment opportunity available to the Master Fund. Blackstone has long-term relationships with a significant number of

corporations and their senior management. The Investment Manager and its affiliates will consider those relationships when evaluating an investment opportunity, which may result in the Investment Manager or its affiliates choosing not to make such an investment due to such relationships (e.g., investments in a competitor of a client or any other person with whom Blackstone has a relationship). The Master Fund may be forced to sell or hold existing investments as a result of investment banking relationships or other relationships that Blackstone may have or transactions or investments Blackstone and its affiliates may make or have made. Therefore, there can be no assurance that all potentially suitable investment opportunities that come to the attention of Blackstone will be made available to the Master Fund. Subject to certain conditions, the Master Fund may also co-invest with clients of Blackstone or other persons with whom Blackstone has a relationship in particular investment opportunities, and other aspects of these Blackstone relationships could influence the decisions made by the Investment Manager and its affiliates with respect to the Master Fund's investments and otherwise result in a conflict.

*Line of Credit from Blackstone.* In light of market conditions resulting from the outbreak of COVID-19, on March 24, 2020, the Master Fund has entered into an uncommitted line of credit with Blackstone Holdings Finance Co. L.L.C., an affiliate of Blackstone, pursuant to which the Master Fund may borrow up to \$50 million at an interest rate equal to the then-current interest rate offered by an unaffiliated third-party lender or, if no such rate is available, LIBOR plus 2.50%. Although its terms were approved as fair and reasonable by the Board, this line of credit is with an affiliate of Blackstone and the terms of the agreement were not negotiated at arm's-length. Blackstone may face conflicts of interest in connection with any borrowings or disputes under this uncommitted line of credit.

*Other Blackstone Businesses and Activities.* As part of its regular business, Blackstone provides capital markets and advisory services. Certain Blackstone affiliates are also authorized to provide a broad range of investment banking, advisory, placement agent services and other services. Although, Blackstone does not currently provide these services, it could begin to do so in the future, which may give right to additional conflicts of interest. Shareholders will not receive a benefit from such fees. Blackstone may have relationships with, render services to or engage in transactions with government agencies and/or issuers or owners of securities that are, or are eligible to be, Master Fund investment opportunities. As a result, other employees of Blackstone may possess information relating to such issuers that is not known to the employees of the Investment Manager responsible for making investment decisions or for monitoring the Master Fund's investments and performing the other obligations under the Master Fund Declaration of Trust. Those employees of Blackstone will not be obligated to share any such information with the Investment Manager and may be prohibited by law or contract from doing so.

As noted in the preceding paragraph, certain Blackstone affiliates are authorized to provide investment banking and advisory services, and to the extent such services are provided in the future, Blackstone and its affiliates represent potential purchasers, sellers and other involved parties, including corporations, financial buyers, management, shareholders and institutions, with respect to investments that may be suitable for the Master Fund. In such a case, Blackstone's client would typically require Blackstone to act exclusively on its behalf, thereby precluding the Master Fund from acquiring such assets. Blackstone will be under no obligation to decline any such engagements in order to make an investment opportunity available to the Master Fund. In connection with Blackstone's capital markets business and certain investment banking and other services Blackstone's affiliates may provide from time to time, Blackstone may determine that there are conflicts of interest or come into possession of information that limits its ability to engage in potential transactions. The Master Fund's activities may be constrained as a result of such conflicts of interest and Blackstone's inability to use such information. For example, employees of Blackstone may be prohibited by law or contract from sharing information with members of the Master Fund's investment team. Additionally, there may be circumstances in which one or more individuals associated with Blackstone will be precluded from providing services to the Investment Manager because of certain confidential information available to those individuals or to other parts of Blackstone. Blackstone is under no obligation to decline any engagements or investments in order to make an investment opportunity available to the Master Fund. The Investment Manager will consider those relationships when evaluating an investment opportunity, which may result in the Investment Manager choosing not to make such an investment due to such relationships (e.g., investments in a competitor of a client). The Master Fund may be forced to sell or hold existing investments as a result of various relationships or other relationships that

Blackstone may have or transactions or investments Blackstone and its affiliates may make or have made. In certain sell-side and fundraising assignments, subject to certain limitations within the 1940 Act, the seller may permit the Master Fund to act as a participant in such transactions, which would raise certain conflicts of interest inherent in such a situation (including as to the negotiation of the purchase price).

Subject to certain limitations, the Master Fund may invest in securities or instruments of the same issuers as other investment vehicles, accounts and clients of Blackstone and the Investment Manager (including certain Other Blackstone Vehicles with overlapping investment objectives) and vice versa. To the extent that the Master Fund holds interests that are different (or more senior) than those held by such Other Blackstone Vehicles, accounts and clients, the Investment Manager may be presented with decisions involving circumstances where the interests of such Other Blackstone Vehicles, other vehicles, accounts and clients are in conflict with those of the Master Fund. Furthermore, it is possible the Master Fund's interest may be subordinated or otherwise adversely affected by virtue of such other vehicle's, account's or client's involvement and actions relating to its investment. Blackstone has long-term relationships with a significant number of corporations and their senior management. In determining whether to invest in a particular transaction on behalf of the Master Fund, the Investment Manager will consider those relationships, which may result in certain transactions that the Investment Manager will not undertake on behalf of the Master Fund in view of such relationships.

Blackstone, its affiliates and their related parties and personnel participate in underwriting and lending syndicates and otherwise act as arrangers of financing, including with respect to portfolio entities of the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles, or otherwise be involved in the public offering and/or private placement of debt or equity securities issued by, and loan proceeds borrowed by, the Master Fund's portfolio entities, or otherwise in arranging financing (including loans) for portfolio entities (including portfolio entities of Other Blackstone Vehicles) or advise on such transactions. Underwritings and financings can be on a firm commitment basis or on an uncommitted, or "best efforts", basis, and the underwriting or financing parties are under no duty to provide any commitment unless specifically set forth in the relevant contract. Blackstone can be expected to also provide placement or other similar services to purchasers or sellers of securities, including loans or instruments issued by its portfolio entities. A Blackstone broker-dealer will from time to time act as the managing underwriter, a member of the underwriting syndicate or broker for the Master Fund or such portfolio entities, or as dealer, broker or advisor to a counterparty to the Master Fund or its portfolio entities, and purchase securities from or sell securities to the Master Fund, portfolio entities, Other Blackstone Vehicles or their portfolio entities. Blackstone will also from time to time, on behalf of the Master Fund or other parties to a transaction involving the Master Fund, effect transactions subject to applicable law that result in commissions or other compensation paid to Blackstone by the Master Fund or the counterparty to the transaction, thereby creating a potential conflict of interest. Subject to applicable law, Blackstone will from time to time receive underwriting fees, discounts, placement commissions, loan modification or restructuring fees, servicing fees, capital markets, advisory fees, lending arrangement fees, asset/property management fees, insurance (including title insurance) fees, incentive fees, consulting fees, monitoring fees, commitment fees, syndication fees, origination fees, organizational fees, operational fees, loan servicing fees, and financing and divestment fees (or, in each case, rebates in lieu of any such fees, whether in the form of purchase price discounts or otherwise, even in cases where Blackstone, an Other Blackstone Vehicle or their portfolio entities are purchasing debt) or other compensation with respect to the foregoing activities, which are not required to be shared with the Master Fund or the shareholders and the Management Fee paid generally will not be reduced by such amounts. The Board of Trustees will approve any transactions in which a Blackstone broker-dealer acts as underwriter, as broker for the Master Fund, or as dealer, broker or advisor, on the other side of a transaction with the Master Fund only where the Board of Trustees believes in good faith that such transactions are appropriate for the Master Fund, and Fund shareholders, by acquiring an interest in the Master Fund, consent to all such transactions, along with other transactions involving conflicts described herein, to the fullest extent permitted by law. Sales of securities for the account of the Master Fund (particularly marketable securities) will from time to time be bunched or aggregated with orders for other accounts of Blackstone including Other Blackstone Vehicles. It could be impossible, as determined by the Investment Manager and its affiliates in their sole discretion, to receive the same price or execution on the entire volume of securities sold, and the various prices will, in certain circumstances, therefore be averaged which may be disadvantageous to the Master Fund. When Blackstone serves as underwriter with respect to securities held by the Master Fund or its portfolio entities, the Master Fund could be subject to a "lock-up" period following the

offering under applicable regulations during which time the Master Fund would be unable to sell any securities subject to the "lock-up". This may prejudice the Master Fund's ability to dispose of such securities at an opportune time.

Blackstone employees, including employees working on matters related to the Investment Manager, are generally permitted to invest in alternative investment funds, real estate funds, hedge funds or other real estate investment vehicles, including potential competitors of the Master Fund. Shareholders will not receive any benefit from any such investments.

On October 1, 2015, Blackstone spun off its financial and strategic advisory services, restructuring and reorganization advisory services, and its Park Hill fund placement businesses and combined these businesses with PJT Partners Inc. ("PJT"), an independent financial advisory firm founded by Paul J. Taubman. While the combined business operates independently from Blackstone and is not an affiliate thereof, nevertheless conflicts may arise in connection with transactions between or involving the Master Fund and its portfolio entities, Blackstone or the Investment Manager on the one hand and PJT on the other. Specifically, given that PJT is no longer an affiliate of Blackstone, there may be fewer or no restrictions or limitations placed on transactions or relationships engaged in by PJT's new advisory business as compared to the limitations or restrictions that might apply to transactions engaged in by an affiliate of Blackstone. It is expected that there will be substantial overlapping ownership between Blackstone and PJT for a considerable period of time going forward. Therefore, conflicts of interest in doing transactions involving PJT will still arise. The pre-existing relationship between Blackstone and its former personnel involved in such financial and strategic advisory services, the overlapping ownership, and certain co-investment and other continuing arrangements, can be expected to influence Blackstone and/or the Investment Manager in deciding to select or recommend PJT to perform such services for the Investment Manager or the Master Fund (or a portfolio entity) (the cost of which will generally be borne directly or indirectly by the Master Fund or such entity, as applicable). Nonetheless, under applicable law, the Investment Manager and its affiliates will be free to cause the Master Fund to transact with PJT generally without restriction notwithstanding such overlapping interests in, and relationships with, PJT.

Blackstone receives or obtains various kinds of data and information from the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles and portfolio entities, including data and information relating to business operations, trends, budgets, customers and other metrics, some of which is sometimes referred to as "big data". Blackstone can be expected to be better able to anticipate macroeconomic and other trends, and otherwise develop investment themes, as a result of its access to (and rights regarding) this data and information from the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles and portfolio entities. Blackstone has entered and will continue to enter into information sharing and use arrangements with Other Blackstone Vehicles, portfolio entities, related parties and service providers, which may give Blackstone access to (and rights regarding) data that it would not otherwise obtain in the ordinary course, and may in the future enter into such arrangements with the Master Fund. Although Blackstone believes that these activities improve Blackstone's investment management activities on the Master Fund's behalf and on behalf of Other Blackstone Vehicles, information obtained from the Master Fund and its portfolio entities would also provide material benefits to Blackstone or Other Blackstone Vehicles without compensation or other benefit accruing to the Master Fund or Fund shareholders, which is consistent with the arrangements with respect to Other Blackstone Vehicles. In addition, information from an Other Blackstone Vehicle portfolio entity can be expected to enable the Master Fund to better understand a particular industry and execute trading and investment strategies in reliance on that understanding, without compensation or benefit to such Other Blackstone Vehicles or their portfolio entities. Furthermore, except for contractual obligations to third parties to maintain confidentiality of certain information, compliance with applicable fiduciary obligations and privacy laws, and regulatory limitations on the use of material nonpublic information, Blackstone would generally be free to use data and information from the Master Fund's activities to assist in the pursuit of Blackstone's various other activities, including to trade for the benefit of Blackstone or an Other Blackstone Vehicle. For example, Blackstone's ability to trade in securities of an issuer relating to a specific industry may, subject to applicable law, be enhanced by information of a portfolio entity in the same or related industry. Such trading is expected to provide a material benefit to Blackstone without compensation or other benefit to the Master Fund or Fund shareholders. The sharing and use of "big data" and other information presents potential conflicts of interest and investors acknowledge and agree that any benefits received by Blackstone or its personnel (including fees (in

cash or in kind), costs and expenses) would not be shared with investors. As a result, the Investment Manager may have an incentive to pursue investments that have data and information that can be utilized in a manner that benefits Blackstone or Other Blackstone Vehicles. As of December 31, 2019, the BREIF Funds comprise approximately \$772 million of assets under management, which is a relatively small portion of Blackstone Real Estate's \$163 billion of assets under management. To the extent data is shared within Blackstone, the Fund may benefit from the insights derived from the large amount of data to which Blackstone Real Estate has access from all sources.

Other present and future activities of Blackstone and its affiliates (including the Investment Manager and the Distributor) will from time to time give rise to additional conflicts of interest relating to the Fund and its investment activities. In the event that any such conflict of interest arises, the Investment Manager will attempt to resolve such conflicts in a fair and equitable manner. Investors should be aware that conflicts will not necessarily be resolved in favor of the Fund's interests.

Fees for Services; Fees from Issuers. The Investment Manager and/or its affiliates may receive fees from issuers or other third parties as compensation for the arranging, underwriting, syndication or refinancing of an Investment or other additional fees, including acquisition fees, loan modification or restructuring fees, servicing (including loan servicing and special servicing) fees, administrative and/or accounting fees, and fees for advisory or asset, loan/asset management services, insurance procurement, brokerage, solutions and risk management services, data extraction and management products and services, fees for monitoring and oversight of loans, finance matters and/or title insurance provided to issuers and/or third parties, advisory, restructuring, consulting, monitoring, commitment, syndication, origination, organizational and financing, divestment and other services. In addition, the Investment Manager and persons affiliated with the Investment Manager may receive fees associated with capital invested by co-investors relating to Investments in which the Master Fund participates or otherwise, in connection with a joint venture in which the Master Fund participates or otherwise with respect to assets or other interests retained by a seller or other commercial counterparty with respect to which the Investment Manager performs services. In addition, as part of Blackstone's acquisition of CT Investment Management Co., LLC ("CTIMCO") in December 2012, the loan servicing and special servicing business formerly associated with the investment management business of BXMT is now operated as part of BREDS. Such loan servicing business may, in certain circumstances, enter into loan servicing arrangements and may receive fees with respect to the Master Fund's investments and/or issuers of the Master Fund on customary terms and conditions. Such fees will generally be allocated pro rata among the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles, co-investment vehicles, Blackstone's side-by-side co-investment vehicles and other participants that are participating (or intending to participate) in such Investment. Such side-by-side investments do not bear fees and generally result in the Master Fund being allocated a smaller share of an investment than would otherwise be the case in the absence of such side-by-side investment rights, although Blackstone may receive additional income in fees and performance compensation from Other Blackstone Vehicles in connection with such investments. Shareholders will not receive the benefit of any such fees. In the event break-up or topping fees are paid to Blackstone in connection with a transaction that is not ultimately consummated, co-investment vehicles that invest alongside the Master Fund will generally not be allocated any share of such break-up or topping fees; similarly, such co-investment vehicles generally do not bear their share of broken deal expenses (such as forfeited deposits, extraordinary expenses such as litigation costs and judgments and other expenses) for unconsummated transactions and such costs and expenses will generally be borne by the shareholders. Such other fees may give rise to conflicts of interest in connection with the Master Fund's investment activities, and while the Investment Manager will seek to resolve any such conflicts in a fair and equitable manner, there is no assurance that any such conflicts will be resolved in favor of the Master Fund.

An issuer may engage Blackstone Property Management ("BPM"), a Blackstone affiliate that provides advisory, oversight, management, monitoring and related services to certain borrowers and/or issuers in which one or more affiliates of Blackstone may hold an interest located in the UK and continental Europe, and BPM may receive fees for such services at competitive market rates as confirmed by the Investment Manager from time to time.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, transactions relating to the Master Fund that require the use of a service provider will generally be allocated to service providers on the basis of best execution, the evaluation of which includes,

among other considerations, such service provider's provision of certain investment-related services and research that the Investment Manager believes to be of benefit to the Master Fund. Any such service provider transaction would also be entered into only to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act. Advisors and service providers, or their affiliates, often charge different rates or have different arrangements for different types of services. Certain service providers may provide services to both the Master Fund and to Blackstone affiliates under a single arrangement or separate arrangements. To the extent services are provided under a single arrangement, the Master Fund will bear expenses under the arrangement in proportion to its assets under management or another method vis-à-vis other Blackstone affiliates under the same arrangement. With respect to service providers, for example, the fee for a given type of work may vary depending on the complexity of the matter as well as the expertise required and demands placed on the service provider. Therefore, to the extent the types of services used by the Master Fund are different from those used by Blackstone and its affiliates, the Investment Manager or its affiliates may pay different amounts or rates than those paid by the Master Fund. However, the Investment Manager and its affiliates have a practice of not entering into any arrangements with advisors or service providers that could provide for lower rates or discounts than those available to the Master Fund, or other Blackstone investment vehicles for the same services.

Other Blackstone Funds and Vehicles; Allocation of Investment Opportunities. Through Other Blackstone Vehicles, Blackstone currently invests and plans to continue to invest third party capital in a wide variety of mortgage loans and real estate-related debt investment opportunities on a global basis. As a result, certain Other Blackstone Vehicles have investment objectives or guidelines that overlap with those of the Fund and the Master Fund (and future Other Blackstone Vehicles may also have overlapping investment objectives and guidelines), in whole or in part. Investment opportunities that fall within such common objectives or guidelines will generally be allocated among one or more of the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles on a basis that the Investment Manager (and the particular investment professionals overseeing allocations with respect to the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles) determines to be "fair and reasonable" in good faith in its sole discretion, subject to (i) any applicable investment objectives, focus, parameters, guidelines, investor preferences, limitations and other contractual provisions and terms of the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles, (ii) the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles having available capital with respect thereto, and (iii) legal, tax, accounting, regulatory and other considerations deemed relevant by the Investment Manager (including without limitation, Section 17 of the 1940 Act, the relative risk-return profile of the investment, the credit rating of the investment, the specific nature and terms of the investment, size and type of the investment, relative investment strategies and primary investment mandates of the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles, the different liquidity positions and requirements of each fund or vehicle, underwritten leverage levels of a loan, portfolio concentration considerations, when a pro rata allocation could result in de minimis or odd lot allocations, historical and anticipated redemption, withdrawal or repurchase requirement requests from a client, fund and/or vehicle and anticipated future contributions or subscriptions into an account, contractual obligations, other anticipated uses of capital, the source of the investment opportunity, credit ratings of a CMBS investment, the ability of a client, fund and/or vehicle to employ leverage, hedging, derivatives, syndication strategy or other similar strategies in connection with acquiring, holding or disposing of the particular investment opportunity, any requirements or other terms of any existing leverage facilities, geographic focus, size and length of unfunded deal-level commitments, applicable co-investment arrangements and other considerations deemed relevant in good faith by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion). In particular, investment opportunities with respect to which Blackstone makes a good faith determination that such opportunity is not expected to yield returns on investment within the range of returns expected to be provided by the investments in which the Master Fund was organized to invest, based on the terms thereof and the information available relating to such opportunity at the time of its evaluation by Blackstone, may not be allocated to the Master Fund. The allocation methodology applied between the Master Fund and one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles may result in the Master Fund not participating (and/or not participating to the same extent) in certain investment opportunities in which the Master Fund would have otherwise participated had the related allocations been determined without regard to such guidelines and/or based only on the circumstances of those particular investments. In addition, the manner in which the available capital of the Master Fund is determined may differ from, or subsequently change with respect to, Other Blackstone Vehicles.

The Incentive Fee and/or Management Fee paid by the Master Fund may be less than or exceed the amount of carried interest charged and/or management fees paid by an Other Blackstone Vehicles. Such variation can be expected to create an incentive for Blackstone to allocate a greater or lesser percentage of an investment opportunity to the Master Fund or such Other Blackstone Vehicles, as the case may be.

A portion of each investment may be allocated to Blackstone and its affiliates. Certain Other Blackstone Vehicles and other affiliated entities may participate in such investment opportunities through Blackstone's side-by-side co-investment rights (and may be allocated a substantial portion of Blackstone's side-by-side co-investment rights (and in some cases, a majority)).

*Investments in Which Other Blackstone Vehicles Have a Different Principal Investment.* The Master Fund also co-invests with Other Blackstone Vehicles in investments that are suitable for the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles. When structuring any co-investment by the Master Fund with Other Blackstone Vehicles, the Investment Manager and its affiliates will only negotiate price-related terms in accordance with Section 17 of the 1940 Act and related guidance and interpretations issued by the SEC, except as described below.

The Fund and the Master Fund have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits them, among other things, to co-invest with certain other persons, including certain affiliates of the Investment Manager and certain funds managed and controlled by the Investment Manager and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions. Such order may restrict the Master Fund's ability to enter into follow-on investments or other transactions. Pursuant to such order, the Master Fund may co-invest in a negotiated deal with certain affiliates, subject to certain terms and controlled by the Investment Manager and controlled by the Investment Manager and its affiliates, subject to certain terms and conditions. The Master Fund may also receive an allocation in such a deal alongside affiliates pursuant to other mechanisms to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act.

The Master Fund and/or the Other Blackstone Vehicles may make and/or hold investments at different levels of an issuer's capital structure, including the Master Fund making one or more investments directly or indirectly relating to portfolio entities of Other Blackstone Vehicles and vice versa. Other Blackstone Vehicles may also participate in a separate tranche of a debt instrument or financing with respect to an issuer/borrower in which the Master Fund has an interest or otherwise in different classes of such issuer's securities and vice versa. Such investments inherently give rise to potential or actual conflicts of interest or perceived conflicts of interest between or among the various classes of securities that may be held by such entities.

In addition, in connection with any such investments in which the Master Fund participates alongside any such Other Blackstone Vehicles, the Investment Manager will likely grant absolutely to, and/or share with, such Other Blackstone Vehicles certain rights relating to such investments for legal, tax, regulatory or other reasons, including certain control- and/or foreclosure-related rights with respect to such investments and/or otherwise agree to implement certain procedures to mitigate conflicts of interest which typically involve maintaining a non-controlling interest in any such investment and a forbearance of rights, including certain non-economic rights, relating to the Master Fund (including following the vote of other third party lenders generally (or otherwise recusing itself with respect to decisions, including with respect to defaults, foreclosures, workouts, restructurings and/or exit opportunities)), subject to certain limitations. While it is expected that the participation of the Master Fund in connection with any such investments and transactions are expected to be negotiated by third parties on market prices, such investments and transactions will give rise to potential or actual conflicts of interest. There can be no assurance that any conflict will be resolved in favor of the Master Fund. To the extent the Master Fund holds an interest in a loan or security that is different (including with respect to their relative seniority) than those held by such Other Blackstone Vehicles (and vice versa), the Master Fund will generally have limited or no rights to participate in the decision-making with respect to the rights and actions available to the holders of the same or similar class of loan or security held by the Master Fund. In addition, the Master Fund may from time to time invest in debt securities and other obligations relating to portfolio entities of Other Blackstone Vehicles.

In certain circumstances, the Master Fund may be required to commit funds necessary for an investment prior to the time that all anticipated debt (senior and/or mezzanine) financing has been secured. In such circumstance, to

the extent permitted by the 1940 Act and the Fund's co-investment exemptive relief, Other Blackstone Vehicles and/or Blackstone itself (using, in whole or in part, its own balance sheet capital), may provide bridge or other short-term financing and/or commitments, which at the time of establishment are intended to be replaced and/or syndicated with longer-term financing. Such bridge financing and/or commitment would be sold down ahead of the Master Fund's investment. In any such circumstance, to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act and the Fund's co-investment exemptive relief, the Other Blackstone Vehicles and/or Blackstone itself may receive compensation for providing such financing and/or commitment (including origination, ticking or commitment fees), which fees will not be shared with and/or otherwise result in an offset of management fees. The conflicts applicable to Other Blackstone Vehicles who invest in different securities of the Master Fund's portfolio entities will apply equally to Blackstone itself in such situations.

In that regard, to the extent the Master Fund makes or has an investment in, or, through the purchase of debt obligations becomes a lender to, a company in which an Other Blackstone Vehicle has a debt or equity investment, or if an Other Blackstone Vehicle participates in a separate tranche of a financing with respect to a portfolio entity, Blackstone will generally have conflicting loyalties between its duties to the Master Fund and to such Other Blackstone Vehicles. In that regard, actions may be taken for the Other Blackstone Vehicles that are adverse to the Master Fund (and vice versa). Moreover, the Master Fund will generally "follow the vote" of other similarly situated third party creditors (if any) in voting and governance matters where conflicts of interest exist and will have a limited ability to separately protect its investment and will be dependent upon such third parties' actions. In addition, conflicts may arise in determining the amount of an investment, if any, to be allocated among potential investors and the respective terms thereof. There can be no assurance that the return on the Master Fund's investment will be equivalent to or better than the returns obtained by Other Blackstone Vehicles participating in the transaction. In addition, it is anticipated that in a bankruptcy proceeding the Master Fund's interest will likely be subordinated or otherwise adversely affected by virtue of such Other Blackstone Vehicles' involvement and actions relating to its investment. For example, there may be more senior debt instruments issued by an entity in which the Master Fund holds or makes an investment and in such circumstances the holders of more senior classes of debt issued by such entity (which may include Other Blackstone Vehicles) may take actions for their benefit (particularly in circumstances where such entity faces financial difficulties or distress) that further subordinate or adversely impact the value of the Master Fund's investment in such entity.

In connection with negotiating loans and bank financings in respect of Blackstone-sponsored real estate-related transactions, Blackstone will generally obtain the right to participate on its own behalf (or on behalf of the BREDS Vehicles and/or vehicles that it manages) in a portion of the financings with respect to such Blackstone sponsored real estate-related transactions upon a set of terms already negotiated by and agreed with third parties. Blackstone does not believe that this arrangement has an effect on the overall terms and conditions negotiated with the arrangers of such loans other than as described in the preceding sentence. Because of the affiliation with Blackstone, the Investment Manager may have a greater incentive to invest in Blackstone-sponsored financings (as compared to real estate-related financings sponsored by other real estate firms or financial sponsors) to the extent permitted by Section 17 of the 1940 Act. Except to the extent of fees paid to the Investment Manager specifically relating to the Master Fund's commitment or investment of capital, the shareholders will in no way receive any benefit from fees paid to any affiliate of the Investment Manager from an issuer in which any Other Blackstone Vehicle also has an interest (including, for greater certainty, any fees as a result of the provision of service by such affiliates).

In addition, the 1940 Act limits the Master Fund's ability to enter into certain transactions with certain of Other Blackstone Vehicles. As a result of these restrictions, the Master Fund may be prohibited from buying or selling any security directly from or to any issuer of a vehicle managed by Blackstone. However, the Master Fund may under certain circumstances purchase any such portfolio company's securities in the secondary market, which could create a conflict for the Investment Manager between its interests in the Master Fund and the issuer, in that the ability of the Investment Manager to recommend actions in the best interest of the Master Fund might be impaired. The 1940 Act also prohibits certain "joint" transactions with certain of the Master Fund's affiliates, which could include investments in the same portfolio company (whether at the same or different times). These limitations may limit the scope of investment opportunities that would otherwise be available to the Master Fund (i.e., an investment that would otherwise be shared by the Master Fund and Other Blackstone Vehicles may not

be allocated to the Master Fund). The Fund and the Master Fund have received an exemptive order from the SEC that permits co-investment pursuant to certain conditions, but investment opportunities that would otherwise be available to the Master Fund may not be available if the conditions of the order cannot be met.

Other Real Estate Vehicles. Blackstone reserves the right to raise, manage and/or acquire Other Real Estate Vehicles, including separate accounts, dedicated managed accounts, successor funds to the BPP Vehicles, the BREP Vehicles, the BREDS Vehicles, REITs, investment funds formed to invest in specific geographical areas or in a specific type of investments (e.g., senior loan origination, CMBS or liquid real estate debt) and one or more managed accounts (or other similar arrangements structured through an entity) for the benefit of certain investors (or related group of investors) which, in each case, may employ investment strategies that are the same as or that overlap with those of the Master fund. The closing of an Other Real Estate Vehicle could result in the reallocation of Blackstone personnel, including reallocation of existing real estate professionals, to such Other Real Estate Vehicle. In addition, potential investments that may be suitable for the Master Fund may be directed toward such Other Real Estate Vehicle (in whole or in part) and such Other Real Estate Vehicles may receive priority allocations of investment opportunities falling within their primary investment focus. To the extent any such Other Real Estate Vehicles are closed or acquired after the date hereof, such Other Real Estate Vehicles will be considered Other Blackstone Vehicles for purposes of the allocations of investments among the Master Fund and any Other Blackstone Vehicles and, as a result, investors expressly acknowledge that the foregoing may give rise to conflicts of interest in connection with the allocation of investment opportunities and/or result in investment opportunities that are otherwise appropriate for the Master Fund being allocated, in whole or in part, to the Other Real Estate Vehicles. There is no assurance, however, that any such conflicts arising out of the foregoing will be resolved in favor of the Master Fund.

In connection with the foregoing, Blackstone expects to raise and manage additional real estate investment funds or vehicles and one or more managed accounts for the benefit of one or more specific investors (or related group of investors) with investment strategies that are the same as or that overlap with those of the Master Fund (including investment funds formed to invest in specific geographical areas or in a specific type of investment or investments (e.g., senior loan origination or "mezzanine" debt)), and that may invest alongside the Master Fund in some or all investments. Blackstone may form one or more such managed accounts or Other Blackstone Vehicles after the date hereof and will determine from time to time the allocation of investment opportunities between the Master Fund and such vehicles as described above. For example, such vehicles may receive priority allocations of investment opportunities falling within their primary investment focus and/or the Investment Manager may allocate investment opportunities (in whole or in part) to such other vehicles in lieu of the Master Fund, including in connection with launching and "ramping up" such vehicles, or otherwise, subject to the determination by the Investment Manager that such allocations are "fair and reasonable" and otherwise consistent with the Investment Manager's allocation policies and procedures, as more fully described above.

Conflicting Fiduciary Duties to Other Blackstone Vehicles. Blackstone will likely structure certain investments as a result of which one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles or investors therein (including the BREDS Vehicles and/or related vehicles) are offered the opportunity to participate in a separate debt tranche of an investment allocated to the Master Fund. In such circumstances, Blackstone owes a fiduciary duty to the Master Fund and such Other Blackstone Vehicles or investors therein (as described more fully above under "Investments in Which Other Blackstone Vehicles Have a Different Principal Investment"). If the Master Fund were to purchase high yield securities or other debt instruments relating to an issuer in which Blackstone held a "mezzanine" or equity interest, Blackstone would likely, in certain instances, face a conflict of interest in respect of the advice it gives to, or the decisions made with regard to, the BREDS Vehicles and the Master Fund (e.g., with respect to the terms of such securities or other debt instruments, the enforcement of covenants, the terms of recapitalizations and the resolution of workouts or bankruptcies). For example, in a bankruptcy proceeding, in circumstances where Master Fund holds an equity investment in a portfolio entity, the holders of such portfolio entity's debt instruments (which, to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act, may include one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles) may take actions for their benefit (particularly in circumstances where such portfolio entity faces financial difficulties or distress) that subordinate or adversely impact the value of the Master Fund's investment in such portfolio entity.

Advisors and Operating Partners. Blackstone engages and retains strategic advisors, senior advisors, consultants, operating partners and other similar professionals who are not employees or affiliates of Blackstone and who, from time to time, may receive payments from, or allocations with respect to, issuers (as well as from Blackstone or the Master Fund). In such circumstances, such payments from, or allocations with respect to, issuers and/or the Master Fund will be treated as Master Fund expenses. These strategic advisors, senior advisors, consultants, operating partners and/or other professionals often have the right or may be offered the ability to co-invest alongside the Master Fund, including in those investments in which they are involved, or otherwise participate in equity plans for management of any such issuer or invest directly in the Master Fund subject to reduced or waived management fees and/or carried interest, and such participation generally will not be considered as part of Blackstone's side-by-side co-investment rights. Such side-by-side investments do not bear fees and generally result in the Master Fund being allocated a smaller share of an investment than would otherwise be the case in the absence of such side-by-side rights. In particular, Other Blackstone Vehicles may participate in investments alongside the Master Fund pursuant to Blackstone's side-by-side investment rights. In both such cases, Blackstone would be eligible to receive fees and carried interest (as determined in Blackstone's sole discretion). Additionally, and notwithstanding the foregoing, these strategic advisors, senior advisors, consultants, operating partners and/or other professionals may be, as well as former Blackstone employees and professionals (and their relatives and related endowment funds) (or have the preferred right to be) investors in Blackstone portfolio entities and/or Other Blackstone Vehicles, and may be permitted to participate in Blackstone's side-by-side co-investment rights (and may be allocated a substantial portion of Blackstone's side-by-side co-investment rights (and in some cases, a majority)). The nature of the relationship with each of the strategic advisors, senior advisors, consultants, operating partners and/or other professionals and the amount of time devoted or required to be devoted by them varies considerably. In some cases, they provide the Investment Manager with industry-specific insights and feedback on investment themes, assist in transaction due diligence, make introductions to and provide reference checks on management teams. In other cases, they take on more extensive roles and serve as executives or directors on the boards of issuers or contribute to the origination of new investment opportunities. In certain instances Blackstone has formal arrangements with these strategic advisors, senior advisors, consultants, operating partners and/or other professionals (which may or may not be terminable upon notice by any party), and in other cases the relationships are more informal. They may be either compensated (including pursuant to retainers and expense reimbursement) from Blackstone, the Master Fund and/or issuers or otherwise uncompensated unless and until an engagement with an issuer develops. In certain cases, they have certain attributes of Blackstone "employees" (e.g., they can be expected to have dedicated offices at Blackstone, receive administrative support from Blackstone personnel, participate in general meetings and events for Blackstone personnel or work on Blackstone matters as their primary or sole business activity, have Blackstone-related e-mail addresses or business cards and participate in certain benefit arrangements typically reserved for Blackstone employees) even though they are not considered Blackstone employees, affiliates or personnel for purposes of the Investment Management Agreement and Master Fund Investment Management Agreement and related Management Fee offset provisions. There can be no assurance that any of the strategic advisors, senior advisors, consultants, operating partners and/or other professionals will continue to serve in such roles and/or continue their arrangements with Blackstone, the Master Fund and/or any issuers.

*Relationships with Borrowers and/or Issuers.* Borrowers, lenders, sellers, issuers and/or other similar parties ("Counterparties") are or will be counterparties or participants in agreements, transactions or other arrangements with portfolio entities of other investment funds managed by Blackstone or other Blackstone affiliates for the arranging, underwriting, syndication or refinancing of an investment or other services provided by such portfolio entities or other Blackstone affiliates (including without limitation, loan modification or restructuring services, loan servicing, administrative services, loan/asset management fees, fees for monitoring and oversight of loans, advisory services, property/asset management services, and title insurance services) that, although Blackstone determines to be consistent with the requirements of such funds' governing agreements, would not have otherwise been entered into but for the affiliation with Blackstone, and which involve fees, commissions, servicing payments (including for management consulting and other similar operational and finance matters) and/or discounts to the Investment Manager and/or any Blackstone-affiliated entities or persons (including personnel) or a portfolio company/entity, which will not reduce the Management Fee. In connection with such relationships, Blackstone may also make referrals and/or introductions to certain Counterparties (which may result in financial incentives (including additional equity ownership) and/or milestones benefitting Blackstone that are tied or

related to participation by such Counterparties). The Master Fund will not share in any fees or economics accruing to Blackstone as a result of these relationships and/or participation by such Counterparties.

In addition, it is possible that certain portfolio entities of the Other Blackstone Vehicles or companies in which the Other Blackstone Vehicles have an interest will compete with the Master Fund for one or more investment opportunities and/or engage in activities that may have adverse consequences on the Master Fund and/or its portfolio entities. In addition, subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act, there will be circumstances where investments that are consistent with the Master Fund's investment objectives will be required or permitted to be made by (to the potential exclusion of the Master Fund) or shared with one or more Other Blackstone Vehicles, including but not limited to funds and vehicles described above and/or that have investment objectives similar to and/or overlapping with the Master Fund's. It is also possible that certain of the mortgage loans that comprise an MBS that is owned by the Master Fund will be issued by, or be collateralized by properties owned by, portfolio entities of the Other Blackstone Vehicles or companies in which the Other Blackstone Vehicles have an interest, including BREP and BPP.

With respect to transactions or agreements with issuers, if unrelated officers of a issuers have not yet been appointed, Blackstone may be negotiating and executing agreements between Blackstone and/or the Master Fund on the one hand, and the issuers in which they invest or their affiliates, on the other hand, which could entail a conflict of interest in relation to efforts to enter into terms that are arm's length. Among the measures Blackstone may use to mitigate such conflicts is involving outside counsel to review and advise on such agreements and provide insights into commercially reasonable terms.

Transactions with Clients of Blackstone Insurance Solutions. Blackstone Insurance Solutions ("BIS") is a business unit of Blackstone that is comprised of two affiliated registered investment advisers. BIS provides investment advisory services to insurers (including insurance companies that are owned, directly or indirectly, by Blackstone or Other Blackstone Vehicles, in whole or in part, such as Fidelity & Guaranty Life Insurance Company (a portfolio entity of certain Other Blackstone Vehicles)). Actual or potential conflicts of interest will likely arise in relation to the funds, vehicles or accounts BIS advises or sub-advises, including accounts where an insurer participates in investments directly and there is no separate vehicle controlled by Blackstone (collectively, "BIS Clients"). BIS Clients have invested and are expected to continue investing in Other Blackstone Vehicles. BIS Clients may have investment objectives that overlap with those of the Master Fund or its portfolio entities (and for regulatory reasons certain BIS Clients are required to own whole loans when making debt investments), and such BIS Clients may invest alongside (or in lieu of) the Master Fund or such portfolio entities in certain investments, which will reduce the investment opportunities otherwise available to the Master Fund or such portfolio entities. BIS Clients will also participate in transactions related to the Master Fund and/or its portfolio entities (e.g., as originators, co-originators, counterparties or otherwise). Other transactions in which BIS Clients will participate include, without limitation, investments in debt or other securities issued by portfolio entities or other forms of financing to portfolio entities (including special purpose vehicles established by the Master Fund or such portfolio entities) (see "-Conflicting Fiduciary Duties to Other Blackstone Vehicles" herein). When investing alongside the Master Fund or its portfolio entities or in other transactions related to the Master Fund or its portfolio entities, BIS Clients may not invest or divest at the same time or on the same terms as the Master Fund or the applicable portfolio entities to the extent permitted by Section 17 of the 1940 Act and related guidance and interpretations issued by the SEC. BIS Clients will also from time to time acquire investments and portfolio entities directly or indirectly from the Master Fund to the extent permitted by Section 17 of the 1940 Act and related guidance and interpretations issued by the SEC. In order to seek to mitigate any potential conflicts of interest with respect to such transactions (or other transactions involving BIS Clients), Blackstone may, in its discretion, involve independent members of the board of a portfolio entity or a third-party stakeholder in the transaction to negotiate price and terms on behalf of the BIS Clients or otherwise cause the BIS Clients to "follow the vote" thereof, and/or cause an independent client representative or other third-party to approve the investment or otherwise represent the interests of one or more of the parties to the transaction. In addition, Blackstone or the Investment Manager may limit the percentage interest of the BIS Clients participating in such transaction, or obtain appropriate price quotes or other benchmarks, or, alternatively, a third-party price opinion or other document to support the reasonableness of the price and terms of the transaction. BIS will also from time to time require the applicable BIS Clients participating in a transaction to

consent thereto. There can be no assurance that any such measures or other measures that may be implemented by Blackstone will be effective at mitigating any actual or potential conflicts of interest. Moreover, under certain circumstances (e.g. where a BIS Client participates in a transaction directly (and not through a vehicle controlled by Blackstone) and independently consents to participating in a transaction), a BIS Client (or any other Blackstone client participating via a similar arrangement) may not be an "affiliate" under Section 2(a)(3) of the 1940 Act, in which case certain limitations or obligations on affiliate transaction under Section 17 of the 1940 Act and the rules thereunder may not apply.

Acquisition of MBS affiliated with Blackstone. The Master Fund has acquired and may in the future acquire MBS whereby mortgages underlying the MBS were issued by, properties underlying the mortgages in the MBS are owned by, and/or the MBS is serviced by a Blackstone affiliate. While the Master Fund will be acquiring such MBS from third parties and will forgo all non-economic rights (including voting rights) in such MBS as long as the affiliation persists, which should mostly mitigate any conflicts of interest, there is no assurance that such procedures will adequately address all of the conflicts of interest that may arise or will address such conflicts in a manner that results in the allocation of a particular investment opportunity to the Master Fund or is otherwise favorable to the Master Fund. Since certain of the Master Fund's executives are also executives of Blackstone, the same personnel may determine the price and terms for the investments for both the Master Fund and these entities and there can be no assurance that any procedural protections, such as obtaining market prices or other reliable indicators of fair value, will prevent the consideration the Master Fund pays for these investments from exceeding their fair value or ensure that the Master Fund receives terms for a particular investment opportunity that are as favorable as those available from an independent third party.

Activities of Principals and Employees. Certain Blackstone personnel will, in certain circumstances, be subject to a variety of conflicts of interest relating to their responsibilities to the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles and portfolio entities, and their outside business activities as members of investment or advisory committees or boards of directors of or advisors to investment funds, corporations, foundations or other organizations. Such positions create a conflict if such other entities have interests that are adverse to those of the Master Fund, including if such other entities compete with the Master Fund for investment opportunities or other resources. The Blackstone personnel in question may have a greater financial interest in the performance of the other entities than the performance of the Master Fund. This involvement may create conflicts of interest in making investments on behalf of the Master Fund and such other funds, accounts and other entities. Although the Investment Manager will generally seek to minimize the impact of any such conflicts, there can be no assurance they will be resolved favorably for the Master Fund. Also, Blackstone personnel are generally permitted to invest in alternative investment funds, real estate funds, hedge funds and other investment vehicles, as well as securities of other companies, some of which will be competitors of the Master Fund. Investors will not receive any benefit from any such investments, and the financial incentives of Blackstone personnel in such other investments could be greater than their financial incentives in relation to the Master Fund.

Service Providers and Counterparties. Certain third-party advisors and other service providers and vendors to the Master Fund (including accountants, administrators, lenders, bankers, brokers, attorneys, consultants, title agents, property managers and investment or commercial banking firms) are owned by Blackstone or Other Blackstone Vehicles or provide goods or services to, or have other business, personal, financial or other relationships with, Blackstone, the Other Blackstone Vehicles and their portfolio entities, the Distributor, the Investment Manager and affiliates and personnel of the foregoing. Also, advisors, lenders, investors, commercial counterparties, vendors and service providers (including any of their affiliates or personnel) to the Master Fund could have other commercial or personal relationships with Blackstone, Other Blackstone Vehicles (including co-investment vehicles) and their respective affiliates, personnel or family members of personnel of the foregoing. Although Blackstone selects service providers and vendors it believes are most appropriate in the circumstances based on its knowledge of such service providers and vendors (which knowledge is generally greater in the case of service providers and vendors that have other relationships to Blackstone), the relationship of service providers and vendors to Blackstone as described above may influence Blackstone in deciding whether to select, recommend or form such an advisor or service provider to perform services for the Master Fund, the cost of which will generally be borne directly or indirectly by the Master Fund, as permitted by applicable law, and may incentivize Blackstone to engage such service provider over a third party, utilize the services of such

service providers and vendors more frequently than would be the case absent the conflict, or to pay such service providers and vendors higher fees or commissions than would be the case absent the conflict. The incentive could be created by current income and/or the generation of enterprise value in a service provider or vendor; Blackstone can be expected to also have an incentive to invest in or create service providers and vendors to realize on these opportunities. Fees paid to or value created in these service providers and vendors do not offset or reduce the Investment Manager's management fee and are not otherwise shared with the Master Fund. In the case of brokers of securities, the Investment Manager has a best execution policy that it updates from time to time to comply with regulatory requirements in applicable jurisdictions.

Additionally, certain personnel and other professionals of Blackstone have family members or relatives that are actively involved in industries and sectors in which the Master Fund invests or has business, personal, financial or other relationships with companies in such industries and sectors (including the advisors and service providers described above) or other industries, which gives rise to potential or actual conflicts of interest. For example, such family members or relatives might be officers, directors, personnel or owners of companies or assets which are actual or potential investments of the Master Fund or its other counterparties and portfolio properties. Moreover, in certain instances, the Master Fund can be expected to purchase or sell companies or assets from or to, or otherwise transact with, companies that are owned by such family members or relatives or in respect of which such family members or relatives have other involvement. In most such circumstances, the Master Fund will not be precluded from undertaking any of these investment activities or transactions. To the extent Blackstone determines appropriate, conflict mitigation strategies may be put in place with respect to a particular circumstance, such as internal information barriers or recusal, disclosure or other steps determined appropriate by the Investment Manager. Because Blackstone has many different businesses, including the Blackstone Capital Markets Group, which, to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act, Blackstone investment teams and portfolio entities may engage to provide underwriting and capital market advisory services, it is subject to a number of actual and potential conflicts of interest, greater regulatory oversight and subject to more legal and contractual restrictions than that to which it would otherwise be subject if it had just one line of business.

Such Blackstone-affiliated service providers, which are generally expected to receive competitive market rate fees (as determined by the Investment Manager) with respect to certain investments, include, without limitation:

*Aquicore*. Aquicore is a cloud-based platform that tracks, analyzes and predicts key metrics in real estate focused on the reduction of energy consumption. Blackstone holds a minority investment in Aquicore.

*BPM*. Blackstone Property Management is a Blackstone affiliate that provides property management, leasing oversight, corporate services (including accounting and reporting), development and construction management, and transaction support services to certain of the Master Fund's investment properties primarily located in the UK and continental Europe.

*LNLS*. Blackstone wholly owns a leading national title agency, Lexington National Land Services ("LNLS"). LNLS acts as an agent for one or more underwriters in issuing title policies and/or providing support services in connection with investments by the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles and third parties. LNLS earns fees, which would have otherwise been paid to third parties, by providing (i) title agency services and facilitating the placement of title insurance with underwriters and (ii) support services to the underwriters but not negotiating the rate or issuing the title policy to the insured. LNLS will benchmark such fees to the extent market data is available except where LNLS is part of a syndicate of title insurance companies where the rate is negotiated by other insurers or their agents.

*CTIMCO*. In December 2012, Blackstone acquired CTIMCO, which is currently operated as part of BREDS. CTIMCO operates a loan servicing and special servicing business and provide such services from time to time, to certain BREDS Vehicles and Other Blackstone Vehicles, for which it would receive fees with respect to such investment vehicles' investments. These fees do not offset management fees payable by such investment vehicles' investors.

*Optiv.* Optiv Security, Inc. is a portfolio company held by certain Blackstone private equity funds that provides a full slate of information security services and solutions and may provide goods and services for the Master Fund and its portfolio entities.

*PSAV*. PSAV, Inc. is a portfolio company held by certain Blackstone private equity funds that provides outsourced audiovisual services and event production and may provide goods and services for the Master Fund and its portfolio entities.

Data Management Services. Blackstone or an affiliate of Blackstone formed in the future may provide data management services to portfolio entities and may also provide such services directly to the Master Fund and Other Blackstone Vehicles (collectively, "Data Holders"). Such services may include assistance with obtaining, analyzing, curating, processing, packaging, organizing, mapping, holding, transforming, enhancing, marketing and selling such data (among other related data management and consulting services) for monetization through licensing or sale arrangements with third parties and, subject to applicable law, with the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles, portfolio entities and other Blackstone affiliates and associated entities (including funds in which Blackstone and Other Blackstone Vehicles make investments, and portfolio entities thereof). If Blackstone enters into data services arrangements with portfolio entities and receives compensation from such portfolio entities for such data services, the Master Fund will indirectly bear its share of such compensation based on its pro rata ownership of such portfolio entities. Where Blackstone believes appropriate, data from one Data Holder may be pooled with data from other Data Holders. Any revenues arising from such pooled data sets would be allocated between applicable Data Holders on a fair and reasonable basis as determined by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion, subject to applicable law, with the Investment Manager able to make corrective allocations should it determine subsequently that such corrections were necessary or advisable. Blackstone is expected to receive compensation for such data management services, which may include a percentage of the revenues generated through any licensing or sale arrangements with respect to the relevant data, and which compensation may also include fees, royalties and cost and expense reimbursement (including start-up costs and allocable overhead associated with personnel working on relevant matters (including salaries, benefits and other similar expenses)). Additionally, Blackstone may determine to share the products from such Data Management Services within Blackstone or its affiliates (including Other Blackstone Vehicles or their portfolio entities) at no charge and, in such cases, the Data Holders would not receive any financial or other benefit from having provided such data to Blackstone. The potential receipt of such compensation by Blackstone could create incentives for Blackstone to cause the Master Fund to invest in portfolio entities with a significant amount of data that it might not otherwise have invested in or on terms less favorable than it otherwise would have sought to obtain.

*Refinitiv.* Since inception the Master Fund had used various pricing services, including Thompson Reuters. On October 1, 2018, a consortium led by Blackstone announced that private equity funds managed by Blackstone had completed an acquisition of Thomson Reuters' Financial & Risk business ("Refinitiv"). Refinitiv operates a pricing service that provides valuation services to the registered fund industry, including the Master Fund. The pricing information provided by Refinitiv to the Master Fund is the same as the pricing information provided by Refinitiv to all other customers. Transactions relating to the Master Fund that require the use of a service provider will generally be allocated to service providers on the basis of best execution, the evaluation of which includes, among other considerations, such service provider's provision of certain investment-related services and research that the Investment Manager believes to be of benefit to the Master Fund. Advisors and other service providers or their affiliates often charge different rates or have different arrangements for different types of services. With respect to service providers, for example, the fee for a given type of work may vary depending on the complexity of the matter as well as the expertise required and demands placed on the service provider. Therefore, to the extent the types of services used by the Master Fund and/or portfolio entities are different from those used by Blackstone and its affiliates (including personnel), the Investment Manager or its affiliates (including personnel) can be expected to pay different amounts or rates than those paid by the Master Fund and/or portfolio entities. Similarly, Blackstone, its affiliates, the Master Fund, the Other Blackstone Vehicles and/or their portfolio companies can be expected to enter into agreements or other arrangements with vendors and other similar counterparties (whether such counterparties are affiliated or unaffiliated with Blackstone) from time to time whereby such counterparty will, in certain circumstances, charge lower rates (or no fee) and/or provide discounts or rebates for such counterparty's products and/or services depending on certain factors, including without limitation, volume of transactions entered into with such counterparty by Blackstone, its affiliates, the Master Fund, the Other Blackstone Vehicles and their portfolio companies in the aggregate. However,

the Investment Manager and its affiliates have a practice of not entering into any arrangements with advisors or service providers that could provide for lower rates or discounts than those available to the Master Fund, Other Blackstone Vehicles and/or portfolio entities for the same services.

Blackstone will from time to time hold equity or other investments in companies or businesses (even if they are not affiliates of Blackstone) that provide services to or otherwise contract with the Master Fund. Blackstone has in the past entered (and can be expected in the future to enter) into relationships with companies in the information technology and other industries whereby Blackstone acquires an equity or similar interest in such company. In connection with such relationships, Blackstone may also make referrals and/or introductions to the Master Fund (which may result in financial incentives (including additional equity ownership) and/or milestones benefitting Blackstone that are tied or related to participation by the Master Fund and Other Blackstone Vehicles). In the alternative, Blackstone may form a joint venture (or other business relationship) with such a portfolio entity to implement such arrangements, pursuant to which the joint venture or business provides services (including, without limitation, corporate support services, loan management services, management services, operational services, risk management services, data management services, consulting services, brokerage services, insurance procurement, placement, brokerage and consulting services, and other services) to such portfolio entities that are referred to the joint venture or business by Blackstone. Such joint venture or business could use data obtained from such portfolio entities. The Master Fund will not share in any fees or economics accruing to Blackstone as a result of these relationships and/or the Master Fund's participation in these relationships.

*Valuation Matters.* The fair value of all investments or of property received in exchange for any investments will be determined in accordance the Master Fund's valuation policies. It may be the case that the carrying value of an investment may not reflect the price at which the investment is ultimately sold in the market, and the difference between carrying value and the ultimate sales price could be material. The valuation methodologies used to value any investment may also involve assumptions and opinions about future events, which may or may not turn out to be correct. Ultimate realization of the value of an asset depends to a great extent on economic, market and other conditions beyond Blackstone's control. There will be no retroactive adjustment in the valuation of any investment, the offering price at which shares were purchased by shareholders or repurchased by the Master Fund or the fees and/or performance-based compensation paid to the Investment Manager to the extent any valuation was properly made in accordance with the Master Fund's valuation of investments will affect the amount and timing of the Master Fund's Incentive Fee and the amount of Management Fees payable to the Investment Manager. As a result, there may be circumstances where the Master Fund is incentivized to determine valuations that are higher than the actual fair value of investments. For further details on the Master Fund's valuation policies, please see "Determination of Net Asset Value and Managed Assets."

*Trading by Blackstone Personnel.* The officers, directors, members, managers and employees of the Investment Manager can be expected to trade in securities for their own accounts, subject to restrictions and reporting requirements as may be required by law and Blackstone policies, or otherwise determined from time to time by the Investment Manager.

*Other Trading and Investing Activities.* Certain Other Blackstone Vehicles can be expected to invest in securities of companies which are actual or potential companies in which the Master Fund has made or will make investments. The trading activities of those vehicles may differ from or be inconsistent with activities which are undertaken for the account of the Master Fund in such securities or related securities. In addition, the Master Fund may be precluded from pursuing an investment in an issuer as a result of such trading activities by Other Blackstone Vehicles.

*Diverse Shareholder Group.* Shareholders may have conflicting investment, tax and other interests with respect to their investments in the Fund and with respect to the interests of investors in other investment vehicles managed or advised by the Investment Manager or its affiliates that participate in the same investments as the Master Fund. The conflicting interests of individual shareholders with respect to other shareholders and relative to investors in other investment vehicles and investors relate to, among other things, the nature, structuring,

financing, tax profile and timing of disposition of investments. The Investment Manager will, in certain circumstances, have conflicts in making these decisions, which can be expected to be more beneficial for one or more (but not all) shareholder than for other shareholders. In addition, the Master Fund can be expected to make investments that will, in certain circumstances, have a negative impact on related investments made by the shareholders in separate transactions. In selecting and structuring investments appropriate for the Master Fund, the Investment Manager considers the investment and tax objectives of the Fund and its shareholders (and those of investors in other investment vehicles managed or advised by the Investment Manager or its affiliates) that participate in the same investments as the Master Fund, not the investment, tax or other objectives of any shareholder individually. In addition, certain investors can be expected to also be limited partners in Other Blackstone Vehicles, including supplemental capital vehicles and co-investment vehicles that may invest alongside the Master Fund in one or more investments, which could create conflicts for the Investment Manager in the treatment of different investors.

Shareholders can be expected to also include affiliates of Blackstone, such as Other Blackstone Vehicles, affiliates of portfolio entities, charities, foundations or other entities or programs associated with Blackstone personnel and/or current or former Blackstone personnel, Blackstone's senior advisors and operating partners, and any such affiliates, funds or persons can be expected to also invest in the Master Fund. Except as required by applicable law, all of these Blackstone-related shareholders will have equivalent rights to vote and withhold consents as nonrelated shareholders. Nonetheless, Blackstone may have the ability to influence, directly or indirectly, these Blackstone-related shareholders.

*Additional Potential Conflicts.* As a consequence of Blackstone's status as a public company, the officers, directors, members, managers and employees and those of the Investment Manager can be expected to take into account certain considerations and other factors in connection with the management of the business and affairs of the Master Fund and its affiliates that would not necessarily be taken into account if Blackstone were not a public company.

#### Management of the Fund

# **Board of Trustees**

The Fund has a Board of Trustees which supervises the conduct of the Fund's affairs and the Investment Manager's overall management of the Fund. A majority of the Board of Trustees is comprised of persons who are not "interested persons" (as defined in the 1940 Act) of the Fund. The Fund's Trustees and officers are subject to removal or replacement in accordance with Delaware law and the Fund Declaration of Trust. The Trustees serving on the Board of Trustees were elected by the initial shareholder of the Fund. The Fund's Board of Trustees also serves as the Board of Trustees of the Master Fund. References herein to the "Board" or the "Board of Trustees" refer to the Board of Trustees of the Fund or of the Master Fund, as appropriate.

# **Investment Manager**

# Overview

Blackstone Real Estate Income Advisors, L.L.C. is the Fund and the Master Fund's investment manager. The Investment Manager is an affiliate of Blackstone, which is one of the world's leading investment firms with total assets under management of \$571 billion. Blackstone's asset management businesses include investment vehicles focused on real estate, private equity, public debt and equity, growth equity, opportunistic, non-investment grade credit, real assets and secondary funds, all on a global basis. The Investment Manager is part of the Blackstone Real Estate group, which as of December 31, 2019 had approximately \$163 billion of investor capital under management in real estate funds or vehicles (including approximately \$22 billion in real estate-related debt funds or vehicles). The Investment Manager has a limited history of operations.

# Investment Process

The Master Fund's portfolio is managed day-to-day by its portfolio managers under a consistent investment and approval process utilized for all of Blackstone's liquid commercial real estate debt investment vehicles, which leverages the broader Blackstone real estate platform. The following is a brief summary of certain key aspects of the investment process the Investment Manager generally utilizes on behalf of the Master Fund.

- **Fundamental Analysis:** The Investment Manager generally utilizes an asset-by-asset valuation approach to evaluate potential investments with a focus on underlying cash flow projections, replacement costs and sector-by-sector and market-by-market supply/demand trends.
- **Opportunistic Value-Orientation Philosophy:** The Investment Manager opportunistically allocates capital to various real estate-related debt investments in different geographical areas (e.g., North America and Europe) and sectors (*e.g.*, hospitality or multifamily) and various positions in the debt capital structure that provide an attractive risk-adjusted returns at various points in the respective real estate cycle.
- **Disciplined Investment Approach:** The Investment Manager employs conservative underwriting and rigorous due diligence with respect to each investment while carefully assessing the impact of certain potential downside scenarios.
- **Concentrated, Long-term Investment Approach:** The Investment Manager utilizes extensive market research, operating knowledge and underwriting capabilities to take concentrated positions in selective investments that generally are not based on near-term market fluctuations, but rather on the long-term prospects of the underlying real estate value.
- Focus on Operations: The Investment Manager utilizes the knowledge, relationships and expertise of the existing operating team of Blackstone's real estate group to evaluate the sponsorship of potential investments.
- Long-term Positive Outlook for Real Estate: While the Master Fund may establish short positions, the Master Fund's portfolio generally will have a long bias, as the Investment Manager currently believes in the long-term macroeconomic conditions that underpin real estate values.

• Analysis of Market Cycles: The Investment Manager engages in continuous analysis of the real estate market across sectors and underlying business fundamentals, as well as the investment environment surrounding each opportunity. Given the cyclical nature of the real estate business, the timing of the investment, and its disposition, prove to be crucial factors in the ultimate success of a transaction.

#### Management Agreement

The Master Fund pays the Investment Manager an aggregate fixed management fee (the "Management Fee"), payable quarterly in arrears on the last Business Day of each quarter. The Management Fee accrues monthly at an annual rate of 1.50% of the Master Fund's Managed Assets at the end of such month before giving effect to the Management Fee payment being calculated or any purchases or repurchases of Master Fund shares or any distributions by the Master Fund. The Management Fee will reduce the NAV of the Master Fund (and indirectly, of the Fund) as of the end of the accounting period in which it is payable and after the calculation of the Management Fee. The Investment Manager will charge a pro rata portion of the Management Fee in the event of purchases or repurchases taking place during a given calendar quarter.

The contractual fee rate and related terms of the Fund's Investment Management Agreement are substantially the same as the terms of the Master Fund Investment Management Agreement, except that pursuant to the Fund's Investment Management Agreement, no investment management fee or Incentive Fee is payable by the Fund under its Investment Management Agreement with respect to any period during which the only investment security held by the Fund is that of another registered investment company. For purposes of the Investment Management, the term "investment security" has the same meaning as under Section 12(d)(1)(E) of the 1940 Act. As a result, as long as the Fund continues to invest in the Master Fund as part of a master-feeder arrangement, shareholders will incur a single fee for investment management services provided by the Investment Manager to the Fund and the Master Fund. A discussion regarding the basis for the Board of Trustees' approval of the continuation of the Fund's Investment Management Agreement is available in the Fund's annual report to shareholders for the year ended December 31, 2019.

The Investment Manager has a robust risk management process in place. On a daily basis, the Investment Manager monitors market movements, hedges interest rate and credit risk as necessary, performs diligence on new issue and secondary market investment opportunities, manages conflicts with the broader Blackstone real estate platform and documents trading. On a weekly basis, the Investment Manager produces risk reports outlining portfolio duration, individual positions and sector exposure, holds a meeting during which the portfolio managers review the various risk reports, holds a meeting of operations and compliance personnel to review compliance and trading activity and periodically holds an update meeting with members of BREDS and real estate management to discuss portfolio composition, market trends and opportunities. The Investment Manager also reviews its watch list on a monthly basis and reviews portfolio valuation. Periodically, the Investment Manager will conduct stress testing, analyze brokerage activity and costs and review portfolio liquidity in relation to market conditions.

The Investment Manager has temporarily reduced its management fee to an annualized rate of 0.75% of the Fund's or the Master Fund's Managed Assets, as the case may be, effective from October 1, 2014 until December 31, 2020 (which may be extended, terminated or modified by the Investment Manager in its sole discretion).

The investment management agreements between the Investment Manager and each of the Fund and the Master Fund provide that the Investment Manager shall not be liable for any loss arising out of any investment or for any act or omission in carrying out its duties as advisor in the absence of willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties, or reckless disregard of its obligations and duties.

The following individuals at the Investment Manager have primary responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Master Fund's portfolio: Jonathan Pollack, Michael Nash and Michael Wiebolt.

For more information about portfolio manager compensation, other accounts they manage and their ownership of securities in the Fund, please refer to the SAI.

#### Incentive Fee

The Master Fund pays the Investment Manager a performance-based Incentive Fee promptly after the end of each fiscal year of the Master Fund pursuant to the Master Fund Investment Management Agreement. The Incentive Fee is determined as of the end of the fiscal year in an amount equal to 15% of the amount by which the Master Fund's Net Capital Appreciation for each Fiscal Period (as defined below) ending within or coterminous with the close of such fiscal year exceeds the balance of the loss carryforward account and any allocated Management Fee expense for such fiscal period, and without duplication for any Incentive Fees paid during such fiscal year. The Master Fund also pays the Investment Manager the Incentive Fee in the event a Fiscal Period is triggered in connection with a share repurchase offer by the Master Fund, as described below.

For purposes of calculating the Incentive Fee, "Net Capital Appreciation" means, with respect to any Fiscal Period, the difference, if any, between:

(x) the sum of (i) the value of the Master Fund's NAV at the end of that Fiscal Period (prior to the Incentive Fee for such Fiscal Period) increased by the dollar amount of shares of the Master Fund repurchased during the Fiscal Period (excluding shares to be repurchased as of the last day of the Fiscal Period after determination of the Incentive Fee), (ii) the amount of any dividends, distributions or withdrawals paid to shareholders during the Fiscal Period and not reinvested in additional shares (excluding any dividends, distributions or withdrawals to be paid as of the last day of the Fiscal Period), and (iii) the Management Fee expense for that Fiscal Period, and

(y) the sum of (i) the value of the Master Fund's NAV at the beginning of that Fiscal Period (prior to the Management Fee for such Fiscal Period), increased by the dollar amount of shares of the Master Fund issued during the Fiscal Period (excluding any shares issued in connection with the reinvestment of dividends and other distributions paid by the Master Fund) and (ii) the amount of any subscriptions to the Master Fund during that Fiscal Period.

All calculations of Net Capital Appreciation will be made (without duplication) after deduction of all general, administrative and other operating expenses of the Master Fund (excluding the Incentive Fee) and any amounts necessary, in the Investment Manager's sole discretion, as appropriate reserves for such expenses.

"Fiscal Period" means each twelve-month period ending on the Master Fund's fiscal year-end, provided that whenever the Master Fund conducts a share repurchase offer, each of the periods of time from the last Fiscal Period-end through the effective date of the repurchase offer and the period of time from the effective date of the repurchase offer through the next Fiscal Period-end also constitutes a Fiscal Period. Upon termination of the advisory agreement, the Master Fund will pay the Incentive Fee to the Investment Manager as if the date of effectiveness of such termination is the end of the Master Fund's fiscal year. In the event that an Incentive Fee is payable with respect to a Fiscal Period that is not the Master Fund's fiscal year-end due to the Master Fund's share repurchases, the Incentive Fee will be determined as if the end of such Fiscal Period were the end of the Master Fund's fiscal year, and only that portion of the Incentive Fee that is proportional to the Master Fund's assets paid in respect of such share repurchases (not taking into account any proceeds from any contemporaneous issuance of shares of the Master Fund, by reinvestment of dividends and other distributions or otherwise) will be paid to the Investment Manager for such Fiscal Period. The Master Fund expects to conduct repurchase offers each fiscal quarter. Fiscal Periods will therefore be triggered (and, therefore, a portion of the Incentive Fee, if any, would be payable to the Investment Manager) four times each fiscal year. For purposes of determining the Master Fund's Net Capital Appreciation, the Incentive Fee is calculated and accrued monthly as an expense of the Master Fund (as if each month is the end of the Master Fund's fiscal year).

The Incentive Fee will be payable for a Fiscal Period only if there is no positive balance in the Master Fund's loss carryforward account. The loss carryforward account is an account that had an initial balance of zero upon commencement of the Master Fund's operations and, thereafter, is credited as of the end of each Fiscal Period with the amount of any Net Capital Depreciation (as defined below) of the Master Fund for that Fiscal Period and is debited with the amount of any Net Capital Appreciation of the Master Fund for that Fiscal Period, as applicable. This is sometimes known as a "high water mark." See "Summary of Fees and Expenses."
The Incentive Fee presents certain risks that are not present in investment funds without incentive fees. (See "Risk Factors—Incentive Fee Risk.") In addition, although the aggregate fees payable by the Master Fund to the Investment Manager are similar to those of private investment funds, they are higher than those paid by most registered investment companies.

"Net Capital Depreciation" means, with respect to any Fiscal Period, the difference, if any, between:

(x) the sum of (i) the value of the Fund's NAV at the beginning of that Fiscal Period (prior to the Management Fee for such Fiscal Period) increased by the dollar amount of shares of the Master Fund repurchased during the Fiscal Period (excluding shares to be repurchased as of the last day of the Fiscal Period after determination of the Incentive Fee) and (ii) the amount of any dividends, distributions or withdrawals during that Fiscal Period (excluding any dividends, distributions or withdrawals to be paid as of the last day of the Fiscal Period), and

(y) the sum of (i) the value of the Fund's NAV at the end of that Fiscal Period (prior to the Incentive Fee for such Fiscal Period), (ii) the Management Fee expense and sales load for that Fiscal Period, and (iii) the amount of any subscriptions to the Fund during that Fiscal Period.

All calculations of Net Capital Depreciation will be made (without duplication) after deduction of all general, administrative and other operating expenses of the Fund (excluding the Incentive Fee) and any amounts necessary, in the Investment Manager's sole discretion, as appropriate reserves for such expenses.

The following example illustrates how we would calculate our Incentive Fee based on the assumptions set forth below. Our actual results may differ materially from the following example.

Assume the following:

- NAV at the beginning of the Fiscal Period equals \$780,000,000;
- NAV at the end of the Fiscal Period, after paying Management Fee expenses, is \$775,000,000;
- The loss carryforward account has a balance of \$0;
- There were subscriptions of \$38,000,000 and \$110,000,000 share repurchases during the Fiscal Period; and
- \$50,000,000 in dividends were paid out to shareholders during the Fiscal Period.

Under these assumptions, the Incentive Fee payable to our Investment Manager would be \$12,300,000 as calculated below:

А.	Beginning NAV (\$780,000,000), plus dollar amount of shares issued (\$38,000,000), excluding any dividends reinvested pursuant to the DRIP (\$35,000,000)	\$853,000,000
В.	The loss carryforward account balance	\$ 0
C.	Ending NAV (\$775,000,000) plus shares repurchased (\$110,000,000) plus dividends paid out (\$50,000,000)	\$935,000,000
D.	Net Capital Appreciation is equal to the difference between subtotal C and subtotal A $\ldots \ldots$	\$ 82,000,000
E.	Incentive Fee is equal to 15% of (i) the difference of the Master Funds' Net Capital Appreciation and (ii) the balance of the loss carryforward account plus any allocated Management Fee expense	\$ 12,300,000

## **Expense Limitation Undertaking**

The Investment Manager has voluntarily entered into an "Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement" with the Fund to limit the amount of the Fund's Specified Expenses (as described below and including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses) to an amount not to exceed 0.35% per annum of the Fund's net assets (the "Expense Cap") (computed and applied on a monthly basis). "Specified Expenses" is

defined to include all expenses incurred in the business of the Fund and the Fund's pro rata share of all expenses incurred in the business of the Master Fund, including organizational costs, with the exception of: (i) the Management Fee, (ii) the Incentive Fee, (iii) brokerage costs, (iv) dividend/interest payments (including any dividend payments, interest expenses, commitment fees, or other expenses related to any leverage incurred by the Fund or Master Fund), (v) taxes, and (vi) extraordinary expenses (as determined in the sole discretion of the Investment Manager). To the extent that Specified Expenses for the Fund (including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses) for any month exceed the Expense Cap, the Investment Manager will waive its fees and/or reimburse the Fund for expenses to the extent necessary to eliminate such excess. The Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement cannot be terminated prior to December 31, 2020 without the Board's consent.

The Fund has agreed to repay the amounts borne by the Investment Manager under the Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement within the three-year period after the Investment Manager bears the expense, when and if requested by the Investment Manager, but only if and to the extent that the Specified Expenses of the Fund (including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses) are less than the lower of the Expense Cap and any expense limitation agreement then in effect with respect to the Specified Expenses. The Investment Manager bears the expense. The Investment Manager is permitted to receive such repayment from the Fund provided that the reimbursement amount does not raise the level of Specified Expenses of the Fund (including the Fund's pro rata share of the Master Fund's Specified Expenses) in the month the repayment is being made to a level that exceeds the Expense Cap or any other expense limitation agreement then in effect with respect to the Specified Expenses.

#### **Pass-Through Voting**

Whenever the Fund as an investor in the Master Fund is requested to vote on matters pertaining to the Master Fund, the Fund will seek voting instructions from shareholders and will vote its interest in the Master Fund for or against such matters proportionately to the instructions to vote for or against such matters received from the shareholders. The Fund shall vote shares of the Master Fund for which it receives no voting instructions in the same proportion as the shares of the Master Fund for which it receives voting instructions.

#### Other Service Providers to the Fund and the Master Fund

#### The Administrator and Escrow Agent

Each of the Fund and the Master Fund has appointed State Street Bank and Trust Company to serve as its administrator pursuant to an administration agreement between the Fund and the Administrator and a separate administration agreement between the Master Fund and the Administrator (each, an "Administration Agreement"). Under the Administration Agreements, the Administrator performs certain general administrative tasks for the Fund and the Master Fund, including, but not limited to, keeping financial books and records of the Fund and the Master Fund, and is permitted to delegate any or all of its duties to its affiliated entities.

Under the Administration Agreements, the Administrator will not, in the absence of negligence, willful misconduct or fraud on the part of the Administrator (or its affiliates) or a material breach by the Administrator (or its affiliates) of a material provision of an Administration Agreement (provided such breach is not caused by actions or omissions of the Fund or the Master Fund or any other agent of the Fund or the Master Fund), be liable to the Fund or the Master Fund or to any Fund shareholder or Master Fund shareholder for any act or omission, in the course of, or in connection with, the providing of services to the Fund or the Master Fund or for any loss or damage which the Fund or the Master Fund may sustain or suffer as the result of, or in the course of, the discharge by the Administrator of its duties pursuant to the Administration Agreements.

Each of the Fund and the Master Fund will indemnify the Administrator, its affiliates and its and their directors, officers, employees, representatives, delegates and agents from and against any and all claims, demands, actions and suits, and from and against any and all judgments, liabilities, losses, damages, costs, charges, reasonable attorneys' fees and other expenses of every nature and character (collectively, "Liabilities") arising out of or in

any way relating to the Administrator's performance of its obligations and duties under the applicable Administration Agreement (or the performance by any affiliate to whom services are delegated), provided that this indemnification shall not apply to the extent any such Liabilities result from the Administrator's (or such affiliates') gross negligence, willful misconduct or fraud, or from a material breach by the Administrator (or its affiliates) of a material provision of an Administration Agreement (provided such breach is not caused by actions or omissions of the Fund or the Master Fund (as applicable) or any other agent of the Fund or the Master Fund (as applicable)).

Each Administration Agreement may be terminated by either party upon 90 days prior written notice. The Administrator is a third-party service provider to the Fund and the Master Fund and is not responsible for the preparation of this Prospectus.

The Administrator serves as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent") with respect to subscription monies received from prospective investors in advance of dates when Institutional Class II Shares may be subscribed for and monies may be transmitted to the Fund.

### The Distributor

Blackstone Advisory Partners L.P. (the "Distributor"), a limited partnership under the laws of Delaware, serves as the principal underwriter of the Fund.

Pursuant to the distribution agreement between the Fund and the Distributor (the "Distribution Agreement"), the Distributor is solely responsible for the costs and expenses incurred in connection with (i) its qualification as a broker-dealer under state or federal laws, and (ii) the advertising or promotion of the offering of the Shares. The Distribution Agreement also provides that the Fund will indemnify the Distributor and its affiliates and certain other persons against certain liabilities, including certain liabilities arising under the Securities Act.

### Custodian

State Street Bank and Trust Company serves as the Custodian of the assets of the Fund and the Master Fund, and may maintain custody of such assets with U.S. subcustodians and foreign custody managers (which may be banks, trust companies, securities depositories and clearing agencies), subject to policies and procedures approved by the Board of Trustees. Assets of the Fund and the Master Fund are not held by State Street Bank and Trust Company or commingled with the assets of other accounts, except to the extent that securities may be held in the name of the Custodian, subcustodian or foreign custody manager in a securities depository, clearing agency or omnibus customer account. The Custodian's principal business address is 1 Iron Street, Boston, MA 02110.

### Transfer Agent

State Street Bank and Trust Company serves as the transfer agent for the Fund and the Master Fund (the "Transfer Agent"). The Transfer Agent's principal business address is One Heritage Drive, North Quincy, MA 02171.

### Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board has selected Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm of the Fund and the Master Fund. Deloitte's principal business address is 30 Rockefeller Plaza, New York, New York 10112.

## Legal Counsel

Certain legal matters in connection with the Shares have been passed upon for the Fund by Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, New York, New York. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP relied as to certain matters of Delaware law on the opinion of Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A.

#### **Control Persons**

A control person is any person who owns beneficially more than 25% of the Shares or who is otherwise deemed to "control" the Fund. Such person may be able to determine or significantly influence the outcome of matters submitted to a vote of the Fund's shareholders. As of April 1, 2020, the Fund did not know of any person or entity who owned beneficially more than 25% of the Shares.

### **Subscription for Shares**

## The Offering

Institutional Class II Shares are being offered on a continuous basis at their NAV per share and may be purchased as of the first Business Day of any month, or at such other times as the Board may determine. Institutional Class II Shares may be purchased only from selected broker-dealers or through the Distributor. This offering may be terminated at any time at the Fund's sole discretion.

Institutional Class II Shares are being offered only to "Qualified Investors" as defined below. The minimum initial investment in the Fund by an investor is \$25,000. Subsequent investments must be at least \$5,000. These minimums may be waived by the Fund or the Investment Manager from time to time for certain investors.

The full subscription amount is payable in federal funds, which must be received by the Fund not later than three Business Days before the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase. However, in the Fund's discretion, subscription amounts received after this deadline (but before the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase) may be accepted. Investors will not have a rescission right after payment of the subscription amount is made. Institutional Class II Shares purchased will be issued at the NAV as of the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase. Notice of each Institutional Class II Share transaction will be furnished to shareholders (or their financial representatives) as soon as practicable but not later than seven Business Days after the Fund's NAV is determined and credited to the shareholder's account, together with information relevant for personal and tax records. While a shareholder will not know the NAV applicable on the effective date of the Share purchase, the NAV applicable to a purchase of Institutional Class II Share purchase; at that time, the number of Institutional Class II Shares based on that NAV and each shareholder's subscription amount will be determined and Shares are credited to the shareholder's account. The NAV for any given month may change significantly from the prior month's NAV or as of the time you submit your subscription agreement.

Pending investment in the Fund, the proceeds of this offering will be deposited in an escrow account maintained by the Escrow Agent, as escrow agent for benefit of shareholders. Shareholders will not earn interest with respect to funds held in the escrow account. If a closing does not occur, the subscription amount will be returned to the investor.

Each prospective shareholder must complete the subscription documents, in which the prospective shareholder must certify, among other things, that he or she is a "Qualified Investor" and meets other requirements for investment. In order for a subscription to be accepted, the Distributor must receive the executed subscription documents at least five Business Days before the date as of which Shares are to be issued. However, in the Fund's discretion, subscription documents received after this deadline (but before the effective date of the Institutional Class II Share purchase) may be accepted.

## **Qualified Investors**

Each prospective shareholder in the Fund will be required to certify to the Fund that the Institutional Class II Shares are being acquired for the account of a "qualified client" as defined in Rule 205-3(d)(1) under the Advisers Act. Shareholders who are "qualified clients" are referred to in this Prospectus as "Qualified Investors." An individual will generally be considered a Qualified Investor if immediately prior to their subscription they have (i) at least \$1 million under the management of the Investment Manager or (ii) at least \$2.1 million in net worth. Existing shareholders who subscribe for additional Institutional Class II Shares will be required to qualify as Qualified Investors at the time of each additional purchase. Qualifications that must be met in becoming a shareholder are set out in the application form that must be completed by each prospective investor. The Distributor and/or any selling agent may impose additional eligibility requirements for investors who purchase Shares through the Distributor or such selling agent.

### Suitability of Investment

An investment in the Fund involves a considerable amount of risk. It is possible that a prospective shareholder may lose some or all of his or her investment. Before making an investment decision, a prospective shareholder

should consider, among other things: (i) the suitability of the investment with respect to such prospective shareholder's investment objectives and personal situation; and (ii) other factors, including such investor's personal net worth, income, age, risk tolerance, tax situation and liquidity needs. Prospective shareholders should be aware of how the Fund's and the Master Fund's investment objective and strategies fit into their overall investment portfolio, as the Fund is not designed to be, by itself, a well-balanced investment for any particular investor.

### **Distribution Arrangements**

The Distributor acts as the distributor of Institutional Class II Shares on a best efforts basis, subject to various conditions, pursuant to the terms of the Distribution Agreement. The Institutional Class II Shares are not subject to a sales load. The Fund is not obligated to sell to a broker-dealer any Institutional Class II Shares that have not been placed with shareholders that meet all applicable requirements to invest in the Fund.

Neither the Distributor nor any other broker-dealer is obligated to buy from the Fund any of the Institutional Class II Shares. There is no minimum number of Institutional Class II Shares (by all shareholders in aggregate) required to be purchased in this offering, other than the minimum investment requirements applicable to individual shareholders described therein. The Distributor does not intend to make a market in the Institutional Class II Shares. To the extent consistent with applicable law, the Fund has agreed to indemnify the Distributor against certain liabilities under the Securities Act.

Subject to the cap on expenses pursuant to the Expense Limitation and Reimbursement Agreement, the Fund agreed to pay for certain expenses of the Distributor in connection with this offering in the amount not exceeding \$20,000.

The Fund operates pursuant to an exemptive order that has been granted by the SEC to permit the Fund to offer multiple classes of shares. Pursuant to the terms of the SEC exemptive order the Fund is required to adhere to Rule 12b-1 under the 1940 Act as if the Fund was a registered open-end investment company.

The Investment Manager and/or its affiliates may pay additional compensation, out of its own assets and not as an additional charge to the Fund or the Master Fund, to selling agents in connection with the sale and/or distribution of Institutional Class II Shares or the retention and/or servicing of shareholder accounts. This compensation would be in addition to compensation paid by the Fund, which is described in this Prospectus, and may be a fixed dollar amount, based on the number of customer accounts maintained by the selling agent or based on a percentage of the value of Shares sold to, or held by, customers of the selling agent. The level of such payments may be substantial and may be different for different selling agents. These payments may create incentives on the part of a selling agent to view the Fund favorably compared with investment funds that do not make these payments, or that make smaller payments: Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated ("Merrill Lynch"). The level of payments made to Merrill Lynch will not exceed 0.225% of the assets attributable to Merrill Lynch customers invested in the Fund.

### Distributions

The following table sets forth information about distributions the Fund paid its shareholders and the sources of those distributions. Past distributions are not indicative of future distributions. Distributions may fluctuate from time to time and are not guaranteed. Any distributions the Fund makes are at the discretion of the Board, considering factors such as the Fund's earnings, cash flow, capital needs and general financial condition and the requirements of Delaware law.

Year	Record Date	Payable Date	Per Share Distribution	Source(s) of Distribution
2020	First Quarter	None	None	N/A
2019	December 27	January 17, 2020	\$34.48	Ordinary Income (59.05%), Long Term Capital Gains (15.87%), Short Term Capital Gains (25.08%)
	September 27	October 18	\$13.53	Ordinary Income
	June 27	July 19	\$14.00	Ordinary Income
	March 29	April 19	\$14.68	Ordinary Income
2018	December 28	January 17, 2019	\$29.32	Ordinary Income (13.51%), Long Term Capital Gains (53.95%), Short Term Capital Gains (32.54%)
	September 28	October 19	\$14.75	Ordinary Income
	June 28	July 23	\$13.59	Ordinary Income
	March 29	April 17	\$12.97	Ordinary Income
2017	December 30	January 17, 2018	\$14.68	Ordinary Income
	September 29	October 17	\$10.56	Ordinary Income
	June 29	July 17	\$11.15	Ordinary Income
	March 30	April 17	\$11.21	Ordinary Income
2016	December 30	January 16, 2017	\$35.75	Ordinary Income <sup>(1)</sup>
	September 29	October 17	\$ 9.78	Ordinary Income
	June 29	July 15	\$10.31	Ordinary Income
	March 30	April 15	\$11.61	Ordinary Income
2015	December 30	January 15, 2016	\$11.86	Ordinary Income (72.26%), Short-Term Capital Gains (18.97%), Long Term Capital Gains (7.59%), Return of Capital (1.18%)
	September 29	October 15	\$10.31	Ordinary Income (86.61%), Short-Term Capital Gains (10.18%), Return of Capital (3.20%)
	June 29 March 30	July 15 April 15	\$10.65 \$10.16	Ordinary Income Ordinary Income
2014	December 30	January 15, 2015	\$11.52	Ordinary Income (87.94%), Return of Capital (12.06%)
	September 29 June 30	October 16 July 16	\$ 6.30 \$ 4.12	Ordinary Income Ordinary Income

<sup>(1)</sup> \$10.20 of which was from net distributable investment income and \$25.55 of which was from currency gains and swap income.

The Fund expects to generally pay distributions on the Shares quarterly in amounts representing substantially all of its net investment income, if any. The Fund will pay substantially all taxable net capital gain realized on investments at least annually. For distributions made with respect to quarters that do not correspond to the end of a fiscal year, net investment income excludes the effect of Incentive Fees payable to the Investment Manager with respect to realized and unrealized gains on the value of the Master Fund's investments, which are determined and paid as of the end of a fiscal year and fluctuate from period to period until such time.

Pursuant to the Plan, unless a shareholder is ineligible or otherwise elects, all distributions (including capital gain distributions) will be automatically reinvested by the Fund in additional Shares. See "Repurchases and Transfers of Shares—Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan."

#### **Determination of Net Asset Value and Managed Assets**

The NAV of each class of the Fund and the Master Fund will be equivalent to its assets less its liabilities, including accrued fees and expenses, as of any date of determination. Because of the differences in service fees and class-specific expenses, the per share NAV of each class may differ. Because the Fund invests substantially all of its assets in the Master Fund, the value of the Fund's assets will depend on the value of its investment in the Master Fund and, thus, the value of the Master Fund's portfolio. The NAV of each class of the Fund and the Master Fund and the NAV per share of the Fund and the Master Fund generally will be calculated by the Administrator as of the end of each calendar month in accordance with the valuation principles set forth below or as may be determined from time to time pursuant to policies established by the Boards of the Fund and the Master Fund.

For purposes of calculating the Master Fund's NAV, the Master Fund values its investments in securities, securities sold short, derivative financial instruments and other investments (together, the "investments") based on market quotations or at fair value. Market quotations can be obtained from third party pricing service providers or, if not available from pricing service providers, from broker-dealers. When reliable price quotations for securities are available from multiple sources, the Investment Manager will use commercially reasonable efforts to use two or more quotations and will value such securities based on the average of the quotations obtained. U.S. GAAP defines fair value as the price that the Master Fund would receive to sell an asset or pay to transfer a liability (i.e., the exit price) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Board has established procedures for determining the fair value of investments (the "Valuation Procedures"). The Board has delegated to the Investment Manager day-to-day responsibility for implementing the Valuation Procedures. The Investment Manager administers the valuation and pricing function of the Master Fund for all investments. Pursuant to the Valuation Procedures, if market quotations are not readily available (or are otherwise not reliable for a particular investment), the fair value will be determined in good faith by the Investment Manager, and such determinations shall be reported to the Board. Due to the inherent uncertainty of these determinations, determinations of fair value may differ from the values that would have been used had a ready market for these investments existed and the differences could be material. Market quotes are considered not readily available in circumstances where there is an absence of current or reliable market-based data (e.g., trade information, bid/ask information, or pricing service quotations). The Board has delegated to the Investment Manager the responsibility for monitoring significant events that may materially affect the values of the Master Fund's investments and for determining whether the value of the applicable investments should be re-evaluated in light of such significant events.

Managed Assets is determined as net assets, plus the amount of leverage for investment purposes.

#### **Repurchases and Transfers of Shares**

#### No Right of Redemption

The Fund is a closed-end investment company, and therefore no shareholder will have the right to require the Fund to redeem its Shares. No public market for Shares exists, and none is expected to develop in the future. Consequently, shareholders generally will not be able to liquidate their investment other than as a result of repurchases of their Shares by the Fund.

#### **Repurchases of Shares**

The Fund from time to time may offer to repurchase a portion (generally, 10–25% of the Fund's net assets, however, such amount may vary) of its outstanding Shares pursuant to written tenders by shareholders. Repurchases will be made only at such times and on such terms as may be determined by the Board, in its complete and exclusive discretion. Shareholders who tender Shares within the 12-month period following acquisition will be subject to an Early Withdrawal Fee, as described below under "Early Withdrawal Fee." In determining whether the Fund should repurchase Shares from shareholders pursuant to written tenders, the Fund's Board will consider the Investment Manager's recommendation. The Investment Manager expects that it will recommend to the Fund's Board that the Fund conduct quarterly repurchases. If a shareholder who is a participant in the Fund's Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan (the "Plan") elects to tender its Shares in full and such full tender is accepted by the Fund, such shareholder's participation in the Plan will be automatically terminated as of the applicable Tender Valuation Date and any distributions due to such shareholder but not yet paid as of such date will be paid in cash on the scheduled dividend payment date.

The Fund's assets consist primarily of its investment in the Master Fund. Therefore, in order to fund the repurchase of Shares pursuant to tender offers, the Fund may find it necessary to liquidate all or a portion of its investment in the Master Fund. Shares of the Master Fund are subject to significant transfer restrictions. The Master Fund is a closed-end investment company and the Fund does not have the right to require the Master Fund to redeem the shares of the Master Fund held by the Fund. Therefore, the Fund typically may withdraw all or a portion of its investment in the Master Fund only pursuant to repurchase offers by the Master Fund. The Fund ordinarily will not offer to repurchase Shares unless the Master Fund conducts a repurchase offer for the Master Fund's shares. The Master Fund's Board expects that the Master Fund will conduct repurchase offers on a quarterly basis in order to permit the Fund to undertake quarterly repurchase offers following procedures that are substantially similar to those employed by the Fund. However, there are no assurances that the Master Fund's Board will, in fact, decide to conduct repurchase offers on this or any other schedule. The Fund generally cannot make a repurchase offer larger than the repurchase offer made by the Master Fund to the Fund. Moreover, the Master Fund currently has one other investor other than the Fund, BREIF, and if a repurchase offer by the Master Fund is fully subscribed or oversubscribed, the Fund only would have access to a pro rata portion of the offer by the Master Fund based on the size of its investment in the Master Fund relative to the size of the investments in the Master Fund by BREIF. It is anticipated that each repurchase offer made by the Master Fund will extend only to a specified portion of the Master Fund's net assets, based upon, among other things, the liquidity of the Master Fund's assets. Because the Master Fund's assets are expected to be both liquid and illiquid, it is anticipated that repurchase offers of the Master Fund, and consequently those of the Fund, will be accordingly limited. The Master Fund will typically make repurchase offers, if any, to all of its investors, including the Fund, on the same terms, which practice may also affect the size of the Master Fund's offers.

In addition to considering the Investment Manager's recommendation, the Fund's Board also will consider the following factors, among others, in determining the timing and terms of any offers to repurchase Shares:

- Whether any shareholders have requested that the Fund repurchase their Shares;
- The liquidity of the Master Fund's assets;
- The investment plans and working capital requirements of the Fund and the Master Fund;
- The relative economies of scale with respect to the size of the Fund;
- The history of the Fund in repurchasing Shares;

- The condition of the securities markets; and
- The anticipated tax and/or regulatory consequences of any proposed repurchases of Shares.

The Board will determine that the Fund repurchase Shares from shareholders pursuant to written tenders only on terms it determines to be fair to the Fund and to all shareholders or persons holding Shares acquired from shareholders, as applicable. When the Board determines that the Fund will repurchase Shares, notice will be prepared describing the terms of such repurchase, and containing information shareholders should consider in deciding whether and how to participate in such repurchase opportunity. Shareholders who are deciding whether to tender Shares during the period that a repurchase offer is open will not know the NAV of their Shares at the time of tender, but may ascertain the current NAV of their Shares from the Transfer Agent.

Unless the Board permits revocation, repurchases will be irrevocable after receipt and acceptance by the Fund of eligible written tenders of Shares from shareholders by the applicable repurchase offer deadline. If a repurchase offer is oversubscribed by shareholders who tender Shares, the Fund may extend the repurchase offer period, repurchase a pro rata portion of the Shares tendered or take any other action permitted by applicable law.

Repurchase offers will generally commence approximately 95 days prior to the last day of March, June, September and December each year (each such last date is referred to as a "Tender Valuation Date") and remain open for approximately 30 calendar days. However, there is no guarantee that the Investment Manager will recommend or that the Board of Trustees will approve any repurchase offer.

Payment for repurchased Shares may be made in cash or by the distribution of securities in kind, or partly in cash and partly in-kind. However, the Fund does not expect to distribute securities in kind except in the unlikely event that making a cash payment is not feasible or would result in a material adverse effect to the Master Fund, the Fund, or shareholders not tendering Shares for repurchase. Any in-kind distribution of securities is likely to consist of unmarketable securities (valued pursuant to procedures approved by the Board), which would be distributed to all tendering shareholders on an equal basis to the extent practicable. Shareholders may be unable to liquidate such securities in a timely manner, may incur brokerage or other transaction costs in liquidating such securities, and may receive a lower price upon liquidation of such securities than the value assigned to them by the Fund at the time of distribution.

If a shareholder tenders Shares and the Fund purchases those Shares, the Fund will ordinarily effect payment for those Shares by issuing the shareholder a non-interest-bearing, non-transferable promissory note entitling the shareholder to the payment described below:

(i) an initial payment equal to 95% of the unaudited NAV of the Shares tendered and purchased, determined as of the Tender Valuation Date (the "Initial Payment"), which will be paid to the shareholder, unless the existence of changes in tax or other laws or regulations or unusual market conditions result in a delay, the later of (a) 30 days after the Tender Valuation Date or (b) if the Fund has requested the repurchase of all or a portion of its investment in the Master Fund in order to fund the purchase of Shares, ten Business Days after the Fund has received at least 95% of the aggregate purchase amount from the Master Fund; and

(ii) a contingent payment (the "Contingent Payment") equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the NAV of the Shares tendered as of the Tender Valuation Date and purchased as of the Tender Valuation Date over (b) the Initial Payment; such Contingent Payment to be payable promptly after completion of the Fund's next annual audit.

The Fund may make multiple audit adjustments to repurchase payment amounts in the event that additional relevant information becomes available following the Fund's annual audit. Although the Fund has the option to pay all or a portion of the Initial Payment and Contingent Payment by distributing securities, such amounts are expected to be paid entirely in cash. Other than the Early Withdrawal Fee described below (if applicable), the Fund does not expect to impose any charges on repurchases of Institutional Class II Shares in the Fund.

A shareholder tendering for repurchase less than all of its Shares must maintain a minimum account balance after the repurchase is effected, the amount of which will be established by the Fund from time to time and is currently \$25,000. If a shareholder tenders a number of Shares that would cause the aggregate NAV of the shareholder's

Share holdings to fall below the required minimum, the Fund reserves the right to reduce the amount to be repurchased from the shareholder so that the required minimum balance is maintained. The Fund may also repurchase all of such a shareholder's Shares in the Fund. The Fund or the Investment Manager may waive the minimum account balance from time to time.

The Fund's, and a Share's, NAV may change materially from the date a tender offer is mailed to the Tender Valuation Date (or any later valuation date if the tender offer is extended), and to the effective date of repurchase, and it also may change materially shortly after a tender is completed. The method by which the Fund calculates its NAV is discussed under the caption "Determination of Net Asset Value and Managed Assets" and additional risks are discussed under "Risk Factors—Liquidity Risks."

The Investment Manager and its affiliates may tender for repurchase in connection with any repurchase offer made by the Fund any Share that it holds in its capacity as a shareholder.

#### Consequences of Repurchase Offers

The Fund believes that repurchase offers generally will be beneficial to the Fund's shareholders, and typically will be funded from available cash or sales of portfolio securities of the Master Fund. However, payment for repurchased Shares may require the Master Fund to liquidate portfolio holdings earlier than the Investment Manager otherwise would liquidate such holdings, potentially resulting in losses, and may increase the Master Fund's portfolio turnover. The Investment Manager takes measures to attempt to avoid or minimize such potential losses and turnover, and instead of liquidating portfolio holdings, may borrow money to finance repurchases of Shares. If the Fund or the Master Fund borrows to finance repurchases, interest on that borrowing will negatively affect shareholders who do not tender their Shares in a repurchase offer by increasing the Fund's or the Master Fund's expenses and reducing any net investment income. To the extent the Fund or the Master Fund finances repurchase proceeds by selling Fund or Master Fund investments, the Fund or the Master Fund may hold a larger proportion of its total assets in less liquid securities. Accordingly, non-tendering shareholders will own a proportionally greater amount of illiquid investments which may adversely affect their ability to tender their Shares for repurchase in subsequent tender offers, as well as the Fund's ability to conduct future tender offers at all. Also, the sale of securities to fund repurchases could reduce the market price of those securities, which in turn would reduce the Fund's NAV. In addition, the repurchase of Shares by the Fund may be a taxable event to tendering and, in certain cases, non-tendering shareholders. See "Tax Considerations."

Repurchase of the Fund's Shares will reduce the amount of outstanding Shares and its net assets. A reduction in the Fund's net assets will tend to increase the Fund's expense ratio.

#### Early Withdrawal Fee

The amount a shareholder is entitled to be paid for Shares tendered to the Fund with a tender valuation date within 12 months of the original issue date of such Shares will be reduced by 2% of the NAV of the Shares repurchased by the Fund; this reduction is referred to herein as an "Early Withdrawal Fee." For illustrative purposes, a shareholder that acquired Shares on April 1 will not incur an Early Withdrawal Fee for participating in a repurchase offer that has a Tender Valuation Date of March 31 of the following year. If applicable, payment of the Early Withdrawal Fee will be made by reducing the repurchase proceeds. The Early Withdrawal Fee will be retained by the Fund for the benefit of remaining shareholders. Shares repurchased will be treated as having been repurchased on a "first-in/first-out" basis. Therefore, the portion of Shares repurchased will be deemed to have been taken from the earliest Shares repurchased by such shareholder. The Investment Manager may waive the Early Withdrawal Fee in its sole discretion under certain circumstances.

#### **Forced Redemption**

The Fund may (i) repurchase all or any portion of the Shares of a shareholder or any person acquiring Shares or portion of the Shares from or through a shareholder without consent or other action by the shareholder or other person or (ii) cause a shareholder to sell all or a portion of its Shares to another shareholder, at the most recently

calculated NAV of such shareholder's Shares, for any reason deemed advisable by the Board, including but not limited to situations in which:

- the Shares (or a portion of the Shares) have been transferred without the Investment Manager's approval or the Shares (or a portion of the Shares) has vested in any person other than by operation of law as the result of the death, disability, dissolution, bankruptcy or incompetence of a shareholder;
- ownership of the Shares (or portion of the Shares) by a shareholder or other person is likely to cause the Fund to be in violation of, or subject the Fund to additional registration or regulation under, the securities, commodities or other laws of the United States or any other relevant jurisdiction, or may in the judgment of the Board or the Investment Manager subject the Fund or any shareholder to an undue risk of adverse tax (such as the Fund no longer being treated as a RIC) or other fiscal or regulatory consequences;
- continued ownership of the Shares (or portion of the Shares) by the shareholder or other person may be harmful or injurious to the business of the Fund, the Master Fund, the Board of the Fund or the Master Fund, the Investment Manager, or prevent the Investment Manager from receiving any fees in respect of the Fund or such shareholder;
- any of the representations and warranties made by a shareholder in connection with the acquisition of the Shares (or portion of the Shares) was not true when made or has ceased to be true; or
- the value of a shareholder's Shares is less than an amount that the Board determines to be a minimum investment in the Fund, or more than an amount that the Board determines to be a maximum investment in the Fund.

### **Transfer of Shares**

Shares will not be traded on any securities exchange or other market. Shares may not be assigned, transferred, pledged, mortgaged, hypothecated, sold or otherwise disposed of, encumbered or conveyed (each a "Transfer"), except (i) by operation of law resulting from a shareholder's death, disability, dissolution, bankruptcy or incompetence or (ii) with the written consent of the Board or the Investment Manager (as applicable), which consent may be withheld in the Board's or the Investment Manager's (as applicable) sole discretion and shall not be subject to challenge by any potential assignor or assignee. The Board may, in its discretion, delegate to the Investment Manager its authority to consent to transfers of Shares. Unless waived by the Fund, Shares may not be transferred unless the Fund has received a written opinion of its counsel (at the expense of the transferor) that such transfer qualifies for an exemption from such registration under the Securities Act or the regulations thereunder.

Any transferee acquiring Shares by operation of law as a result of the death, disability, dissolution, bankruptcy or incompetence of a shareholder or otherwise will be entitled to (i) the distributions paid on the Shares so acquired, (ii) to Transfer all or any portion of the Shares in accordance with the terms of the Fund Declaration of Trust and (iii) to tender all or any portion of the Shares for repurchase by the Fund. Notice to the Fund of any proposed transfer must include evidence satisfactory to the Fund that the proposed transferee meets any requirements imposed by the Fund with respect to shareholder eligibility and suitability, including the requirement that any shareholder, or the shareholder's equity owners in certain circumstances, at the time of purchase meets the standard for a Qualified Investor. If a shareholder Transfers its Shares with the approval of the Board or the Investment Manager (as applicable), the Fund will promptly take all necessary actions so that each transferee or successor to whom the Shares are transferred is admitted to the Fund as a shareholder. Each shareholder and transferee is required to pay all expenses, including attorneys and accountants fees, incurred by the Fund in connection with such transfer.

In subscribing for Shares, a shareholder agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Fund, the Board, the Investment Manager, each other shareholder and their affiliates against all losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including legal or other expenses incurred in investigating or defending against any losses, claims, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses or any judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement), joint or several, to which those persons may become subject by reason of or arising from any Transfer made by that shareholder in violation of these provisions or any misrepresentation made by that shareholder in connection with any Transfer.

### Automatic Dividend Reinvestment Plan

Pursuant to the Plan, unless a shareholder is ineligible or otherwise elects, all distributions (including capital gain distributions) will be automatically reinvested by the Fund in additional Institutional Class II Shares. Election not to participate in the Plan and to receive all distributions in cash may be made at any time by indicating that choice on the subscription documents or by sending written notice to the Administrator in accordance with the Plan at 1 Iron Street, Boston, MA 02110. A shareholder holding Shares through an Intermediary may elect to receive cash by notifying the intermediary (who should be directed to inform the Administrator in writing) at any time. If, however, a shareholder requests to change its election within 95 days prior to a distribution, the request will be effective only with respect to distributions after the 95 day period.

After the Fund determines to make a distribution, participants will be issued additional Shares at their then NAV as of the dividend date. Notice of each such Share transaction will be furnished as soon as practicable but not later than seven Business Days after the Fund's NAV is determined and credited to the shareholder's account, together with information relevant for personal and tax records.

In the case of persons, such as banks, brokers or nominees, who hold Shares for others who are the beneficial owners, the Plan will be administered on the basis of the number of Shares certified from time to time by the record holders as representing the total amount registered in the record holder's name and held for the account of beneficial owners who are participants in the Plan. Shareholders who intend to hold their shares through a broker or nominee should contact such broker or nominee to determine whether or how they may participate in the Plan.

The automatic reinvestment of distributions will not relieve participants of any U.S. federal income tax that may be payable on such distributions. See "Tax Considerations."

There is no direct service charge for participation in the Plan; however, the Fund reserves the right to amend the Plan to include a service charge payable by the participants. Additional information about the Plan and a shareholder's account may be obtained by contacting the Administrator at 1 Iron Street, Boston, MA 02110 or by calling the Administrator at (855) 890-7725.

The terms and conditions of the Plan may be amended by the Fund at any time or times but, except when necessary or appropriate to comply with applicable law or the rules or policies of the SEC or any other regulatory authority, only by sending written notice to the participants at least 30 days prior to the effective date thereof.

### **Description of Shares**

#### **Common Shares**

The Fund is a statutory trust organized under the laws of Delaware pursuant to the Fund Declaration of Trust. The Fund is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Shares and may divide the Shares into one or more classes (each, a "Class"). The Shares are currently offered in two Classes. Each Class has a separate distribution fee arrangement but otherwise has the same rights and privileges as the other Class. Each Share has one vote and, when issued and paid for in accordance with the terms of this offering, will be fully paid and non-assessable. The holders of the Shares will not be entitled to receive any distributions from the Fund unless all accrued interest, fees and distributions, if any, with respect to the Fund's leverage have been paid, unless certain asset coverage tests with respect to the leverage employed by the Fund are satisfied after giving effect to the distributions and unless certain other requirements imposed by any rating agencies rating any Preferred Shares issued by the Fund have been met. See "—Preferred Shares" below. All Shares of each Class are equal as to distributions, assets and voting privileges and have no conversion, preemptive or other subscription rights. The Fund sends annual and semi-annual reports, including financial statements, to all holders of its Shares.

Any additional offerings of shares will require approval by the Fund's Board of Trustees. Any additional offering of Shares will be subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act, which provides that shares may not be issued at a price below the then current NAV, except in connection with an offering to existing holders of the Shares or with the consent of a majority of the Fund's outstanding voting securities.

The Fund's NAV will be reduced immediately following the offering of the Shares by the amount of the offering expenses paid by the Fund. See "Summary—Fund Expenses."

The Shares are designed primarily for long-term investors and you should not purchase the Shares if you intend to sell them soon after purchase.

#### **Preferred Shares**

The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that the Board of Trustees of the Fund may authorize and issue Preferred Shares, with rights as determined by the Board of Trustees, without the approval of the holders of the Shares. Holders of the Shares have no preemptive right to purchase any Preferred Shares that might be issued.

While the Fund does not anticipate doing so, it may issue Preferred Shares. The Board of Trustees reserves the right to change the foregoing percentage limitation and may issue Preferred Shares to the extent permitted by the 1940 Act, which currently limits the aggregate liquidation preference of all outstanding Preferred Shares to 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets, less liabilities and indebtedness of the Fund. We cannot assure you, however, that Preferred Shares will not be issued. The terms of any Preferred Shares, including distribution rate, liquidation preference and redemption provisions restrictions on the declaration of distributions, maintenance of asset ratios and restrictions while distributions are in arrears will be determined by the Board of Trustees, subject to applicable law, and the Fund Declaration of Trust. The Fund also believes that it is likely that the liquidation preference, voting rights and redemption provisions of any Preferred Shares will be similar to those stated below.

In the event of any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Fund, the holders of any Preferred Shares will be entitled to receive a preferential liquidating distribution. After payment of the full amount of the liquidating distribution to which they are entitled, the holders of Preferred Shares will not be entitled to any further participation in any distribution of assets by the Fund.

The 1940 Act requires that the holders of any Preferred Shares, voting separately as a single class, have the right to elect at least two trustees at all times. The remaining trustees will be elected by holders of the Shares and Preferred Shares, voting together as a single class. In addition, subject to the prior rights, if any, of the holders of any other class of senior securities outstanding, the holders of any Preferred Shares have the right to elect a majority of the trustees of the Fund at any time two years' distributions on any Preferred Shares are unpaid. The 1940 Act also requires that, in addition to any approval by shareholders that might otherwise be required, the

approval of the holders of a majority of any outstanding Preferred Shares, voting separately as a class, would be required to (i) adopt any plan of reorganization that would adversely affect the Preferred Shares and (ii) take any action requiring a vote of security holders under Section 13(a) of the 1940 Act, including, among other things, changes in the Fund's sub-classification as a closed-end investment company or changes in its fundamental investment restrictions. See "Certain Provisions in the Fund Declaration of Trust." As a result of these voting rights, the Fund's ability to take any such actions may be impeded to the extent that there are any Preferred Shares outstanding. The Board of Trustees presently intends that, except as otherwise indicated in this Prospectus and except as otherwise required by applicable law, holders of Preferred Shares will have equal voting rights with holders of Shares (one vote per share, unless otherwise required by the 1940 Act) and will vote together with holders of Shares as a single class.

The terms of any Preferred Shares issued by the Fund are expected to provide that the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority of any outstanding Preferred Shares, voting as a separate class, would be required to amend, alter or repeal any of the preferences, rights or powers of holders of Preferred Shares so as to affect materially and adversely such preferences, rights or powers, or to increase or decrease the authorized number of Preferred Shares. The class vote of holders of Preferred Shares described above will in each case be in addition to any other vote required to authorize the action in question.

The terms of any Preferred Shares issued by the Fund are expected to provide that (i) they are redeemable by the Fund in whole or in part at the original purchase price per share plus accrued distributions per share; (ii) the Fund may tender for or purchase Preferred Shares and (iii) the Fund may subsequently resell any Preferred Shares so tendered for or purchased. Any redemption or purchase of Preferred Shares by the Fund will reduce the leverage applicable to the Shares, while any resale of such Preferred Shares by the Fund will increase that leverage.

The discussion above describes the possible offering of Preferred Shares by the Fund. If the Board of Trustees determines to proceed with such an offering, the terms of the Preferred Shares may be the same as, or different from, the terms described above, subject to applicable law and the terms of the Fund Declaration of Trust. The Board of Trustees, without the approval of the holders of the Shares, may authorize an offering of Preferred Shares or may determine not to authorize such an offering, and may fix the terms of the Preferred Shares to be offered.

#### **Certain Provisions in the Fund Declaration of Trust**

The Fund Declaration of Trust includes provisions that could have the effect of limiting the ability of other entities or persons to acquire control of the Fund or to change the composition of its Board of Trustees. This could have the effect of depriving shareholders of an opportunity to sell their shares at a premium over prevailing market prices by discouraging a third party from seeking to obtain control over the Fund. Such attempts could have the effect of increasing the expenses of the Fund and disrupting the normal operation of the Fund.

The Fund Declaration of Trust grants special approval rights with respect to certain matters to members of the Board of Trustees who qualify as "Continuing Trustees," which term means Trustees who either (i) have been members of the Board of Trustees for a period of at least thirty-six months or (ii) were nominated to serve as members of the Board of Trustees by a majority of the Continuing Trustees then members of the Board of Trustees.

The Fund Declaration of Trust requires the affirmative vote or consent of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the Trustees and holders of at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the Fund's shares (including common and Preferred Shares of beneficial interest) to authorize certain Fund transactions not in the ordinary course of business, including a merger or consolidation, certain issuances or transfers by the Fund of the Fund's shares (except as may be pursuant to a public offering, the Fund's dividend reinvestment plan or upon exercise of any stock subscription rights), certain sales, transfers or other dispositions of Fund assets, or any shareholder proposal regarding specific investment decisions, unless the transaction is authorized by both a majority of the Trustees and seventy-five percent (75%) of the Continuing Trustees (in which case no shareholder authorization would be required by the Fund Declaration of Trust, but may be required in certain cases under the 1940 Act). The Fund Declaration of Trust also requires the affirmative vote or consent of holders of a majority of the Trustees and of holders of a majority of the outstanding voting securities of the Fund (as defined in the 1940 Act) to authorize a conversion of the Fund from a closed-end to an open-end investment company. Also, the Fund Declaration of Trust provides that the Fund may dissolve upon the vote of a majority of the Trustees and two-thirds of the Fund's shares.

The Trustees may from time to time grant other voting rights to shareholders with respect to these and other matters, certain of which are required by the 1940 Act.

The overall effect of these provisions is to render more difficult the accomplishment of a merger or the assumption of control of the Fund by a third party. These provisions also provide, however, the advantage of potentially requiring persons seeking control of the Fund to negotiate with its management regarding the price to be paid and facilitating the continuity of the Fund's investment objective and policies. The provisions of the Fund Declaration of Trust described above could have the effect of discouraging a third party from seeking to obtain control of the Fund in a tender offer or similar transaction. The Board of Trustees has considered the foregoing anti-takeover provisions and concluded that they are in the best interests of the Fund and its shareholders.

The foregoing is intended only as a summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Fund Declaration of Trust, which is on file with the SEC.

The Fund Declaration of Trust provides that shareholders will have the same limitation of personal liability extended to stockholders of private, for profit corporations incorporated under the Delaware General Corporation Law.

For the purposes of calculating "a majority of the outstanding voting securities" under the Fund Declaration of Trust, each class and series of the Fund will vote together as a single class, except to the extent required by the 1940 Act or the Fund Declaration of Trust, with respect to any class or series of shares. If a separate class vote is required, the applicable proportion of shares of the class or series, voting as a separate class or series, also will be required.

The Board of Trustees has determined that provisions with respect to the Board of Trustees and the shareholder voting requirements described above, which voting requirements are greater than the minimum requirements

under Delaware law (which does not mandate that shareholders have any particular right to vote upon) or the 1940 Act, are in the best interest of shareholders generally. For a more complete explanation, see the full text of these provisions in the Fund Declaration of Trust, which is on file with the SEC.

In addition, the default fiduciary duties of the Board of Trustees may be modified as set forth in the Fund Declaration of Trust and the Master Fund Declaration of Trust.

#### **Portfolio Transactions**

Portfolio transactions are allocated to brokers by each portfolio manager. Portfolio managers have authority to, and may, select brokers in consideration of such brokers' provision or payment of the costs of property and services which are generally of benefit to clients of the portfolio managers, including the Fund, although such services may not directly relate to any transactions for the benefit of the Fund. The Fund currently does not, and does not expect to, use soft dollar arrangements. If the Fund uses soft dollars in the future, portfolio managers will only use soft dollars in accordance with the safe harbor of Section 28(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

In view of the fact that the investment program of certain of the portfolio managers may include trading as well as investment, short-term market considerations are frequently involved, and the portfolio turnover in certain of the investment funds may be substantially greater than the turnover rates of other types of investment funds.

#### **Tax Considerations**

The discussion below and certain disclosure in the SAI provide general tax information related to an investment in Shares of the Fund. Because tax laws are complex and often change, shareholders should consult their tax advisors about the tax consequences of an investment in the Fund. Unless otherwise noted, the following tax discussion applies only to U.S. shareholders that hold the Shares as capital assets. A U.S. shareholder is an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States, a U.S. corporation, a trust if it (a) is subject to the primary supervision of a court in the United States and one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust or (b) has made a valid election to be treated as a U.S. person, or any estate the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax regardless of its source.

The Master Fund intends to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes for as long as it has at least two shareholders. As a result, the Master Fund will itself generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax. Rather, each of the Master Fund's shareholders, including the Fund, will be required to take into account, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, its allocable share of the Master Fund's items of income, gain, loss, deduction and credit. For purposes of the discussion below, references to investments and activities of the Fund are deemed to include the Fund's allocable share of investments and activities of the Master Fund.

The Fund has elected to be treated, and intends to qualify each taxable year, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. To qualify under Subchapter M for the favorable tax treatment accorded to RICs, the Fund must, among other things: (1) distribute to its shareholders in each taxable year at least 90% of the sum of its investment company taxable income (as that term is defined in the Code, but without regard to the deduction for dividends paid) and its net tax-exempt income; (2) derive in each taxable year at least 90% of its gross income from (a) dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans, and gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, or other income (including but not limited to gain from options, futures and forward contracts) derived with respect to its business of investing in such stock, securities or foreign currencies; and (b) net income derived from interests in certain publicly traded partnerships that are treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that derive less than 90% of their gross income from the items described in (a) above (each a "Qualified Publicly Traded Partnership"); and (3) diversify its holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of each taxable year of the Fund (a) at least 50% of the value of the Fund's total assets is represented by cash, cash items, U.S. government securities and securities of other RICs, and other securities, with these other securities limited, with respect to any one issuer, to an amount not greater in value than 5% of the value of the Fund's total assets, and to not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and (b) not more than 25% of the value of the Fund's total assets is represented by the securities (other than U.S. government securities or securities of other RICs) of (I) any one issuer, (II) any two or more issuers that the Fund controls and that are determined to be engaged in the same or similar trades or businesses or related trades or businesses or (III) any one or more Qualified Publicly Traded Partnerships. For purposes of determining whether the Fund satisfies the 90% gross income test described in clause (2) above, the character of the Fund's distributive share of items of income, gain and loss derived through the Master Fund

generally will be determined as if the Fund realized such tax items directly. Similarly, for purposes of determining whether the Fund satisfies the asset diversification test described in clause (3) above, the Fund intends to "look through" the Master Fund to the underlying assets. As a RIC, the Fund generally will not be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its investment company taxable income and net capital gain (the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss), if any, that it distributes in each taxable year to its shareholders. The Fund intends to distribute to its shareholders, at least annually, substantially all of its investment company taxable income and net capital gain.

If the Fund failed to qualify for the favorable tax treatment accorded to RICs in any taxable year, the Fund would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates on its taxable income (including distributions of net capital gain), even if such income were distributed to its shareholders, and all distributions out of earnings and profits would be taxed to shareholders as ordinary dividend income. Such distributions generally would be eligible (i) to be treated as "qualified dividend income" in the case of individual and other noncorporate shareholders and (ii) for the dividends received deduction in the case of corporate shareholders. In addition, the Fund could be required to recognize unrealized gains, pay taxes and make distributions (which could be subject to interest charges) before requalifying for taxation as a RIC.

A RIC that fails to distribute, by the close of each calendar year, an amount at least equal to the sum of 98% of its ordinary taxable income for such calendar year and 98.2% of its capital gain net income (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for the one-year period ending on October 31 of such calendar year, plus any shortfalls from any prior year's required distribution, is liable for a 4% excise tax on the portion of the undistributed amounts of such income that are less than the required distributions. For these purposes, the Fund will be deemed to have distributed any income or gain on which it paid U.S. federal income tax.

Distributions to shareholders by the Fund of ordinary income (including "market discount" realized by the Fund on the sale of debt securities), and of net short-term capital gains, if any, realized by the Fund will generally be taxable to shareholders as ordinary income to the extent such distributions are paid out of the Fund's current or accumulated earnings and profits. Distributions, if any, of net capital gains properly reported as "capital gain dividends" will be taxable as long-term capital gains, regardless of the length of time the shareholder has owned Shares of the Fund. A distribution of an amount in excess of the Fund's current and accumulated earnings and profits (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) will be treated by a shareholder as a return of capital which will be applied against and reduce the shareholder's basis in his or her Shares. To the extent that the amount of any such distribution exceeds the shareholder's basis in his or her Shares, the excess will be treated by the shareholder as gain from a sale or exchange of the Shares. Distributions paid by the Fund generally will not be eligible for the dividends received deduction allowed to corporations or for the reduced rates applicable to certain qualified dividend income received by non-corporate shareholders.

Distributions will be treated in the manner described above regardless of whether such distributions are paid in cash or invested in additional Shares of the Fund pursuant to the Plan. Shareholders receiving distributions in the form of additional Shares will generally be treated as receiving a distribution in the amount of the fair market value of the distributed Shares. The additional Shares received by a shareholder pursuant to the Plan will have a new holding period commencing on the day following the day on which the Shares were credited to the shareholder's account.

Although dividends generally will be treated as distributed when paid, dividends declared in October, November or December, payable to shareholders of record on a specified date in one of those months, and paid during the following January, will be treated as having been distributed by the Fund (and received by shareholders) on December 31 of the year in which declared.

In general, the sale or other disposition of Shares (except pursuant to a repurchase by the Fund, as described below) will result in capital gain or loss to shareholders. A holder's gain or loss generally will be a long-term capital gain or loss if the Shares have been held for more than one year. Present law taxes both long- and short-term capital gains of corporations at the rates applicable to ordinary income. For non-corporate taxpayers, however, long-term capital gains are currently eligible for reduced rates of taxation. Losses realized by a holder

on the sale or exchange of Shares held for six months or less are treated as long-term capital losses to the extent of any distribution of long-term capital gain received (or amounts designated as undistributed capital gains, as discussed under "Taxes—Distributions" in the SAI) with respect to such Shares. In addition, no loss will be allowed on the sale or other disposition of Shares if the owner acquires (including pursuant to the Plan) or enters into a contract or option to acquire securities that are substantially identical to such Shares within 30 days before or after the disposition. In such case, the basis of the securities acquired will be adjusted to reflect the disallowed loss.

From time to time, the Fund may offer to repurchase its outstanding Shares. Shareholders who tender all Shares held, or considered to be held, by them will be treated as having sold their shares and generally will realize a capital gain or loss. If a shareholder tenders fewer than all of its Shares or fewer than all Shares tendered are repurchased, such shareholder may be treated as having received a taxable dividend upon the tender of its Shares. In such a case, there is a risk that non-tendering shareholders, and shareholders who tender some but not all of their Shares or fewer than all of whose Shares are repurchased, in each case whose percentage interests in the Fund increase as a result of such tender, will be treated as having received a taxable distribution from the Fund. The extent of such risk will vary depending upon the particular circumstances of the tender offer, and in particular whether such offer is a single and isolated event or is part of a plan for periodically redeeming Shares of the Fund.

The Fund may be required to withhold from all distributions and redemption proceeds payable to U.S. shareholders who fail to provide the Fund with their correct taxpayer identification numbers or to make required certifications, or who have been notified by the Internal Revenue Service that they are subject to backup withholding. Certain shareholders specified in the Code generally are exempt from such backup withholding. This backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any amounts withheld may be refunded or credited against the shareholder's U.S. federal income tax liability, provided the required information is timely furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.

If a shareholder (other than a partnership) is not a U.S. shareholder (other than such a shareholder whose ownership of shares is effectively connected with a U.S. trade or business), certain dividends received by such shareholder from the Fund may be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax. To the extent that Fund distributions consist of ordinary dividends that are subject to withholding, the Fund will withhold U.S. federal income tax at the rate of 30% (or such lower rate as may be determined in accordance with any applicable treaty). However, dividends paid by the Fund that are "interest-related dividends" or "short-term capital gain dividends" will generally be exempt from such withholding, in each case to the extent the Fund properly reports such dividends to shareholders. For these purposes, interest-related dividends and short-term capital gain dividends generally represent distributions of interest or short-term capital gains that would not have been subject to U.S. federal withholding tax at the source if received directly by a non-U.S. shareholder, and that satisfy certain other requirements. Net capital gain dividends (that is, distributions of the excess of net long-term capital gain over net short-term capital loss) distributed by the Fund to a non-U.S. shareholder will not be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax.

Very generally, special tax rules would apply if the Fund holds "United States real property interests" ("USRPIs") (or if the Fund holds assets that would be treated as USRPIs but for certain exceptions applicable to RICs) the fair market value of which equals or exceeds 50% of the sum of the fair market values of the Fund's USRPIs, interests in real property located outside the United States, and other assets used or held for use in a trade or business. Such rules could result in U.S. tax withholding from certain distributions to non-U.S. shareholders. Furthermore, such shareholders may be required to file a U.S. tax return and pay tax on such distributions—and, in certain cases, gain realized on sale of Shares—at regular U.S. federal income tax rates. The Fund does not expect to invest in a significant percentage of USRPIs, so these special tax rules are not likely to apply.

The Fund may be required to withhold from distributions to a non-U.S. shareholder that are otherwise exempt from U.S. federal withholding tax (or taxable at a reduced treaty rate) unless the non-U.S. shareholder certifies his or her foreign status under penalties of perjury or otherwise establishes an exemption.

Under Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code (such Sections commonly referred to as "FATCA"), a 30% United States federal withholding tax may apply to any dividends that the Fund pays to (i) a "foreign financial institution" (as specifically defined in the Code), whether such foreign financial institution is the beneficial owner or an intermediary, unless such foreign financial institution agrees to verify, report and disclose its United States "account" holders (as specifically defined in the Code) and meets certain other specified requirements or (ii) a non-financial foreign entity, whether such non-financial foreign entity is the beneficial owner or an intermediary, unless such entity provides a certification that the beneficial owner of the payment does not have any substantial United States owners or provides the name, address and taxpayer identification number of each such substantial United States owner and certain other specified requirements are met. In certain cases, the relevant foreign financial institution or non-financial foreign entity may qualify for an exemption from, or be deemed to be in compliance with, these rules. In addition, foreign financial institutions located in jurisdictions that have an intergovernmental agreement with the United States governing FATCA may be subject to different rules. You should consult your own tax advisor regarding FATCA and whether it may be relevant to your ownership of Shares.

The foregoing tax discussion is for general information only. The provisions of the Code and regulations thereunder presently in effect as they directly govern the taxation of the Fund and its shareholders are subject to change by legislative or administrative action, and any such change may be retroactive with respect to the Fund's transactions. The foregoing does not represent a detailed description of the U.S. federal income tax considerations relevant to special classes of taxpayers including, without limitation, financial institutions, insurance companies, investors in pass-through entities, U.S. shareholders whose "functional currency" is not the U.S. dollar, tax-exempt organizations, dealers in securities or currencies, traders in securities or commodities that elect mark to market treatment, or persons that will hold Shares as a position in a "straddle," "hedge" or as part of a "constructive sale" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, this discussion does not address the application of the Medicare tax on net investment income or the U.S. federal alternative minimum tax. Shareholders are advised to consult with their own tax advisors for more detailed information concerning federal income tax matters.

### **Certain ERISA Considerations**

The following is a summary of certain considerations associated with the purchase of Institutional Class II Shares by (i) employee benefit plans that are subject to Title I of ERISA, (ii) plans, IRAs and other arrangements that are subject to Section 4975 of the Code or other U.S. or non-U.S. federal, state, local or other laws or regulations that are similar to the fiduciary responsibility or prohibited transaction provisions of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (collectively, "Similar Laws"), and (iii) entities whose underlying assets are considered to include the assets of any of the foregoing described in clauses (i) and (ii), pursuant to ERISA or otherwise (each of the foregoing described in clauses (i), (ii) and (iii) referred to herein as a "Plan").

### **General Fiduciary Matters**

ERISA and the Code impose certain duties on persons who are fiduciaries of a Plan that is subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (each, a "Covered Plan") and prohibit certain transactions involving the assets of a Covered Plan and its fiduciaries or other interested parties. Under ERISA and the Code, any person who exercises any discretionary authority or control over the administration of such a Covered Plan or the management or disposition of the assets of such a Covered Plan, or who renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation to such a Covered Plan, is generally considered to be a fiduciary of the Covered Plan.

In considering an investment in the Shares of a portion of the assets of any Covered Plan, a fiduciary should determine whether the investment is in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the Covered Plan and the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code or relating to a fiduciary's duties to the Covered Plan including, without limitation, the prudence, diversification, delegation of control and prohibited transaction provisions of Title I of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code.

### **Prohibited Transaction Issues**

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit Covered Plans from engaging in specified transactions involving plan assets with persons or entities who are "parties in interest," within the meaning of ERISA, or "disqualified persons," within the meaning of Section 4975 of the Code, unless an exemption is available. A party in interest or disqualified person who engaged in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to excise taxes and other penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code. In addition, the fiduciary of the Covered Plan that engaged in such a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to penalties and liabilities under ERISA and the Code.

Whether or not the underlying assets of the Fund were deemed to include "plan assets," as described below, the acquisition and/or holding of the Shares by a Covered Plan with respect to which the Fund or the Investment Manager is considered a party in interest or a disqualified person may constitute or result in a direct or indirect prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA and/or Section 4975 of the Code, unless the investment is acquired and is held in accordance with an applicable statutory, class or individual prohibited transaction exemption, of which there are many. Fiduciaries of Covered Plans considering acquiring Shares in reliance on an exemption should carefully review the exemption in consultation with counsel to assure it is applicable. There can be no assurance that all of the conditions of any such exemption will be satisfied.

## **Plan Asset Issues**

ERISA and the regulations promulgated under ERISA by the U.S. Department of Labor, as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA (the "Plan Asset Regulations"), generally provide that when a Covered Plan acquires an equity interest in an entity that is neither a "publicly-offered security" (within the meaning of the Plan Asset Regulations) nor a security issued by an investment company registered under the 1940 Act, the Covered Plan's assets include both the equity interest and an undivided interest in each of the underlying assets of the entity unless it is established either that less than 25% of the value of each class of equity interest in the entity is held by "benefit plan investors" or that the entity is an "operating company," each as defined in the Plan Asset Regulations. The term "benefit plan investors" is generally defined to include employee benefit plans subject to

Title I of ERISA, plans subject to Section 4975 of the Code (including "Keogh" plans and IRAs), and entities whose underlying assets are considered to include plan assets by reason of such an employee benefit plan or plan's investment in such entity (e.g., an entity of which 25% or more of the value of any class of equity interests is held by benefit plan investors and which does not satisfy another exception under the Plan Asset Regulations).

In this regard each of the Fund and the Master Fund is an investment company registered under the 1940 Act, and as such, the underlying assets of the Fund and the Master Fund should not be considered to constitute "plan assets" within the meaning of the Plan Asset Regulations for purposes of the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction rules under Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code and the Investment Manager should not be a fiduciary within the meaning of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code with respect to the assets of the Fund solely as a result of an investment in the Fund by a "benefit plan investor".

Prospective investors should consult their own advisors to determine the suitability of Shares as an investment for, or with the assets of, a Covered Plan.

Plans that are, or whose assets constitute the assets of, governmental plans, non-U.S. plans and certain church plans, may not be subject to the fiduciary responsibility provisions of Title I of ERISA or the prohibited transaction provisions of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, may nevertheless be subject to Similar Laws. Fiduciaries of such Plans should consult with their counsel before acquiring any Shares.

The foregoing discussion is general in nature and is not intended to be all-inclusive. Due to the complexity of these rules and the penalties that may be imposed upon persons involved in non-exempt prohibited transactions, it is particularly important that fiduciaries or other persons considering purchasing the Shares on behalf of, or with the assets of, any Plan, consult with their counsel regarding the potential applicability of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or applicable Similar Laws to such investment and whether an exemption would be applicable to the purchase of the Shares. Neither this discussion nor anything provided in this Prospectus is, or is intended to be, investment advice directed at any potential Plan purchasers, or at Plan purchasers generally, and such purchasers of Shares should consult and rely on their own counsel and advisers as to whether an investment in Shares is suitable for the Plan. The sale of any Shares in any Plan is in no respect a representation by the Fund, the Investment Manager or any of their respective affiliates or representatives that such an investment meets all relevant legal requirements with respect to investments by Plans generally or any particular Plan, or that such investment is prudent or appropriate for Plans generally or any particular Plan.

#### Securities Outstanding (as of April 6, 2020)

			(4)
		(3)	Amount
		Amount	Outstanding
		Held by	Exclusive of
	(2)	Registrant	Amount
(1)	Amount	or for its	Shown
Title of Class	Authorized	Account	Under (3)
Institutional Class II common shares of beneficial interest	Unlimited	N/A	189,216

### Legal Proceedings

None of the Fund, the Master Fund, the Investment Manager or the Distributor is a party to any material pending legal proceeding, nor is any of them subject to any material proceeding instituted, or any material proceeding known to be contemplated, by a governmental authority.

### **Fiscal Year**

The Fund's fiscal year ends on December 31. The Fund sends to shareholders an unaudited semi-annual and an audited annual report within 60 days after the close of the period for which the report is being made, or as otherwise required by the 1940 Act.

After the end of each fiscal year, each shareholder will receive a Form 1099 reporting income or gain.

## Table of Contents of the SAI

	Page
Fundamental Investment Restrictions	1
Investment Objective and Techniques	2
Management	40
Codes of Ethics	49
Control Persons and Principal Holders of Securities	49
Investment Management and Other Services	49
The Investment Manager	49
Administrator	50
Custodian	50
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	50
Legal Counsel	50
Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures	51
Brokerage Allocation and Other Practices	51
Taxes	52
Financial Statements	59
Appendix A — Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures	A-1

### DESCRIPTION OF S&P, MOODY'S AND FITCH RATINGS<sup>1</sup>

**S&P Global Ratings**—A brief description of the applicable S&P Global Ratings and its affiliates (collectively, "S&P") rating symbols and their meanings (as published by S&P) follows:

### **ISSUE CREDIT RATING DEFINITIONS**

An S&P issue credit rating is a forward-looking opinion about the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to a specific financial obligation, a specific class of financial obligations, or a specific financial program (including ratings on medium-term note programs and commercial paper programs). It takes into consideration the creditworthiness of guarantors, insurers, or other forms of credit enhancement on the obligation and takes into account the currency in which the obligation is denominated. The opinion reflects S&P Global Ratings' view of the obligor's capacity and willingness to meet its financial commitments as they come due, and may assess terms, such as collateral security and subordination, which could affect ultimate payment in the event of default.

Issue credit ratings can be either long-term or short-term. Short-term ratings are generally assigned to those obligations considered short-term in the relevant market. Short-term ratings are also used to indicate the creditworthiness of an obligor with respect to put features on long-term obligations. Medium-term notes are assigned long-term ratings.

#### Long-Term Issue Credit Ratings\*

Issue credit ratings are based, in varying degrees, on S&P's analysis of the following considerations:

- The likelihood of payment--the capacity and willingness of the obligor to meet its financial commitments on an obligation in accordance with the terms of the obligation;
- The nature and provisions of the financial obligation, and the promise we impute; and
- The protection afforded by, and relative position of, the financial obligation in the event of a bankruptcy, reorganization, or other arrangement under the laws of bankruptcy and other laws affecting creditors' rights.

Issue ratings are an assessment of default risk, but may incorporate an assessment of relative seniority or ultimate recovery in the event of default. Junior obligations are typically rated lower than senior obligations, to reflect the lower priority in bankruptcy, as noted above. (Such differentiation may apply when an entity has both senior and subordinated obligations, secured and unsecured obligations, or operating company and holding company obligations.)

"AAA" ..... An obligation rated "AAA" has the highest rating assigned by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is extremely strong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The ratings indicated herein are believed to be the most recent ratings available at the date of this Statement of Additional Information for the securities listed. Ratings are generally given to securities at the time of issuance. While the rating agencies may from time to time revise such ratings, they undertake no obligation to do so, and the ratings indicated do not necessarily represent ratings which would be given to these securities on the date of the Fund's fiscal year end.

"AA"	An obligation rated "AA" differs from the highest-rated obligations only to a small degree. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitment on the obligation is very strong.
"A"	An obligation rated "A" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher-rated categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is still strong.
"BBB"	An obligation rated "BBB" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
"BB," "B," "CCC," "CC," and "C"	Obligations rated "BB," "B," "CCC," "CC," and "C" are regarded as having significant speculative characteristics. "BB" indicates the least degree of speculation and "C" the highest. While such obligations will likely have some quality and protective characteristics, these may be outweighed by large uncertainties or major exposure to adverse conditions.
"BB"	An obligation rated "BB" is less vulnerable to nonpayment than other speculative issues. However, it faces major ongoing uncertainties or exposure to adverse business, financial, or economic conditions that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
"B"	An obligation rated "B" is more vulnerable to nonpayment than obligations rated "BB", but the obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, or economic conditions will likely impair the obligor's capacity or willingness to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
"CCC"	An obligation rated "CCC" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment, and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation. In the event of adverse business, financial, or economic conditions, the obligor is not likely to have the capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
"CC"	An obligation rated "CC" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment. The "CC" rating is used when a default has not yet occurred, but S&P Global Ratings expects default to be a virtual certainty, regardless of the anticipated time to default.
"C"	An obligation rated "C" is currently highly vulnerable to nonpayment and the obligation is expected to have lower relative seniority or lower ultimate recovery compared with obligations that are rated higher.
"D"	An obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due,

	unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within five business days in the absence of a stated grace period or within the earlier of the stated grace period or 30 calendar days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of similar action and where default on an obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed exchange offer.
*PLUS (+) OR MINUS (-)	The ratings from "AA" to "CCC" may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative standing within the major rating categories.
"NR"	NR indicates that a rating has not been assigned or is no longer assigned.
Short-Term Issue Credit Ratings	
"A-1"	A short-term obligation rated "A-1" is rated in the highest category by S&P Global Ratings. The obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is strong. Within this category, certain obligations are designated with a plus sign (+). This indicates that the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on these obligations is extremely strong.
"A-2"	A short-term obligation rated "A-2" is somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligations in higher rating categories. However, the obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation is satisfactory.
"A-3"	A short-term obligation rated "A-3" exhibits adequate protection parameters. However, adverse economic conditions or changing circumstances are more likely to weaken an obligor's capacity to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
"B"	A short-term obligation rated "B" is regarded as vulnerable and has significant speculative characteristics. The obligor currently has the capacity to meet its financial commitments; however, it faces major ongoing uncertainties that could lead to the obligor's inadequate capacity to meet its financial commitments.
"C"	A short-term obligation rated "C" is currently vulnerable to nonpayment and is dependent upon favorable business, financial, and economic conditions for the obligor to meet its financial commitments on the obligation.
"D"	A short-term obligation rated "D" is in default or in breach of an imputed promise. For non-hybrid capital instruments, the "D" rating category is used when payments on an obligation are not made on the date due, unless S&P Global Ratings believes that such payments will be made within any stated grace period. However, any stated grace period longer than five business days will be treated as five business days. The "D" rating also will be used upon the filing of a bankruptcy petition or the taking of a similar action and where default on an

obligation is a virtual certainty, for example due to automatic stay provisions. A rating on an obligation is lowered to "D" if it is subject to a distressed exchange offer.

## Active Qualifiers (Currently applied and/or outstanding)

S&P Global Ratings uses the following qualifiers that limit the scope of a rating. The structure of the transaction can require the use of a qualifier such as a "p" qualifier, which indicates the rating addresses the principal portion of the obligation only. A qualifier appears as a suffix and is part of the rating.

Federal deposit insurance limit: "L" qualifier	Ratings qualified with "L" apply only to amounts invested up to federal deposit insurance limits.
Principal: "p" qualifier	This suffix is used for issues in which the credit factors, the terms, or both, that determine the likelihood of receipt of payment of principal are different from the credit factors, terms or both that determine the likelihood of receipt of interest on the obligation. The "p" suffix indicates that the rating addresses the principal portion of the obligation only and that the interest is not rated.
Preliminary Ratings: "prelim" qualifier	Preliminary ratings, with the "prelim" suffix, may be assigned to obligors or obligations, including financial programs, in the circumstances described below. Assignment of a final rating is conditional on the receipt by S&P Global Ratings of appropriate documentation. S&P Global Ratings reserves the right not to issue a final rating. Moreover, if a final rating is issued, it may differ from the preliminary rating.
	• Preliminary ratings may be assigned to obligations, most commonly structured and project finance issues, pending receipt of final documentation and legal opinions.
	• Preliminary ratings may be assigned to obligations that will likely be issued upon the obligor's emergence from bankruptcy or similar reorganization, based on late-stage reorganization plans, documentation and discussions with the obligor. Preliminary ratings may also be assigned to the obligors. These ratings consider the anticipated general credit quality of the reorganized or post-bankruptcy issuer as well as attributes of the anticipated obligation(s).
	• Preliminary ratings may be assigned to entities that are being formed or that are in the process of being independently established when, in S&P Global Ratings' opinion, documentation is close to final. Preliminary ratings may also be assigned to the obligations of these entities.
	• Preliminary ratings may be assigned when a previously unrated entity is undergoing a well-formulated restructuring, recapitalization, significant financing or other transformative event, generally at the point that investor or lender commitments are invited. The preliminary rating may be assigned to the entity and to its proposed obligation(s). These preliminary ratings consider the anticipated general credit quality of the obligor, as well as attributes of the anticipated obligation(s), assuming

	successful completion of the transformative event. Should the transformative event not occur, S&P Global Ratings would likely withdraw these preliminary ratings.
	• A preliminary recovery rating may be assigned to an obligation that has a preliminary issue credit rating.
Termination Structures: "t" qualifier	This symbol indicates termination structures that are designed to honor their contracts to full maturity or, should certain events occur, to terminate and cash settle all their contracts before their final maturity date.
Counterparty Instrument Rating:	
"cir" qualifier	This symbol indicates a Counterparty Instrument Rating (CIR), which is a forward-looking opinion about the creditworthiness of an issuer in a securitization structure with respect to a specific financial obligation to a counterparty (including interest rate swaps, currency swaps, and liquidity facilities). The CIR is determined on an ultimate payment basis; these opinions do not take into account timeliness of payment.

# Inactive Qualifiers (No longer applied or outstanding)

	<i>o</i> ′
Contingent upon final documentation: "*" inactive qualifier	This symbol indicated that the rating was contingent upon S&P Global Ratings' receipt of an executed copy of the escrow agreement or closing documentation confirming investments and cash flows. Discontinued use in August 1998.
Termination of obligation to tender: "c" inactive qualifier	This qualifier was used to provide additional information to investors that the bank may terminate its obligation to purchase tendered bonds if the long-term credit rating of the issuer was lowered to below an investment-grade level and/or the issuer's bonds were deemed taxable. Discontinued use in January 2001.
U.S. direct government securities: "G" inactive qualifier	The letter "G" followed the rating symbol when a fund's portfolio consisted primarily of direct U.S. government securities.
Public Information Ratings: "pi" inactive qualifier	This qualifier was used to indicate ratings that were based on an analysis of an issuer's published financial information, as well as additional information in the public domain. Such ratings did not, however, reflect in-depth meetings with an issuer's management and therefore could have been based on less comprehensive information than ratings without a "pi" suffix. Discontinued use as of December 2014 and as of August 2015 for Lloyd's Syndicate Assessments.
Provisional Ratings: "pr" inactive qualifier	The letters "pr" indicate that the rating was provisional. A provisional rating assumed the successful completion of a project financed by the debt being rated and indicates that payment of debt service requirements was largely or entirely dependent upon the successful, timely completion of the project. This rating, however, while addressing credit quality subsequent to completion of the project,

	made no comment on the likelihood of or the risk of default upon failure of such completion.
Quantitative Analysis of public information: "q" inactive qualifier	A "q" subscript indicates that the rating is based solely on quantitative analysis of publicly available information. Discontinued use in April 2001.
Extraordinary risks: "r" inactive qualifier	The "r" modifier was assigned to securities containing extraordinary risks, particularly market risks, that are not covered in the credit rating. The absence of an "r" modifier should not be taken as an indication that an obligation would not exhibit extraordinary non-credit related risks. S&P Global Ratings discontinued the use of the "r" modifier for most obligations in June 2000 and for the balance of obligations (mainly structured finance transactions) in November 2002.

**Moody's Investors Service, Inc.**—A brief description of the applicable Moody's Investors Service, Inc. ("Moody's") rating symbols and their meanings (as published by Moody's) follows:

#### **Long-Term Obligation Ratings**

Ratings assigned on Moody's global long-term and short-term rating scales are forward-looking opinions of the relative credit risks of financial obligations issued by non-financial corporates, financial institutions, structured finance vehicles, project finance vehicles, and public sector entities. Long-term ratings are assigned to issuers or obligations with an original maturity of one year or more and reflect both on the likelihood of a default on contractually promised payments and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default.<sup>1 2</sup>

Moody's differentiates structured finance ratings from fundamental ratings (i.e., ratings on nonfinancial corporate, financial institution, and public sector entities) on the global long-term scale by adding (sf) to all structured finance ratings.<sup>3</sup> The addition of (sf) to structured finance ratings should eliminate any presumption that such ratings and fundamental ratings at the same letter grade level will behave the same. The (sf) indicator for structured finance security ratings indicates that otherwise similarly rated structured finance and fundamental securities may have different risk characteristics. Through its current methodologies, however, Moody's aspires to achieve broad expected equivalence in structured finance and fundamental rating performance when measured over a long period of time.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For certain structured finance, preferred stock and hybrid securities in which payment default events are either not defined or do not match investors' expectations for timely payment, the ratings reflect the likelihood of impairment and the financial loss in the event of impairment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Supranational institutions and central banks that hold sovereign debt or extend sovereign loans, such as the IMF or the European Central Bank, may not always be treated similarly to other investors and lenders with similar credit exposures. Long-term and short-term ratings assigned to obligations held by both supranational institutions and central banks, as well as other investors, reflect only the credit risks faced by other investors unless specifically noted otherwise.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Like other global scale ratings, (sf) ratings reflect both the likelihood of a default and the expected loss suffered in the event of default. Ratings are assigned based on a rating committee's assessment of a security's expected loss rate (default probability multiplied by expected loss severity), and may be subject to the constraint that the final expected loss rating assigned would not be more than a certain number of notches, typically three to five notches, above the rating that would be assigned based on an assessment of default probability alone. The magnitude of this constraint may vary with the level of the rating, the seasoning of the transaction, and the uncertainty around the assessments of expected loss and probability of default.

### Long-Term Rating Definitions:

"Aaa"	Obligations rated "Aaa" are judged to be of the highest quality, subject to the lowest level of credit risk.
"Aa"	Obligations rated "Aa" are judged to be of high quality and are subject to very low credit risk.
"A"	Obligations rated "A" are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.
"Baa"	Obligations rated "Baa" are judged to be medium-grade and subject to moderate credit risk and as such may possess certain speculative characteristics.
"Ba"	Obligations rated "Ba" are judged to be speculative and are subject to substantial credit risk.
"B"	Obligations rated "B" are considered speculative and are subject to high credit risk.
"Caa"	Obligations rated "Caa" are judged to be speculative of poor standing and are subject to very high credit risk.
"Ca"	Obligations rated "Ca" are highly speculative and are likely in, or very near, default, with some prospect of recovery of principal and interest.
"C"	Obligations rated "C" are the lowest rated and are typically in default, with little prospect for recovery of principal or interest.

*Note:* Moody's appends numerical modifiers 1, 2, and 3 to each generic rating classification from Aa through Caa. The modifier 1 indicates that the obligation ranks in the higher end of its generic rating category; the modifier 2 indicates a mid-range ranking; and the modifier 3 indicates a ranking in the lower end of that generic rating category. Additionally, a "(hyb)" indicator is appended to all ratings of hybrid securities issued by banks, insurers, finance companies, and securities firms.\*

## **Medium-Term Note Program Ratings**

Moody's assigns provisional ratings to medium-term note (MTN) programs and definitive ratings to the individual debt securities issued from them (referred to as drawdowns or notes).

MTN program ratings are intended to reflect the ratings likely to be assigned to drawdowns issued from the program with the specified priority of claim (*e.g.* senior or subordinated). To capture the contingent nature of a program rating, Moody's assigns provisional ratings to MTN programs. A provisional rating is denoted by a (P) in front of the rating.

<sup>\*</sup> By their terms, hybrid securities allow for the omission of scheduled dividends, interest, or principal payments, which can potentially result in impairment if such an omission occurs. Hybrid securities may also be subject to contractually allowable write-downs of principal that could result in impairment. Together with the hybrid indicator, the long-term obligation rating assigned to a hybrid security is an expression of the relative credit risk associated with that security.

The rating assigned to a drawdown from a rated MTN or bank/deposit note program is definitive in nature, and may differ from the program rating if the drawdown is exposed to additional credit risks besides the issuer's default, such as links to the defaults of other issuers, or has other structural features that warrant a different rating. In some circumstances, no rating may be assigned to a drawdown.

Moody's encourages market participants to contact Moody's Ratings Desks or visit www.moodys.com directly if they have questions regarding ratings for specific notes issued under a medium-term note program. Unrated notes issued under an MTN program may be assigned an NR (not rated) symbol.

### **Short-Term Rating Definitions:**

Short-term ratings are assigned to obligations with an original maturity of thirteen months or less and reflect both on the likelihood of a default on contractually promised payments and the expected financial loss suffered in the event of default.<sup>4 5</sup>

Moody's employs the following designations to indicate the relative repayment ability of rated issuers:

"P-1"	Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-1 have a superior ability to repay short-term debt obligations.
"P-2"	Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-2 have a strong ability to repay short-term debt obligations.
"P-3"	Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Prime-3 have an acceptable ability to repay short-term obligations.
"NP"	Issuers (or supporting institutions) rated Not Prime do not fall within any of the Prime rating categories.

**Fitch IBCA, Inc.**—A brief description of the applicable Fitch IBCA, Inc. ("Fitch") ratings symbols and meanings (as published by Fitch) follows:

## INTERNATIONAL ISSUER AND CREDIT RATING SCALES

The Primary Credit Rating Scales (those featuring the symbols "AAA"-"D" and "Fi"-"D") are used for debt and financial strength ratings. The below section describes their use for issuers and obligations in corporate, public and structured finance debt markets.

## Long-Term Ratings Scales—Issuer Credit Ratings Scales

Rated entities in a number of sectors, including financial and non-financial corporations, sovereigns, insurance companies and certain sectors within public finance, are generally assigned Issuer Default Ratings (IDRs). IDRs are also assigned to certain entities or enterprises in global infrastructure, project finance and public finance. IDRs opine on an entity's relative vulnerability to default (including by way of a distressed debt exchange) on financial obligations. The threshold default risk addressed by the IDR is generally that of the financial obligations whose non-payment would best reflect the uncured failure of that entity. As such, IDRs also address relative vulnerability to bankruptcy, administrative receivership or similar concepts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For certain structured finance, preferred stock and hybrid securities in which payment default events are either not defined or do not match investors' expectations for timely payment, the ratings reflect the likelihood of impairment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Supranational institutions and central banks that hold sovereign debt or extend sovereign loans, such as the IMF or the European Central Bank, may not always be treated similarly to other investors and lenders with similar credit exposures. Long-term and short-term ratings assigned to obligations held by both supranational institutions and central banks, as well as other investors, reflect only the credit risks faced by other investors unless specifically noted otherwise.

In aggregate, IDRs provide an ordinal ranking of issuers based on the agency's view of their relative vulnerability to default, rather than a prediction of a specific percentage likelihood of default. For historical information on the default experience of Fitch-rated issuers, please consult the transition and default performance studies available from the Fitch Ratings website.

"AAA"	<b>Highest credit quality</b> . "AAA" ratings denote the lowest expectation of default risk. They are assigned only in cases of exceptionally strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is highly unlikely to be adversely affected by foreseeable events.
"AA"	<b>Very high credit quality</b> . "AA" ratings denote expectations of very low default risk. They indicate very strong capacity for payment of financial commitments. This capacity is not significantly vulnerable to foreseeable events.
"A"	<b>High credit quality</b> . "A" ratings denote expectations of low default risk. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered strong. This capacity may, nevertheless, be more vulnerable to adverse business or economic conditions than is the case for higher ratings.
"BBB"	<b>Good credit quality</b> . "BBB" ratings indicate that expectations of default risk are currently low. The capacity for payment of financial commitments is considered adequate but adverse business or economic conditions are more likely to impair this capacity.
"BB"	<b>Speculative</b> . "BB" ratings indicate an elevated vulnerability to default risk, particularly in the event of adverse changes in business or economic conditions over time; however, business or financial flexibility exists that supports the servicing of financial commitments.
"B"	<b>Highly speculative</b> . "B" ratings indicate that material default risk is present, but a limited margin of safety remains. Financial commitments are currently being met; however, capacity for continued payment is vulnerable to deterioration in the business and economic environment.
"CCC"	Substantial credit risk. Default is a real possibility.
"CC"	<b>Very high levels of credit risk</b> . Default of some kind appears probable.
"C"	<b>Near default</b> . A default or default-like process has begun, or the issuer is in standstill, or for a closed funding vehicle, payment capacity is irrevocably impaired. Conditions that are indicative of a "C" category rating for an issuer include: a. the issuer has entered into a grace or cure period following non-payment of a material financial obligation; b. the issuer has entered into a temporary negotiated waiver or standstill agreement following a payment default on a material financial obligation; c. the formal announcement by the issuer or their agent of a distressed debt exchange; d. a closed financing vehicle where payment capacity is irrevocably impaired such that it is not expected to pay interest and/or principal in full during the life of the transaction, but where no payment default is imminent.

"RD"	<b>Restricted default</b> . "RD" ratings indicate an issuer that in Fitch Ratings' opinion has experienced: a. an uncured payment default or distressed debt exchange on a bond, loan or other material financial obligation, but b. has not entered into bankruptcy filings, administration, receivership, liquidation or other formal winding-up procedure, and c. has not otherwise ceased operating. This would include: i. the selective payment default on a specific class or currency of debt; ii. the uncured expiry of any applicable grace period, cure period or default forbearance period following a payment default on a bank loan, capital markets security or other material financial obligation; iii. the extension of multiple waivers or forbearance periods upon a payment default on one or more material financial obligations, either in series or in parallel; ordinary execution of a distressed debt exchange on one or more material financial obligations.
"D"	<b>Default</b> . "D" ratings indicate an issuer that in Fitch Ratings' opinion has entered into bankruptcy filings, administration, receivership, liquidation or other formal winding-up procedure, or that has

Default ratings are not assigned prospectively to entities or their obligations; within this context, non-payment on an instrument that contains a deferral feature or grace period will generally not be considered a default until after the expiration of the deferral or grace period, unless a default is otherwise driven by bankruptcy or other similar circumstance, or by a distressed debt exchange.

otherwise ceased business.

In all cases, the assignment of a default rating reflects the agency's opinion as to the most appropriate rating category consistent with the rest of its universe of ratings, and may differ from the definition of default under the terms of an issuer's financial obligations or local commercial practice.

*Note:* The modifiers "+" or "-" may be appended to a rating to denote relative status within major rating categories. Such suffixes are not added to the 'AAA' Long-Term IDR category, or to Long-Term IDR categories below "B".

### Limitations of the Issuer Credit Rating Scale:

Specific limitations relevant to the issuer credit rating scale include:

- The ratings do not predict a specific percentage of default likelihood or failure likelihood over any given time period.
- The ratings do not opine on the market value of any issuer's securities or stock, or the likelihood that this value may change.
- The ratings do not opine on the liquidity of the issuer's securities or stock.
- The ratings do not opine on the possible loss severity on an obligation should an issuer (or an obligation with respect to structured finance transactions) default.
- The ratings do not opine on the suitability of an issuer as a counterparty to trade credit.
- The ratings do not opine on any quality related to an issuer's business, operational or financial profile other than the agency's opinion on its relative vulnerability to default and relative recovery should a default occur.

Ratings assigned by Fitch Ratings articulate an opinion on discrete and specific areas of risk. The above list is not exhaustive, and is provided for the reader's convenience.

### Short-Term Ratings—Short-Term Ratings Assigned to Issuers and Obligations

A short-term issuer or obligation rating is based in all cases on the short-term vulnerability to default of the rated entity and relates to the capacity to meet financial obligations in accordance with the documentation governing the relevant obligation. Short-term deposit ratings may be adjusted for loss severity. Short-Term Ratings are assigned to obligations whose initial maturity is viewed as "short term" based on market convention. Typically, this means up to 13 months for corporate, sovereign, and structured obligations, and up to 36 months for obligations in U.S. public finance markets.

"F1"	<b>Highest short-term credit quality</b> . Indicates the strongest intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments; may have an added "+" to denote any exceptionally strong credit feature.
"F2"	<b>Good short-term credit quality</b> . Good intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments.
"F3"	Fair short-term credit quality. The intrinsic capacity for timely payment of financial commitments is adequate.
"В"	<b>Speculative short-term credit quality</b> . Minimal capacity for timely payment of financial commitments, plus heightened vulnerability to near term adverse changes in financial and economic conditions.
"C"	High short-term default risk. Default is a real possibility.
"RD"	<b>Restricted default</b> . Indicates an entity that has defaulted on one or more of its financial commitments, although it continues to meet other financial obligations. Typically applicable to entity ratings only.
"D"	<b>Default</b> . Indicates a broad-based default event for an entity, or the default of a specific short-term obligation.

## Limitations of the Short-Term Ratings Scale:

Specific limitations relevant to the Short-Term Ratings scale include:

- The ratings do not predict a specific percentage of default likelihood or failure likelihood over any given time period.
- The ratings do not opine on the market value of any issuer's securities or stock, or the likelihood that this value may change.
- The ratings do not opine on the liquidity of the issuer's securities or stock.
- The ratings do not opine on the possible loss severity on an obligation should an issuer (or an obligation with respect to structured finance transactions) default.
- The ratings do not opine on any quality related to an issuer or transaction's profile other than the agency's opinion on the relative loss severity of the rated obligation should the obligation default.

Ratings assigned by Fitch Ratings articulate an opinion on discrete and specific areas of risk. The above list is not exhaustive, and is provided for the reader's convenience.

### **Privacy Policies**

This privacy policy sets forth the Investment Manager's policies with respect to nonpublic personal information of individual investors, shareholders, prospective investors and former investors of investment funds managed by the Investment Manager. These policies apply to individuals only and are subject to change.

Blackstone Registered Funds Privacy Notice

		R	ev January, 2019
FACTS	WHAT DO BLACKSTONE REGISTERED INFORMATION?	FUNDS DO WITH YOUR PE	CRSONAL
Why?	Financial companies choose how they share your personal information. Federal law gives consumers the right to limit some but not all sharing. Federal law also requires us to tell you how we collect, share, and protect your personal information. Please read this notice carefully to understand what we do.		
What?	<ul> <li>The types of personal information we collect a have with us. This information can include:</li> <li>Social Security number and income</li> <li>Assets and investment experience</li> <li>Risk tolerance and transaction history</li> </ul>	nd share depend on the product o	or service you
How? All financial companies need to share customers' personal information to run their everyday business. In the section below, we list the reasons financial companies can share their customers' personal information; the reasons Blackstone Registered Funds (as defined below) choose to share; and whether you can limit this sharing.			
Reasons we	e can share your personal information	Do Blackstone Registered Funds share?	Can you limit this sharing?
such as to p account(s),	eryday business purposes— rocess your transactions, maintain your respond to court orders and legal ns, or report to credit bureaus	Yes	No
For our marketing purposes— to offer our products and services to you		Yes	No
For joint marketing with other financial companies		No	We don't share
For our affiliates' everyday business purposes— information about your transactions and experiences		No	We don't share
For our affiliates' everyday business purposes— information about your creditworthiness		No	We don't share
For our affiliates to market to you		No	We don't share
For nonaffiliates to market to you		No	We don't share
Questions	s? Email us at <b>GLB.privacy@blackstone.com</b>	<u>n</u>	

Who we are	
Who is providing this notice?	Blackstone Registered Funds include Blackstone Alternative Alpha Fund, Blackstone Alternative Alpha Fund II, Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund, Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II, Blackstone Real Estate Income Trust, Inc., Blackstone Alternative Investment Funds, on behalf of its series Blackstone Alternative Multi-Strategy Fund, Blackstone Diversified Multi-Strategy Fund, a sub-fund of Blackstone Alternative Investment Funds plc, and the GSO Funds, consisting of Blackstone / GSO Senior Floating Rate Term Fund, Blackstone / GSO Long-Short Credit Income Fund, Blackstone / GSO Strategic Credit Fund, Blackstone / GSO Floating Rate Enhanced Income Fund and Blackstone / GSO Secured Lending Fund
What we do	
How do Blackstone Registered Funds protect my personal information?	To protect your personal information from unauthorized access and use, we use security measures that comply with federal law. These measures include computer safeguards and secured files and buildings.
How do Blackstone Registered Funds collect my personal information?	<ul> <li>We collect your personal information, for example, when you:</li> <li>open an account or give us your income information</li> <li>provide employment information or give us your contact information</li> <li>tell us about your investment or retirement portfolio</li> <li>We also collect your personal information from others, such as credit bureaus, affiliates, or other companies.</li> </ul>
Why can't I limit all sharing?	<ul> <li>Federal law gives you the right to limit only:</li> <li>sharing for affiliates' everyday business purposes—information about your creditworthiness</li> <li>affiliates from using your information to market to you</li> <li>sharing for nonaffiliates to market to you</li> <li>State laws and individual companies may give you additional rights to limit sharing. See below for more on your rights under state law.</li> </ul>
What happens when I limit sharing for an account I hold jointly with someone else?	Your choices will apply to everyone on your account—unless you tell us otherwise.
Definitions	
Affiliates	<ul> <li>Companies related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and nonfinancial companies.</li> <li>Our affiliates include companies with a Blackstone name and financial companies such as GSO Capital Partners LP and Strategic Partners Fund Solutions.</li> </ul>
Nonaffiliates	<ul> <li>Companies not related by common ownership or control. They can be financial and nonfinancial companies.</li> <li>Blackstone Registered Funds do not share with nonaffiliates so they can market to you.</li> </ul>
Joint marketing	<ul> <li>A formal agreement between nonaffiliated financial companies that together market financial products or services to you.</li> <li>Our joint marketing partners include financial services companies.</li> </ul>

#### Other important information

**California Residents**—In accordance with California law, we will not share information we collect about California residents with nonaffiliates except as permitted by law, such as with the consent of the customer or to service the customer's accounts. We will also limit the sharing of information about you with our affiliates to the extent required by applicable California law.

**Vermont Residents**—In accordance with Vermont law, we will not share information we collect about Vermont residents with nonaffiliates except as permitted by law, such as with the consent of the customer or to service the customer's accounts. We will not share creditworthiness information about Vermont residents among Blackstone Registered Funds' affiliates except with the authorization or consent of the Vermont resident.

The EU General Data Protection Regulation (Regulation 2016/679) (the "GDPR") establishes rules relating to the protection of natural persons with regard to the processing of personal data and to the free movement of personal data. Prospective shareholders should note that it is expected that they will provide Personal Data (as defined in the GDPR and which may include special categories of Personal Data pursuant to Articles 8 and 9 thereof), as part of their subscription for Shares and in their interactions with the Fund, our affiliates, and/or delegates. We may obtain Personal Data concerning shareholders and prospective shareholders from internal and external sources.

We have prepared a privacy statement for non-U.S. investors, which is provided below. BEFORE SUBSCRIBING FOR SHARES OF THE FUND, SHAREHOLDERS AND PROSPECTIVE SHAREHOLDERS ARE ENCOURAGED TO CAREFULLY REVIEW THE STATEMENT, WHICH INCLUDES DETAILED INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CONTROL AND PROCESSING OF THEIR PERSONAL DATA.

### **Blackstone Investor Data Privacy Notice**

### 1. Why are you seeing this notice?

- You may need to provide Personal Data to us as part of your investment into Blackstone Real Estate Income Fund II (the "Company"), a fund or other investment vehicle (as applicable, the **Fund**) managed or advised by investment advisers that are subsidiaries of The Blackstone Group Inc. or its affiliates (and, where applicable, the general partner of the relevant Fund) (collectively, **Blackstone**).
- We want you to understand how and why we use, store and otherwise process your Personal Data when you deal with us or our relevant affiliates (including under applicable data protection laws). If this Data Privacy Notice has been made available to you, you may have certain rights with respect to your Personal Data under applicable data protection laws (including as described in this Data Privacy Notice).
- "**Personal Data**" has the meaning given to it under data protection laws that apply to our processing of your personal information, and includes any information that relates to, describes, identifies or can be used, directly or indirectly, to identify an individual (such as name, address, date of birth, personal identification numbers, sensitive personal information, and economic information).
- We ask that investors promptly provide the information contained in this Data Privacy Notice to any individuals whose Personal Data they provide to the Company, a Fund or its affiliates in connection with KYC/AML requests or otherwise.

#### Please read the information below carefully. It explains how and why Personal Data is processed by us.

#### 2. Who is providing this notice?

Blackstone is committed to protecting and respecting your privacy. Blackstone is a global financial services firm with offices, operations and entities globally, including as described at this link: https://www.blackstone.com/privacy#appendixA.

- For transparency, the Blackstone entities on whose behalf this privacy statement is made are: (i) the Company; and (ii) where applicable, the Blackstone general partner and/or investment adviser of the relevant Company or Fund, in each case, with which you contract, transact or otherwise share Personal Data with (together, the **Company Parties**).
- Where we use the terms "we", "us" and "our" in this Data Privacy Notice, we are referring to the Company and the Company Parties.
- Please consult your subscription documents, private placement memorandum or other offering documentation provided to you by or on behalf of the Company Parties which will further specify the entities and contact details of the Company Parties relevant to our relationship with you.

• We welcome investors and their representatives to contact us if they have any queries with respect to the Company Parties (in particular, which Company Parties are relevant to their relationship with Blackstone). If you have any queries, our contact details are below.

When you provide us with your Personal Data, each Company Party that decides how and why Personal Data is processed acts as a "**data controller**". In simple terms, this means that the Company Party makes certain decisions on how to use and protect your Personal Data—but only to the extent that we have informed you about the use or are otherwise permitted by law.

Where your Personal Data is processed by an entity controlled by, or under common control with, the Blackstone entity/ies managing a Fund for its own purposes, this entity will also be a data controller.

### 3. What Personal Data do we collect about you?

The types of Personal Data we collect and share depends on the product or service you have with us and the nature of your investment.

The Personal Data collected about you will help us provide you with a better service and facilitate our business relationship.

We may combine Personal Data that you provide to us with Personal Data that we collect from or about you from other sources, in some circumstances.

This will include Personal Data collected in an online or offline context.

As a result of our relationship with you as an investor, in the past twelve months we may have collected Personal Data concerning you in the categories below:

- h) Identifiers (*e.g.*, real name, alias, postal address, email address, social security or driver's license number, government ID, signature, telephone number, education, employment, employment history, financial information, including tax-related information/codes and bank account details, information used for monitoring and background checks to comply with laws and regulations, including 'know your client', anti-money laundering, and sanctions checks, and other contact information);
- i) Sensitive/protected characteristic information (*e.g.*, age/date of birth, nationality, citizenship, country of residence, gender, and other information used to comply with laws and regulations);
- j) Commercial information (*e.g.*, assets, income, transaction and investment history, accounts at other institutions, information concerning source of funds and any applicable restrictions on your investment such as political exposure or sanctions);
- k) Internet or other network activity (*e.g.*, browsing or search history, information regarding interaction with an internet website, application, or advertisement, online identifiers such as cookies);
- Sensory and surveillance data (*e.g.*, recordings of telephone calls where permitted or required by law, video surveillance recordings, and other records of your interactions with us or our service providers, including electronic communications);
- m) Professional or employment-related information (*e.g.*, current or past job history);
- n) Inferences drawn from other personal information (*e.g.*, profiles reflecting preferences and trends, based on information such as assets, investment experience, risk tolerance, investment activity, and transaction history).

## 4. Where do we obtain your Personal Data?

We collect, and have collected, Personal Data about you from a number of sources, including from you directly:

	WHAT	HOW
1	Personal Data that you give us	<ul> <li>from the forms and any associated documentation that you complete when subscribing for an investment, shares and/or opening an account with us. This can include information about your name, address, date of birth, passport details or other national identifier, driving licence, your national insurance or social security number and income, employment information and details about your investment or retirement portfolio(s)</li> <li>when you provide it to us in correspondence and conversations, including electronic communications such as email and telephone calls</li> <li>when you make transactions with respect to the Company</li> <li>when you interact with our online platforms and websites (such as bxaccess.com)</li> <li>when you purchase securities from us and/or tell us where to send money</li> <li>from cookies, web beacons, and similar interactions when you or your devices access our sites</li> </ul>
2	Personal Data we obtain from others	<ul> <li>publicly available and accessible directories and sources</li> <li>bankruptcy registers</li> <li>tax authorities, including those that are based outside the territory in which you are located or domiciled, including the Cayman Islands, the United Kingdom UK and the EEA, if you are subject to tax in another jurisdiction</li> <li>governmental and competent regulatory authorities to whom we have regulatory obligations</li> <li>credit agencies</li> <li>fraud prevention and detection agencies and organisations</li> <li>transaction counterparties</li> </ul>

## 5. Why do we process your Personal Data?

We may process or disclose your Personal Data for the following reasons:

WHY	HOW
	It is <b>necessary to perform our contract</b> with you to:
	• administer, manage and set up your investor account(s) to allow you to purchase your holding (of shares) in our funds
1 Contract	• meet the resulting contractual obligations we have to you
1 Comraci	• facilitate the continuation or termination of the contractual relationship between you and the Company
	• facilitate the transfer of funds, and administering and facilitating any other transaction, between you and the Company

	WHY	HOW
		It is <b>necessary for compliance with an applicable legal or regulatory obligation</b> to
		which we are subject to:
		• undertake our client and investor due diligence, and on-boarding checks
		<ul> <li>carry out verification, know your client (KYC), terrorist financing, sanctions,</li> </ul>
		and anti-money laundering checks
		• verify the identity and addresses of our investors (and, if applicable, their
_	Compliance with	beneficial owners)
2	law	• comply with requests from regulatory, governmental, tax and law enforcement authorities
		for surveillance and investigation purposes
		carry out audit checks
		maintain statutory registers
		• prevent and detect fraud
		comply with sanctions requirements
		For our <b>legitimate interests</b> or those of a third party (such as a transaction counterparty or lender) to:
		• manage and administer your holding in any funds in which you are invested, and any related accounts on an ongoing basis
		<ul> <li>assess and process any applications or requests made by you</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>open, maintain or close accounts in connection with your investment in, or withdrawal from, the Company or Fund scheme</li> </ul>
		<ul> <li>send updates, information and notices or otherwise correspond with you in connection with your investment in the Company or Fund scheme</li> </ul>
		address or investigate any complaints, claims, proceedings or disputes
		• provide you with, and inform you about, our investment products and services
		monitor and improve our relationships with investors
		• comply with applicable regulatory obligations, including anti-money laundering, sanctions and 'know your client' checks
3	Legitimate interests	<ul> <li>assist our transaction counterparties to comply with their regulatory and legal obligations (including anti-money laundering, 'know your client' and sanctions checks)</li> </ul>
		manage our risk and operations
		• comply with our accounting and tax reporting requirements;
		comply with our audit requirements
		assist with internal compliance with our policies and process
		ensure appropriate group management and governance
		keep our internal records
		prepare reports on incidents / accidents
		<ul> <li>protect our business against fraud, breach of confidence, theft of proprietary materials, and other financial or business crimes (to the extent that this is not required of us by law)</li> </ul>
		analyse and manage commercial risks
		seek professional advice, including legal advice
		<ul> <li>enable any actual or proposed assignee or transferee, participant or sub-participant of the partnership's, Company's or Fund vehicles' rights or obligations to evaluate proposed transactions</li> </ul>

WHY	HOW
	• facilitate business asset transactions involving the Company, Fund partnership or Fund-related vehicles
	<ul> <li>monitor communications to/from us using our systems</li> </ul>
	• protect the security and integrity of our IT systems
	<ul> <li>manage our financing arrangements with our financiers and financing transaction counterparties, including payment providers, intermediaries, correspondent and agent banks</li> </ul>
	We only rely on these interests where we have considered that, on balance, the legitimate interests are not overridden by your interests, fundamental rights or freedoms.

### Monitoring as described at (3) above

We monitor communications where the law requires us to do so. We will also monitor where we are required to do so to comply with our regulatory rules and practices and, where we are permitted to do so, to protect our business and the security of our systems.

### 6. Who we share your Personal Data with

Your Personal Data will be shared with:

WHO	WHY
	We share your Personal Data with our associates, related parties and members of our group. This is:
Company/Fund Associates	<ul> <li>to manage our relationship with you</li> <li>for the legitimate interests of a third party in carrying out anti-money laundering and compliance checks required of them under applicable law and regulation</li> <li>for the purposes set out in this Data Privacy Notice</li> </ul>
Company/Fund Managers, Depositories, Administrators, Custodians, Investment Advisors	<ul> <li>delivering the services you require</li> <li>managing your investment</li> <li>supporting and administering investment-related activities</li> <li>complying with applicable investment, anti-money laundering and other laws and regulations</li> </ul>
Tax Authorities	<ul> <li>to comply with applicable laws and regulations</li> <li>where required or requested by tax authorities in the territory in which you are located or domiciled (in particular, Cayman Island or UK/EEA tax authorities) who, in turn, may share your Personal Data with foreign tax authorities</li> <li>where required or requested by foreign tax authorities, including outside of the territory in which you are located or domiciled (including outside of the Cayman Islands or UK/EEA)</li> </ul>
Service Providers	<ul> <li>delivering and facilitating the services needed to support our business relationship with you</li> <li>supporting and administering investment-related activities</li> <li>where disclosure to the service provider is considered necessary to support Blackstone with the purposes described in section 5 of this Data Privacy Notice</li> </ul>

WHO	WHY	
Financing counterparties, lenders, correspondent and agent banks	<ul> <li>assisting these transaction counterparties with regulatory checks, such as 'know your client' and anti-money laundering procedures</li> <li>sourcing credit for Fund-related entities in the course of our transactions and fund life cycles</li> </ul>	
Our lawyers, auditors and other professional advisors	<ul><li>providing you with investment-related services</li><li>to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements</li></ul>	

In exceptional circumstances, we will share your Personal Data with:

- competent regulatory, prosecuting and other governmental agencies or litigation counterparties, in any country or territory
- other organisations and agencies-where we are required to do so by law.

For California residents, in the preceding 12 months, we may have disclosed Personal Data listed in any of the categories in section 3 above for a business purpose (in particular, as described in this section).

We have not sold Personal Data in the twelve months preceding the date of this Data Privacy Notice.

### 7. Do you have to provide us with this Personal Data?

Where we collect Personal Data from you, we will indicate if:

- provision of the Personal Data is necessary for our compliance with a legal obligation; or
- it is purely voluntary and there are no implications for you if you do not wish to provide us with it.

Unless otherwise indicated, you should assume that we require the Personal Data for business and/or compliance purposes.

Some of the Personal Data we request is necessary for us to perform our contract with you and if you do not wish to provide us with this Personal Data, it will affect our ability to provide our services to you and manage your investment.

### 8. Sending your Personal Data internationally

We will transfer your Personal Data between different countries to affiliates and our group members, the Company's management, members of the Fund's partnership, transaction counterparties, and third party service providers. These countries may not have similarly strict data protection and privacy laws and will include those countries in which our affiliates and service providers operate (for example, transfers from the UK/European Economic Area (EEA) or Cayman Islands to a jurisdiction outside of such territory).

Where we transfer Personal Data to other members of our group, our service providers or another third party recipient from one country to another, we will ensure that our arrangements with them are governed by data transfer agreements or appropriate safeguards, designed to ensure that your Personal Data is protected as required under applicable data protection law (including, where appropriate, under an agreement on terms approved for this purpose by the European Commission or by obtaining your consent).

Please contact us if you would like to know more about these agreements or receive a copy of them. Please see below for our contact details.

### 9. Consent—and your right to withdraw it

We do not generally rely on obtaining your consent to process your Personal Data. If we do, you have the right to withdraw this consent at any time. Please <u>contact us</u> or send us an email at PrivacyQueries@Blackstone.com at any time if you wish to do so.

### 10. Retention and deletion of your Personal Data

We keep your Personal Data for as long as it is required by us for our legitimate business purposes, to perform our contractual obligations, or where longer, such longer period as is required or permitted by law or regulatory obligations which apply to us.

- We will generally retain Personal Data about you throughout the life cycle of any investment you are involved in.
- Some Personal Data will be retained after your relationship with us ends.

As a general principle, we do not retain your Personal Data for longer than we need it.

We will usually delete your Personal Data (at the latest) after you cease to be an investor in any fund and there is no longer any legal or regulatory requirement or business purpose for retaining your Personal Data.

## 11. Your rights

You may, subject to certain limitations, have data protection rights depending on the data protection laws that apply to our processing of your Personal Data, including:

- the right to access your Personal Data, and to some related information, including the purpose for processing the Personal Data, the categories of recipients of that Personal Data to the extent that it has been transferred internationally, and, where the Personal Data has not been collected directly from you, the source (the "category information")
- the right to restrict the use of your Personal Data in certain circumstances
- the right to have incomplete or inaccurate Personal Data corrected
- the right to ask us to stop processing your Personal Data
- the right to require us to delete your Personal Data in some limited circumstances

You also have the right in some circumstances to request for us to "port" your Personal Data in a portable, re-usable format to other organisations (where this is possible).

California residents may also request certain information about our disclosure of personal data during the prior year, including category information (as defined above).

We review and verify requests to protect your Personal Data, and will action data protection requests fairly and in accordance with applicable data protection laws and principles.

If you wish to exercise any of these rights, please contact us (details below).

## 12. Concerns or queries

We take your concerns very seriously. We encourage you to bring it to our attention if you have any concerns about our processing your Personal Data. This Data Privacy Notice was drafted with simplicity and clarity in mind. We are, of course, happy to provide any further information or explanation needed. Our contact details are below.

Please also contact us via any of the above methods if you have a disability and require an alternative format of this notice.

If you want to make a complaint, you can also contact the body regulating data protection in your country, where you live or work, or the location where the data protection issue arose. In particular:

Country	Supervisory Authority
Cayman Islands	Cayman Islands Ombudsman (available at: https://ombudsman.ky)
European Union	A list of the EU data protection authorities and contact details is available by clicking this link: http://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/article29/item-detail.cfm?item_id=612080
United Kingdom	Information Commissioner's Office (available at: https://ico.org.uk/global/contact-us/)

### 13. Contact us

Please contact us if you have any questions about this Data Privacy Notice or the Personal Data we hold about you.

Contact us by email or access our web form at PrivacyQueries@Blackstone.com.

Contact us in **writing** using this address:

Address	For EU/UK related queries: 40 Berkeley Square, London, W1J 5AL, United Kingdom
	All other queries: 345 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10154

### 14. Changes to this Data Privacy Notice

We keep this Data Privacy Notice under regular review. Please check regularly for any updates at our investor portal (www.bxaccess.com).

This Data Privacy Notice was last updated in January 2020.